

Gregorc, Teja (2019) In situ and in vitro models to investigate the role of oestrogen and oestrogen metabolism in pulmonary vascular disease.

PhD thesis.

https://theses.gla.ac.uk/71945/

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given



In Situ and *In Vitro* Models to Investigate the Role of Oestrogen and Oestrogen Metabolism in Pulmonary Vascular Disease

Teja Gregorc

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Institute of Cardiovascular and Medical Sciences College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences University of Glasgow

09 May 2019

Abstract

Pulmonary arterial hypertension is an incurable vasculopathy, which affects significantly more women than men. Hence, female sex hormones may be intimately involved in the initiation and progression of disease pathogenesis. Indeed, current evidence suggests dysregulated oestrogen biosynthesis and metabolism, result in microenvironment favouring excessive proliferation of pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells, leading to significant vascular remodelling. Impairment of signalling via the bone morphogenetic protein receptor II (BMPR*II*) signalling pathway might also be partially accountable for increased cellular proliferation, and the sex dimorphism associated with the disease. Much of the currently available evidence regarding the pathophysiological mechanism of this vasculopathy was gained using experimental animal models of pulmonary hypertension, we aimed to develop and employ *in situ* and *in vitro* models to investigate the role of oestrogen and its metabolism in pulmonary arterial hypertension.

Signalling through any hydrocarbon receptor results in altered expression of *Phase I and II* metabolising enzymes, including oestrogen metabolising enzymes. Using an in-silico approach, we demonstrated that the importance of aryl hydrocarbon receptor in experimental animal model of pulmonary hypertension induced by exposure to Sugen 5416 and chronic hypoxia. Initial quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction analysis revealed that expression of CYP1A1 gene might be decreased in cultured pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells from female patients, rats exposed to chronic hypoxia and Smad1 heterozygous mice. CYP1A1 gene expression was, however, greatly increased in the Sugen 5416/hypoxic experimental animal model. We further demonstrated that in this specific model several genes under the transcriptional activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor, such as NAD(P)H quinone dehydrogenase 1 and aryl hydrocarbon receptor repressor, are increased. In vitro stimulation of human pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells with Sugen 5416, which is a potent agonist of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor, resulted in increased expression of CYP1A1 and 1B1. We further demonstrated by employing R.E.A.P. fractionation protocol, that stimulation of smooth muscle cells with Sugen 5416 resulted in the translocation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor from the cytoplasm to the nucleus, where it was able to exert its transcriptional activity. The blockade of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor pathway by CH223191, resulted in attenuated expression of these oestrogen metabolising enzymes only in smooth muscle cells derived from pulmonary arteries of control subjects. In human pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells, simulation with Sugen 5416 and aryl hydrocarbon receptor inhibitor, FICZ, increased apoptosis of these cells as assessed via reduced cell number and increased cleavage of Caspase 3. Hence, Sugen 5416 may induce vascular injury, leading to initiation of pathophysiological mechanisms of experimental PH. Even though the aryl hydrocarbon receptor pathway interacts with hypoxia-inducible factor signalling, we showed that stimulation of pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells does not alter mediators involved in the latter pathway. Furthermore, we showed that sex dimorphism might exist in the basal expression of mediators involved in the hypoxia-inducible factors signalling pathway (HIFs). In smooth muscle cells derived from pulmonary arteries of female PAH patients, the expression of HIF1 α was significantly increased, while the regulators of HIF1a proteasomal degradation were significantly decreased. Equally, in smooth muscle cells derived from pulmonary arteries of male PAH patients, protein expression regulators of HIF1a proteasomal degradation were significantly decreased. In *vitro*, we demonstrated that there a possible synergy exists between the aryl hydrocarbon receptor and hypoxia-inducible factor signalling pathways, where co-stimulation with Sugen 5416 and hypoxia resulted in increased proliferation of smooth muscle cells derived from pulmonary arteries of female PAH.

We also aimed to develop and employ an *in vitro* model to investigate the role of oestrogen and its metabolism in the pathophysiological mechanism of pulmonary arterial hypertension, and to quantitatively assess oestrogen metabolism in this model. We showed that stimulation with 2-methoxyoestrogens increased expression of prostacyclin synthase in pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells from female control subject. Using immunoblotting technique, we further demonstrated that in smooth muscle cells derived from pulmonary arteries of male control subjects 2-methoxyoestradiol increased protein expression of Id3 and had no significant effect in smooth muscle cells derived from pulmonary arteries of female control subjects. It appears that in female pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells 2methoxyoestradiol increased the expression of p27/Kip1 in a concentration-dependent manner. In fact, in vitro stimulation with 2-methoxyoestradiol attenuated serum-induced proliferation in smooth muscle cells derived from pulmonary arteries of control subjects of both sexes. In smooth muscle cells derived from pulmonary arteries of PAH patients, 2methoxyoestradiol only reduced cellular proliferation in female cells, while having no effect in male cells. We have also examined the effects of 2- and 4-hydroxyoestradiol on seruminduced proliferation in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from male control subjects. Here we found both metabolites mediated attenuation of cellular proliferation, with 2hydroxyoestradiol mediating its effects through its biotransformation into 2methoxyoestradiol, as catechol-O-methyl transferase inhibition restored cellular proliferation. Inhibition of catechol-O-methyl transferase did not have an effect on 4-hydroxyoestradiol-mediated reduction of serum-induced proliferation.

Using the *in vitro* model of pulmonary arterial hypertension employing pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells, we have assessed the effects of treprostinil on oestrogen metabolism in these cells using high performance liquid chromatography/flux analysis. We demonstrated that pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derived from female and male PAH patients might metabolise 17β -oestradiol differently than those derived from control subjects. Moreover, treprostinil might affect the metabolism of 17β -oestradiol to oestrone, probably by affecting the activity of 17β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2. Basal protein expression level as assessed by immunoblotting technique indicated that the latter enzyme might be increased in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derived from male PAH shortcomings patients. То overcome certain of high performance liquid chromatography/flux analysis for investigation of oestrogen metabolism, we aimed to develop and optimise a liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry approach. We have established the technique, and optimised separation of methoxyoestrogens and wash steps. The novel approach was used to assess oestrogen metabolism in *in vitro* model of pulmonary arterial hypertension, showing that smooth muscle cells derived from female PAH patients produce significantly more oestrone and 17α-isomer of oestradiol. Moreover, smooth muscle cells derived from male PAH patients metabolised the least 17β-oestradiol in comparison with female patient cells. Although the technique is now established, further optimisation is required to achieve reliable quantification of oestrogen metabolites in reasonable concentration ranges, as currently the method appears unreliable at concentration ranges for some oestrogen metabolites.

Using a hypothesis-free metabolomic screen we also demonstrated that certain metabolic pathways associated with energy reactive oxygen species and L-tryptophan metabolism might be affected in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells.

Using *in situ* model we showed that induction of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor by Sugen 5416 leads to alterations in the expression of oestrogen metabolising enzymes, such as CYP1B1 and CYP1A1. Thereby possibly affecting the pathogenic mechanisms by introducing an imbalance of oestrogen metabolism. By using *in vitro* model of pulmonary arterial hypertension, we also showed methoxyoestrogen the role of methoxyoestrogens, 2-

and 4-hydroxyoestrogens in the attenuation of cellular proliferation in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. Furthermore, we established oestrogen metabolic profile in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derived from controls and patients of both sexes and quantified these metabolites. We have therefore successfully applied *in situ* and *in vitro* approaches to investigate the role of oestrogen and oestrogen metabolism in the pathogenesis of pulmonary arterial hypertension.

Contents

List of Figur	viii viii
List of Table	es xviii
Acknowledg	gements xix
Author's De	clarationxx
List of Abbr	eviations xxi
Chapter I	
1 Introduc	ction1
1.1 Pul	monary Circulation2
1.1.1	The Structural and Functional Organisation of the Pulmonary Circulation2
1.1.2	The Development of the Pulmonary Circulation5
1.1.3 Birth	The Physiological Changes in the Pulmonary Circulation at Transition at 7
1.1.4 Circulat	The Regulation of Vascular Tone and Blood Flow in the Pulmonary ion
1.2 Pul	monary Hypertension11
1.2.1	Clinical Definition11
1.2.2	Classification of Pulmonary Hypertension12
1.2.2 Нуре	.1 An Overview of Underlying Aetiologies of Pulmonary Arterial ertension
1.2.3	Diagnosis of Pulmonary Hypertension15
1.2.4	Epidemiology of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension16
1.2.5	Pathobiology of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension19
1.2.5	.1 Serotonin in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension
1.2.5	.2 Reactive Oxygen Species in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension25
1.2.5	.3 Prostacyclin Synthase in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension26
1.2.5 Rece	.4 Interaction of Prostacyclin and the Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated ptor Signalling
1.2.6	Right Ventricular Hypertrophy in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension31
1.2.7	Current Treatment Options for Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension32
1.3 Un	derlying Genetic Causes of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension37
1.3.1	Mutations in BMPRII Gene
1.3.1	.1 BMPRII Signalling Pathway
1.3.2	Mutations in ALK-1 Gene40
1.4 Ani	imal Models of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension41
1.4.1	Hypoxia-Induced Pulmonary Hypertension41

140	2	Monocrotaline-Induced Pulmonary Hypertension	42
1 4 3 Pulmonary Artery Banding			
1.4.5 I unitonary I		Serotonin Transporter Overexpressing Mice	
144	5	S100 Ca2+ Binding Protein A4 Overexpressing Mice	
1.1.	6	BMPRII Mouse Model of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension	45
1.4.0	7	Smadl Conditional Knock-Out Mice Model of Pulmonary Arterial	15
Нур	erten	ision	45
1.4.8	8	Sugen 5416 and Hypoxia-Induced Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension	47
1.5	Stere	pidogenesis	49
1.5.1	1	Female Steroid Sex Hormones – Oestrogens	50
1.5.2	2	Aromatase	53
1.5.3	3	Metabolism of Oestrogens	54
1.5.4	4	Regulation of Oestrogen Signalling	57
1	.5.4.1	Classical Ligand-Dependent Direct Activation of Oestrogen Receptor	:.59
1	.5.4.2	2 Ligand-Independent Activation of Oestrogen Receptor	59
1	.5.4.3	3 Non-Classical Ligand-Dependent Activation of Oestrogen Receptor	60
1	.5.4.4	4 Non-Genomic Oestrogen Signalling	61
1.5.5	5	Oestrogens in Disease	62
1	.5.5.1	1 Oestrogens in Cancer	62
1	.5.5.2	2 Oestrogens in Cardiovascular Disease	62
1	.5.5.3	3 Androgens in Cardiovascular Disease	64
1.6	Cyto	ochrome P450 Enzymes	64
1.6.1	1	NADPH-dependent Oxidative Metabolism of Oestrogens	66
1.6.2	2	Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Signalling Pathway	67
1.6.3	3	Activation of Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor	70
1.6.4	4	The Function of Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor in the Cardiovascular System	1 70
1.6.5	5	Interactions between the AhR Signalling Pathway and Hypoxia-Inducible	
Fact	or Si	gnalling	73
1.6.6	6	Interaction of the AhR Signalling Pathway with other Signalling Pathways	s 74
1.6.7	7	CYP1B1	76
1	.6.7.1	1 The Role of CYP1B1 in Cardiovascular Disease	76
1	.6.7.2	2 The role of CYP1B1 in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension	77
1.6.8	8	CYP1A1	78
1	.6.8.1	1 The Physiological Role of CYP1A1	79
1	.6.8.2	2 The Role of CYP1A1 in Cardiovascular Disease and Cancer	79
1.7	Sex	and Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension	79

	1.7	7.1	Evidence of oestrogen in Experimental Models of Pulmonary Hypertensie 81	on
		1.7.1.	.1 Oestrogens in the Monocrotaline-Induced Pulmonary Hypertension	81
		1.7.1.	.2 Oestrogen in the Hypoxia-Induced Pulmonary Hypertension	81
		1.7.1. Arter	.3 Oestrogens in Sugen 5416 and Chronic Hypoxia-Induced Pulmonary rial Hypertension	, 82
	1. Pr	7.2 ogress	Role of Oestrogens in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension Onset and sion	82
		1.7.2.	The Role of 16α-Hydroxyoestrone in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertensi 83	on
		1.7.2.	The Effects of 2-Methoxyoestradiol	83
	1.8	Ain	ns and Objectives	87
Ch	apte	r II		88
2	M	ethods	s	88
,	2.1	Che	emical Reagents and Equipment	89
,	2.2	Sod	dium Dodecyl Sulphate Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis	89
	2.2	2.1	Protein Solubilisation and Preparation	89
	2.2	2.2	Bicinchoninic Protein Assay	90
	2.2	2.3	Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis	90
	2.2	2.4	Protein Transfer	90
	2.2	2.5	Immunoblotting	91
,	2.3	RN	IA Analysis	94
	2.3	3.1	RNA Extraction	94
	2.3	3.2	Reverse Transcription	95
	2.3	3.3	Quantitative Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction	96
,	2.4	Cel	ll Culture	98
	2.4	4.1	Human Pulmonary Arterial Smooth Muscle Cells	98
		2.4.1.	.1 Sub-culturing of Human Pulmonary Arterial Smooth Muscle Cells	.100
		2.4.1.	.2 Charcoal-Stripped Foetal Bovine Serum	.100
		2.4.1. Haem	.3 Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation Assay Using nocytometer	101
		2.4.1. Haem	.4 Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation Assay Using nocytometer in Hypoxia	102
		2.4.1. Brom	5 Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation Assay Using 5- no-2-deoxyuridine Incorporation	.102
		2.4.1.	6 Fractionation	.103
	2.4	4.2	Human Pulmonary Microvascular Endothelial Cells	.104
		2.4.2.	2.1 Sub-culturing of Human Pulmonary Microvascular Endothelial Cells	s 104

2.4.2.2 Apoptosis Assay in Pulmonary Microvascular Endothelial Cell105
2.4.2.3 Measuring Prostacyclin Release Using an Enzyme-Linked
Immunosorbent Assay106
2.5 High Performance Liquid Chromatography107
2.5.1 Flux/HPLC Analysis of Oestrogen Metabolism in Human Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cell In Vitro Model107
2.5.1.1 Analysis of Treprostinil Effects on Oestrogen Metabolism In Vitro108
2.5.2 Solid-Phase Oestrogen Metabolite Extraction
2.5.3 Oestrogen Metabolism in Human Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells109
2.6 Metabolomic Screen
2.6.1 Cell Culture
2.6.2 Metabolic Screen Using Liquid Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry
2.7 Liquid Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry
2.7.1 Optimisation of Oestrogen Metabolite Extraction and Separation
2.7.1.1 Optimisation of Extraction
2.7.1.2 Optimisation of Wash Step
2.7.2 Liquid Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry - Analysis of Oestrogen Metabolism in Human Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells In Vitro Model113
2.7.3 Derivatisation with PPZ in Methylation Conditions
2.7.4 Liquid Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry
2.8 Statistical Analysis and Data Handling117
Chapter III
3 <i>In Vitro</i> Investigation of Mechanisms Involved in the Establishment of Experimental Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension Phenotype in the Sugen 5416 and Chronic Hypoxia
Model
3.1 Introduction
3.2 Results
3.2.1 Cells Derived from Female Patients with Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension Exhibit Decreased Gene Expression of Cytochrome P450 1A1122
3.2.2 Female Smad1 Heterozygous Mice Exhibit Decreased Gene Expression Levels of Cytochrome P450 1A1126
3.2.3 The expression level of Cytochrome P450 1A1 is Significantly Decreased in Experimental Pulmonary Hypertension Induced by Hypoxia in Sprague-Dawley Rats of Both Sexes
3.2.4 The Expression of Cytochrome P450 1A1 Gene is Increased in Experimental Pulmonary Hypertension Induced by Sugen 5416 and Chronic Hypoxia129

3.2.5 The Expression of NAD(P)H Quinone Dehydrogenase 1 is Increased in the Lung of Sugen 5416-Hypoxic-Treated Animals, but not in Animals Exposed to Chronic Hypoxia
 3.2.6 Treatment of Human Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells with Sugen 5416 Leads to Increased Expression of Cytochrome P450 1A1 and 1B1, but not Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor or Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1β
3.2.7 Treatment of Human Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells with Sugen 5416 Leads to Increased Expression of Cytochrome P450 1A1 and 1B1, but not Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor in Cells Derived from Female Patients
3.2.8Treatment with Sugen 5416 does not Affect the Expression of Other Proteins Involved in the AhR and HIF1α Signalling Pathways
3.2.9 The Expression of Cytochrome P450 1A1 Gene is Significantly Increased Only in Male Hyper-Responsive Animals Treated with Sugen 5416155
3.2.10 The Relative Expression of Cytochrome P450 1B1 and Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Repressor is Increased in Male Hyper-Responsive Rats, but not in Female 157
3.2.11 The Expression of the Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor is Higher in Female Rats Exhibiting Hyper-Responsive Character to Sugen 5416 Treatment Compared to their Male Counterparts
3.2.12 The Expression of ARNT (HIF1β) is Increased Only in Female Rats Exhibiting Hyper-Responsive Character to Sugen 5416
3.2.13 Male Rats Treated with Sugen 5416 and Chronic Hypoxia Exhibit Higher Levels of the Regulators of Hydroxylation-Dependent Proteasome-Mediated Degradation of HIF1α
3.2.14 Relative Expression of Hypoxia-Inducible Factor β in Pulmonary Arterial Smooth Muscle Cells Derived from Female Patients
3.2.15 Chronic Hypoxia Elicits Significant Changes in Relative Quantitation of Genes Involved in Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor and Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1α Signalling Pathways in Female, But Not in Male Rats
 3.2.16 Male Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells Derived from PAH Patients Exhibit Higher Expression Levels of Proteins Regulating the Hydroxylation- Dependent Proteasome-Mediated Degradation of Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1α Signalling Pathway, Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor and its Repressor
3.2.17 Male Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells Derived from Control Patients Exhibit Lower Levels of Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1β and Cytochrome P450 1B1 than Female Cell Lines
3.2.18 Male Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells Derived from Clinical Patients Exhibit Higher Levels of Aryl Hydrocarbon receptor, and Proteins Involved in the Regulation of Oxygen-Dependent Degradation of Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1α 185
3.2.19 The Expression of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor 2 is Significantly Decreased in Sugen 5416/Hypoxia-Treated Female Rats
3.2.20 The Effects of Sugen 5416 in Control Human Microvascular EndothelialCells 190

3.2.21	The Proliferation of Human Pulmonary Arterial Smooth Muscle Cells in
Normox	tic Conditions is Not Affected by Sugen 5416
3.2.22	The Proliferation of Human Pulmonary Arterial Smooth Muscle Cells in
Нурохіс	c Conditions is Increased by Sugen 5416194
3.2.23	Sugen 5416 Increased Localisation of the Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor in the
Nucleus	in Female Patient Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells
3.3 Dis	cussion
3.3.1	CYP1A1 in Animal Models of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension199
3.3.2	AhR Signalling in Rat Colony Exhibiting Hyper-Responsiveness to Sugen
5416 Ex	aposure
3.3.3 Cells	Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1α in Human Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle 204
3.3.4	Effects of Sugen 5416 in Pulmonary Microvascular Endothelial Cells206
3.3.5	Limitations of the Study
Chapter IV	
4 An In V	itro Model to Investigate the Role of Oestrogen and Oestrogen Metabolism212
4.1 Intr	roduction
4.2 Res	sults
4.2.1 Express	2-Methoxyoestradiol and 2-Methoxyoestrone Significantly Increase ion of Prostacyclin Synthase in Pulmonary Microvascular Endothelial Cells 217
4.2.2	2-Methoxyoestradiol Increases Expression of Prostacyclin Synthase in
Pulmon	ary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells from Male Control Subjects, but not in
Female	Cells
4.2.3	Exposure to 2-Methoxyoestradiol Reduces Proliferation in Human
Pulmon	ary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells of Both Sexes
4.2.4	2-Methoxyoestradiol Reduces Proliferation in Female, but not in Male
Patient l	Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells
4.2.5	In Female Control Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells Only
Methox	yoestrogens Appear to Increase the Expression of the BMPRII Signalling
Pathway	y 232
4.2.6	2-Methoxyoestradiol Significantly Increased Expression of DNA-binding
protein i	inhibitor Id-1 in Male but not in Female Control Pulmonary Artery Smooth
Muscle	Cells
4.2.7	2- and 4-Hydroxyoestradiol Oppose Proliferation in Male Control Pulmonary
Artery S	Smooth Muscle Cells
4.2.8	High-Performance Liquid Chromatography Method to Investigate Oestrogen
Metabol	lism In Vitro
4.2.8	.1 Treatment of Human Pulmonary Arteries with Treprostinil Significantly
Alter	is the Production of Oestrone in Male Patient Pulmonary Artery Smooth
Muse	cle Cells

4.2.8.2 2,4,3',5'-Tetramethoxystilbene did not Alter Oestrogen Metabolism in Female Human Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells251
4.2.9 Expression of 17β-Hydroxysteroid Dehydrogenase Type 2 is Increased in Unstimulated Male Patient Pulmonary Arterial Smooth Muscle Cells
4.2.10 Hypothesis-Free Metabolomic Screen in Female Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells Stimulated with 17β-Oestradiol258
4.2.11 Initial Development of Liquid Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry Method for the Detection and Quantitation of Oestrogens in Spent Cell Media Samples 265
4.2.11.1 Establishing a Method by Initial Liquid Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry
4.2.11.2 Separation of Methoxyoestrogens was Achieved by Replacement of High-Performance Liquid Chromatography Column
4.2.11.3 Sample Matrix Affects Calibration Curves of Oestrogen Metabolites.269
4.2.11.4 Assessment of Wash Step for Solid-Phase Extraction of Oestrogen Metabolites from Media Sample Matrix
4.2.12 Oestrogen Metabolomic Profile and Quantitation in In Vitro Model of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension
4.2.12.1 Calibration Curves for Oestrogen Metabolites of Interest in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension in Media Sample Matrix
4.2.12.2 Oestrogen Metabolic Profile in In Vitro Model of Pulmonary Arterial
Hypertension
4.3 Discussion
5 General Discussion
5.1 General Discussion
5.2 Limitations of the Study
5.3 Concluding Remarks
5.4 Future Perspective
Bibliography

List of Figures

Figure 1–1: The branching of the airways and pulmonary circulation in a human body3
Figure 1–2: The structure of vessel wall
Figure 1–3: Schematic representation of theories explaining the morphogenesis of
pulmonary vasculature
Figure 1–4: The maintenance of vascular tone in pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells9
Figure 1–5: Mechanism of vasoconstriction mediated by endothelin-1 and serotonin in
vascular smooth muscle cells10
Figure 1–6: Proportion of females with clinically diagnosed pulmonary arterial
hypertension in epidemiological studies and registries18
Figure 1–7: Pathophysiological processes contributing to the onset and progression of
pulmonary arterial hypertension
Figure 1–8: The equilibrium of vasoactive mediators in pulmonary arterial hypertension
favours vasoconstriction
Figure 1–9: Gradual advancement of pulmonary arterial hypertension as per
histopathological changes in the distal pulmonary arteries and lesions in Su5416/Hx rats.24
Figure 1–10: Prostaglandin biosynthesis
Figure 1–11: Prostacyclin biosynthesis and signalling pathway29
Figure 1–12: Diagram depicting signalling pathways targeted by current and emerging
therapies in pulmonary arterial hypertension34
Figure 1–13: Bone morphogenetic protein receptor II (BMPRII) signalling pathway39
Figure 1–14: Effects of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor inhibition by Sugen
5416
Figure 1–15: Biosynthesis of oestrogen steroid hormones form the precursor molecule,
cholesterol
Figure 1–16: Metabolism of oestrogen hormones
Figure 1–17: Schematic representation of the role of oestrogen metabolites in the onset and
progression of pulmonary arterial hypertension69
Figure 1–18: Aryl hydrocarbon receptor signalling pathway
Figure 1–19: The interaction of hypoxia inducible factor signalling pathways and the aryl
hydrocarbon receptor signalling pathway72
Figure 1–20: Schematic representation of interaction between oestrogen signalling
pathway and aryl hydrocarbon receptor signalling pathway75

Figure 2–1: Haemocytometer counting chamber102
Figure 2–2: Experiment design to investigate the effects of treprostinil treatment on
oestrogen metabolism in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells
Figure 2–3: Gradient programme used to separate oestrogen metabolites within ACE Excel
2 C18-PFP (150x2.1mm) column, maintained at 25°C
Figure 3–1: The trend of use of animals in research since 1930s to date
Figure 3–2: The relative expression of the gene encoding the CYP1A1 is decreased in
human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female PAH patients124
Figure 3–3:The relative expression of the gene encoding the CYP1A1 is decreased in
whole lungs from female Smad1 heterozygous mice
Figure 3–4: The relative expression of the gene encoding the CYP1A1 is decreased in
female and male rats exposed to hypoxia for 28 days
Figure 3–5: The expression of CYP1A1 is increased in whole lungs from female and male
rats treated with Sugen 5416 and exposed to hypoxia
Figure 3–6: The expression of CYP1B1is increased in whole lung from female and male
rats treated with Sugen 5416 and exposed to chronic hypoxia
Figure 3–7: The expression of aryl hydrocarbon receptor is unchanged in whole lung
samples from female and male rats treated with Sugen 5416 and exposed to chronic
hypoxia132
Figure 3–8: The expression of aryl hydrocarbon receptor repressor is increased in whole
lungs derived from female and male rats treated with Sugen 5416 and exposed to chronic
hypoxia135
Figure 3–9: The relative expression of the gene encoding the ARNT (HIF1 β) is decreased
in whole lungs derived female rats treated with Sugen 5416 and exposed to chronic
hypoxia136
Figure 3–10: The relative expression of the gene encoding the hypoxia-inducible factor 1α
is increased in whole lungs from male rats treated with Sugen 5416 and exposed to chronic
hypoxia137
Figure 3–11: The relative quantitation NAD(P)H quinone dehydrogenase 1 is increased in
the whole lungs from Sugen 5416 and hypoxia-treated animals
Figure 3–12: Expression of CYP1A1 is increased by treatment with Sugen 5416, and
attenuated by AhR antagonist, CH223191, in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells
from female controls141
Figure 3–13: Expression of CYP1B1 is increased after treatment with Sugen 5416 in
human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female controls

Figure 3–14: Expression of CYP1A1 and CYP1B1 at gene level is increased in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female controls after treatment with Sugen 5416 in the presence or absence of AhR antagonist, CH223191......143 Figure 3–15: Protein expression of aryl hydrocarbon receptor remains unaltered by treatment with Sugen 5416 in the presence or absence of AhR antagonist, CH223191, in Figure 3–16: Expression of CYP1A1 and CYP1B1 at gene level is increased in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female PAH patients after treatment with Sugen 5416 in the presence or absence of AhR antagonist, CH223191.....147 Figure 3–17: Protein expression of CYP1A1 is increased by stimulation with Sugen 5416 in the presence or absence of AhR antagonist, CH223191, in human pulmonary artery Figure 3–18: Protein expression of CYP1B1 is increased by stimulation with Sugen 5416 in the presence or absence of AhR antagonist, CH223191, in human pulmonary artery Figure 3–19: Expression of aryl hydrocarbon receptor remains unchanged by stimulation with Sugen 5416 in the presence or absence of AhR antagonist, CH223191, in human Figure 3–20: Protein expression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1β is unaltered by stimulation with Sugen 5416 in the presence or absence of AhR antagonist, CH223191, in human Figure 3–21: Expression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1α is unaltered by stimulation with Sugen 5416 in the presence of absence of AhR antagonist, CH223191, in human Figure 3–22: Expression of prolyl hydroxylase 2 is unchanged by stimulation with Sugen 5416 in the presence or absence of the AhR antagonist, CH223191, in human pulmonary Figure 3–23: Expression of von Hippel-Lindau tumour factor is unchanged by stimulation with Sugen 5416 in the presence or absence of the AhR antagonist, CH223191, in human Figure 3–24: The relative expression of the gene encoding the CYP1A1 is increased in Figure 3–25: The relative expression of the gene encoding the CYP1B1 is increased in

Figure 3–26: The relative expression of the gene encoding the aryl hydrocarbon receptor repressor is increased in whole lungs from male hyper-responsive rats......159 Figure 3–27: The relative expression of the gene encoding the aryl hydrocarbon receptor is Figure 3–28: The relative expression of the gene encoding the aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator protein (HIF1B) is increased in whole lungs from female hyper-Figure 3–29: The relative expression of the gene encoding the hypoxia-inducible factor 1α in whole lungs derived from hyper-responsive rats of both sexes is unaltered.164 Figure 3–30: The relative expression of NAD(P)H quinone dehydrogenase 1 in the whole lungs from hyper-responsive rats of both sexes is unchanged......165 Figure 3–31: Prolyl hydroxylase 2 and von Hippel-Lindau tumour suppressor expression is increased in whole lungs from male rats treated with Sugen 5416 and chronic hypoxia. .167 Figure 3–32: Expression of ARNT (HIF1 β) is increased in unstimulated human pulmonary Figure 3–33: The basal expression of HIF1 α at protein level is increased in unstimulated human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derived from female PAH patients......170 Figure 3–34: The relative expression of the gene encoding the aryl hydrocarbon receptor is decreased in whole lungs from male rats exposed to chronic hypoxia for 28 days172 Figure 3–35: The relative expression of the gene encoding the HIF1 β (ARNT)was only increased in whole lungs from female rats exposed to chronic hypoxia for 28 days......173 Figure 3–36: The relative expression of the gene encoding the HIF1 α was only increased in whole lungs from female rats exposed to chronic hypoxia for 28 days......174 Figure 3–37: In human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from male PAH patients, the Figure 3–38: The basal expression of aryl hydrocarbon receptor repressor in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from male PAH patients, is increased at protein Figure 3–39: The basal expression of cytochrome P450 1B1 level in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from male and female PAH patients, is not altered at protein Figure 3–40: The basal expression of cytochrome P450 1B1 in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from male and female PAH patients, is increased at protein level...179 Figure 3–41: The basal expression of prolyl hydroxylase 2 in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from male PAH patients, is increased at protein level......180

Figure 3–42: The basal expression of von Hippel-Lindau tumour suppressor in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from male PAH patients, is increased at protein Figure 3–43: In human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from male control patients, the basal expression of cytochrome P450 1B1 and hypoxia-inducible factor 1β is Figure 3-44: Representative immunoblot images of basal expression levels of proteins involved in AhR and HIF1α signalling pathways in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells Figure 3–45: In human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derived from male PAH patients, the basal expression of aryl hydrocarbon receptor, prolyl hydroxylase 2 and von Hippel-Lindau tumour suppressor is increased......186 Figure 3–46: Representative immunoblot images of basal expression levels of proteins involved in AhR and HIF1 α signalling pathways in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells Figure 3–47: Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 in whole lung Figure 3–48: The Effects of Sugen5416 stimulation in human microvascular endothelial Figure 3–49: In normoxic conditions, Sugen 5416 does not increase proliferation pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derived from females diagnosed with pulmonary Figure 3-50: Time course experiment showed 24 hour and 72 hour time points were not suitable for further experiments in female human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. Figure 3–51: Stimulation with Sugen 5416 in hypoxia (0.1% O₂, 5% CO₂) increased proliferation of pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derived from females diagnosed Figure 3–52: Nuclear translocation of aryl hydrocarbon receptor in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells following time-dependent stimulation with 1µM Sugen 5416......198 Figure 3–53: Proposed synergy of aryl hydrocarbon receptor and hypoxia-inducible factor Figure 3–54: Proposed mechanism of Sugen 5416 and hypoxia-induced experimental phenotype of pulmonary arterial hypertension mediated through activation of the aryl

Figure 4–1: The protein expression of prostacyclin synthase in human microvascular endothelial cells derived from female control subjects is significantly increased by 1nM Figure 4–2: Acute stimulation with 1nM methoxyoestrogens decreases the release of Figure 4–3: The protein expression of prostacyclin synthase is increased by 100nM 2methoxyoestradiol in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derived from male Figure 4-4: Methoxyoestrogens do not affect the protein expression of prostacyclin synthase in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derived from female controls.222 Figure 4–5: The anti-proliferative effects of methoxyoestrogens in male pulmonary artery Figure 4–6: The anti-proliferative effects of methoxyoestrogens in female pulmonary Figure 4–7: Inhibition of ER α and ER β appears to restore proliferation of male control human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells treated with 2- and 4-methoxyoestradiol..226 Figure 4–8: The mechanism of anti-proliferative properties of 2-methoxyoestradiol and 4methoxyoestradiol in male human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derived from Figure 4-9: 2- and 4-methoxyoestradiol reduce serum-induced proliferation in female Figure 4–10: In human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female control subjects, 2-mtehodyoestradiol induces protein expression of the cell cycle inhibitory Figure 4–11: Methoxyoestrogens do not attenuate serum-induced proliferation in male Figure 4–12: Methoxyoestrogens appear to increase the protein expression of effectors involved in the BMPRII signalling pathway in female control pulmonary artery smooth Figure 4–13: 2-Methoxyoestradil increases the protein expression of DNA-binding protein 1 in male control pulmonary artery smooth muscle......235 Figure 4-14: Methoxyoestrogens do not alter protein expression of effectors involved in the BMPRII signalling pathway in female control pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells.

Figure 4–15: Treatment of male control cell lines with 2- and 4-hydroxyoestradiol result	IS
in decreased proliferation	238
Figure 4–16: The anti-proliferative effects of 2- and 4-hydroxyoestradiol in male control	1
pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells are mediated through classical oestrogen receptor	s.

Figure 4–17: Treprostinil increases metabolism of 17β-oestradiol in human pulmonary Figure 4–18: In human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cell line derived from male Figure 4–19: In human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female patient, Figure 4–20: Representative high-performance liquid chromatography chromatograms for female control pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells (84MP)......246 Figure 4–21: Representative high-performance liquid chromatography chromatograms for female patient pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells (35MP).247 Figure 4–22: Representative high-performance liquid chromatography chromatograms for Figure 4–23: Representative high-performance liquid chromatography chromatograms for Figure 4–24: Oestrogen metabolic profile in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells Figure 4-25: Treatment of human pulmonary arteries from female control subjects and clinical patients with 2,4,3',5'-tetramethoxystilbene (TMS) does not alter oestrogen Figure 4–26: In human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cell line derived from female patient subject, treatment with 2,4,3',5'-tetramethoxystilbene (TMS) results in the Figure 4–27: 2,4,3',5'-Tetramethoxystilbene (TMS) does not affect the metabolism of 17βoestradiol to 16α-hydroxyoestrogens......254 Figure 4–28: Representative high-performance liquid chromatography chromatograms for female control and patient pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells (80MP, 38MP)......255 Figure 4–29: Expression of 17β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 is increased in unstimulated male human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derive from patients with

Figure 4–30: Metabolomic screen of pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female patient subjects comparing vehicle-treated cells with those treated with 17β-oestradiol Figure 4–31: Metabolomic screen comparing vehicle-treated pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female control subjects to female patient subjects using positive mode. Figure 4–32: Metabolomic screen comparing vehicle-treated pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female control subjects to female patient subjects using positive mode Figure 4–33: Metabolomic screen comparing vehicle-treated pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female control subjects to female patient subjects using negative mode. Figure 4–34: Metabolomic screen comparing 17β-oestradiol-treated pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female control subjects to female patient subjects using negative Figure 4–35: Initial liquid-chromatography tandem mass spectrometry method for the Figure 4–36:Liquid-chromatography tandem mass spectrometry method for the detection and quantitation of oestrogen metabolites in in vitro model, using ACE Excel C18-PFP Figure 4–37: Calibration curves for oestrone, 17α -oestradiol and 17β -oestradiol prepared in Figure 4–38: Calibration curves for 2- 4- and 16a-hydroxyoestrone prepared in two Figure 4–39: Calibration curves for 2- 4- and 16α-hydroxyoestradiol prepared in two Figure 4-40: Calibration curves for 2- and 4-methoxyoestrone prepared in two different Figure 4-41: Calibration curves for 2- and 4-methoxyoestradiol prepared in two different Figure 4–42: The combination of HLB cartridges for solid-phase extraction and methanol as eluent results in less variable recovery of oestrogen metabolites from cell media.277 Figure 4–43: Liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry of unextracted hydroxyoestrones compared to those extracted using either HLB or MCX solid-phase

Figure 4–44: Recovery of hydroxy oestrogens is reduced by additional wash step with Figure 4–45: Calibration curves for oestrone, 17α-oestradiol and 17β-oestradiol prepared in media sample matrix, and used to quantify oestrogen metabolites in spent media samples of naïve cell cultures of human pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells derived from Figure 4–46: Calibration curves for 2-, 4- and 16α-hydroxyoestrone prepared in media sample matrix, and used to quantify oestrogen metabolites in spent media samples of naïve cell cultures of human pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells derived from control and Figure 4–47: Calibration curves for 2-, 4- and 16α-hydroxyoestradiol prepared in media sample matrix, and used to quantify oestrogen metabolites in spent media samples of naïve cell cultures of human pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells derived from control and Figure 4–48: Calibration curves for 2- and 4- methoxyoestrogens prepared in media sample matrix, and used to quantify oestrogen metabolites in spent media samples of naïve cell cultures of human pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells derived from control and patient Figure 4–49: Oestrogen metabolic profile in human pulmonary arterial smooth muscle Figure 4–50: Oestrogen metabolic profile in human pulmonary arterial smooth muscle Figure 4–51: Oestrogen metabolite profile of pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from controls and PAH patients of both sexes, determined using novel LC-MS/MS method to Figure 4–52: Comparison of oestrone, 17β -oestradiol and its 17α geometric isomer quantities in human pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells determined using the novel Figure 4–53: Comparison of 2-, 4- and 16α-hydroxyoestrone quantities in human pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells determined using the novel liquid chromatography Figure 4–54: Comparison of 2-, 4- and 16α -hydroxyoestradiol quantities in human pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells determined using the novel liquid chromatography

List of Tables

Table 1-1: Updated World Health Organisation Classification of Pulmonary Arterial	
Hypertension (2013)	13
Table 1-2: New York Heart Association Classification of Functional Status of Patients	s with
Pulmonary Hypertension	14
Table 1-3: Summary of Features of Animal Models of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertensi	on.46
Table 1-4: Positions of hydroxylation for different cytochrome P450 enzymes	67
Table 2-1: List of antibodies used for immunoblotting.	92
Table 2-2: List of positive controls.	93
Table 2-3: Thermal cycling conditions for reverse transcription PCR.	96
Table 2-4: List of mRNAs TaqMan primers used in human samples	97
Table 2-5: List of mRNAs TaqMan primers used in rat samples.	97
Table 2-6: List of mRNAs TaqMan primers used in mouse samples.	97
Table 2-7: Thermal cycling conditions for quantitative real time PCR.	98
Table 2-8: Information on cell lines derived from patient and control subjects	99
Table 2-9: Characteristic Q1 and Q3 masses of oestrogen metabolites derivatised with	l
PPZ/methylation conditions used for LC-MS/MS identification and analysis	115

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Prof Mandy MacLean for enabling me to pursue my ambitions in scientific research. Your guidance and support throughout the four years have been invaluable. I would also like to express my deepest gratitude to Prof Ruth Andrew and Dr Natalie Homer at University of Edinburgh for their support, the technical skills and knowledge they have provided me with. I would also like to thank the NC3Rs for funding this research.

I would like to thank my mentors, Dr Anne Katrine Johnsen and Dr Kirsty Mair, for sharing their extensive scientific knowledge and enthusiasm with me. Thank you for your neverending patience, guidance and encouragement when I needed them most. It was a joy sharing the lab with Dr Gerard Murphy, Dr Afshan Rafiq, Dr Craig Docherty, Nina, Dr Dawid Wallas, Sinead, Mags and Dr Emma Wallace. At one point or another you have all provided me with support, encouragement and laughter. I would like to especially thank Lynn for her help, words of wisdom and encouragement I never knew I even needed. I would also like to express my gratitude to George, Karen and Ioannis, for their support, help and company at University of Edinburgh.

In the years I have spent in Scotland I have met wonderful people, whom I am now proud to call dear friends. I thoroughly enjoyed the time we spent together laughing and not talking about science. Most of you have been on the same path as myself, and it was my great pleasure to share our experiences, the great ones and ones that were not so great. Sometimes we only needed different perspective.

I would not be where I am today without the endless love and support of my mother, father, brother and my husband Jernej. Your relentless encouragement and the faith in me have truly been humbling. Jernej, thank you for being my friend and life-partner. Perhaps I would have given up along the way, had it not been for you, your love and words of encouragement, when I needed them in my darkest moments. I have once written you are my rock, and this has not changed. But above all, Jernej, thank you for giving me the greatest gift, Tobias.

Nothing worth having comes easy.

Author's Declaration

I declare that this thesis has been written entirely by myself and is a record of the work performed by myself, except where acknowledgement has been made. This thesis has not been previously submitted for a higher degree at this or any other university.

The research was carried out in the Institute of Cardiovascular and Medical Sciences, College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences at the University of Glasgow under the supervision of Professor M.R. MacLean.

GREGORC, T., JOHANSEN, A. K. & MACLEAN, M. R. The Effects of Estrogen Metabolites on Prostacyclin Synthase Expression and Prostacyclin Release from Pulmonary Artery Endothelial Cells. C28. SEX, DRUGS, AND PULMONARY HYPERTENSION, May 1, 2015, A4102-A4102.

DEAN, A., GREGORC, T., DOCHERTY, C. K., HARVEY, K. Y., NILSEN, M., MORRELL, N. W. & MACLEAN, M. R. 2017. Role of the Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor in Sugen 5416-induced Experimental Pulmonary Hypertension. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.

HAIR, K., MACLEAOD, M. R., SENA, S. S., THE IICARUS COLLABORATION. A Randomised Controlled Trial of an Intervention to Improve Compliance with the ARRIVE Guideliness (IICARus). New Challenges for Research Integrity. 6th World Conference on Research Integrity. 2–5 June 2019.

List of Abbreviations

20-HETE	20-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid
3βHSD	3β Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase
3MC	3-methylcholanthrene
5-HT	5-hydroxytryptamine or serotonin
17βΕ2	17β-oestradiol
17aE2	17α-oestradiol
20HE1	2-hydroxyoestrone
20HE2	2-hydroxyoestradiol
4OHE1	4-hydroxyoestrone
4OHE2	4-hydroxyoestradiol
16αOHE1	16α-hydroxyoestrone
16αOHE2	16α-hydroxyoestradiol
2MeOE1	2-methoxyoestrone
2MeOE2	2-methoxyoestradiol
4MeOE1	4-methoxyoestrone
4MeOE2	4-methoxyoestradiol
17βHSD type 2	17β hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2
17βHSD type 3	17β hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 3
%CV	coefficient of variation
% IS	ion suppression
% M E	matrix effects
%RE	recovery
AA	arachidonic acid / antibiotic anti-mycotic
AC	adenosine cyclase
AF-1	activation function 1
AF-2	activation function 2
AhRR	aryl hydrocarbon receptor repressor
AhR	aryl hydrocarbon receptor
ALK-1	activin A receptor type II-like kinase-1
AP1	Jun/Fos/activator protein 1
APAH	associated PAH
API (ARP9)	aryl hydrocarbon receptor associated 9
ARNT	AhR nuclear translocator
ATP	adenosine triphosphate

B[a]P	benzo[a]pyrene
BCA	bicinchoninic acid
bHLH	basic helix-loop-helix
BMP	bone morphogenetic protein
BMP4	bone morphogenetic protein
BMPRI	bone morphogenetic protein receptor type I
BMPRII	bone morphogenetic protein receptor II
BMPRII +/-	BMPRII allele
BrdU	5-bromo-2-deoxyuridine
BSS	buffered saline solution
Ca-CAM	calcium-calmodulin
CAD	coronary artery disease
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CBP	CREB-binding protein
ССВ	calcium channel blocker
CDK	cyclin/cycle dependent kinase
cDNA	complementary DNA
CE-Q	catechol-oestrogens and quinones
cGMP	cyclic guanosine monophosphate
CHD	coronary heart disease
cHx	chronic hypoxia
CKI	cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor
CoA	coenzyme A
COMT	catechol-O-methyl transferases
COPD	chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
COX	cyclooxygenase enzymes
CSS	charcoal-stripped serum
СТЕРН	chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension
СТ	cycle threshold
CVD	cardiovascular disease
СҮР	cytochrome P450 enzyme
CYP1A1	cytochrome P450, family 1, subfamily A, polypeptide 1
CYP1B1	cytochrome P450, family 1, subfamily B, polypeptide 1
DAG	diacyl glycerol
DHEA	dehydroepiandrosterone
DHEA-S	DHEA-sulfate
DHT	dihydrotestosterone

DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
dNTP	deoxynucleotide triphosphate
DPBS	Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline
DRE/XRE	dioxin- and/or xenobiotic-response elements
E1	oestrone
E2	oestradiol
E3	oestriol
EC	endothelial cell
EET	epoxyeicosatrienoic acid
EIS	electron ion spray voltage
eNOS	endothelial NO synthase
ER	oestrogen receptor
ERA	ET-1 receptor antagonist
ERE	oestrogen-response elements
ERα	oestrogen receptor α
ERK	extracellular signal-regulated kinase
ERK1/2	mitogen-activated protein kinases p42/p44
ESI	electrospray ionisation technique
ETRA	endothelin-1 receptor antagonists
ET-1	endothelin-1
FSH	follicle-stimulating hormone
FSH-β	β subunit of ovine follicle-stimulating hormone
GC-MS	gas chromatography-mass spectrometry
GPCR	G-protein coupled receptor
GPER1	G-protein coupled oestrogen receptor
GPR30	G-protein coupled oestrogen receptor
GFR	growth factor receptor
GSH	glutathione
GSTA1	glutathione S-transferase alpha 1
HIF	hypoxia-inducible factor
HIF1a	hypoxia-inducible factor 1α
HIF1β	hypoxia-inducible factor 1β
hPASMC	human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cell
HPLC	high-performance liquid chromatography
hPMEC	human pulmonary microvascular endothelial cell
HRP	horseradish peroxidase

Hsp90	heat shock protein 90
НРАН	hereditable PAH
Hsp90	heat shock protein 90
Hx	hypoxia/hypoxic
Id	inhibitor of the DNA-binding
Id1/3	DNA-binding protein inhibitor Id1/3
IGF	insulin-like growth factor
IGF-1	insulin growth factor 1
IL-6	interleukin 6
iNOS	inducible NO synthase
InsP3R	inositol-activated receptors
IP	relaxant prostacyclin IP receptor
IP3	inositol trisphosphate
IPAH	idiopathic PAH
I.S.	internal standards
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
Kv	voltage-gated potassium channels
LOD	limit of detection
LV	left ventricle
MAP	mitogen activated protein
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
M-COMT	membrane-bound COMT
MCX	mixed-mode, strong cation-exchange
MESA	multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis
MLC-K	myosin light-chain kinase
mPAP	mean PAP
MRM	multiple reaction monitoring
MS	mass spectrometry
MCT	monocrotaline
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NF-κB	nuclear factor kappa-B
NO	nitric oxide
NQO1	NAD(P)H dehydrogenase (quinone 1)
Nrf2	nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2
NYHA	New York Heart Association
Р	phosphorylation
P23	prostaglandin E synthase 3

PA	pulmonary arteries
PAB	pulmonary artery banding
РАН	pulmonary arterial hypertension
PAP	pulmonary arterial pressure
PAS	Per-Arnt-Sim
РСАН	polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
РСН	pulmonary capillary hemangiomatosis
ΡCL-β/δ	phospholipase C
PCWP	pulmonary capillary wedge pressure
PDE51	phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitors
pErk1/2	phosphorylation of the extracellular signal-regulated kinase $1/2$
PFP	pentafluorophenyl
PGI2	prostacyclin
PGIS	prostacyclin synthase
PH	pulmonary hypertension
PHD	prolyl hydroxylase enzymes
PI3K	phosphoinositide-3-kinase
РКА	protein kinase A
РКС	protein kinase C
PLC-β/δ	phospholipase C β/δ
PMEC	pulmonary microvascular EC
PPAR	peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
PPHN	persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn
PPHTN	portal hypertension
p-Smad1/5/8	phospho-Smad1/5/8
PUFA	polyunsaturated fatty acid
PVDF	polyvinylidene difluoride
PVOD	pulmonary veno-occlusive disease
qRT-PCR	quantitative real-time PCR
ROS	reactive oxygen species
RQ	relative quantification
RT-PCR	reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
RV	right ventricle
RVF	RV failure
RVH	RV hypertrophy
RVSP	right ventricular systolic pressure
RV/LV+S	right ventricular hypertrophy index

RXR	retinoid X receptor
S100A4/Mts1	S100Ca ²⁺ -binding protein A4
S-COMT	soluble COMT
SEM	standard error of the mean
SERM	selective oestrogen receptor modulators
SERT	serotonin transporter
SERT+ mice	overexpression of the 5-HT transporter in mice
sGC	soluble guanylyl cyclase
SHBG	sex hormone-binding globulin
Shc	Src-homology and collagen-homology
Smad	decapentaplegic homologs
Smad-1/5/8	mothers against decapentaplegic homologs
SMC	smooth muscle cell
SP1	specificity protein 1
SPE	solid-phase extraction
Su5416	Sugen 5416
SULT	sulfotransferase
TCDD	2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzodioxin
TEM	electron ion spray temperature
TF	transcription factor
TGF-β	transforming growth factor-β
ΤΝΓα	tumour necrosis factor α
TNS	trypsin neutralization solution
ТРН	tryptophan hydroxylase
TXA2	thromboxane A2
UGT1A	UDP glucuronosyltransferase 1 family polypeptide A cluster
UV	ultra-violet
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGF-A	vascular endothelial growth factor-A
vHL	von Hippel-Lindau tumour suppressor protein
Vm	membrane potential
VSMC	vascular smooth muscle cell
Wise	Women's Ischemia Syndrome Evaluation

Chapter I

1 Introduction

Oxygen is one of the most fundamental requirements of life for most organisms, as the aerobic cellular respiration provides the energy required for the maintenance of elementary life functions.

1.1 Pulmonary Circulation

The cardiovascular system (CVS) is an intricate system of organs enabling normal circulation of the blood throughout the body. An important part of the CVS is the pulmonary circulation, which receives deoxygenated blood from the heart through the right atrium and ventricle, and pulmonary arteries leading to the lung. In the lung, the pulmonary arteries (PAs) divide into numerous small arterioles and capillaries forming capillary beds, which encapsulate the alveoli. Pulmonary respiration or gaseous exchange of carbon dioxide and oxygen takes place in small PAs and successive capillaries, which are often named functional pulmonary capillaries (Levitzky, 2013). The oxygenated blood then drains form the lung via pulmonary veins to the left atrium and is circulated from the left ventricle throughout the body.

1.1.1 The Structural and Functional Organisation of the Pulmonary Circulation

The structure and architecture of the pulmonary circulation greatly reflect its physiological function, which is to provide a high flow, high capacitance, low pressure and low resistance system of delivering deoxygenated blood from the heart to the lung's microcirculation for efficient gaseous exchange.





The pulmonary circulation is a closed system and is separated from the systemic circulation. Within the pulmonary circulation, the blood vessel organisation closely follows the organisation of airways, meaning the branching of pulmonary arteries, which deliver deoxygenated blood from the right heart to the lung, is branched in close association with the airways. The branching pattern of the main pulmonary artery extending from the heart to small arterioles reaching alveoli, where gaseous exchange occurs, equates to 15 orders of vessel branching. Adapted from (Powell et al., 2016). The numbers in the diagram indicate the order of airways and pulmonary circulation branching.



Figure 1–2: The structure of vessel wall.

The structure of the vascular wall is shared by systemic and pulmonary circulation. The innermost layer, termed tunica intima, is composed mainly from endothelial cells and sub-endothelial connective tissue. The function of the middle layer, tunica media, composed mainly from vascular smooth muscle cells and elastin, is to regulate the vascular tone and thereby associated vascular pressure. The outermost layer, tunica adventitia, is composed of fibroblasts and extracellular matrix, which is rich in collagen fibres, and conveys structural integrity of vessels exposed to high pressures.

All the vessels in the vascular system share the same composition of the vessel wall, which generally consists of three histologically distinct layers: i) intima, ii) media and iii) adventitia, which are separated with basement membrane, as shown in Figure 1–2. In arteries, the outermost layer, the tunica adventitia, is composed of myofibroblasts, which deposit extracellular matrix rich in collagen fibres, giving arteries their elastic character and maintain their structural integrity in high-pressure physiological environment. The tunica media, is composed of vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs), exhibiting contractile phenotype, and elastin. While this layer regulates the vascular tone, the innermost layer, tunica intima, consisting of a single layer of endothelial cells (ECs), is imperative for the maintenance of vascular homeostasis.

To accommodate the changing function of these vessel, the structure and size of the pulmonary arteries changes following the vessel branching within the lung (Elliott and Reid, 1965). The main PA which extends from the right ventricle and branches into PAs supplying deoxygenated blood to the left and right lung, is characterised by its utmost elastic properties, due to high content of elastic and collagen fibres forming the numerous elastic laminae contained within the medial layer. The elastic character of this large artery, due to the presence of 7 elastic laminae, allows it to act as a buffer, reducing the pulsating effects in the PAs further away from the heart. PA branching pattern is, as previously described, in close association with the branching pattern of the airways, with the character of the transitional arteries becoming less elastic further away from the heart, meaning the vessel wall contains fewer elastic laminae (Jones and Capen, 2011). The PAs in the lung exhibit the elastic and transitional character up to 9th airway branching generation (Elliott and Reid, 1965; Jones and Capen, 2011). The character of PAs alters further in the very distal part of the lung, first becoming muscular, then transitioning to partially-muscular or non-muscular arteries, as shown in Figure 1–1. These pulmonary vessels are characterised by a medial layer consisting of smooth muscle cells (SMCs). The medial layer becomes progressively thinner and/or contains very few SMCs (De Mello and Reid, 1997; Jones and Capen, 2011). Similarly, with the branching of the PAs, the diameter of the vessel changes, becoming progressively smaller, with the diameter of large elastic PAs being greater than 3,200µm. In transitional PAs, the diameter reduces to 3,200–2,000µm, and becomes smaller in muscular and non-muscular PAs, which have the diameter of more than 150µm and less than 130µm, respectively (Jones and Capen, 2011). Most of the non-muscular PAs, leading to the alveoli, have the diameter of less than 50µm, with the average diameter of pulmonary capillaries, reaching the alveoli, being only approximately 6µm (Jones and Capen, 2011).
1.1.2 The Development of the Pulmonary Circulation

The development of the lung and pulmonary vasculature begins early during the embryonic development. The simultaneous development of both organ systems reflects the imperative for role of vascularisation for normal lung organogenesis (Joshi and Kotecha, 2007). The organogenesis of the lung and the development of pulmonary circulation are poorly understood, with limited understanding of the early stages of development and the regulation of the lung's vascularization (deMello et al., 1997;Steinhorn, 2010). Pereda and colleagues recently published novel findings on the morphogenesis of pulmonary circulation in humans (Pereda et al., 2013). Currently, three theories explaining the morphogenesis of pulmonary vasculature exist: i) vasculogenesis, ii) combination of central angiogenesis accompanied with peripheral vasculogenesis, and ii) distal angiogenesis accompanied with vascular remodelling (Figure 1-3), with the last two theories being most widely accepted.



Distal vasculogenesis

Figure 1-3: Schematic representation of theories explaining the morphogenesis of pulmonary vasculature.

Diagram adapted from (Parera et al., 2005).

Generally, lung morphogenesis can be characterised by four developmental stages: i) pseudoglandular, ii) canicular, iii) saccular and iv) alveolar. During the pseudoglandural stage, the lung appears as two primitive lung buds and primitive proximal forms of airways, whose development and budding are driven by growth signals from the mesenchyme (Rosenthal and Bush, 2002). According to the theory of pulmonary circulation forming through a combination of central angiogenesis accompanied by peripheral vasculogenesis, the development of the hierarchical pulmonary vasculature begins with the formation of the truncus arteriosus. The latter represents the origin from which the proximal macro-vessels,

the aorta and the main PA are formed (Gao and Raj, 2010). As PA and pulmonary veins are extending from aortic arches and vessel outgrowths from the heart, respectively (Rosenthal and Bush, 2002), the morphogenesis of pulmonary vasculature is also closely related to that of the heart (Peng et al., 2013b). Simultaneously, the PAs and veins up to the 7th branching generation are developing independently from the microvasculature, through process of central sprouting or angiogenesis (deMello et al., 1997). During canicular phase, the distal airways and pulmonary vessels are formed. Irregular vessel plexus in association with the airways are formed by vasculogenesis, during which capillary vessels are formed by the transformation of mesenchymal cells into vessel-forming endothelial cells (Pereda et al., 2013). After the irregular vascular beds are established, these vessels undergo extensive remodelling, whereby the character of these vessels is altered (Pereda et al., 2013). The branched structure of airways is formed during the process of branching morphogenesis with the last generation of the airways ending in saccules formed during the saccular phase (Gao and Raj, 2010;Pereda et al., 2013;Metzger et al., 2008). During this developmental stage, the distal vascular bed undergoes extensive modification, where the density of small vessels and capillaries is increased, and the capillaries are reorganised (Jones et al., 2014). The lung's segmentation organisation is finalised at the end of the embryonic period (Pereda et al., 2013). The theory of central angiogenesis with peripheral vasculogenesis speaks in favour of parallel, yet independent, development of the central and peripheral vascular systems within the lung. DeMello and colleagues have reported that in Swiss-Weber mouse foetuses few connections between the central and peripheral pulmonary vessels, forming a complete functional pulmonary vascular system, are established during pseudoglandural phase The extent of these connections becoming exceedingly more significant by the end of gestation period (deMello et al., 1997;deMello and Reid, 2000). The proposed primary mechanism of fusion of pulmonary macro- and micro-vessels is vasculogenesis (Hall and Haworth, 1987;Hall et al., 2000). The theory of distal angiogenesis proposes that the capillaries encapsulating the terminus of the airways in the distal lung are formed by the extension from pre-existing vessels, synchronous with the growth of lung buds (Parera et al., 2005). The distal capillary network expands by sprouting and nonsprouting angiogenesis, where the expansion of vessel network is supported by pre-existing capillaries or the mesenchyme, respectively (Risau, 1997; Risau and Flamme, 1995). Dynamic vascular remodelling is essential in distal angiogenesis, resulting in the gradual muscularisation of proximal vessels, the growth and fusion or degeneration of certain pulmonary vessels (Parera et al., 2005). During the embryonic development, the pulmonary vasculature is prepared to assume its role of blood oxygenation, which occurs immediately upon birth. During alveolarisation stage,

which begins in the late gestation period and lasts until adulthood in humans, mature alveoli are formed from saccules. Additionally, the number of alveoli is increased during this phase (Jones et al., 2014), the capillaries encapsulating the terminal airways buds begin to mature and the surface area for gas exchange of micro-vessels is significantly increased (Gao and Raj, 2010;Burri, 2006;Hislop, 2005). The maturation of pulmonary vasculature continues birth for several years after (Perl and Whitsett, 1999;Papamatheakis et al., 2013).

The growth and development of the pulmonary vessel bed is vigorously regulated at every developmental stage to achieve the appropriate branching pattern of the vessels with the correct size and vessel wall characteristics (Jones and Capen, 2011). The most important vascular growth factor in the formation of the vascular plexus within the lung is the vascular endothelial growth factor-A (VEGF-A), whose spatial and temporal isoform expression, stimulates and directs angiogenesis and vasculogeneis, resulting in vascular development and increased vascular density (Tirziu and Simons, 2009;Voelkel et al., 2006;Healy et al., 2000). Other signalling molecules and pathways, such as the bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) belonging to the transforming growth factor β superfamily, have also been implicated in the regulation of pulmonary vascular development (Chen et al., 2004).

1.1.3 The Physiological Changes in the Pulmonary Circulation at Transition at Birth

Prior to birth, the foetal lung is hyperexpanded and filled with liquid, which is produced within the lung. Therefore, the placenta is serving as the main organ for gaseous exchange during gestation. Most of the oxygenated blood from the placenta circulates from the right to the left atrium via the *foramen ovale* and bypasses the lung circulation completely via the *ductus arteriosus*. Hence, the proportion of the combined cardiac output to the lung is low *in utero* (Rasanen et al., 1996;Gao and Raj, 2017). During this period, the pulmonary vasculature is relatively insensitive to vasoactive stimuli (Lewis et al., 1976;Rasanen et al., 1998). Additionally, the pulmonary vascular resistance is high due to low number of pulmonary vessels and the thickness of the vessel wall in the developing lung (Lakshminrusimha, 2012). As gestation advances, the growth of the lung and pulmonary vasculature results in increased proportion of the blood flow to the lung and decreased pulmonary vascular resistance (Rasanen et al., 1996). At the end of gestation, the pulmonary vessels become more sensitive to vasoactive stimuli and the presence of oxygen, resulting in actively sustained vasoconstriction in hypoxic conditions, contributing to a significant

increase in vascular resistance (Lewis et al., 1976;Heymann et al., 1977). Within moments after birth, with the first breath, the lung assumes its primary role of gaseous exchange. The increased partial pressure of oxygen (pO₂) within the lungs, due to initiation of ventilation, results in stimulation of reflex vasodilation. This leads to significant decrease in pulmonary vascular resistance and an increase in pulmonary blood flow. The physical expansion of the lung with the first breath is associated with the release of vasoactive factors, resulting in increased pulmonary blood flow (Fineman et al., 1995). The mechanisms contributing to sudden changes within the pulmonary circulation also include: i) rapid reorganisation of SMCs within the pulmonary vessel wall, resulting in remodelled vessels having larger luminal cross-section (Haworth et al., 1987), ii) recruitment of intra-acinar arteries, iii) the release of vasodilatory mediators, and iv) gradual vascular remodelling (Haworth et al., 1987). Increased blood flow to the lung helps with the closing of foetal shunts, resulting in established normal circulation of blood from the right ventricle to PAs.

1.1.4 The Regulation of Vascular Tone and Blood Flow in the Pulmonary Circulation

Vascular tone is defined as the level of constriction of blood vessels, regulating the vascular resistance and blood flow through these vessels. The vascular tone and blood flow of the pulmonary circulation, which both partially depend on the structure of artery wall, are closely regulated to ensure efficient blood oxygenation in a high-flow, low pressure and low resistance system. Nonetheless, a certain degree of vascular tone is always maintained in the pulmonary vasculature in basal conditions (Bergofsky et al., 1963). Several mechanisms are employed to maintain the low pulmonary vascular resistance, with numerous factors affecting the vascular tone, ranging from passive (changes in cardiac output and left atrial pressure) to active (vasoactive factors and pO₂) (Carden et al., 2005).

The resting vascular tone is partially regulated by i) local production of nitric oxide (NO), produced in the endothelium (Cooper et al., 1996) and ii) regulation of the membrane potential of PASMCs, where local activity of potassium channels, leads to membrane depolarisation and activation of voltage-gated calcium channels (Nelson and Quayle, 1995), as shown in Figure 1–4. In VSMCs, there are at least five different types of potassium channels expressed (Mandegar and Yuan, 2002), with voltage-gated potassium channels (Kv) being associated with the maintenance of vascular tone in PASMCs in resting (Mandegar and Yuan, 2002;Evans et al., 1996). Sustained vasoconstriction and proliferation

of SMCs were associated with impaired function of Kv in PAH (Yuan et al., 1998). Although less than in the systemic vasculature, the sympathetic nervous system may also significantly contribute to the maintenance of basal vascular tone in the lung, mainly through inhibition of α 2-adrenoreceptors according to (Duke and Stedeford, 1960).



Figure 1–4: The maintenance of vascular tone in pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells. In vascular smooth muscle cells, vasoconstriction (and vasodilation) is mediated through changes in the activity of voltage-dependent K⁺channels, leading to changed activity of voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels. The subsequent depolarisation of the membrane potential, and activation of voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ channels, result in increased intracellular levels of Ca²⁺, thereby activating calcium-calmodulin, which in turn activates the myosin light-chain kinase. The latter phosphorylates the head of the myosin light chain, activating the contraction of smooth muscle, and resulting in vessel constriction.

Vm=Membrane potential, Ca-CAM=Calcium-calmodulin, MLC-K=Myosin light-chain kinase

After birth, the vascular tone in pulmonary circulation is mainly regulated by the ECs, which produce and respond to stimuli such as hormones, neurotransmitters and vasoactive factors (Sandoo et al., 2010). The vascular tone is regulated through the paracrine effects these vasoactive compounds exert on SMCs. The local balance of circulating prostaglandins (PGD₂, PGF₂, PGE₁, PGE₂ and prostacyclin), thromboxane A₂, serotonin (5-HT), and endothelin-1 (ET-1) modulates vascular tone (Gao and Raj, 2017), with the vasoactive compounds having varying effects on the vascular resistance, depending on the concentration, initial pulmonary vascular tone, absence of endothelium, etc. (Hughes and

Morrell, 2001). Interestingly, factors mediating vasodilation have only slight effect on pulmonary circulation when oxygen is abundant (Mazza Jr. and Taichman, 2006). 5-HT and ET-1 partially mediate their effects of increased vascular resistance through activation of protein kinase C (PKC), resulting in release of calcium ions from intracellular storage and inhibition of adenylate cyclase (Jackson, 2000). The mechanisms of vasoconstriction induced by 5-HT and ET-1 are shown in Figure 1–5.



Figure 1–5: Mechanism of vasoconstriction mediated by endothelin-1 and serotonin in vascular smooth muscle cells.

The binding of endothelin-1 or serotonin to corresponding receptors, results in the activation of Gq and/or Gi subunit of G-protein coupled receptors, respectively. The activation of Gq subunit results in the activation of phospholipase C, which hydrolyses phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate, forming cellular membrane, resulting in the formation of diacyl glycerol (Rich et al.) and inositol trisphosphate. The latter mediators act on inositol triphosphate receptors in the sarcoplasmic reticulum and protein kinase C, leading to increased intracellular levels of Ca²⁺ and vasoconstriction, respectively. The activation of Gi subunit leads to inhibition of membrane-bound adenosine cyclase, resulting in decreased levels of cyclic adenosine monophosphate, which mediates vasodilation.

Diagram adapted from (Hughes and Morrell, 2001). Vasodilation of smooth muscle cells is mediated by the production of cAMP by adenylate cyclase, which activates PKA, which is followed downstream by increased ATP release. ATP then binds to endothelial purinergic receptors on endothelial cells and activates endothelial NOS to stimulate NO-dependent vasodilation.

AC=Adenosine cyclase, ATP=Adenosine triphosphate, cAMP=Cyclic adenosine monophosphate, DAG=Diacyl glycerol, eNOS=Endothelial nitic oxide synthase, InsP3R=Inositol-activated receptors, IP3=Inositol trisphosphate, NO=Nitric oxide, PCL- β/δ =Phospholipase C, PKA= Protein kinase A, PKC=Protein kinase C, P_{2y}=Endothelial purinergic receptors 2y.

1.2 Pulmonary Hypertension

Sufficient blood oxygenation is essential for the execution of normal physiological functions, which closely depend on undisturbed energy metabolism. In pulmonary hypertension (PH), a class of severe and progressive vasculopathies, the pulmonary vascular network is altered due to narrowing, obstruction or loss of PAs, resulting in diminished capacity of gaseous exchange within the lung. The pathological changes within the PA network are a consequence of deregulated vasoconstrictive processes and progressive remodelling, forcing a naturally low-pressure, low-resistance system to become a high-pressure, high-resistance system. The persistently increased pulmonary arterial pressure (PAP) and resistance, resulting in prolonged excessive strain on the right heart, ultimately lead to right-sided heart hypertrophy and right heart failure.

1.2.1 Clinical Definition

As the pulmonary circulation is a low-pressure system, the PAP at rest is normally considerably lower than that measured in systemic arteries, and is in the range of 14 ± 3 mmgHg, with PAP of 20mmHg still considered as normal (Galiè et al., 2016). Clinically, the haemodynamic definition of PH is given as mean PAP (mPAP) of >25mmHg in rest, with pulmonary capillary wedge pressure (PCWP) \leq 15mmHg (Hoeper, 2009;Galie et al., 2004b). Although additional criteria of mPAP >30mmHg during physical was also used in the past, it was recently shown in a comprehensive literature review by Kovacs and colleagues that mPAP during physical exertion is greatly dependent on the level of exercise and age, and should therefore not be used for clinical diagnosis (Kovacs et al., 2009).

1.2.2 Classification of Pulmonary Hypertension

Due to the complexity and diversity of PH aetiology, the therapeutic management and prediction of patient prognosis were historically difficult. The World Health Organisation introduced the Evian clinical classification system in 1998, which categorised vasculopathies according to exhibited common histological features, pathophysiological mechanisms, clinical presentation and available therapeutic options, in an effort to improve the management of the diseases (Simonneau et al., 2013). The classification was amended several times; with the latest updated clinical classification introduced in 2013 (Barst et al., 2006) shown in Table 1-1.

Table 1-1: Updated World Health Organisation Classification of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension (2013).

1 Pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH)

1.1 Idiopathic PAH (IPAH)

1.2 Hereditable PAH (HPAH)

1.2.1 BMPR-II

1.2.2 ALK-1, ENG, SMAD9, CAV1, KCNK3

1.2.3 Unknown

1.3 Drug and toxin-induced

1.4 Associated PAH (APAH)

1.4.1 Connective tissue disease

1.4.2 HIV infection

1.4.3 Portal hypertension (PPHTN)

1.4.4 Congenital heart disease

1.4.5 Schistosomiasis

1.4.6 Chronic haemolytic anaemia

1' Pulmonary veno-occlusive disease (PVOD) and/or pulmonary capillary hemangiomatosis (PCH)

1" Persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn (PPHN)

2 Pulmonary hypertension associated with left heart disease

2.1 Left ventricular systolic dysfunction

2.2 Left ventricular diastolic dysfunction

2.3 Valvular disease

2.4 Congenital/acquired left heart inflow/outflow tract obstruction and congenital cardiomyopathies

3 Pulmonary hypertension associated with lung diseases and/or hypoxia

3.1 Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)

3.2 Interstitial lung disease

3.3 Other pulmonary diseases with mixed restrictive and obstructive pattern

3.4 Sleep-disordered breathing

3.5 Alveolar hypoventilation disorders

3.6 Chronic exposure to high altitude

3.7 Developmental lung disease

4 Chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension (CTEPH)

5 Pulmonary hypertension with unclear multifactorial mechanisms

5.1 Hematologic disorders: chronic haemolytic anaemia, myeloproliferative disorders, splenectomy

5.2 Systemic disorders: sarcoidosis, pulmonary histiocytosis, lymphangioleiomyomatosis

5.3 Metabolic disorders: glycogen storage disorder, Gaucher disease, thyroid disorders

5.4 Other: tumoral obstruction, fibrosing mediastinitis, chronic renal failure, segmental PH

In a clinical setting, however, the severity of symptoms in PH is often assessed using the New York Heart Association (NYHA) functional classification system. The system details the severity of clinical symptoms and the limitations of patient's physical ability (Table 1-2). Both classifications are used in clinical setting to assist medical professionals in the selection of the best available therapeutic options for the management of the disease and aid the accurate prediction of patient prognosis.

Table 1-2: New York Heart Association Classification of Functional Status of Patients with Pulmonary Hypertension.

Class I	Patients with pulmonary hypertension. No resulting limitation of physical activity. Ordinary physical activity does not result in undue dyspnoea or fatigue, chest pain or near syncope.
Class II	Patients with pulmonary hypertension with a slight limitation of physical activity. Comfortable at rest. Ordinary physical activity causes undue dyspnoea or fatigue, chest pain or near syncope.
Class III	Patients with pulmonary hypertension with marked limitation of physical activity. Comfortable at rest. Less than ordinary activity causes undue dyspnoea or fatigue, chest pain or near syncope.
Class IV	Patients with pulmonary hypertension with inability to carry out any physical activity without symptoms. Patients manifest signs of right heart failure. Dyspnoea and/or fatigue may even be present at rest. Discomfort is increased by any physical activity.

1.2.2.1 An Overview of Underlying Aetiologies of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

The first class of PAH according to the WHO classification, is represented by idiopathic PAH, previously also named primary PH, and describes the condition where no apparent cause for increased PAP and pulmonary arterial resistance is identified. The second class of PAH aetiology is termed heritable PAH, describing the vasculopathy with an underlying genetic cause, where the individuals with clinical presentation of the disease harbour a mutation associated with the disease phenotype or increased disease risk. The third class of PAH aetiology is described as drug or toxin-induced. Gurtner was the first to published a review on the possible association of the use of appetite depressing drug aminorex fumarate and the sudden epidemic of PAH in the late 1960s, which disappeared when this anorexic medication was withdrawn from the market (Gurtner, 1985). Almost three decades later, further association of appetite depressing drugs was observed in France, where the number of PAH diagnosis was increased in female population regularly taking dexfenfluamine

and/or fenfluramine (Brenot et al., 1993). A direct consequential relationship between increased risk of PAH and appetite-suppressant drugs, based on a case-control study, was reported in (Abenhaim et al., 1996), followed by an editorial suggesting these medications cause an increased in extracellular levels of 5-HT (Voelkel, 1997) resulting in pulmonary vasoconstriction (McGoon and Vanhoutte, 1984), and hyperplasia as well as hypertrophy of pulmonary artery SMCs (PASMCs) (Lee et al., 1994). Since, the catalogue of drugs and toxins related to PH greatly increased, with amphetamine derivatives, L-tryptophan, cocaine and serotonin reuptake inhibitors named as likely or possible risk factors (Price et al., 2012). The fourth and final class of PAH aetiology is considered as PH developed due to the presence of several primary underlying conditions, such as autoimmune diseases or diseases affecting the immune system, or cardiovascular conditions affecting the systemic circulation or the heart.

Several pulmonary diseases, leading to increased pressure within the lung circulation, clinically manifest as PH, although their aetiology is mainly associated with progressive narrowing of the small pulmonary veins, rather than arteries, the proliferation of alveolar capillaries or the failure of pulmonary circulation transition at birth, respectively.

1.2.3 Diagnosis of Pulmonary Hypertension

The difficulty with early diagnosis of PH is that at the onset of the disease patients do not experience significant symptoms. The first symptoms arise during progressed stages of PH and are associated with difficult breathing, such dyspnoea, during moderate everyday physical activity. With disease progression, other symptoms such as fatigue, weakness, angina, dizziness and syncope may also appear. These symptoms, however, can be mild in nature, and are non-specific (Galiè et al., 2016;ActelionPharmaceuticalsLtd). In more advanced stages, symptoms associated with insufficient oxygenation are triggered by minimal physical activity and are accompanied by symptoms associated with right-side heart failure. Due to initial non-specific symptoms, the time taken from disease onset to diagnosis was estimated to be on average of more than 2 years (Humbert et al., 2006;Badesch et al., 2010), meaning that at the time of diagnosis patients are usually exhibiting progressive stages of the disease (Gaine and Rubin, 1998;Humbert et al., 2006).

The diagnosis of PAH is demanding, usually requiring invasive procedures to confirm the clinical condition. The indication suggestive of PH in an individual is first evaluated using

non-invasive methods, as per clinical practice guidelines for the diagnosis of PAH in Europe. If the initial physical examination and electrocardiogram demonstrate elevated probability of PAH, further examinations, such as echocardiography, pulmonary function tests, arterial blood gas analysis, chest radiography and high-resolution computed tomography of the lungs are required to determine whether the symptoms are caused by a secondary left heart disease or lung disease (Schannwell et al., 2007). If no secondary diagnosis is made, then the patient must undergo a ventilation and perfusion lung scan to evaluate the circulation of air and blood within the lung. These procedures are used to determine whether the symptoms may be caused by chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension. In case no changes in the lung's perfusion are detected, the diagnosis of PAH is considered (Gaine and Rubin, 1998;Humbert et al., 2006). Once the diagnosis of PAH is made, cardiac magnetic resonance imaging, blood tests and immunology tests, abdominal ultrasound and right heart catheterization are performed to confirm the diagnosis, determine the aetiology of the disease and assess the functional and haemodynamic impairment of the patient (Gaine and Rubin, 1998). Following PAH diagnosis, vasoreactivity assessment is used to determine patient's response to calcium channel blockers (CCBs), which can be used for treatment of certain forms of PAH.

Parameters such as functional class of the disease, right ventricular function, pulmonary haemodynamics, together with walking distance and peak oxygen uptake can be utilised to make a reliable prediction of patients prognosis (Schannwell et al., 2007).

1.2.4 Epidemiology of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

Longitudinal observational studies and national registries provided much of the information on the clinical and haemodynamic characteristics exhibited by the patients, as well as invaluable data on the PAH patient population demographics (Hoeper and Gibbs, 2014). Most recently gathered epidemiological data indicates there are between 1–3.2 newly diagnosed PAH cases annually, per million of population (Ling et al., 2012;Escribano-Subias et al., 2012). There is between 6.6–16 individuals per million of adult population currently affected by PAH (Ling et al., 2012;Escribano-Subias et al., 2012), with the overall population prevalence 52 cases per million population in Scotland (Peacock et al., 2007).

The demographics of PAH patients changed significantly over the years, since the clinical data from the fist compiled registry by the National Institutes of Health registry on PAH was

published (Rich et al., 1987), with current reported median age at the time of diagnosis for PAH being 50 years (Ling et al., 2012). According to Hoeper and colleagues, patients diagnosed with IPAH are even older at the time of diagnosis (Hoeper et al., 2013). Contrary, most recent registry demonstrated that patients with IPAH are younger at diagnosis compared to patients presenting with PAH of a different aetiology (Gall et al., 2017). Due to initial non-specific symptoms and late diagnosis, it was reported that approximately 70– 80% of patients at the time of diagnosis had impairment associated with Class III and IV according to the NYHA classification (McGoon et al., 2008;Badesch et al., 2010;Ling et al., 2012). Impairment associated with Class III and VI according to the NYHA reported in the most recent Giessen Pulmonary Hypertension Registry was 82% (Gall et al., 2017).

Since the availability and approval of novel therapeutic strategies for PAH, the survival of appropriately treated PAH patients has greatly improved. Nonetheless, less than two thirds of patients survive 3 years once the PAH diagnosis was made (Humbert et al., 2010a;Benza et al., 2012), and the average survival time from diagnosis has been estimated to be 5–7 years (Gomberg-Maitland et al., 2011;Kane et al., 2011;Benza et al., 2012). The registries carried out in the UK and Spain, revealed that the 5-year mortality rate decreased significantly and was between 30–40% (Ling et al., 2012;Escribano-Subias et al., 2012). The 5-year survival of PAH patients with exhibiting functional classes of impairment according to NYHA Classes I/II, III and IV is approximately 80%, 60% and 40%, respectively (Gall et al., 2017). The survival of patients is closely associated with the underlying aetiology of the disease, with the poorest survival observed for PAH associated with underlying medical conditions (Gall et al., 2017). According to the latest registry, the elderly population of PAH patients exhibits significantly more impairment as per the NYHA functional classification compared to the Aspire registry (Hurdman et al., 2012), which is in accordance with (Ling et al., 2012), who proposed that patients with PAH aged 50 or less, exhibit better survival despite more severe haemodynamic impairment.

The NIH registry first reported a significantly higher proportion of women developed the clinical disease compared to men (Rich et al., 1987). Modern registries suggest the gender bias observed in PAH is even more pronounced, with women being between 2.3 and 4.3-times more likely to develop PAH than males (Escribano-Subias et al., 2012;Humbert et al., 2006;Badesch et al., 2010;Hoeper et al., 2013;Peacock et al., 2007;Walker et al., 2006). The latest registry on PH, published in 2017, reports an almost two-fold higher ratio of female patients presenting the clinical disease compared to male patients (Gall et al., 2017). The

proportion of female patients with clinical PAH in recent registries is shown in Figure 1– 6A, and the percentage of females diagnosed with IPAH is presented in Figure 1–6B.





The diagram (A) depicts the proportion of female patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension, while the diagram (B) depicts the proportion of females diagnosed with idiopathic form of pulmonary arterial hypertension, as recorded by epidemiological registries carried out in Europe and United States. Adapted from (McGoon and Humbert, 2014).

Recent data suggests that certain classifications of PAH exhibit even stronger female to male predominance (Roberts et al., 2009;Kawut et al., 2008), probably due to the epidemiological features of the predisposing conditions (i.e. connective tissue disease, systemic sclerosis, certain congenital cardiac anomalies leading to congenital heart disease and systemic lupus

erythematosus), which affect more females (Manes et al., 2012). Nonetheless, it was suggested that correcting for the sex bias of the underlying condition still preserves sex bias in APAH (Kawut et al., 2008). The sex bias in PAH was recently shown to diminish with the onset of menopause in women, indicating oestrogen metabolic pathways might be vital in the onset and progression of PAH (Hoeper et al., 2013). Although initially the survival data suggested that post-menopausal female patients have a slightly better survival rate compared to male patients despite similar treatment (Shapiro et al., 2012), newer data indicates that female patients in general seem to have significantly better survival compared to males (Gall et al., 2017).

1.2.5 Pathobiology of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

The development and progression of PAH were shown to involve a complex interaction between genetic and endogenous/exogenous factors. While the presence of underlying genetic mutation might predispose individuals to PAH, other factors such as an underlying disease, exposure to drugs or toxins are usually required for the clinical disease to arise. The interaction of the pathophysiological processes contributing to the onset and progression of clinical PAH is depicted in Figure 1–7.

The vascular endothelial lining is the site of the production of vasoactive compounds (Figure 1–8), which regulate the vascular tone and resistance in systemic and pulmonary vessels through paracrine regulation of SMCs. Hypoxia (Hx) and inflammation were both shown to play a notable role in endothelial damage and/or dysfunction, which is essential in the pathobiology of PH (Budhiraja et al., 2004). Numerous studies reported that the removal of endothelium resulted in a rapid and spontaneous onset of vasoconstriction in PAs (Aaronson et al., 2002). Hence, in PAH, the initial pathological insult causing endothelial dysfunction, first results in an imbalance in the production and/or secretion of vasoactive mediators. The prolonged paracrine effects of vasoactive mediators lead to sustained vasoconstriction of small PAs and arterioles in otherwise low pressure, low resistance system (Filipe et al., 2008;Novella and Hermenegildo, 2011). Although in the systemic circulation, the physiological response to hypoxia results in vasorelaxation, in pulmonary vasculature vasoconstriction is observed to preserve ventilation/perfusion matching and the maximal possible oxygenation of the blood. The disruption of the vascular endothelium leads to increased vascular tone and vasoconstriction in small PAs. The resulting Hx conditions influence further disease development.



Figure 1–7: Pathophysiological processes contributing to the onset and progression of pulmonary arterial hypertension.

The onset of clinical pulmonary arterial hypertension is believed to be caused by the presence of at least two interrelating genetic and/or endogenous/exogenous factors. The pathophysiological disease process first entitles vascular injury, causing the apoptosis of endothelial cells. The disruption of the vascular endothelium leads to increased vascular tone and vasoconstriction in small pulmonary arteries. The resulting hypoxic conditions influence further disease development. Dysregulation in the production of vasoactive and growth factors leads to increased pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells proliferation and dysfunction, resulting in the thickening of the medial layer. The recruitment of inflammatory/progenitor cells causes degradation of extracellular matrix, which in turn enables migration of fibroblasts, smooth muscle, endothelial and progenitor cells to adventitial layer. Here, the abovementioned cell types contribute to development of fibrosis. Monoclonal endothelial cell proliferation is associated with the establishment of apoptosis-resistant cell population, following vascular injury, and leads to the formation of plexiform lesions. Trans-differentiation of endothelial cells to mesenchymal or smooth muscular cells, alongside transition of contractile smooth muscle cells phenotype to synthetic phenotype, leads to increased synthesis and degradation of extracellular

matrix, contributing to the development of neointima. Diagram adapted from (Mandegar et al., 2004) and (Montani et al., 2013).

BMPR-II= Bone morphogenetic protein receptor II, 5-HTT= Serotonin transporter, EC= Endothelial Cells, SMC= Smooth Muscle Cells, ROS= Reactive oxygen species.

While the circulating concentrations of endogenous vasoconstrictors thromboxane A2 (TXA₂) and ET-1 are elevated in PAH, the levels of prostacyclin (PGI₂), a potent endogenous vasodilator in systemic and pulmonary vasculature (Moncada and Vane, 1978;Badesch et al., 2004;Barst et al., 2009), are reduced in PAH patients, as shown by the reduced concentration of its stable metabolites in patients' urine samples (Christman et al., 1992). Sustained vasoconstriction of small PAs and arterioles converts the pulmonary circulation, which is normally a low pressure, low resistance system into a high pressure, high resistance system (Filipe et al., 2008; Novella and Hermenegildo, 2011). Gene expression of prostacyclin synthase (PGIS), the enzyme converting prostaglandin H₂ to PGI₂, was detected in endothelial and SMCs of proximal and distal PAs, with greater production in the latter (Badesch et al., 1989). Hypoxia was shown to have a direct effect on the PGI₂ signalling, where animals exposed to hypoxia exhibited significant pathological changes in the pulmonary vascular plexus, reminiscent to those observed in PAH (Hoshikawa et al., 2001b;Faller, 1999;Herget et al., 2000). Furthermore, the production of ET-1, 5-HT and other vasoconstrictors is also transcriptionally regulated by low oxygen tension (Kourembanas and Bernfield, 1994). Nonetheless, PGI₂ was shown to oppose the onset of hypoxia- and monocrotaline-induced PAH in animal models (Geraci et al., 1999; Tahara et al., 2004), indicating the importance of PGI₂ metabolic pathways in PAH pathogenesis. The bioavailability of another potent vasodilatory, NO, is also decreased in disease setting (Klinger et al., 2013), possibly due to decreased expression of endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) in the lungs of patients with PH (Giaid and Saleh, 1995).

The initial endothelial dysfunction additionally affects PA remodelling through the imbalance of vasoactive compounds, favouring extensive vascular remodelling through increased production of vasoconstrictors, such as ET-1 and 5-HT, exhibiting mitogenic/proproliferative properties (Clapp et al., 2002). Vascular injury affects the phenotype of vascular PASMCs, leading to the transition SMCs with contractile character to synthetic/proliferative character (Tajsic and Morrell, 2011). SMCs having synthetic and/or proliferative phenotype, exhibit increased deposition of extracellular matrix, primarily in the adventitial layer (Stenmark et al., 2006b;Durmowicz et al., 1994). Dysregulation of metabolic pathways regulating PASMCs proliferation, migration and apoptosis, e.g. RhoA/ROCK (Barst et al., 2011;Chan and Loscalzo, 2008;Sheikh et al., 2014), results in extensive muscularisation and thickening of the non-muscular distal vessels (Barst et al., 2011), leading to a significant reduction of the luminal area. Sheikh and colleagues reported significant increase in muscularisation of non-muscularised distal vessels and proliferation of SMCs in response to hypoxia (Sheikh et al., 2014). The disequilibrium in the production of vasoactive compounds having pro- and anti-mitogenic properties, also significantly contributes the thickening of the medial layer.



Figure 1–8: The equilibrium of vasoactive mediators in pulmonary arterial hypertension favours vasoconstriction.

Increased production of vasoconstrictors, and decreased production of vasodilators, results in sustained vasoconstriction, leading to increased mean pulmonary arterial pressure. Moreover, the mitogenic properties of these mediators have a significant impact on the remodelling of the pulmonary vasculature.

Histological abnormalities in the distal medium and small PAs observed in PAH progress from endothelial dysfunction and sustained vasoconstriction, to structural changes in the vascular wall. The ultimate morphological hallmarks of the disease include remodelling of pulmonary vasculature by extensive muscularisation of non-muscular vessels, neointima formation and obstruction of these vessels. Distinct remodelling of the adventitial layer was described to occur early in hypoxia, with significant proliferation of fibroblasts (Belknap et al., 1997). The initial recruitment of inflammatory/progenitor cells to vessel wall causes the degradation of extracellular matrix, which in turn enables migration of fibroblasts, SMCs, endothelial and progenitor cells to adventitial layer. Equally, trans-differentiation of ECs to mesenchymal or SMCs, with transition of contractile SMCs phenotype to synthetic phenotype, leads to increased degradation and/or synthesis of extracellular matrix. The differentiation of fibroblasts into myofibroblast might also result in augmented production of extracellular matrix, and the remodelling of the adventitial layer (Stenmark et al., 2006a), which was also reported by (Durmowicz et al., 1994). The authors suggested that the expression of extracellular matrix proteins occurs in response to chronic hypoxia, therefore it appeared to be an adaptive mechanism to alterations in haemodynamic parameters and pO_2 (Durmowicz et al., 1994). Importantly, certain components of the extracellular matrix, shown to be increased in lung tissue form IPAH patients (Papakonstantinou et al., 2008), are associated with promoting the migration and proliferation of PASMCs, possibly contributing to the pathophysiological changes in the adventitial and medial layers, associated with muscularisation of otherwise non-muscularised vessels. The latter are mostly attributed to the differentiation of pericytes and/or other cell types, such as stem cells and fibroblasts, into SMCs and their subsequent proliferation and hypertrophy (Tuder et al., 2007;Rabinovitch, 2012). Importantly, migration of fibroblasts to the intimal and medial layers in hypoxic conditions and subsequent expansion was reported (Stenmark et al., 2002; Das et al., 2002). This resulted in increased production of extracellular matrix, and contributed to the reduction of vessel lumen through the formation of neointima (Tuder et al., 2007). The formation of neointima may be worsened by increased pressure within pulmonary vessels (Okada et al., 1997). A distinct absence of apoptosis described in SMCs and endothelial cells (ECs) was described in plexiform lesions in the lung samples of primary PH patients (Tuder et al., 2001b), with significant implication in complication of severe PAH with the formation of plexiform lesions. Specifically, following vascular injury, monoclonal EC proliferation was associated with the establishment of apoptosis-resistant cell population and formation of plexiform lesions. The latter are disorganised vascular formations composed of proliferating ECs, SMCs and infiltrated circulating immune and progenitor cells (Abe et al., 2010;Lee et al., 1998; Tuder et al., 1994), complicating the disease and leading to complete obliteration of distal PAs (Malenfant et al., 2013). The ECs in the plexiform lesions express markers of angiogenesis, therefore these lesions could be formed through a process of disorganised angiogenesis (Tuder et al., 2001a). The progression of vascular remodelling and the formation of plexiform lesions, albeit in experimental animal model, is shown in Figure 1-9. The distinct reduction of the vascular lumen in distal PAs and the obliteration of small vessels, result in significant reduction in the blood flow within the distal part of the lung.



Figure 1–9: Gradual advancement of pulmonary arterial hypertension as per histopathological changes in the distal pulmonary arteries and lesions in Su5416/Hx rats. The vascular remodelling in Su5416/Hx animals closely resembles that observed in humans. Initially, only medial hypertrophy is observed, followed by proliferation and hypertrophy in the media intima. In the progressive stages of the disease, neointimal and plexiform lesions occur. Adapted from (Abe et al., 2010).

1.2.5.1 Serotonin in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

5-HT is derived from L-tryptophan by tryptophan hydroxylase (TPH), which converts Ltryptophan to 5-hydroxytryptophan in a rate-limiting reaction. The latter then serves as a precursor for L-aromatic acid decarboxylase, producing 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) also known as serotonin. 5-HT serves as a neurotransmitter in central and peripheral tissues, with its production reported in the gastrointestinal tract and central nervous system. Moreover, in lung samples and pulmonary microvascular ECs (PMECs), the expression of *tph1* isoform is significantly increased and localised mainly in ECs (Eddahibi et al., 2006). The deletion of *tph1* gene in mice resulted in attenuation of pulmonary haemodynamics and vascular remodelling (Morecroft et al., 2007). Upon its synthesis, 5-HT is released into the bloodstream, from where it is actively taken up by platelets via the serotonin transporter (5-HTT or SERT). Activated platelets release 5-HT, which then, locally present in high concentrations, mediates vasoconstriction. Indeed, the exposure of isolated lungs from normoxic rats to lower concentrations of 5-HT induced a concentration-dependent vasodilation, while higher concentrations elicited vasoconstriction (Eddahibi et al., 1997). The especially potent vasoconstriction response to stimulation with 5-HT was reported in the resistance PAs, where vasoconstriction was mediated via 5-HT1B receptor (MacLean et al., 1996). The production of 5-HT in the peripheral arteries, specifically thoracic aorta and superior mesenteric artery, was proposed by (Ni et al., 2008). Conditioning of PASMCs with medium collected from PMECs, which were stimulated with tryptophan, induced hyperplasia of SMCs (Eddahibi et al., 2006). Interestingly, these effects were potentiated in cells derived from IPAH patients (Eddahibi et al., 2006). 5-HT induced cellular proliferation was further exacerbated in hypoxia (Eddahibi et al., 1999). The observed mitogenic effects

of 5-HT are associated with increased expression of SERT in hypoxia (Eddahibi et al., 1999). In HPAH, a set of polymorphism within the promoter of *SERT* gene was described, which are associated with earlier onset of the disease (Willers et al., 2006). Overexpression of the *SERT* gene in experimental model of PH was associated with the onset of PH phenotype in these animals and will be discussed in detail below (MacLean et al., 2004;White et al., 2011a).

1.2.5.2 Reactive Oxygen Species in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

The implication of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the pathophysiology of PAH was proposed due to the ability of these reactive compounds to interfere with cellular processes via irreversible oxidative post-translational modifications and damage of proteins, enzymes and DNA. Indeed, there is increased generation of ROS in hypoxic models of PH (Hoshikawa et al., 2001a), and patients with clinical PAH (Reis et al., 2013), indicating that the imbalance in the production/removal of these compounds might result in pathophysiological changes in the pulmonary vasculature, including vascular remodelling. ROS are primarily produced by the nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate-oxidase (NADPH oxidase, Nox) family of enzymes, which are involved in the respiratory electron transport chain (Fulton et al., 2017). Seven isoforms of NADPH oxidases were described, including Nox1-4 and Duox1-2 (Bedard and Krause, 2007). The activation of Nox usually entails coordinated assembly of cytoplasmic proteins, which following post-translational modifications, form a functional unit (Bedard and Krause, 2007). Increased levels of Nox4 mRNA were observed in murine hypoxic model of PH, monocrotaline-induced model of PH in rats, and IPAH patients (Mittal et al., 2007; Dorfmuller et al., 2011). Equally, increased levels of Nox1 mRNA were reported in PASMCs derived from monocrotaline-treated rats (Veit et al., 2013). Most recently it was reported that the basal expression of Nox1/Nox4 is increased in PASMCs from PAH patients (Hood et al., 2016). Interestingly, stimulation of these cells with oestradiol and 16a-hydroxyoestrone (16aOHE1) resulted in increased ROSdependent proliferation, sustained production of ROS and increased expression of Nox1, respectively (Hood et al., 2016). Generally, the introduction of small interfering RNA (siRNA) to silence the gene expression of Nox1/Nox4 results in decreased proliferation of PASMCs, increased apoptosis, and attenuated PH phenotype (Mittal et al., 2007;Dorfmuller et al., 2011;Veit et al., 2013).

1.2.5.3Prostacyclin Synthase in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

PGI₂ is a lipid mediator with potent vasodilatory effects, primarily produced in the ECs. It is derived from arachidonic acid (AA) in a three-phase reaction, where cyclooxygenase enzymes (COX), produce the prostaglandin PGG₂, which is rapidly converted into PGH₂, and the latter then serves as a precursor for the PGIS, a specific prostanoid synthase. In vascular tissue, PGI₂ is the main metabolite formed from AA (Bunting et al., 1976). The enzyme is expressed in all vascular cells of proximal and distal PAs, with greater expression in the ECs (Badesch et al., 1989). While numerous human lung cancer cell line exhibit decreased expression of PGIS, the importance of this enzyme in lung cancer was shown by a transgenic murine model over-expressing this enzyme, which exhibited protection against lung tumour formation (Stearman et al., 2007). Equally, the expression of PGIS in pulmonary circulation of PAH patients is decreased compared to normal subjects (Tuder et al., 1999). A comprehensive set of PGIS promoter variants exists, resulting in heterogenous transcription of this gene (Stearman et al., 2014). Furthermore, in patients with clinical PAH the transcriptional activity of the PGIS gene is less compared to healthy individuals, which might underline the previously described low circulating levels of PGI₂ in PAH patients. Hx increased the expression of PGIS and release of PGI2 in VSMC and ECs (Camacho et al., 2011). Alterations of PGIS expression and activity might be an adaptive response to hypoxic stress (Camacho et al., 2011).



Figure 1–10: Prostaglandin biosynthesis.

Phospholipase A2 catalyses the hydrolysis of membrane lipids to liberate arachidonic acid, which is further metabolised by COX-1 and/or COX-2 to the unstable PGH2. Individual prostaglandin synthase enzyme then uses the precursor prostaglandin PGH2 to form distinct prostaglandins. TXAS, PGDS, PGES, PGIS and PGFS respectively generate, TxA2, PHD2, PGE2, PGI2 and PGF2α.

The beneficial effects of prostacyclin and its therapeutic analogues are attributed to the activation of the prostacyclin receptors (IP, DP, EP2 and EP4). These are located in the plasma membrane, leading to IP receptor coupling with Gs type of GPCR and resulting in production of cAMP, leading to vasodilation/vasorelaxation (Narumiya et al., 1999;Wise, 2003). Inhibitory prostacyclin receptors (EP3) and contractile receptors (EP1, FP and TP) couple Gi or Gq type of GPCR receptors, respectively. This results in i) inhibition of AC activity, and therewith associated restricted vasorelaxation, or ii) activation of PCL- β/γ , leading to increased production of DAG and IP3, which ultimately result in mobilisation of intracellular Ca²⁺ and PKC activation, associated with vasoconstriction.

The protective effects of PGI_2 in the vasculature far surpasses those mediated through vasodilation alone, suggesting anti-proliferative effect. In the heart, PGI_2 modulated the expression of collagen, an important ECM component (Yu et al., 1997), therefore it might also be associated with reduced fibrosis and remodelling. Genetic deletion of prostacyclin receptor resulted in aggravated intimal hyperplasia, associated with the absence of inhibitory effects on SMC proliferation and migration (Fetalvero et al., 2007). Vascular remodelling is associated with the de-differentiation of SMCs, whereby the contractile phenotype of these cells is substituted with synthetic, resulting in substantial increase in ECM component deposition and increase in proliferation and migration. The authors also observed that PGI_2 also opposes de-differentiation of SMCs by upregulating the expression of contractile proteins, thereby promoting enhanced contractile phenotype in human myometrial tissue (Fetalvero et al., 2008). The biosynthesis and PGI_2 signalling pathway in SMCs are depicted in Figure 1–11.



Figure 1–11: Prostacyclin biosynthesis and signalling pathway.

Prostacyclin is produced in endothelial cells from arachidonic acid, through a three-step reaction catalysed by cyclooxygenase and prostacyclin synthase enzymes, respectively. Prostacyclin then, in paracrine or autocrine manner, exerts its actions on smooth muscle cells, where it binds to prostacyclin receptors, resulting in activation of signalling pathways associated with the activation of G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR), leading to vasodilation or vasoconstriction, depending on the type of GPCR prostacyclin receptor is coupled with. Replicated from (Ivey et al., 2008).

EC= Endothelial cells, SMC= Smooth muscle cells, PGI2=Prostacyclin, IP=Relaxant prostacyclin IP receptor, AC=Adenylate cyclase, cAMP=Cyclin adenosine monophosphate; PKA=Protein kinase A, PLC- β/δ = Phospholipase C β/δ , DAG= Diacylglycerol, IP3= Inositol trisphosphate, PKC=Protein kinase C.

1.2.5.4 Interaction of Prostacyclin and the Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Signalling

Many different ligands were shown to activate peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs), which are ligand-inducible transcription factors, forming a subfamily of nuclear receptors comprising of PPAR α , PPAR γ and PPAR β/δ isoforms. The compounds that

activate PPARs include peroxisome proliferators, hypolipidaemic and anti-inflammatory drugs, and endogenous ligands such as fatty acids, eicosanoids and their derivatives (Berger and Moller, 2002). Several metabolites of AA were shown to activate PPARs (Forman et al., 1995; Yu et al., 1995). A screen for PPAR activators revealed that different PPARs isoforms are activated by prostaglandins to varying degrees (Yu et al., 1995), indicating the receptors possess differential affinities for these molecules. PGA₁, PGD₁ and PGD₂, and PGJ₂ increase the activation of PPARs for several ten-folds. Although, PGI₂ and its more stable metabolite $PGF_{1}\alpha$, were shown to only have a more marginal effect on PPAR activation (Yu et al., 1995), probably due to the very short half-life, PGI₂ was described as an endogenous ligand for PPAR β/δ and γ isoforms (Forman et al., 1995;Nemenoff et al., 2008). There is evidence that PGI₂ can activate PPARs directly (Forman et al., 1997) or indirectly, though the IP receptor (Falcetti et al., 2007), indicating it is PPAR endogenous ligand (Forman et al., 1997;Hertz et al., 1996). In addition to endogenous PGI₂, stable derivatives, such as iloprost and treprostinil, were also shown to activate PPAR isoforms (Forman et al., 1997;Ali et al., 2006). Therefore, it is plausible that some protective effects of these prostacyclin analogues are partly mediated through the PPAR signalling pathways. Ligand-activated PPARs form heterodimers with retinoid X receptors (RXR), and regulate gene expression by binding to the peroxisome proliferator response elements in promoter regions of target genes (Berger and Moller, 2002), mostly involved in glucose and lipid metabolism (Wang, 2010), inflammation (Becker et al., 2006), and cell survival (KEGG PPAR signalling pathway). Several functions were attributed to the isoforms activated by PGI₂, from modulating lipid and glucose metabolism, to inflammation, cell growth, and differentiation (Genini et al., 2012), as well as cardioprotective effects (Langenfeld et al., 2005). Specifically, in the CVS, prostacyclin receptor agonist beraprost, enhanced the expression of PPARy and inducible NO synthase (iNOS), leading to diminished proliferation of aortic SMCs (Lin et al., 2008). Additionally, through the activation of PPAR α/δ PGI₂ might also oppose the shift from contractile to synthetic phenotype, induced by increased pressure and/or shear stress, in vascular SMCs (Tsai et al., 2009).

Exposure of rats to certain peroxisome proliferator chemicals (e.g. phthalates) caused a marked reduction in oestrogen levels, leading to physiological irregularities in the animal reproductive systems (Davis et al., 1994). Therefore, it was postulated that PPARs could act to modulate oestrogen signalling pathways and metabolism. The RXRs were shown to be able to bind to ERE in the promoter region of oestrogen regulated genes and modulate their expression (Segars et al., 1993;Keller et al., 1995), indicating the existence of a cross-talk

between PPAR and oestrogen signalling pathways. By binding to ERE, PPARs act as competitive inhibitors (Keller et al., 1995), e.g. PPAR γ mediates reduced transcription of aromatase gene and increased protein turnover (Yanase et al., 2001;Fan et al., 2005). Moreover, PPAR signalling led to increased degradation of ER α (Qin et al., 2003), resulting in altered oestrogen signalling. PPAR α , which is constitutively expressed in the mouse lung (Becker et al., 2008b), increased the expression of 17 β HSD type 1, leading to increased oestrone (E1) production (Corton et al., 1997;Davis et al., 1994). The treatment with peroxisome proliferator completely abolished *CYP2C11* gene expression, an enzyme which metabolises oestradiol to 20HE1/2 and 16 α OHE1/2 in males (Corton et al., 1997), indicating PPAR activity could modulate the expression of oestrogen metabolising enzymes. Interestingly, the expression of *CYP1B1* was shown to be induced through the activation of PPAR α activation (Lovekamp-Swan et al., 2003;Murray et al., 2001). Equally, deletion of the *CYP1B1* gene in mice resulted in suppressed expression of PPAR α , and the genes regulated by this receptor (Larsen et al., 2015).

1.2.6 Right Ventricular Hypertrophy in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

In the foetus, the thickness of the left and right ventricles is the same. Following the immense change in the pressure of the pulmonary vasculature upon the first breath and the maturation of pulmonary vessels during the first years of life, the anatomy of both ventricles' changes. Namely, the wall of the right ventricle (RV) remains thin (approximately 4mm) and the thickness of the left ventricle (LV) increases to be able to withstand greater afterload, closely related to the higher systemic pressure in the aorta compared to mPAP. In a healthy individual, the pulmonary circulation can, in times of increased oxygen requirements, accept several-fold higher stroke volume from RV with no change in pulmonary pressure (Matthews and McLaughlin, 2008). However, persistently increased pressure overload due to chronically increased mPAP results in increased wall thickness of RV (Bristow et al., 1998). The authors described additional changes in the RV geometrical character and chamber volume (Bristow et al., 1998). The compensatory RV hypertrophy with preserved cardiac output, in absence of proper therapeutic options due to late diagnosis and the focus of current treatments of PAH, progresses to maladaptive hypertrophy with contractile dysfunction, resulting in RV failure affecting the adequate perfusion of the pulmonary circulation (Ryan and Archer, 2014). Although most of the available therapeutic options for PAH are focused on vasoconstriction, the results of a dynamic cohort conducted by Sandoval

and colleagues, showed that the survival of PAH patients is significantly dependent on the RV function (Sandoval et al., 1994). Furthermore, the reduction in PVR does not necessarily result in improved RV function or has prognostic significance in treated patients (van de Veerdonk et al., 2011). The authors showed that the patients' survival is only significantly affected by the RV ejection fraction (van de Veerdonk et al., 2011).

Despite lower prevalence and incidence of PAH in men, they generally have worse survival compared to females (Humbert et al., 2010a;Ling et al., 2012;Escribano-Subias et al., 2012). The results of Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA) indicated that the RV mass, volume and ejection fraction greatly depend on sex, age and race (Kawut et al., 2011). A study of cardiac volumetric measurements in a population of IPAH patients revealed that men have generally lower values of RV ejection fraction and stroke volume (Swift et al., 2015), possibly explaining the poor survival of men diagnosed with PAH.

1.2.7 Current Treatment Options for Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

Currently, PAH is still considered as an incurable disease, even though, data from current PAH registries indicates that the 5-year survival of PAH patient post-diagnosis improved in comparison to the first published survival data by Rich and colleagues (Rich et al., 1987;Ling et al., 2012). Initially, it was reported that less than two thirds of patients survive 3 years once the PAH diagnosis was made (Humbert et al., 2010a;Benza et al., 2012). The average survival time from diagnosis was estimated to be 5–7 years (Gomberg-Maitland et al., 2011;Kane et al., 2011;Benza et al., 2012). The 5-year mortality rate reported in UK and Spanish registries was between 30–40% (Ling et al., 2012;Escribano-Subias et al., 2012). Recent data indicates that 5-year survival of PAH patients with exhibiting functional classes of impairment according to NYHA Classes I/II, III and IV is approximately 80%, 60% and 40%, respectively (Gall et al., 2017). Importantly, only estimated 19% of patients included in the NIH registry were treated for the disease long term (Medarov and Judson, 2015), while, according to the National Audit of Pulmonary Hypertension 2017, 99% of patients with PH diagnosis are on active therapy and referral (Digital, 2017).

The first therapeutic approaches were based on the use of vasodilators CCBs, providing alleviation of symptoms experienced by the patients, and non-specific therapies, such as anticoagulation therapy, diuretics and therapy with supplemental oxygen. Although there is

no direct evidence that the non-specific therapies have a beneficial effect in PAH, the use of diuretics is recommended to reduce the load on the right heart, reducing heart failure symptoms in these patients. Camerini and colleagues reported the beneficial effect of nifedipine, a CCB, on haemodynamic parameters within the lung of PAH patients. Moreover, prolonged administration of nifedipine resulted in improvement of symptoms and reduced signs of right heart failure (Camerini et al., 1980). Rich and colleagues reported the beneficial effects of therapy with high-dose CCBs in IPAH patients on heamodynamic parameters such as mPAP and PVR, right ventricular hypertrophy and the overall survival (Rich et al., 1992). The therapy using CCBs is particularly effective in approximately 12% of the patient population, who exhibit significant response to vasodilators, as per the vasoreactivity assessment carried out during the diagnostic procedures (Sitbon et al., 2005). Unfortunately, prolonged treatment with CCBs is effective in an extremely small proportion of PAH patients (Sitbon et al., 2005). Therefore, prolonged treatment with CCBs is not recommended by the WHO, especially for patients with more severe impairments according to the NYHA classification.

Currently, the recommendation for the treatment of PAH is to use one of the regulatoryapproved treatments, including prostacyclin analogues, endothelin-1 receptor antagonists (ETRA) and phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitors (PDE5I). The approved therapeutic options are intended to improve the patient's symptoms and decrease the mortality rate. The choice of the most suitable therapeutic option is based on the disease severity, including haemodynamic parameters, functional limitations, and presence of right heart failure, route of administration, side effects and possible drug interactions with other concurrent therapies. Initially, the patients receive a monotherapy, and their response to the therapy is regularly monitored. Should the monotherapy not be sufficiently effective, then a combination therapy, using medications belonging to different treatment classes, is utilised (Galie et al., 2009;Badesch et al., 2007).

The first approved class of therapeutics for the treatment of PAH was prostacyclin and its analogues, which are derivatives of the endogenous molecule with prolonged half-life. The beneficial effects of prostacyclin analogues in SMCs were attributed to its effects through: i) the binding to the G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs), leading to activation of PKA and increased production of cAMP, resulting in SMCs relaxation and vasodilation (Narumiya et al., 1999;Wise, 2003), and ii) the inhibition of SMC proliferation (Clapp et al., 2002). The anti-proliferative properties of prostacyclin analogues are not entirely understood, with

Clapp and colleagues having reported the anti-proliferative effects might be mediated in a cAMP-dependent manner (Clapp et al., 2002), while others have demonstrated prostacyclin analogues might activate the DNA-binding protein inhibitors Id1/Id3 through the bone morphogenetic protein receptor II (BMPRII) signalling pathway (Yang et al., 2010). Three prostacyclin analogues (epoprostenol, treprostinil and iloprost) are currently approved for the treatment of PAH and are used to manage moderate to severe PAH. Previously associated with intravenous administration, new generation prostacyclin exhibit improved pharmacokinetic properties and stability at room temperature, enabling improved routes of administration.



Figure 1–12: Diagram depicting signalling pathways targeted by current and emerging therapies in pulmonary arterial hypertension.

Currently approved therapeutic strategies in pulmonary arterial hypertension target three major signalling pathways involved in the regulation of vascular tone in pulmonary arteries: i) Endothelin, ii) Prostacyclin and iii) Nitric Oxide. Endothelial dysfunction and/or injury results in decreased production of endogenous vasodilatory mediators, i.e. prostacyclin and nitric oxide, while the expression of endothelin-1, promoting vasoconstriction and smooth muscle cell proliferation, is upregulated. Therefore, current therapeutic approaches focus on i) inhibiting the endothelin-1

signalling pathway through endothelin-1 receptor antagonists, or ii) administration of prostacyclin analogues to activate prostacyclin IP receptors, and iii) inhibition of phosphodiesterase 5, resulting in decreased decomposition of cyclic glucanosyl monophosphate, leading to vasodilation and arrest of proliferation. Adapted from (Humbert et al., 2014).

ETA= Endothelin A receptor, ETB= Endothelin B receptor, BMPRII= Bone-morphogenetic protein receptor II, Id1/Id3= DNA-binding protein inhibitor ID-1/3, cAMP= Cyclin adenosine monophosphate, sGC= Soluble guanylyl cyclase, GTP= Guanosine triphosphate, cGMP= Cyclic guanosine monophosphate, GMP= Guanosyl monophosphate, PDE5= Phosphodiesterase 5.

The vasoconstrictor properties of ET-1 and its importance in the maintenance of vascular tone were recognised, due to high amounts of ET-1 being produced by the lung. ET-1 is rapidly produced in direct response to the presence of specific stimuli, including hypoxia and low levels of oestrogens (Galie et al., 2004a). Increased levels of ET-1 in the plasma of PH patients were observed (Stewart et al., 1991), which might be a direct response to pulmonary vascular injury (Olave et al., 2012). The levels of ET-1 appear to be indicative of the disease severity, as assessed by PVR, mPAP and exercise capacity (Giaid et al., 1993; Rubens et al., 2001). Activation of ET-1 production was also reported in the rat monocrotaline and other models of PH (Miyauchi et al., 1993;Galie et al., 2004a). ET-1 acts through two endothelin-type receptors, ET_A and ET_B, where the former receptor is implicated in mediating vasoconstriction through G_i/G_q receptors and activation of protein kinase C, respectively (Vázquez-Prado et al., 1997; Warner et al., 1993), and the latter receptor is associated with the release of endogenous vasodilators (Hirata et al., 1993). While PASMCs express both receptor types constitutively, only ET_B is expressed in PAECs. Moreover, both types of receptors are differentially distributed in pulmonary vasculature, with greater expression of ET_A in proximal vessels, and greater expression of ET_B in distal vessels (Davie et al., 2002;Soma et al., 1999;MacLean et al., 1994). A marked up-regulation of ET receptors was reported in pre-clinical animal models (Li et al., 1994), and in PAs from PH patients (Galie et al., 2004a), with PAs also exhibiting increased ET-1 binding capacity (Davie et al., 2002), corroborating the importance of ET-1 signalling in the pathogenesis of the disease first proposed by MacLean and colleagues. Several studies to date indicated that the activity of ET_B receptor, involved in the clearance of ET-1, might be reduced (Langleben et al., 2006; Dupuis et al., 2000). A sex disparity was observed in the levels of ET-1, with male rats having higher levels of the endogenous molecule and more pronounced ET_Amediated signalling in the kidney (Kittikulsuth et al., 2013), which could translate into increased vascular tone in this population compared to age-matched females (Stauffer et al., 2010). Hence, it is surprising that a meta study of patient data from six randomized placebocontrolled trials of ET-1 receptor antagonists (ERAs) revealed that, the differences in ET-1

expression led to greater response to ERAs in women compared to men (Gabler et al., 2012). A direct link between the levels of ET-1 and sex hormones was suggested, with oestrogens decreasing the gene expression of ET-1 in ECs (Bilsel et al., 2000). Currently available endothelin receptor antagonists can be divided into two classes: i) dual antagonists (ambrisentan), and ii) selective antagonists (bosentan, macitentan), where the dual antagonists target both ET-1 receptors, and the selective antagonists are selectively blocking ET_A receptor in SMCs. The selective antagonists have the advantage of decreasing ET-1-mediated vasoconstriction and proliferation, while the beneficial effects of ET_B remain unaltered.

The last class of approved therapeutics for PAH are phosphodiesterase 5 inhibitors (PDE5I), which target the cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP)-specific PDE5 enzyme. The NO signalling pathway is involved in the regulation of vascular tone by mediating vasodilation of small vessels. Produced in ECs, the NO mediates relaxation of the underlying SMCs through the activation of soluble guanylyl cyclase (sGC) enzyme, resulting in the production of cGMP, a secondary messenger mediating vasodilation either by: i) affecting intracellular levels of Ca^{2+} , ii) activation of Ca^{2+} -sensitive K⁺ channels thereby increasing K⁺ influx (Archer et al., 1994), or iii) by stimulation of de-phosphorylation of myosine fibres (Nakamura et al., 2007). The PDE enzyme catalyses the degradation of cGMP, leading to termination of signal transduction. Several PDE isoforms (PDE1-6) exist, with PDE5 being abundantly expressed in the pulmonary vasculature (Corbin et al., 2005). Increased expression of PDE3 and PDE5 isoforms in vitro and in vivo were associated with PH phenotype (Murray et al., 2002), indicating that increased degradation of cGMP might be affecting vascular reactivity. Sildenafil and tadalafil are currently approved for the treatment of moderate to severe PAH. PDE5I were also shown to inhibit proliferation, although the exact mechanism is not yet fully understood (Li et al., 2007). Another class of therapeutics, associated with the NO pathway, directly stimulates sGC resulting in cGMP production, and stabilising the activation of this enzyme by NO (Stasch and Evgenov, 2013). Concurrent use of PDE5I and sGC stimulators is not recommended due to the risk of provoking systemic hypotension (Humbert and Ghofrani, 2016).

Patients who do not respond to available therapies or exhibit a significant decline in their clinical condition, and are deemed to be eligible for lung transplantation, are referred to a transplantation centre (George et al., 2011).

As available therapeutic approaches do not offer reversal of haemodynamic changes, the need for novel treatments, tackling the extensive vascular remodelling, is apparent, especially, as most of the described therapies demonstrate only marginal improvement in survival (Stenmark and Rabinovitch, 2010). Pullamsetti and colleagues produced a comprehensive review of the novel therapeutic concepts, currently still in experimental or clinical stages, including novel approaches to vasodilation using prostacyclin receptor agonists, and prospective i) anti-proliferative treatment strategies targeting tyrosine kinases, ii) transcription factor-based strategies targeting PPAR γ , *Notch*, and *Wnt/* β signalling pathways, iii) inflammation-targeting strategies, iv) epigenetic modulation-based therapies utilising miRNA mimics, histone deacetylase inhibitors and DNA methyltransferase inhibitors, v) BMPR*II* modulation strategies focused on restoration of *BMPRII* expression and signalling, and vi) regenerative approaches aimed at targeting vascular pruning by induction of angiogenesis by early endothelial progenitor cells (Pullamsetti et al., 2014).

1.3 Underlying Genetic Causes of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

The occurrence of HPAH, previously termed primary PH, within families was first reported more than 65 years ago. Since, immense advances were made in terms of understanding the disease inheritance pattern, which is consistent with autosomal dominant mode (Loyd et al., 1984), and the genetic factors contributing to the disease onset. The transmission pattern indicated the possible X-chromosome linkage (Loyd et al., 1984). The hereditary form of the PAH only accounts for approximately 5% of entire PAH patient population (Thenappan et al., 2007). Nonetheless, the presence of mutations was linked with earlier onset of the disease, more severe haemodynamic impairment and poorer survival (Sztrymf et al., 2008;Girerd et al., 2010a). While the mutations in the *BMPRII* are the most characterised in PAH, numerous rare mutations in novel genes were connected with the onset of the hereditary form, including *ALK-1*, *KCNK3*, *ENG*, *ACVRL1*, *CAV1*, *SMAD9*, *EIF2AK4* and *BMPRIB*, causing 1–3% of HPAH cases (Austin et al., 2002).

1.3.1 Mutations in BMPRII Gene

The BMPR*II* is a constitutively active serine/threonine receptor kinase, belonging to the transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) superfamily, found to be an important component of

PAH pathogenesis. The presence of mutations in the gene encoding various regions of the BMPRII are present in more than 70% of patients with HPAH (Lane et al., 2000; Deng et al., 2000; Trembath et al., 2001), and approximately 25% of IPAH patients (Thomson et al., 2000). Austin and colleagues reported that the risk of developing PAH in BMPRII mutation carriers is 14% and 42%, in males and females respectively (Austin et al., 2002). The mutations in the BMPRII gene seem to affect the expression levels, with BMPRII expression being decreased in patients with different forms of PAH (Atkinson et al., 2002), inferring that mutations occurring in the gene encoding the BMPRII receptor lead to diminished signalling though this pathway. Evidence indicates that the BMPRII signalling is significantly reduced in the PAECs derived from patients with IPAH and HPAH (Richter et al., 2004; Yang et al., 2005). The presence of a mutation in the BMPRII gene can generally be described as detrimental, as individuals with these mutations present clinical PAH more than 10 years earlier than patients that are not harbouring this defect (Girerd et al., 2010b), and exhibit higher mPAP and lower cardiac output (Evans et al., 2016). Moreover, studies showed that the presence of mutations in the BMPRII gene is closely associated with the severity of haemodynamic impairment of the pulmonary circulation, meaning these patients might require surgical intervention sooner than non-carriers (Sztrymf et al., 2008). Nonetheless, approximately 80% of individuals who are carriers of mutation in the BMPRII gene will never develop PAH (Hamid et al., 2009). Extremely low penetrance of the disease despite the presence of a mutation, strongly suggests more than one insult/injury is required for the disease to be presented clinically.

1.3.1.1 BMPRII Signalling Pathway

The binding of a BMP ligand or growth factor induces hetero-dimerization of type I and type II BMPR, results in the formation of an active receptor complex, which phosphorylates mothers against decapentaplegic homologs (Smad) 1/5/8. Phosphorylated Smad complex can then bind with Smad4, resulting in its translocation to the nucleus, and modification of gene expression through: i) direct interaction of Smad proteins with DNA or ii) indirect interaction through recruitment of co-activators, co-repressors and transcription factors (Massague et al., 2005). One of major downstream mediators of the BMPR*II* signalling pathway is the family of inhibitor of the DNA-binding (Id) proteins, which are involved in regulation of cellular differentiation and proliferation (Miyazono et al., 2010). The BMPR*II* signalling pathway can interact with other signalling pathways, such as extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and p38 mitogen activated protein

(MAP) kinase pathways (Guo and Wang, 2009). Signalling through the BMPR*II* pathway was shown to promote survival in PAECs and inhibition of proliferation in PASMCs, while modulating the response of vascular cells to growth factors (Perez et al., 2011;Nakaoka et al., 1997;Teichert-Kuliszewska et al., 2006;Zhang et al., 2003).



Figure 1–13: Bone morphogenetic protein receptor II (BMPRII) signalling pathway.

The binding of bone morphogenetic protein 4 or a suitable growth factors results in heterodimerisation of BMPRII with BMPRI, forming an active receptor complex, which leads to phosphorylation of Smad-1, -5 and -8. Phosphorylated Smad proteins then dimerise with Smad-4, and the complex is translocated into the nucleus, where it regulates the transcription of genes involved in cell growth, proliferation and apoptosis. The active extracellular signal–regulated kinases (ERK) and/or mitogen activated protein kinases inhibit the BMPRII signalling pathway, resulting in dysregulated cellular proliferation.

BMP4=Bone morphogenetic protein 4, BMPRII=Bone morphogenetic protein receptor type II, BMPRI=Bone morphogenetic protein receptor type I, Smad-1/5/8=Mothers against decapentaplegic homologs, P=Phosphorylation, ERK=Extracellular signal-regulated kinases, Id1/3=DNA-binding protein inhibitor Id1/3

In a healthy cell, the binding of a ligand to the BMPR*II* leads to the activation of PPAR γ , which can block the Smad-independent signalling through the phosphorylation of the extracellular signal-regulated kinase1/2 (pErk1/2), leading the induction of genes p27 and p21, resulting in the senescence of the cell (Morrison and Farmer, 1999). However, when the BMPR*II* signalling is impaired by a mutation in the corresponding gene, then the binding of a growth factor to the receptors, causes the activation of Smad-independent signalling, resulting in VSMC proliferation *in vitro* (Sarjeant et al., 2003).

Stimulation of PAECs with oestrogen under hypoxic conditions resulted in decreased expression of proteins involved in the BMPRII signalling pathway (Ichimori et al., 2013). Under basal conditions, significantly less BMPRII receptor, phospho-Smad1/5/8 (p-Smad1/5/8), Id1 and Id3 proteins were expressed in the PASMCs derived from females compared to males (Mair et al., 2015), with similar observations made by Austin and colleagues in lymphocytes (Austin et al., 2009). In vitro experiments showed that oestrogen treatment leads to a reduction in the BMPRII signalling pathway through the activity of hypoxia-inducible factor 1α (HIF1 α) and oestrogen receptor α (ER α) (Ichimori et al., 2013; Fessel et al., 2013), with the effects of oestrogen potentiated by five-fold in the presence of other pro-proliferative signals (Fessel et al., 2013). Hence, not surprisingly, disease penetrance in BMPRII mutation carriers is increased by altered oestrogen metabolism (Austin et al., 2009), with female gender reported as significantly affecting disease penetrance (Austin et al., 2009; Badesch et al., 2010). It was recently shown that the inhibition of the key enzyme in the local production of oestrogen in the pulmonary circulation, increases the BMPRII signalling pathway (Mair et al., 2014). Significantly, oestrogen regulates lysosomal activity through non-genomic signalling (Burlando et al., 2002), which has also regulating the BMPRII signalling pathway (Durrington et al., 2010).

1.3.2 Mutations in ALK-1 Gene

The activin A receptor type II-like kinase-1 (*ALK-1*) is a serine/threonine-protein kinase receptor in the TGF- β signalling pathway, which induces the phosphorylation of Smad1/5/8. Mutations in *ALK-1* gene was linked with the onset of HPAH and extremely poor patient prognosis in individuals harbouring this mutation compared to carriers of BMPR*II* mutation (Girerd et al., 2010a).
1.4 Animal Models of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

The survival of PAH patients' post-diagnosis remains poor (Humbert et al., 2010a;Benza et al., 2012), with the average survival time estimated to be 5–7 years (Benza et al., 2012;Gomberg-Maitland et al., 2011;Kane et al., 2011). Poor survival prognosis indicates that due to the complexity of PAH pathogenesis, most significant pathogenic signalling mechanisms are still unidentified, and consequently not therapeutically targeted. Animal models of the disease offer the opportunity to gain new insights into PAH pathogenesis and therewith associated effective pharmacological approaches. Numerous animal models were developed to assist the research of PAH. The features of some experimental animal models of PH are summarised in Table 1-3.

1.4.1 Hypoxia-Induced Pulmonary Hypertension

Most frequently, in research setting, PH in numerous animal species is induced by exposure to chronic hypoxia (cHx). The advantage of cHx models is the simplicity of model implementation and the range of species it can be used in. The exposure of rats to cHx induces remodelling of the pulmonary vascular plexus, including the muscularisation of small non-muscular PAs and increased muscularisation of pre-capillary arteries (Stenmark et al., 2009), associated with migration, proliferation and hypertrophy of SMCs (Stenmark et al., 2006b; Meyrick and Perkett, 1989). In cHx, thickening and fibrosis of large proximal PAs, leading to severe stiffening of these vessels, were documented (Drexler et al., 2008). The described progressive structural changes within the lung lead to an increase in the mean PAP. Although these animals developed increased mPAP, resulting in the onset of RV hypertrophy (RVH), this does not lead to RV failure (RVF), as seen in humans (Stenmark et al., 2009). In mice, exposure to cHx results in the muscularisation and thickening of distal and proximal PAs, although to a lesser extent compared to rats (Frank et al., 2008). The differences in response to cHx in mice are due to differential gene expression induced by Hx (Tada et al., 2008). Although this model was shown to exhibit highly reproducible and predictable response within a strain of animals, it is hindered by exceeding variability in the response to Hx between animal species, strain and animal's age (Stenmark et al., 2006b). The model is, however, additionally limited by relatively modest increases in mPAP and the

absence of plexiform lesions, which are characteristic for human PAH. Therefore, cHx animal models can only be regarded as models of less severe PH, and not PAH.

The cHx, although a classical animal model of PAH, does not completely recapitulate the human disease. Moreover, the extent of involvement of Hx-induced signalling pathways is not completely understood in human disease. In animals, prolonged exposure to cHx was associated with activation of hypoxia-induced signalling pathways, whereas intermittent cHx also resulted in altered oestrogen signalling through ER α (Wu et al., 2008). In this classical experimental model of PH, males develop more severe disease phenotype, and ovariectomy in female animals severely exacerbates the disease (Tofovic et al., 2006).

1.4.2 Monocrotaline-Induced Pulmonary Hypertension

In this classical animal model of PH, established in the late 1960s, the disease is induced by repetitive oral administration of a pyrrolizidine alkaloid found in the *Crotalaria Spectabilis* seeds, termed monocrotaline (MCT) (Kay et al., 1967). For MCT to be activated, the alkaloid is required to undergo transformation into a dehydrogenated pyrrole metabolite, through reactions catalysed by cytochrome P450 3A4 enzyme and oxidases (Lafranconi and Huxtable, 1984;Yao et al., 2014;Reid et al., 1998;Wilson et al., 1992). This results in an active bifunctional cross-linked MCT pyrrole. The MCT model is described as highly variable, as the establishment of the animal model heavily depended on liver metabolism, which exhibited great variance between animals, strains and species (Stenmark et al., 2009). MCT is metabolised more rapidly in livers from male rats compared to female rats (Lafranconi and Huxtable, 1984). Nowadays, the model is easily established in numerous species by a single injection of MCT or the active pyrrole. However, even the administration of the active compound does not result in reducing variability in this model, representing a significant limitation of this model.

The MCT-induced PH model is characterised by gradual alterations in the haemodynamic parameters, vascular remodelling and RV hypertrophy over a period of several weeks after initial induction, which is preceded by lung dysfunction (Lai et al., 1991;Gomez-Arroyo et al., 2012). Histological changes in the lungs of MCT-induced PH included intimal hyperplasia and medial hypertrophy, resulting in extensive thickening and remodelling of the vessel wall (Stenmark et al., 2009;Ryan et al., 2011) while distinctive plexiform pathophysiological lesions observed in other models of PH were not present (Gomez-Arroyo

et al., 2012). Exposure of MCT-treated animals to a second insult, resulted in development of plexiform lesions, vessel obliteration and severe RV hypertrophy (Okada et al., 1997). In addition to significant vasoconstrictor aspect of MCT-induced PH, the pathophysiological changes in this model are alleviated or reversed by most experimental treatments (Maarman et al., 2013), limiting its use to study severe PH in humans (Gomez-Arroyo et al., 2012). Proposed mechanisms of MCT-induced PH involve: i) direct induction of endothelial injury (Kay et al., 1967;Rosenberg and Rabinovitch, 1988), and ii) dysregulation of survival and proliferative pathways, and NO signalling in PAECs (Huang et al., 2010). MCT induces rapid sustained expression of phosphorylated Smad1, which accumulated in the nucleus, in cultured PAECs (Ramos et al., 2007). A decrease in BMPR*II* and increase in Smad6 were also observed (Ramos et al., 2007).

MCT model of PH, as one of the classical and well-established models, was extensively used in the research of PAH. More than two decades ago, Farhat and colleagues investigated the effects of oestrogens in male rats administered with MCT, demonstrating that treatment with 17 β -oestradiol (17 β E2) attenuated muscularisation of small PAs and RV hypertrophy (Farhat et al., 1993). As in cHx experimental model, also males treated with MCT develop more a severe disease phenotype compared to females. The protective effects of exogenous 17 β E2 will be discussed later.

Early observations in so-called classic models of PH, such as cHx and MCT-induced PH, indicated that females exhibited less frequent and less severe PH than males (Rabinovitch et al., 1981;Rafikova et al., 2015). RVH and remodelling were observed in both of these animal models. However, significant dysfunction associated with RV maladaptive hypertrophy, and therewith associated higher mortality rate, is typically only seen in the MCT model (Gomez-Arroyo et al., 2012;Kato et al., 2003). To overcome these limitations of PAH animal models, novel models were developed more recently, that are thought to replicate the human phenotype more closely.

1.4.3 Pulmonary Artery Banding

The technique of pulmonary artery banding (PAB) is known since 1952, when the technique was developed to aid patients with congenital heart disease with secondary PAH due to increased blood flow to the lungs (Muller and Danimann, 1952). The surgical technique was adapted by Dias and colleagues to induce PH in animals, characterised by progressive

narrowing of PA and RVH (Maarman et al., 2013;Dias et al., 2002). PH is induced by physically constricting the PA by tightly tying a silk suture around an 18-gauge needle positioned alongside PA, which is then removed, and the animal is left to recover. The suture causes further constriction of the vessel in the growing animal, resulting in pressure-overload-induced RVH (Maarman et al., 2013;Dias et al., 2002). This model is mostly employed to investigate the molecular physiology and pathophysiological mechanisms involved in RVH and RV failure, which is the main cause of death in PAH. The PAB model is not employed frequently, as the initiation of this model requires highly technically skilled researchers and is also associated with significant mortality of animals.

1.4.4 Serotonin Transporter Overexpressing Mice

The MacLean research group reported the existence of a transgenic mouse model of PH, where the overexpression of the 5-HT transporter in mice (termed SERT+ mice) results in the development of PH in the absence of any other insults (MacLean et al., 2004). Instead, the group later showed that the disease phenotype is spontaneously developed in female SERT+ mice (White et al., 2012), characterised by PA remodelling, increased RV systolic pressure and RV hypertrophy, at 5–6 months of age. Male animals do not exhibit any PH phenotype at any age (White et al., 2011a). Moreover, in this model, exposure of transgenic female mice to hypoxia, results in the development of severe PH (White et al., 2011a)

1.4.5 S100 Ca2+ Binding Protein A4 Overexpressing Mice

Mice overexpressing the S100Ca²⁺-binding protein A4 (S100A4/Mts1) represent another class of transgenic animal model of PH, established by (Ambartsumian et al., 1998). The overexpressed gene encoding the S100A4/Mts1 is associated with the regulation of cell proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis (Ambartsumian et al., 1998;Greenway et al., 2004). A small population of female mice with this transgenic modification developed PA remodelling with vascular lesions, with no apparent pathological changes in the right heart (Greenway et al., 2004;Dempsie et al., 2011). S100A4/Mts1 is upregulated in PAH (Greenway et al., 2004). In this model, animals develop histological changes in PAs, which resemble human neointimal lesions leading to occlusion of the vessel lumen (Greenway et al., 2004). The mechanism of action in PAH is associated with 5-HT, where the latter induces the release of S100A4/Mts1, which affected PASMC proliferation and migration (Lawrie et al., 2005).

1.4.6 BMPRII Mouse Model of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

The presence of mutations in the BMPRII coding gene in most HPAH population, also present in a significant proportion of IPAH patients, plays an important role in the pathophysiology of PAH. The impact of BMPRII mutations on the pathophysiology of the disease was extensively studied in mice heterozygous for the BMPRII allele (BMPRII^{+/-}). Beppu and colleagues were first to generate a mouse model carrying a mutant BMPR*II* allele (Beppu et al., 2000). Although authors later reported these mice had altered haemodynamic parameters and remodelled PAs compared to their wild-type littermates (Beppu et al., 2004;Song et al., 2005), pulmonary haemodynamics, PA wall thickness and index of muscularisation were not significantly different from wild-type littermates under normoxic (Nx) or Hx conditions (Long et al., 2006). Nonetheless, mice carrying the specific R899X mutation in the BMPRII gene, develop significant pulmonary vascular remodelling, characterised by increased right ventricular systolic pressure (RVSP), muscularisation of small pulmonary vessels and vaso-occlusive lesions, but only with a second insult, in this case with 16 α -hydroxyoestrone (16 α OHE1) (West et al., 2008b). Specifically, these animals exhibit changes in angiogenesis, vasoreactivity, and injury response (West et al., 2008b). Chronic treatment of BMPRII deficient mice with 5-HT resulted in increased PA systolic pressure, RVH, and vascular remodelling (Long et al., 2006). The experimental PH phenotype in mice heterozygous for the BMPRII allele is exaggerated in cHx (Long et al., 2006). In the BMPRII model, however, no intimal and plexiform lesions are observed.

1.4.7 Smad1 Conditional Knock-Out Mice Model of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

Although the mutations in the gene encoding for the BMPR*II* receptor were described as the main genetic cause of HPAH, the role of the BMP signalling in the disease setting remained elusive. Smad1 protein is activated directly by the BMP receptors, as one of the down-stream signalling proteins of the BMP and the TGF- β signalling pathways. The conditional *Smad1* knock-out model was developed to observe by Huang and colleagues, who aimed to determine the role of *Smad1* in adult animals (Huang et al., 2002). *Smad1* conditional knock-out animals exhibit altered haemodynamic parameters and vascular remodelling of the pulmonary circulation similar to animals harbouring the specific R899X mutation in the

BMPR*II* gene (Long et al., 2011). Cross-breeding of both genetically engineered models results in animals with significantly increased RV systolic pressure compared to single heterozygous mice. Hence, it appears that the effect of both gene knock-outs is synergistic and increases susceptibility of animals for developing PAH. Female *Smad1* heterozygous mice develop PAH phenotype spontaneously at 5–6 months of age, characterised by haemodynamic alterations and pulmonary vascular remodelling, while male animals never developed the disease (Mair et al., 2015). In these female animals, ovariectomy results in decreased haemodynamic parameters and vascular remodelling, respectively (Mair et al., 2015). Nonetheless, in this model, despite established PAH phenotype, female animals do not develop RVH (Mair et al., 2015). Interestingly, the expression of phosphorylated Smad1 is decreased in the medial and intimal layers of the vessel wall compared to normal subjects, where Smad1 was mostly localised within the nucleus of the ECs (Yang et al., 2005).

Although transgenic models of PAH are useful to investigate the role of a specific pathway in the development and progression of the disease, they are possibly limited by not representing all the complex features of PAH pathogenies. Table 1-3 summarises the features of commonly used experimental models of PH.

Model	Species	Pulmonary	Medial	Intimal	Plexiform
		Hypertension	Hypertrophy	Lesions	Lesions
СН	R, M	Low	Yes	No	No
МСТ	R, M	High	Yes	No	No
PAB	R,M	Low	No	No	No
5-HTT	М	Yes	Yes	No	No
S100A4/Mts4	М	Low	Yes	Yes	No
BMPR <i>II</i>	М	Low	Yes	No	No
Smad1	М	Low	Yes	No	No

 Table 1-3: Summary of Features of Animal Models of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension.

CH= Chronic hypoxia, MCT= Monocrotaline, PAB= Pulmonary arterial binding, 5-HTT= Serotonin transporter, BMPRII= Bone morphogenetic protein receptor II, R= Rat, M= Mouse

None of the models described above develops pathophysiological changes in the pulmonary vasculature that exactly mimic all the hallmarks of the human disease. White and colleagues reported the development of plexiform-like lesions and severe vascular pruning in their animal model, where rats, which underwent left pneumonectomy and were additionally treated with MCT (White et al., 2007).

1.4.8 Sugen 5416 and Hypoxia-Induced Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

A novel alternative model of PH was recently developed by Taraseviciene-Stewart and colleagues, where rats are given one dose of Sugen 5416 (Su5416), a VEGF receptor inhibitor (see Figure 1–14), and then exposed to cHx (Taraseviciene-Stewart et al., 2001). The protocol for model establishment differs in rats and mice, where the former is given a single dose of Su5416, and the latter receive several injections (Ciuclan et al., 2011). Although a single dose of Su5416 in Nx causes mild PH characterised by moderate PA remodelling in rats, only coupling of Su5416 with cHx results in the development of severe persistent PH (Taraseviciene-Stewart et al., 2001). Ciuclan and colleagues reported that upon return of the mice from hypobaric chambers, the disease phenotype was reversed, unlike with rats where the disease persisted and progressed even after the animals were removed from Hx (Ciuclan et al., 2011). These observations were somewhat similar to the disease onset and progression occurring in humans. For instance, in Su5416/Hx model of PH medial wall hypertrophy and neointimal thickening occur 3-5 weeks after model initiation (Abe, 2017). Additionally, complex plexiform lesions are formed approximately 13–14 weeks following model initiation (Abe et al., 2010). The mechanism by which the disease phenotype is induced in animals is not well understood. However, it is believed that exposure to Su5416 and Hx results in endothelial dysfunction, leading to vasoconstriction and vascular remodelling. Additionally, in diseased animals a population of apoptosis-resistant PAECs is believed to be detrimental in establishing the disease phenotype with angio-obliterative lesions (Stenmark et al., 2009; Jurasz et al., 2010). In terms of molecular mechanism of Su546/Hx model, a dysregulation of TGF- β and BMPRII signalling pathways was also observed, with considerable induction of HIF1 α in these animals (Ciuclan et al., 2011).

Tofovic and colleagues were the first to report that female sex in Su5416/Hx model is associated with the onset of more severe PAH complicated by plexiform lesions, as observed in humans, while males only developed occlusion of vessels. However, plexiform lesions

are not always present (Tofovic et al., 2012;Dean et al., 2016), which would suggest an advantage of this model over other known PH models. Moreover, in this model oestrogens appear to be detrimental to the disease development, and even worsened the disease phenotype, featuring complex vascular lesions and exceedingly elevated mPAP (Tofovic et al., 2012). Ovariectomy and/or inhibition of endogenous oestrogen production in this model are associated with lessened and delayed disease phenotype (Bilan et al., 2013;Tofovic and Rafikova, 2009). Albeit female animals develop a more severe disease phenotype as characterised by vascular remodelling and the presence of complex vascular lesions in this model, they exhibit a lesser change in the RV mass and hypertrophy (Tofovic et al., 2012;Tofovic and Rafikova, 2009), which closely recapitulates the observations of epidemiological studies in humans. Su5416/Hx model is furthermore characterised by relative ineffectiveness of available therapeutic options in the reversal of disease phenotype. Due to extensive similarities of Su5416/Hx model with PAH observed in humans, this is the model of choice for numerous researchers. Notably, the murine Su5416/Hx model is not frequently used, as mice do not develop severe PAH with plexiform lesions (Abe, 2017).



Figure 1–14: Effects of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor inhibition by Sugen 5416.

A schematic representation of possible pathways through which Sugen 5416 affects angiogenesis.

As discussed above, it appears that sex plays an exceedingly important role in the onset of clinical and experimental PAH phenotypes, in humans and animals, respectively. Therefore,

the understanding of biosynthesis of steroidal sex hormones and their metabolism is vital in the understanding of the mechanisms behind the observed sex disparity in PAH.

1.5 Steroidogenesis

The term steroid hormone is used to describe all hormones exhibiting steroidal character, with their functions throughout the body being mediated through nuclear receptors, regulating genomic mechanisms, and/or membrane-bound receptors, regulating rapid-response intracellular signalling pathways. Biologically active steroidal hormones are synthesised from cholesterol in a complex multi-step, multi-enzyme biological process termed steroidogenesis. Steroid hormones, depending on the class of the hormone being generated, are biosynthesised at different locations within the body, with most of sex hormones produced in the gonads and corpus luteum, adrenal gland, and placenta, with low levels also being produced in peripheral tissues such as liver, heart, skin, adipose tissue and brain (Cui et al., 2013). Although sex hormones are primarily responsible for the development and regulation of primary and secondary sex characteristics, they are also critical for the functional regulation of peripheral tissues (Cui et al., 2013).

In the first step of steroidogenesis (simplified scheme is provided in Figure 1–15), the cholesterol, transported to mitochondria, is metabolised by various cytochrome P450 enzyme to pregnenolone, which serves as an immediate precursor molecule for the synthesis of all steroid hormones. In the subsequent reactions, catalysed by several cytochrome P450 enzymes, pregnenolone is bio-transformed to dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), which is the most abundant steroid hormone found in humans. Even though, the main function of DHEA is to serve as an intermediate in the biosynthesis of oestrogen and androgen hormones, it was shown that DHEA possesses some biological activity. In the cHx and MCT models, DHEA prevented and reversed the experimental PH phenotype as assessed by haemodynamic and remodelling parameters (Bonnet et al., 2003; Meloche et al., 2010). The protective character of DHEA in PAH might be due to increased expression of sGC and vasodilation associated with improved responsiveness to NO (Oka et al., 2007). Additionally, DHEA was shown to increase the expression of BMPRII, leading to increased apoptosis in hPASMCs from PAH patients (Meloche et al., 2010). In Su5416/Hx model, chronic treatment with DHEA resulted in improved cardiac function due to: i) antioxidant properties, ii) decreased RV systolic pressure and iii) preserved contractile function of RV (Alzoubi et al., 2013). Indeed, decreased plasma levels of DHEA are associated with the onset of PAH in men (Ventetuolo

et al., 2016). Following successful completion of phase II clinical trials involving the use of DHEA for treatment of PAH, phase III clinical trials have now commenced (Meloche et al., 2010).

The DHEA can be bio-transformed to DHEA-sulphate (DHEA-S) by DHEA sulfotransferase, which circulates tightly bound to albumin, exhibiting prolonged half-life (White and Portfield, 2013). 3 β Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (3 β HSD) catalyses the reaction of biotransformation of DHEA to androstenedione, which serves as the precursor molecule for the synthesis of oestrogens and androgens. Two 3 β HSD were identified in humans (Mason, 1993), while five different isoforms are known in mice (Payne et al., 1997). Androstenedione can be directly converted to testosterone by 17 β hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 3 (17 β HSD type 3), whereas the reverse reaction is catalysed by the 17 β hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 (17 β HSD type 2). Both precursors, androstenedione and testosterone, can be converted to 17 β E2 and oestrone, respectively, in the reaction of oestrogens, also termed cytochrome P450 19A1, and is expressed in numerous tissues throughout the body, from the gonads, brain, adipose tissue, placenta, and blood vessels, including pulmonary arteries, meaning there is localised production of oestrogens in peripheral tissues.

1.5.1 Female Steroid Sex Hormones – Oestrogens

There are three main oestrogens in a human body, oestrone (E1), 17 β E2, and oestriol (E3), where biological potency of oestrogens is E2>E1>E3. Oestradiol exists in two different isomers, 17 β -oestradiol (17 β E2) and 17 α -oestradiol (17 α E2), where the former possesses greater biological activity. The levels of oestrogens change during the life time of a female. During pregnancy, E3 is the dominating circulating oestrogen, with high levels of this hormone being produced by the placenta. In women of child-bearing age, E3 is formed from E1 and E2 through reaction of 16 α -hydroxylation. Prior to menopause, the circulation concentration of 17 β E2 depends greatly on the stage of the oestrous cycle, with normal range of 15–350pg/mL (0.06–1.3nM), and the levels of 17 β E2 begin to fall, and the circulating levels of 17 β E2 in post-menopausal women are usually less than 10pg/mL (<0.04nM) (Laboratories), with E1 assuming the role of the main circulating oestrogen in terms of concentration. Prior to menopause, 17 β E2 is mostly produced in the ovaries and adrenal

gland, and acts in a paracrine way to regulate distal target tissues. In post-menopausal women and men, however, the oestrogens are primarily formed from androgens in the peripheral tissues, such as the adipose tissue, skin, etc. (Grodin et al., 1973;MacDonald et al., 1979), with 17 β E2 acting in a paracrine or intracrine manner (Simpson, 2003). In post-menopausal women, E1 is synthesised mainly in the adipose tissue, with DHEA serving as the precursor molecule (Cui et al., 2013). Due to their steroidal character, most of circulating oestrogens in the vascular system are transported bound to the sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG), and to lesser extent serum albumin. Only a small proportion of oestrogens exist in the circulation is unbound, and therefore biologically active.



Figure 1–15: Biosynthesis of oestrogen steroid hormones form the precursor molecule, cholesterol.

Cholesterol is the precursor molecule for the biosynthesis of all major steroid hormone classes. It is converted into pregnenolone in a biotransformation reaction catalysed by CYP11A. Pregnenolone is then further converted by either CYP17A1 to DHEA or 3β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase to progesterone. Both intermediates are then bio-transformed into androstenedione, which can be either converted into testosterone in a biotransformation reaction catalysed by 17β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 3, or into 16α -hydroxy-androstenedione by the activity of CYP2C11. Testosterone, as the primary male sex hormone, can be converted into 17β -oestradiol by the activity of aromatase. 17β -oestradiol, as the primary female sex hormone, can be bio-transformed into oestrone or oestriol by the activity of 17β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 and CYP enzymes, respectively. Green colour indicates the intermediates involved in the production of both, androgens and oestrogens, while oestrogens are coloured pink and androgens are blue.

 $HSD3\beta=3\beta$ -Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase, 17β HSD3= 17β -Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 3, DHEA=Dehydroepiandrosterone, 17β HSD2= 17β -Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2, 17β HSD1= 17β -Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1, CYP19A1=Aromatase, CYP=Cytochrome P450 enzyme.

1.5.2 Aromatase

Aromatase belongs to the cytochrome P450 enzyme (CYP) superfamily, catalysing the ratelimiting final-step reaction in the biosynthesis of $17\beta E2$ (Simpson and Santen, 2015), consisting of three consecutive oxidation reactions. Therefore, for its normal function aromatase requires the availability of oxygen and the nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) cofactor. The functional form of aromatase is associated with NADPH cytochrome P450 reductase (Amarneh et al., 1993). The aromatase catalytic activity is specific to aromatisation of androgen hormones, specifically androstenedione and testosterone. Evidence indicated that the enzymes' activity in tissues is regulated through stringent tissue-specific expression of aromatase, depending on tissue-specific gene promoters (Simpson et al., 1994;Simpson, 2003). Ten different tissue-specific gene promoters regulating the expression of aromatase, were described so far by Bulun and colleagues, all activated by specific activators (hormones, cytokines, and signalling molecules) under physiological or pathophysiological conditions (Bulun et al., 2005). For example, the expression of aromatase in the ovaries is regulated by the follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), while cytokines and tumour necrosis factor α (TNF α) regulate its expression in the adipose tissue (Cui et al., 2013). Prostaglandin PGE₂ was shown to stimulate aromatase expression in the adipose tissue, while aromatase expression was correlated with cyclooxygenase 1 and 2 expressions in breast cancer (Brueggemeier et al., 1999). The structure of the gene encoding aromatase enables that regardless whichever of the promoters is used for gene transcription, alternative splicing of the mature mRNA results in the formation of identical enzyme in all aromatase-expressing tissues (Zhao et al., 2016). Interestingly the expression level of aromatase in the adipose tissue of post-menopausal women is higher than that of pre-menopausal women (Misso et al., 2005). Authors therefore concluded that the capacity of the adipose tissue to produce oestrogens increases with age. Additionally, aromatase activity in humans is regulated rapid by a phosphorylation/dephosphorylation mechanism (Charlier et al., 2011).

The association of obesity, increased aromatase expression, and oestrogen production in PAH disease setting was long recognised (Grodin et al., 1973;Key et al., 2003). The local oestrogen biosynthesis describes the production of oestrogens in the extragonadal tissues, where the newly synthesised hormones act locally (Labrie et al., 1998). Local production of oestrogens, although small in comparison to circulating levels, results in high localised concentrations, exerting biological functions (Simpson and Davis, 2001). For example, the

local production of oestrogens is considerably higher in cancerous breast tissue than in plasma (de Jong et al., 1997). Indeed, Mair and colleagues demonstrated that aromatase is expressed in hPASMCs and vascular lesions from patients with PAH (Mair et al., 2014). In men and post-menopausal women, the levels of circulating oestrogens reflect the local production of these hormones in the peripheral tissue (Simpson, 2003). The use of aromatase inhibitors for treatment of oestrogen-dependent cancers has long been recognised. More recently, aromatase inhibitors have also been considered in PAH, where a recently published results of the phase 2 clinical trial to determine the safety and efficacy of anastrazole, showed there was a significant reduction in E2 levels with no change in RV ejection fraction (Kawut et al., 2017).

1.5.3 Metabolism of Oestrogens

Oestrogen activity in the body is regulated by deactivation of highly potent $17\beta E2$, including its conversion to a less-active forms such as E1 or E3. Moreover, oestrogens can also be biotransformed into oestrogen derivatives, which cannot interact with oestrogen receptors (Kotov et al., 1999). Oestrogens are primarily metabolised by the CYPs, which are *Phase I* drug-metabolising enzymes, catalysing oxidative biotransformation of oestrogens and other steroids, most frequently at positions C2, C4, and C16 (Zhu and Conney, 1998), although numerous other hydroxylated metabolites were characterised (Lee et al., 2002;Lee et al., 2001). As the liver is the primary site of steroid metabolism, most of P450 enzymes are abundantly expressed here. Nonetheless, numerous inducible isoforms of CYPs were found to be expressed in the extrahepatic tissue, such as lung tissue (Hukkanen et al., 2001), indicating the lung is also a site of significant oestrogen metabolism (see Figure 1–16). The resulting oestrogen metabolites possess a more polar, and therefore hydrophilic character, and serve as precursor molecules for Phase II drug-metabolising enzymes, which are typically transferases catalysing biotransformation reactions of conjugation. Hydroxylated oestrogens serve as precursors to oestrogen sulfotransferase enzymes (SULTs), which catalyse reaction of sulphurylation, resulting in sulphate oestrogen metabolites. The resulting conjugated metabolites are generally i) more easily excretable due to enhanced hydrophilic character, ii) metabolically inactive, or iii) pharmacologically inactive, meaning they are unable to interact with their respective receptors (Jancova et al., 2010). The most abundant oestrogen conjugates are sulphates and glucuronides (Raftogianis et al., 2000), where the former exhibit prolonged half-life (Coughtrie et al., 1998) and might therefore serve as an oestrogen reservoir with concentrations of E1-sulfate approximately 10-fold higher than

unconjugated oestrogen (Pasqualini et al., 1989). Oestrogen glucuronides, instead, are primarily excreted from the body. Glutathione (GSH) and methyl oestrogen conjugates are also well documented.

In the process of oestrogen metabolism certain emerging compounds, such as metabolites containing hydroxyl groups at positions C2 or C4 is the steroidal backbone, can be further metabolised by CYP450 enzymes. The formation of catechol-oestrogens and quinones (CE-Qs) or semiquinones, resulting from further oxidation of 2- and/or 4-hydroxylated oestrogens, where the latter can covalently bind to DNA to form depurinating adducts and induce mutations (Cavalieri et al., 1997). Additionally, catechol-oestrogens might also enter redox cycling, resulting in enhanced generation of hydrogen peroxide, hydroxyl radicals and other ROS (Yager and Liehr, 1996). These reactive catechol-oestrogens serve as precursor molecules for catechol-O-methyl transferases (COMT), enzymes catalysing methylation reaction. Although the most active pathway towards catechol-oestrogen excretion is methylation, to a lesser extent, reactive catechol-oestrogens might also be metabolised to glucuronides and sulphate oestrogen conjugates (Zhu and Conney, 1998;Raftogianis et al., 2000). Soluble COMT (S-COMT) and membrane-bound COMT (M-COMT) enzymes exist, which differ in their relative affinity for their substrates, catalytic capacity and tissue expression (Raftogianis et al., 2000).



Figure 1–16: Metabolism of oestrogen hormones.

Oestrone and 17β -oestradiol can be converted into one another by the activity of 17β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase, and both oestrogen hormones can be metabolised by CYP450 enzymes to numerous hydroxylated oestrogens. The principal hydroxylated oestrogen metabolites are 2- and 4-hydroxyoestrogens, with only small proportion of 16α -hydroxy-oestrogens being formed. The 2- and 4-hydroxylated oestrogens can be further metabolised by COMT, producing 2- and 4-methoxyoestrogens, which have been shown to mediate protective effects in the cardiovascular system. Other reactions of biotransformation of hydroxylated oestrogens include the formation of oestrogen sulfate conjugates by the activity of UGT, which exhibit prolonged elimination half-lives and might therefore serve as an oestrogen reservoir, and the formation of oestrogens can also be further oxidised into catechol quinones and semi-quinones, which can form covalent bonds with DNA, resulting in depurinating adducts and therewith associated DNA damage.

 17β HSD2= 17β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2, 17β HSD1= 17β -Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1, CYP=Cytochrome P450 enzyme, COMT=Catechol-O-methyl transferase, SLUT=Oestrogen sulfotransferase enzymes, UGT= Glucuronosyltransferase, GST= Glutathione S-transferase

1.5.4 Regulation of Oestrogen Signalling

As discussed above, oestrogen signalling locally might be partly regulated by the biosynthesis of oestrogens via aromatase and transformation of oestrogens into sulphate conjugates, which are present in high concentrations but cannot bind to and activate oestrogen receptors. The oestrogen sulphates, however, serve as precursors for steroid sulfatase enzymes, hydrolysing E1/E2-sulfate to an active unconjugated from. Reportedly, the activity of E1 sulphatase in the breast tumour tissue was much higher than that of aromatase, indicating sulphate conjugates could also be the likely source of plasma oestrogens (Santen et al., 1986), specifically 17BE2 (MacIndoe, 1988), through interconversion of unconjugated E1 by 17\betaHSD type 1. Overexpression of 17\betaHSD isoforms 1 and 2 was associated with poorer prognosis and disease recurrence in breast cancer (Gunnarsson et al., 2001;Song et al., 2006). Steroid sulphatase is also capable of hydrolysing DHEA-S, which has little hormonal activity, but represents a large precursor reservoir for oestrogen biosynthesis. Nonetheless, biological effects in target tissues can only be mediated by hormonally active oestrogens, depending on their potency and receptor affinity through their interaction with oestrogen receptors (Kuiper et al., 1997). Oestrogen receptors (ER), belonging to the class I steroid hormone nuclear receptor superfamily, include receptor ER α and ER β , with the latter receptor discovered approximately 20 years ago (Mosselman et al., 1996). ERs, as other nuclear receptors are comprised of six domains, where the N-terminal A/B domain is the regulatory domain also termed activation function 1 (AF-1), followed by C domain, which is the DNA-binding domain. Domain D represents the hinge region, which is responsible for nuclear localisation of the receptor, followed by the hormone binding domain E and the C-terminal F domain, which is involved in regulation of receptor activity and conformation.

The central DNA-binding domain and the N-terminal regulating domain represent the most and the least conserved regions of ERs, respectively. Both ER receptors have distinct roles in oestrogen signalling yet share a significant percentage of sequence homology. Due to their extensive homology, ER α and ER β exhibit similar affinities for 17 β E2. Additionally, E1 and E3, although possessing high receptor affinity, are weaker agonists of ERs compared to 17 β E2 (Heldring et al., 2007). The inactive ERs are present in the nucleus, and bound with heat-shock and other proteins, which disassociate upon the binding of oestrogen or oestrogen-like compound. The binding of a suitable ligand results in the activation of the receptors, forming dimers and interacting with specific segments of DNA, oestrogenresponse elements (ERE), leading to transcription of target genes. Several splice variants were described for both receptors, and although it is not known whether all variants of ER α are translated and expressed as proteins, several variant isoforms of ER β were characterised in tissues (Scobie et al., 2002;Palmieri et al., 2004), termed ER β 1–5 (Moore et al., 1998). Leung and colleagues reported that although the full-length ER β , also termed ER β 1, is the only functional receptor isoform, the other variants can function as dimerising partners, thereby affecting the receptor activity (Leung et al., 2006). Conversely, there are functionally distinct ER β isoform with greater transcriptional activity than ER β 1 (Wilkinson et al., 2002). Hence, it appears that the expression of variant ER β isoforms may significantly modulate oestrogen signalling through affecting i) receptor activity, ii) target gene expression and iii) co-activator interaction, in a ligand-dependent manner (Ramsey et al., 2004).

Both ER receptors were shown to be expressed within the lung, with ER β levels being approximately two-fold higher compared to ER α in the primary lung tumours (Kuiper et al., 1997). In tissues such as ovaries and the uterus both ER subtypes are present. However, there are significant differences in peripheral tissues, such as the liver, lung, etc. exist, with significantly more ER β expressed within the lung compared to ER α (Kuiper et al., 1997).

ERs were also shown to induce target gene transcription through interaction with DNAbound transcription factors, instead of ERE (Sukovich et al., 1994) and ligand-independent receptor activation through modulation of kinase/phosphatase activity in the absence of hormone (Weigel and Zhang, 1998). Alternatively, oestrogens were shown to mediate rapid non-genomic effects (Szego and Davis, 1967), possibly through cytoplasmic ER, which is tethered to the inner plasma membrane through protein interactions (Levin, 2005). Since, it was established that these effects are associated with activation of four signalling pathways: i) phospholipase C/protein kinase C (Morley et al., 1992;Bulotta et al., 2009), ii) Ras/Raf/MAPK (Klinge et al., 2005), iii) phosphoinositide-3-kinase (PI3K)/AKT (Lee et al., 2005), and iv) cAMP/PKA (Farhat et al., 1996;Chen et al., 1998). Filardo and colleagues observed rapid transient activation of the GPER by oestrogen via an inhibitory signal mediated by cAMP (Filardo et al., 2002).

1.5.4.1Classical Ligand-Dependent Direct Activation of Oestrogen Receptor

The steroid properties of oestrogens and oestrogen-like compounds allow the molecules to freely diffuse through the cellular membrane into the cytoplasm and nucleus. Therefore, genomic oestrogenic effects are mediated through ligand-dependent direct activation of ERs, which bind to specific ERE sequences. Shortly, the binding of a suitable ligand to the hormone-dependent activation function 2 (AF-2) induces a transformational change in the receptor, leading to receptor activation and dissociation of the inhibitory multiprotein complex, which in absence of suitable ligands keeps ERs in their inactive form. The displacement of inhibitory complex also allows for i) the receptor to be translocated into the nucleus, ii) promotes dimerization of ERs, and iii) increases receptor affinity for ERE through induction of conformational changes exposing high affinity DNA binding site (Hall et al., 2001). DNA-bound homo-/hetero-dimers of ERs can interact with co-factors, which as co-regulators can either enhance or reduce the transcription of the target gene, thereby mediating ligand- and tissue-specific oestrogen signalling (Kase, 2003). The transcriptional activity of ERs is dependent on the AF-1 and AF-2, located in the C- and N-terminus, respectively. Out of the two transcriptionally active domains, the AF-2 possesses the strongest transactivation function. The maximal transcriptional activity of the receptors can only be achieved when both activation functions are engaged (Tzukerman et al., 1994; Maggi, 2011). The duration and magnitude of biological response to oestrogen stimulation is tightly regulated by i) the dissociation of the ligand from the receptor, and ii) the degradation of the ER receptor bound to the DNA (Kase, 2003). As some of the ligands exhibit very small dissociation constants, main degradation mechanism is the ubiquitinproteasome pathway (Nawaz and O'Malley, 2004), where the degradation of the receptor is enhanced once it is bound to hormone. ER β degradation is an oestrogen-dependent process, partially regulated by the conformational position of F domain, which in absence of a ligand protect the receptor from degradation (Tateishi et al., 2006).

1.5.4.2 Ligand-Independent Activation of Oestrogen Receptor

Many post-translational modifications, such as phosphorylation, acetylation, ubiquitination, methylation, sumoylation and palmitoylation have been identified, with approximately 22 identified modification sites in ER (Faus and Haendler, 2006;Le Romancer et al., 2011). Less is known regarding post-translational modifications of ERβ. The latter isoform can be

glycosylated, leading to increased receptor stability (Cheng and Hart, 2001). Aforementioned modifications were shown to modulate numerous aspects of ER activity, from receptor stability, subcellular localisation, and dimerization to receptor's ability to bind to DNA sequences and interact with co-regulators (Le Romancer et al., 2011). Phosphorylation at serine residues (S102, S104, S106 and S118) within ER α were associated with increased transcription activity, which may either be constitutive or induced by oestrogens (Medunjanin et al., 2005;Kato et al., 1995;Rogatsky et al., 1999). Phosphorylation at residue Y52 results in ligand-independent activation of transcription and enhanced receptor stability (He et al., 2010).

1.5.4.3 Non-Classical Ligand-Dependent Activation of Oestrogen Receptor

Ligand-bound ER can also interact with other transcription factors bound to their response elements, resulting in association of the ER with promoters, which may or may not include ERE-like sequences. The exact mechanism of this non-classical mechanism of oestrogen signalling is not well understood, however, it was shown that ERs can interact with transcription factors such as nuclear factor kappa-B (NF- κ B), specificity protein 1 (SP1) and Jun/Fos/activator protein 1 (AP1) at corresponding DNA binding sites. The interaction of ERα with NF-κB and AP1, respectively, was shown to negatively affect the expression of several genes, including human interleukin 6 (IL-6) (Ray et al., 1997), TNFα (Srivastava et al., 1999), and quinone reductase (Montano and Katzenellenbogen, 1997). Agonists and antagonists of ERs, supress and stimulate gene transcription mediated through ER interaction with AP1, respectively (Jakacka et al., 2001) Although certain mutations might lead to abolishment of the classical oestrogen signalling, such ERs might still be able to their mediate effects through the non-classical pathways (Jakacka et al., 2001). Activation of both regulatory domains of ER is required for the activity of ERa, while only activation of the AP1 regulatory domain in the presence of selective oestrogen receptor modulators (SERMs) is required for ER β activity (Webb et al., 1999). It was proposed that the binding of the Fos/Jun transcription factors at the AP1 binding site, leading to the recruitment of CPB/p300 and associated proteins, including p160 co-activators, allows for the interaction of ERs through the non-classical signalling at the AP1 binding site (Kushner et al., 2000). Stimulation with BSA-bound $17\beta E2$ induced transcription of genes without the involvement of ER classical signalling (Watters et al., 1997).

1.5.4.4 Non-Genomic Oestrogen Signalling

Primarily, oestrogen signalling is characterised by a latency in the onset of effects, resulting in altered gene and protein expression, mediated by ERs localised within the nucleus (King and Greene, 1984). Multiple rapid actions of oestrogens have also been identified, indicating non-genomic signalling pathways may also be activated by oestrogens. Non-genomic oestrogen signalling pathways are activated by i) ERs tethered to the plasma membrane and/or ii) G-protein coupled receptor GPER1. A variant of the ERa is specifically targeted and localised to plasma membrane by post-translational modification of palmitoylation (Li et al., 2003). Moreover, some investigators reported that phosphorylation of ERs might also target these receptors to the inner plasma membrane (Balasenthil et al., 2004), while others observed that tethering of ERs to plasma membrane is dependent on the presence of specific adaptor proteins, such as Src-homology and collagen-homology (Shc) and insulin-like growth factor (IGF) protein (Evinger and Levin, 2005). Oestrogen stimulation increased the association of ERa with PI3K, leading to increased kinase activity, resulting in the activation of protein kinase B/Akt and cell survival pathways (Simoncini et al., 2000). Equally, stimulation of ECs with 17BE2 resulted in increased activity of eNOS, with MAPK and PI3K signalling pathways mediating these effects, depending on the concentration of the stimulant (Simoncini et al., 2000). Enhanced eNOS expression and activity are considered vasoprotective, mediating vasodilation through relaxation of SMCs.

The discovery of the G-protein coupled oestrogen receptor 1 (GPER1/gpr30) was prompted by reports of rapid activation of signalling pathways classically associated with growth factor and/or G protein-dependent signalling, leading to receptor cloning and characterisation in the late 1990s. Gpr30, previously described as an orphan receptor, is activated by 17 β E2 in numerous breast cancer cell lines (Filardo et al., 2000). Gpr30 receptor is widely expressed throughout the body, and is also present the lung (Kvingedal and Smeland, 1997). Activation of gpr30 by 17 β E2 results in the activation of Erk1/2 MAP kinases through EGFR transactivation (Filardo et al., 2000). Moreover, the same researchers later showed that gpr30 also activated adenylate cyclase (AC), leading to mobilisation of cAMP Activation of gpr30, localised at the endoplasmic reticulum, results in the mobilisation of intracellular Ca²⁺ storage through activation of PI3K, mediating rapid cellular response (Revanche et al., 2005). Interestingly, vascular SMCs of gpr30-deficient animals exhibited enhanced response to ET-1 mediated vasoconstriction, therefore the authors concluded gpr30 might regulate vasoconstrictor activity of ECs, possibly leading to a reduction of blood pressure (Meyer et al., 2012).

1.5.5 Oestrogens in Disease

Numerous diseases exhibit sex dimorphism, including some cancers and cardiovascular disease. The evidence of the implications of female sex hormones are discussed below.

1.5.5.1 Oestrogens in Cancer

To illustrate the role of oestrogens in lung disease, the importance of lung cancer is considered here. Recent statistical data indicates that lung cancer is the second most common cancer following breast cancer amongst women, accounting for 12% of all diagnosed cases (Siegel et al., 2017), with a documented 22% increase in incidence in women within the past 30 years (Chakraborty et al., 2010). There is a direct association of lung cancer risk with hormone replacement therapy (Adami et al., 1989). Moreover, only a small proportion of lung cancers in females can be attributed directly to smoking (Chakraborty et al., 2010), indicating the majority of cases are directly related to female sex. Although, it was shown that females diagnosed with lung cancer have better survival than males (Cerfolio et al., 2006), no conclusive evidence exists on the effects oestrogens and female gender might have on survival in lung cancer (Schwartz et al., 2007). Additionally, the mortality of female patients receiving anti-oestrogen treatment for breast cancer significantly reduces the mortality associated with lung cancer (Bouchardy et al., 2011). Nonetheless, akin to PAH, female sex was recognised as a risk factor for development of lung cancer, indicating the lung might be exceedingly sensitive to oestrogen, which might be directly associated with the pro-proliferative environment resulting in disease pathogenesis and onset. Inhibition of aromatase in the cHx and Su5416/Hx models of PAH resulted in the attenuation of the models, however only in female animals (Mair et al., 2014).

1.5.5.2 Oestrogens in Cardiovascular Disease

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is one of the leading causes of death in the developed countries according to WHO. Female sex is associated with later onset of CVD, as well as reduced mortality of females compared to males. For example, females present with CVD 7–10 years later than males (Mosca et al., 2011) and that coronary heart disease (CHD) in

pre-menopausal women is predominantly associated with smoking (Prescott et al., 1998). Interestingly, Women's Ischemia Syndrome Evaluation (Wise) revealed that oestrogen deficiency in pre-menopausal women is associated with a significantly increased risk of coronary artery disease (CAD) (Bairey Merz et al., 2003). Moreover, the onset of menopause significantly increases the risk of CHD in women, and is associated with exacerbation of the disease (Matthews et al., 1989). Hence, it appears that endogenous oestrogens might be mediating protective effects within the cardiovascular system.

Losordo and colleagues investigated the association of ER expression with significant CAD, showing reduced expression of receptors in samples derived from female individuals with CAD (Losordo et al., 1994). ER α and ER β differentially regulate the expression of identical target genes within the same tissue (Lindberg et al., 2003). The relative expression of ER isoforms in cell types within the CVS might be an important aspect of oestrogen-mediated protective effect. Indeed, activation of $ER\beta$ in rat vascular SMCs led to enhanced expression of the iNOS, while activation of ERa resulted in negative regulation of the same gene (Tsutsumi et al., 2008). Interestingly, the expression of ER α in the vascular ECs varied in pre-menopausal women, depending on the stage of oestrous cycle and oestrogen levels. In post-menopausal women, the levels of ERa are significantly reduced compared to premenopausal women during late follicular stage (Gavin et al., 2009). Indeed, the duration of oestrogen stimulation affects the expression of both ER isoforms in vascular endothelium, with chronic exposure resulting in enhanced expression of ERa and decreased expression of ER β (Ihionkhan et al., 2002). Moreover, cHx led to increased expression of ER β in ECs of PAs (Lahm et al., 2012). A genome-wide expression profiling study to characterise genes specifically involved in the pathogenesis of PAH demonstrated that $ER\alpha$ is upregulated in PAH patients of both sexes (Rajkumar et al., 2010). Numerous genes regulated by ERa, involved in TGF β and NO signalling, are altered in PAH. Recently the relative expression of ER in PASMCs derived from control subjects and PAH patients subjects of both sexes was reported (Wright et al., 2015). There is significantly more ER β expressed in PASMCs derived from male PAH patients compared to cells derived from control subjects, while there is significantly more ERa expressed in cells derived from female PAH patients compared to control subjects. Hence, it appeared that the changes in the expression of ERs might be associated with disease setting, having significant consequences for oestrogen signalling. Treatment of ovariectomised female mice with $17\beta E2$ attenuated cardiac hypertrophy following transaortic constriction compared to matched male animals, which were treated with vehicle (van Eickels et al., 2001). These observations might be dependent on $ER\beta$ isoform (Skavdahl et al., 2005). Interestingly, the ER β isoform might also be responsible for normal lung development and physiology (Patrone et al., 2003).

1.5.5.3 Androgens in Cardiovascular Disease

Testosterone is the main male sex hormone, synthesised from cholesterol through the formation of pregnenolone, progesterone and androstenedione, which is then transformed to testosterone by the activity of 17β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 3. As significantly more men are affected by CVD, it was long perceived that female sex hormones are protective. Nonetheless, recent epidemiological data indicated that increased prevalence of atherosclerosis, coronary heart disease (CHD), metabolic syndrome and hypertension in men are associated with decreased plasma levels of testosterone (Jones;Jones, 2010). Moreover, lower testosterone levels are also correlated with increased mortality in CVD and cancer (Khaw et al., 2007;Ponikowska et al.), while higher levels were shown to reduce the risk of cardiovascular events (Ohlsson et al., 2011). Testosterone mediated vasodilation in numerous vascular plexus, including pulmonary vasculature (Smith et al., 2008). Indeed, in men with chronic heart failure (CHF), the administration of exogenous testosterone improved the afterload of the LV, probably through decreasing systemic vascular resistance and consequently increased cardiac output (Pugh et al., 2003).

1.6 Cytochrome P450 Enzymes

In humans, there are approximately 57 genes encoding functional enzymes belonging to the CYP superfamily, while the existence of additional 58 pseudogenes was also described (Nelson et al., 2004a). The members of CYP450 superfamily, constituting the principal assembly of enzymes involved in oxidative metabolism of endogenous and exogenous compounds, are divided into families and sub-families, according to the extent of sequence identity, with members of CYP450 families exhibiting extensively overlapping substrate specificities (Nebert and Russell, 2002). As discussed above, CYP450 enzymes catalyse a variety of oxidative biotransformation reactions, including hydroxylation, S-oxidation, N- and O-dealkylation, and epoxidation of numerous compounds: i) endogenous molecules, including steroid hormones, sterols, eicosanoids and retinoids, and ii) exogenous compounds, including numerous drugs and environmental pollutants playing an important role in the biosynthesis and detoxification of reactive compounds (Nebert and Russell, 2002). The CYP450 enzymes were implicated in the bioactivation of inert toxins, possibly

leading to mutagenesis and carcinogenesis (Nebert and Russell, 2002). To illustrate the importance of CYP450 enzymes in the biosynthesis and metabolism of endogenous compounds, six enzymes participate (cholesterol desmolase, 11β-hydroxylase, aldosterone synthesizing enzyme, 17α -hydroxylase, aromatase and 21-hydroxylase) in the process of steroidogenesis, synthesis of oestrogens and interconversion of androgens into oestrogens (Nebert and Russell, 2002). Although generally, CYP450 enzymes are found in most tissues, due to their role in detoxification, it is believed that the majority of CYP450 enzymes are widely expressed in the liver. There is also significant, albeit lower, expression in other tissues which are regularly exposed to environmental pollutants, such as the lung, gastrointestinal tract and kidney (Nebert and Russell, 2002;Krishna and Klotz, 1994). According to a review by Lee and colleagues, numerous CYP450 enzymes are also present in target tissues for oestrogen (Lee et al., 2003). Most CYP450 enzymes exhibit tissuespecific expression pattern (Nishimura et al., 2003). Interestingly, not all CYP isoforms are expressed in the liver. Certain isoforms, e.g. CYP1A1, were found to be extensively expressed in adult liver, while their expression in foetal liver was only marginal, albeit the most abundant expression of CYP1A1 was detected in the lung (Nishimura et al., 2003). Additionally, isoforms exhibiting region-specific catalytic selectivity, such as CYP1B1, are essentially only expressed in extrahepatic oestrogen-responsive tissues (Lee et al., 2003).

CYP450 enzymes are haemoprotein monooxygenases, meaning the active site contains a protoporphyrin-IX haem with an iron(III) covalently linked to the protein by the sulphur atom of a proximal cysteine residue (Meunier et al., 2004). Moreover, the conjugated ring system of the haem is vital for enzyme's catalytic activity. Generally, the reaction catalyse by CYP450 enzymes can be written as:

$$NAD(P)H + H^+ + O_2 + RH \rightarrow NADP^+ + H_2O + ROH,$$

where the required electrons for the reaction are provided by the cofactor NADPH from the associated P450 reductase enzyme (Meunier et al., 2004). The catalytic cycle of CYP450s enzymes is initiated upon the binding of a suitable molecule in the active site, resulting in altered arrangement of iron (III) ion. The electron transfer from associated P450 reductase to the iron (III) centre, resulting in its transition to ferrous state, produces a highly active reduced form of CYP450 enzyme, which can bind an oxygen molecule. Following the binding of oxygen molecule to the ferrous cytochrome, the second reduction step, which is the rate-limiting, occurs. The CYP450 enzyme catalytic cycle is terminated with two

protonation steps, resulting in the formation of a peroxide complex, ultimately leading to the release of a water molecule and oxidised substrate, and the decoupling of the reaction (Meunier et al., 2004).

1.6.1 NADPH-dependent Oxidative Metabolism of Oestrogens

NADPH-dependent oxidative metabolism of oestrogens by CPY450 enzymes represents the first step in the body's attempt towards inactivation of these steroid hormones, containing their biological effects in target tissues, leading to their eventual excretion. Recent evidence indicates, oestrogen metabolism might not be as straightforward, as numerous metabolites have been shown to exert biological effects, which are independent of their parental hormone (Lee et al., 2003;Zhu and Conney, 1998). See Figure 1–17 for a summary of the biological effects of oestrogens in pulmonary circulation.

Generally, the expression CYP450 enzymes is induced by the presence of enzymes' substrate, especially for the many inducible extrahepatic CYP450 isoforms. The induction of CYP450 enzymes is a closely regulated process, allowing cells to appropriately respond to exposure of environmental pollutants (Williams et al., 2005). CYP450 enzymes exhibit certain substrate specificity, also resulting in their preferential site of oxidation reaction within the substrate molecule. Hence, the expression pattern of CYP450 enzymes might affect the local production of oestrogen metabolites. Lee and colleagues have recently characterised oxidative metabolism of 17β E2 and E1 of 15 different CYP450 enzymes (Lee et al., 2003).

Although numerous CYP450 isoforms metabolise 17 β E2, some exhibit very little or no activity for oxidative metabolism of this hormone. The positions of hydroxylation for different cytochrome P450 enzymes are summarised in Table 1-4. Predominant hydroxylation positions in Table 1-4 are shown in bold. With 17 β E2 as substrate, CYP1A1 and CYP1A2, isoforms exhibit high catalytic activity for hydroxylation at position C2. Most CYP isoforms also exhibit catalytic activity for hydroxylation at position C4. Interestingly, numerous isoforms have also shown a detectable activity for the conversion of 17 β E2 to E1, with CYP2A6 isoform having most substantial activity for this reaction. The catalytic activity of CYP1A2 for E1 being almost two-fold than that for 17 β E2. Although CYP1B1 catalyses hydroxylation at positions C2 and C4 with 17 β E2 and E1 as substrates, with the

latter reaction being favoured. While CYP1A1 has only weak activity for hydroxylation of 17 β E2 at position C16 α , and no activity for hydroxylation of E1 at the same position, CYP3A4 exhibits high activity for these two reactions. Moreover, the ratio of 4OHE1/2OHE1 is almost two-fold compared to ratio 4OHE2/2OHE2 for this specific isoform. Out of all the isoforms investigated by Lee and colleagues, CYP1B1 possesses a predominant activity for hydroxylation at position C4, with the highest ratio of 4OHE2/2OHE2 (Lee et al., 2003). Nevertheless, the absolute amount of these metabolites formed by CYP1B1 is still lower than that of CYP1A1 and CYP1A2 (Lee et al., 2003).

Cytochrome P450 Isoform	Substrate	Position of Hydroxylation
CYP1A1/2	17βE2	C2/C4 /C6α/C7α/C15α/C16α/C6β/C12β/C16β
CYP1A1/2	E1	C2/C4/C6α/C7α/C15α/C16α/C6β/C12β/C16β
CYP1B1	17βE2	C2/C4/C6α/C7α/C15α/C16α/C6β/C12β/C16α/C16β
CYP1B1	E1	C2/C4/C6α/C7α/C15α/C16α/C6β/C12β/C16α/C16β
CYP3A7	17βE2	/
CYP3A7	E1	C2/C4
CYP2C8	17βE2	C2/C4/C6α/C7α/C15α/C16α/C6β/C12β//C16β
CYP2C8	E1	C2/C4/C6α/C7α/C15α/C16α/C6β/C12β/C16α/C16β
CYP3A4	17βE2	C2/C4/C6α/C7α/C15α/C16α/C6β/C12β/C16α/C16β
CYP3A4	E1	C2/C4/C6α/C7α/C15α/C16α/C6β/C12β/C16α/C16β

 Table 1-4: Positions of hydroxylation for different cytochrome P450 enzymes.

1.6.2 Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Signalling Pathway

The aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) is a ligand-activated transcription factor, belonging to the superfamily of basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH)/Per-Arnt-Sim (PAS) transcription factors (Gu et al., 2000), and is associated with regulation of biological response to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PCAHs) and other environmental pollutants. AhR was shown to regulate the expression of xenobiotic-metabolising enzymes, including CYP450 enzymes. AhR has a role in development and physiological homeostasis. AhR knock-out mice demonstrated the is an association between AhR and the induction of target genes such as *CYP1A1*, *CYP1A2*, and *CYP1B1* upon stimulation with a potent, selective AhR agonist, 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzodioxin (TCDD) (Fernandez-Salguero et al., 1995). Moreover,

AhR knock-out animals exhibited numerous phenotypical abnormalities, including decreased number of immune cells in the periphery, observed in young animals, while mature animals also presented cardiac hypertrophy with fibrosis, abnormal blood vessel formation in the liver, and calcification of the uterus (Fernandez-Salguero et al., 1995). AhR-deficient mice did not develop tumours following injection with a known carcinogen benzo[a]pyrene (B[a]P), indicating the possible role of AhR signalling pathway in carcinogenesis and tumour progression (Shimizu et al., 2000). This may be through induction of enzymes involved in the activation of inactive pro-carcinogenic compounds to active carcinogens. Equally, previously, an association between *CYP1A1* induction and tumorigenesis in the lung was described (Shimada and Fujii-Kuriyama, 2004).

The AhR is ubiquitously expressed in most tissues and cell types, with significant levels of cDNA present in the placenta, lung, kidney, and liver (Dolwick et al., 1993), and lower expression in the heart (Carver et al., 1994). The expression of AhR was mainly immunolocalized to epithelial cells in these organs. Although it was shown that AhR is expressed in ECs derived from pulmonary microvasculature (Zhang and Walker, 2007), comprehensive literature on basal (and pathological) expression and localisation of AhR in pulmonary vasculature was lacking. Most recently, immunohistochemistry technique was employed to determine the localisation of AhR expression in human lung tissue, showing the receptor is mainly present in ECs and SMCs of pulmonary veins and arteries, while it was also detected in bronchial and alveolar sac epithelia (Li et al., 2017).



Figure 1–17: Schematic representation of the role of oestrogen metabolites in the onset and progression of pulmonary arterial hypertension.

Oestrogens are metabolised by cytochrome P450 enzymes, which catalyse the introduction of hydroxyl group at numerous positions within the steroidal backbone of these hormones, resulting in the formation of numerous oxidised oestrogen metabolites. Most commonly, 2- and 4-hyroxyoestrogens are formed, with small proportion of 16α -hydroxy-oestrogens. The latter have been shown to stimulate proliferation of smooth muscle cells, resulting in extensive vascular remodelling. The 2-hydroxyoestrogens exhibit anti-proliferative properties, while the 4-hydroxyoestrogens are mostly associated with the production of reactive oxygen species, associated with DNA damage. Moreover, 2- and 4-hyroxyoestrogens can be further metabolised to 2- and 4-methoxyoestrogens, which were shown to possess anti-proliferative properties, and were suggested to oppose the onset of pulmonary arterial hypertension in animal models.

1.6.3 Activation of Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor

The AhR signalling pathway (see Figure 1-18 for summary) is initiated by endogenous/exogenous ligand diffusion through the plasma membrane into the cell, and its consecutive binding with the cytosolic AhR protein, which is associated with heat shock protein 90 (Hsp90), prostaglandin E synthase 3 (P23) and AhR associated 9 (AIP/ARA9) (Pongratz et al., 1992;Kazlauskas et al., 2000;Carver et al., 1998;Carver and Bradfield, 1997; Ma and Whitlock, 1997). The AhR-associated protein complex maintains the receptor in a conformation suitable for ligand binding and prevents the translocation of the receptor into the nucleus in the absence of a suitable ligand. The ligand binding activates AhR, leading to the dissociation of AIP and P23 proteins, while the ligand-receptor complex is then translocated into the nucleus, where the Hsp90 dissociates from AhR, enabling its heterodimerization with AhR nuclear translocator (ARNT or HIF1B) (Probst et al., 1993;Hankinson, 1995). AhR-ARNT complex, yielding a functional transcription factor, is then able to bind to dioxin- and/or xenobiotic-response elements (DRE/XRE) in the DNA sequence, resulting in altered transcription of target genes, amongst which CYP1A1, CYP1A2, and CYP1B1 are the best characterised (Denison et al., 2011). The AhR target include dehydrogenase 1) (*NQO1*), UDP genes also NAD(P)H (quinone glucuronosyltransferase 1 family polypeptide A cluster (UGT1A), and glutathione Stransferase alpha 1 (GSTA1) (Brauze et al., 2017). CBP/p300 is a co-activator of the AhR-ARNT complex (Kobayashi et al., 1997). The AhR signalling is attenuated by: i) the binding of the ARNT with the aryl hydrocarbon receptor repressor (AhRR), which is under the transcriptional regulation of AhR, resulting in decreased availability of functionally active transcription factor (Mimura et al., 1999), or ii) ubiquitin/proteasome degradation of the ligand-bound AhR (Davarinos and Pollenz, 1999).

1.6.4 The Function of Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor in the Cardiovascular System

The role of AhR in the CVS was first suggested by studies in AhR-deficient mice. With age these developed cardiac hypertrophy with fibrosis, suggesting AhR pathway may be imperative in cardiac development (Carreira et al., 2015;Vasquez et al., 2003). The absence of AhR resulted in increased expression of HIF1 α and consequently vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Thackaberry et al., 2002), leading to compensatory hypertrophy of

cardiomyocytes (Vasquez et al., 2003). AhR-deficient mice developed systemic hypertension associated with significantly increased levels of circulating and tissue vasoactive molecules, such as ET-1 (Lund et al., 2003). AhR deficient mice have a potentiated response to changes in pO₂, leading to significant Hx-mediated increase in in ET-1 and systemic blood pressure (Lund et al., 2008). Activation of the AhR signalling pathway results in the induction of numerous *Phase I* drug metabolising enzymes, including CYP1A1, and leads to increased production of ROS, which in turn, may lead to endothelial dysfunction (Park et al., 1996). There is a correlation between endothelial dysfunction, characterised by disrupted integrity and increased permeability, and activation of AhR pathway (Toborek et al., 1995). Interestingly, there are neonatal vascular structures in AhR-deficient mice, indicating this signalling pathway might be associated with maturation of the vessels, during which the neonatal vasculature is replaced by matured vessel plexus (Lahvis et al., 2000). Due to the presence of abnormal vascular architectures in AhR-deficient mice, it can be inferred this signalling pathway may be also imperative in normal vascular development (Lahvis et al., 2000).



Figure 1–18: Aryl hydrocarbon receptor signalling pathway.

Binding of a suitable ligand to AhR in the cytoplasm, causes the dissociation of accessory proteins, resulting in the translocation of the activated receptor into the nucleus. In the nucleus, the receptor heterodimerises with ARNT, and then binds to dioxin or xenobiotic response elements, resulting in altered transcription of target genes.

AhR=Aryl hydrocarbon receptor, API (ARP9)= Aryl hydrocarbon receptor associated 9, Hsp90=Heat shock protein 90, p23=Prostaglandin E synthase 3, ARNT= AhR nuclear translocator, AhRR= AhR repressor.



Figure 1–19: The interaction of hypoxia inducible factor signalling pathways and the aryl hydrocarbon receptor signalling pathway.

In hypoxia, the proteasomal degradation of HIF1 α is diminished, as the activity of PHDs and vHL is reduced due to decreased partial pressure of oxygen. In such circumstances, HIF1 α is translocated into the nucleus, where it competes with AhR for binding with ARNT, thereby reducing the availability of ARNT for signalling through the AhR pathway.

HIF1 α =Hypoxia inducible factor 1 α , PHDs= Prolyl hydroxylase enzymes, vHL= von Hippel-Lindau tumour suppressor protein

1.6.5Interactions between the AhR Signalling Pathway and Hypoxia-Inducible Factor Signalling

Figure 1–19 provides a summary of the interactions between the AhR signalling pathway and HIF signalling. Hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs) belong to the same subfamily of transcription factors as AhR, the bHLH/PAS family. Six different HIFs exist, with members HIF1– 3α denoting hypoxia-inducible factors, and members HIF1– 3β denoting AhR nuclear translocators. While all HIFs are constitutively expressed, only the nuclear translocators are stable in Nx conditions. Unlike with AhR, activation of HIFs does not require the binding of a suitable endogenous/exogenous ligand, as the transcription factors respond directly to changes in the partial pressure of oxygen in the cellular environment. The regulation of HIF1a activity occurs by hydroxylation-dependent proteasome-mediated degradation of these transcription factors. In Nx conditions, prolyl hydroxylase enzymes (PHDs) catalyse hydroxylation of two conserved proline residues of HIF1 α , for which the enzymes require molecular oxygen as a co-factor. Three different PHDs exist, with PHD2 exhibiting the highest affinity for HIF1a (Berra et al., 2003). A complex of the von Hippel-Lindau (vHL) tumour suppressor protein and a ubiquitin ligase E3 then binds to the hydroxylated HIF1a (Kamura et al., 2000), leading to poly-ubiquitination of and proteasomal degradation of HIF1a. Mitogen-activated protein kinases p42/p44 (Erk1/2) mediates phosphorylation of HIF1 α in vitro, leading to increased HIF1 α -dependent transcriptional activity (Richard et al., 1999). In Hx, the activity of PHDs is greatly reduced or inactive due to the absence of a suitable co-factor. Therefore, the HIF1 α is stabilised, as its proteasome-mediated degradation is greatly decreased. This leads to the translocation and accumulation of the transcription factor into the nucleus, where it heterodimerises with ARNT, also named HIF1 β (Jiang et al., 1996). The heterodimer binds to Hx response enhancer elements within the DNA sequence (Liu et al.), resulting in transcription of target genes involved in angiogenesis, metabolism, apoptosis, etc. (Semenza, 2009). Equally, HIF2a, first characterised by Tian and colleagues, has approximately 50% of sequence homology with HIF1 α (Tian et al., 1997), binds to HIF1 β , resulting in the induction of specific target genes as shown by (Ema et al., 1997). HIF2 α is abundantly expressed in the developing lung and might have an important role in the normal vascularisation of the lung (Ema et al., 1997).

Hence, it appears that HIF1 β , involved in AhR- and HIF1 α -mediated signalling, is an important modulator of signalling pathways through its association with several transcription factors, forming active transcription complexes. Moreover, competitive recruitment of

ARNT (HIF1 β) might result in repression of genes targeted by these two signalling pathways (Nie et al., 2001). A reciprocal repression of the AhR and HIF1 α pathways exists in certain cell lines, with the degree of repression depending on the sequence of introduced stimuli (Nie et al., 2001). Interestingly, HIF1 α possesses a very high affinity for ARNT, resulting in significant competition with the AhR (Gradin et al., 1996). Nonetheless, these two distinct signalling pathways may also be interacting through other co-activators (Kobayashi et al., 1997;Ebert and Bunn, 1998). In some cell lines there is no reciprocal repression of the AhR and HIF1 α pathways (Nie et al., 2001). Hence, the interaction between these signalling pathways may differ with respect to cell type, tissue and species (Chan et al., 1999).

1.6.6 Interaction of the AhR Signalling Pathway with other Signalling Pathways

There might be cross-talk between the AhR and ER signalling pathways (see Figure 1-20), inferring AhR agonists might modulate the activity of ERs (Umbreit and Gallo, 1988). The anti-oestrogenic effects of TCDD, a potent AhR agonist, resulting in disturbed oestrogenic cycle in female mice were documented (Umbreit and Gallo, 1988). Additionally, administration of a single dose of TCDD results in significantly reduced ER levels in the liver and uterus (Romkes et al., 1987). TCDD administration abolishes 17βE2-induced cell proliferation due to interference with expression of several cyclins required for advancement through cell cycle (Buchanan et al., 2002). In breast and endometrial cancer cell lines, TCDD-stimulated CYP1A1 gene induction only occurred in ER-positive cell lines (Ricci et al., 1999). Moreover, TCDD treatment resulted in enhanced expression of TGFβ, was also implicated in the pathogenesis of PAH (Ricci et al., 1999). In rats the exposure to TCDD may lead to the onset of breast and ovarian cancer (Jenkins et al., 2007). In the absence of 17βE2, activation of AhR receptor by 3-methylcholanthrene (3MC) resulted in induction of ERE-mediated transcription (Ohtake et al., 2003). Ligand-activated AhR, upon its translocation into the nucleus and heterodimerisation with ARNT, associates with either of the unliganded ERs, further recruiting the p300 co-activator (Ohtake et al., 2003). Evidence further suggested that in the absence of $17\beta E2$, ligand-bound AhR might recruit ER α through specific protein interaction, resulting also in the induction of ER α -target genes (Ohtake et al., 2003; Matthews et al., 2005). Nonetheless, oestrogen concentrations, depending on numerous aspects such as age and type of tissue, might define whether AhR ligands have oestrogenic or anti-oestrogenic effects (Ohtake et al., 2003). ARNT might function as a coactivator for both ER isoforms, through association with the ligand binding domain, in an 17βE2-dependent manner (Brunnberg et al., 2003). AhR-target genes are only induced in ER-positive breast cancer cell lines following treatment with TCDD, while no such response was noticeable in ER-negative cell lines (Vickers et al., 1989). Independently, several research groups observed the recruitment of ER α to XRE/DRE in the presence of ligand-activated AhR (Beischlag and Perdew, 2005;Matthews et al., 2005). Matthews and colleagues further reported that knock-down of ER α expression resulted in significantly diminished induction of *CYP1A1* gene in the presence of TCDD (Matthews et al., 2005). The interaction of ER α with the AhR signalling pathway may represent a negative regulation mechanism of oestrogen signalling (Matthews and Gustafsson, 2006).



Figure 1–20: Schematic representation of interaction between oestrogen signalling pathway and aryl hydrocarbon receptor signalling pathway.

The proposed mechanism of interaction between oestrogen and AhR signalling pathways is by i) direct inhibition of oestrogen signalling through the binding of AhR/ARNT heterodimer to inhibitory response elements within the oestrogen target genes, ii) through induction of oestrogen metabolising enzymes by the AhR signalling pathway, resulting in increased production of metabolites with lower affinity for oestrogen receptors, iii) competing for and/or squelching of coactivator proteins shared by both signalling pathways, iv) increased proteasomal degradation of oestrogen receptors through activation of AhR signalling pathway, or v) induction of gene encoding for an inhibitory protein through activation of AhR signalling pathway. Adapted from (Matthews and Gustafsson, 2006).

XRE=Xenobiotic response element, ERE=Oestrogen response element, p300=Histone acetyltransferase p300, CBP= CREB-binding protein, p160= Nuclear Receptor Coactivator p160

1.6.7 **CYP1B1**

Cytochrome P450, family 1, subfamily B, polypeptide 1 (CYP1B1) isoform is generally considered as an extrahepatic CYP450 isoform, exhibiting constitutive as well as inducible expression (Eltom et al., 1999). Post-translational mechanisms may also be involved in the regulation of CYP1B1 expression, by showing the activation of AhR by 3MC had no effect on the CYP1B1 gene expression levels, while induction was still observed on protein level (McFadyen et al., 2003). This isoform is highly expressed in foetal brains and kidneys (Hakkola et al., 1997). The expression of CYP1B1 in the lung tissue was shown by Spivack and colleagues, who evaluated its role in lung carcinogenesis, showing significantly higher levels are displayed in tumours (Spivack et al., 2001). In the CVS, vascular SMCs display the highest expression of CYP1B1, while the expression in the ECs is much lower (Zhao et al., 1998a). Many single nucleotide polymorphisms were identified in the gene encoding CYP1B1, and numerous polymorphisms indeed were associated with carcinogenesis, including: i) cancers occurring in oestrogen-target tissues and lung cancer (De Vivo et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2011; Goodman et al., 2001; Murray et al., 1997; Xu et al., 2012), or ii) increased activation of pro-carcinogens (Shimada et al., 1996). Interestingly, females who present specific CYP1B1 polymorphisms may have increased risk of lung cancer (Xu et al., 2012).

1.6.7.1 The Role of CYP1B1 in Cardiovascular Disease

Studies showed that CYP450 enzymes might be involved in the pathogenesis of CVD through metabolism of AA, producing either potent vasoconstriction mediators such as i) 20-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid (20-HETE) (Fleming, 2005), which exert their biological effects at relatively low concentrations in small arteries and arterioles (Harder et al., 1995), or ii) epoxyeicosatrienoic acids (EETs), which are potent vasodilators in small vessels (Harder et al., 1995). Therefore, it appears CYP450 enzymes can regulate the vascular tone, and these metabolites might also regulate pulmonary and cardiac functions by activation of ion channels (Ma et al., 1993;Harder et al., 1995). In addition to their vasoconstrictor properties, 20-HETE induce a significant concentration-dependent increase in cell proliferation of VSMCs, with the proliferation probably mediated through the MAPK signalling pathway (Uddin et al., 1998). Hence, CYP1B1 might play an important part in vascular remodelling of small resistance arteries (Ding et al., 2013). Inhibition of CYP1B1 activity in spontaneously hypertensive rats by TMS reduced cardiovascular hypertrophy,
vascular reactivity, endothelial dysfunction and systemic blood pressure (Jennings et al., 2014). Therefore, the research into the role of CYP1B1 in PAH pathogenesis has not been unmerited and has led to important findings regarding its role in the disease setting.

1.6.7.2 The role of CYP1B1 in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

Significant expression levels of CYP1B1, which primarily catalyses the hydroxylation of 17βE2 and E1 to 4OHE2/E1, in the lung (Spivack et al., 2001;Zhao et al., 1998b) indicated local oestrogen metabolite production might have important implications in the pathology of lung cancer, CVD and PAH. Preliminary gene expression experiments indicated the expression of *CYP1B1* gene may be sex-specific, with 10-fold decrease in expression levels in lymphocytes associated with PAH onset in female BMPRII mutation carriers, but not in males (West et al., 2008a). Recently, White and colleagues explored the differences in gene expression in SERT+ animal model of PAH, to identify genes which might be associated with the development and progression of PAH, showing that CYP1B1 gene is significantly upregulated (White et al., 2011b). The basal expression of CYP1B1, as assessed by *in-situ* immunolocalization and protein blotting techniques, is significantly higher in IPAH patients compared to control subjects, while the expression is further enhanced in the presence of 17βE2 or 5-HT (White et al., 2012; White et al., 2011b). Additionally, in BMPRII mutation carriers, the presence of CYP1B1 polymorphisms is associated with significantly higher penetrance of PAH (Austin et al., 2009). The absence or inhibition of CYP1B1 appeared to attenuate some of the pathophysiological characteristics of PAH to various degrees. Namely, CYP1B1 inhibition significantly reduced pulmonary vascular remodelling, RVH, RV systolic pressure and the appearance of occlusive lesions in small PAs in cHx/SU5416 model of PAH (White et al., 2012). 16aOHE1, a metabolite produced by CYP1B1, whose increased circulating levels are associated with increased risk of breast cancer in humans and mice (Bradlow et al., 1986;Bradlow et al., 1985), was shown to stimulate hyper-proliferative response in PASMCs derived from patients exhibiting PAH (White et al., 2012). This was attenuated by co-treatment with potent CYP1B1 inhibitor, indicating the direct role of this CYP450 isoform in the induction of proliferative response in PAH. To demonstrate the role of 16aOHE1 in the onset of PAH, White and colleagues administered the metabolite to mice, showing animals developed increased RV systolic pressure, pulmonary vascular remodelling and RVH (White et al., 2012), indicating CYP1B1 and its metabolites may be imperative modifiers associated with increased probability for the onset of PAH.

1.6.8 CYP1A1

Although cytochrome P450, family 1, subfamily A, polypeptide 1 (CYP1A1) isoform is generally considered as an extrahepatic CYP450 isoform, it is substantially expressed in the foetal liver during embryonic development (Omiecinski et al., 1990;Kitada and Kamataki, 1994), with its levels reducing quickly, resulting in miniscule expression in the adult liver. CYP1A1 is not constitutively expressed in various tissues examined of the C57BL/6N mouse, however induction with 3MC caused significant increase in the lung, liver and ECs of blood vessels (Dey et al., 1999). CYP1A1 is barely detectable in the mouse heart (Choudhary et al., 2003). Due to its inducible nature, hundred-fold differences in the expression of CYP1A1 were reported human lung microsomes (Zanger and Schwab, 2013;Kim et al., 2004). More than ten different polymorphisms of the CYP1A1 gene exist, with differing allele frequency, were characterised (Ingelman-Sundberg, 2004; Monostory et al., 2009;Sim, 2015). Although some research groups reported an association of CYP1A1 polymorphisms with increased risk of lung, and oestrogen-related cancers, such as cervical and breast cancer (Wright et al., 2010;Sergentanis et al., 2012;Singh et al., 2007), no conclusive association was established (Masson et al., 2005). However, the MspI polymorphism of CYP1A1 gene, is associated with increased risk of CVD, especially in smokers (Wang et al., 2002). CPY1A1 genetic polymorphisms may exhibit racially distinct patterns (Cosma et al., 1993); leading to current insufficiency of conclusive evidence of whether CYP1A1 polymorphisms are functionally significant in disease onset. Nevertheless, it needs to be considered that simultaneous presence of a polymorphic variant of CYP1A1 exhibiting increased metabolic rate of oestrogen metabolism and a variant of COMT and/or GST exhibiting low catalytic activity, might result in the accumulation of hydroxylated oestrogen metabolites, leading to increased production of oestrogen quinones and semiquinones, both having carcinogenic potential (Kisselev et al., 2005). The presence of COMT variant exhibiting low catalytic activity might be of special importance in disease, as reduced formation of methoxyoestrogens can affect the negative feedback regulation of oestrogen metabolism catalysed by i) CYP1A1, and ii) CYP1B1 (Dawling et al., 2003). Although the main metabolic pathway catalysed by CYP1A1 appears to be hydroxylation at position C2, according to Badawi and colleagues, this isoform exhibits higher catalytic activity for 16ahydroxylation compared to CYP1B1, representing the principle contributor to formation of 16α-hydroxy-oestrogens (Badawi et al., 2001).

1.6.8.1 The Physiological Role of CYP1A1

CYP1A1 null mice, generated by Dalton and colleagues, are viable and demonstrate no specific phenotype (Dalton et al., 2000). Interestingly, in *AhR* null mice the expression of CYP1A1 could not be detected, even upon treatment with potent AhR activator TCDD (Buters et al., 1999), indicating the expression of CYP1A1 is under complete control of AhR signalling pathway. Considering, the basal expression levels of CYP1A1 is low, it can be inferred that CYP1A1 is not imperative for normal physiological development (Buters et al., 1999), rather the most significant physiological role of this CYP450 isoform is associated with oxidative metabolism of environmental pollutants, resulting in their removal and/or activation. Nonetheless, CYP1A1 was shown to catalyse a highly stereoselective formation of hydroxylated AA and epoxyeicosatrienoic acid (Schwarz et al., 2004), which are associated with vasodilation and anti-apoptotic properties (Carroll et al., 1996;Zhang et al., 2001).

1.6.8.2 The Role of CYP1A1 in Cardiovascular Disease and Cancer

The level of CYP1A1 expression in individuals with established CVD, is significantly increased in the RV (Thum and Borlak, 2000). Moreover, in individuals with dilated cardiomyopathy, *CYP1A1* expression was detected in the right atrium and associated aortas (Elbekai and El-Kadi, 2006). *CYP1A1* expression in cardiomyocyte culture in rats was only observed in culture older than 24 hours (Thum and Borlak, 2000). CYP1A1 might also mediate its role in CVD by catalysing the conversion of omega 3 (n-3) polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) into highly potent vasodilator mediators. Deletion of the *CYP1A1* gene in C57Bl/6J mice resulted in diminished NO-dependent regulation of blood pressure (Agbor et al., 2014). CYP1A1 might therefore contribute to eNOS activation, and therewith associated regulation of vasodilation and blood pressure.

1.7 Sex and Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

The predominance of female sex in PAH was reported in numerous epidemiological studies and registries, as previously described (Rich et al., 1987;Badesch et al., 2010;Humbert et al., 2006;Ling et al., 2012). Although recently it was reported that female predominance in the incidence of PAH is greatly diminished in elderly population (Hoeper et al., 2013), women generally develop a more severe disease as per NYHA functional classification (Farber et

al., 2015). The direct association between female sex hormones and the disease pathogenesis was first described in a report of six young women developing the disease after prolonged period of oral contraceptive use (Kleiger et al., 1976). A significant proportion of women with prolonged exposure to exogenous oestrogens, either through use of oral contraceptives or hormone replacement therapy, were also diagnosed with PAH (Sweeney and Voelkel, 2009). Nonetheless, oral contraceptives are currently only contraindicated in women exhibiting Class III/IV PAH as per NYHA functional classification (Thorne et al., 2006), due to otherwise prohibitively high morbidity and mortality risk during pregnancy (Bedard et al., 2009). Generally, permanent contraception or progesterone-containing contraceptive are recommended instead of oestrogen-containing contraceptives (Hemnes et al., 2015). Despite the strong prevalence of females developing the disease, it was shown that men generally exhibit poorer prognosis and higher mortality rate (Escribano-Subias et al., 2012;Humbert et al., 2010b), which could be directly related with poorer RV function in men (Swift et al., 2015;Marra et al., 2016). Higher serum levels of 17BE2 were reported to have a beneficial effect on the structure and/or function of the RV (Kawut et al., 2011; Ventetuolo et al., 2011), while higher serum levels of testosterone and DHEA appear to be associated with increased RV mass and volume (Ventetuolo et al., 2011). Therefore, unsurprisingly, in a population of subjects without signs of clinical CVD, women have higher RV ejection fraction (Tandri et al., 2006). It also appears that in CVD, women exhibit preserved RV function (Cleland et al., 2003). Additionally, in PAH, men were shown to have less favourable pulmonary and cardiac haemodynamic parameters (Shapiro et al., 2012), and exhibit a more significant gradual deterioration in RV function following introduction of therapy compared to women (Jacobs et al., 2014). Therefore, the superior survival of women diagnosed with PAH might be a direct consequence of the protective effects that $17\beta E2$ has on the RV function and structure. Recently in a population of PAH patients, it was shown that administration of anastrazole did not cause RV dysfunction in men (Kawut et al., 2017).

Despite the evidence acquired in clinical studies, indicating exogenous oestrogens might be promoting the pathogenesis of PAH, the evidence gathered in animal studies contradicts human studies by showing endogenous $17\beta E2$ might exert protective effects in pulmonary vasculature and the RV (Frump et al., 2015;Wang et al., 2018).

1.7.1 Evidence of oestrogen in Experimental Models of Pulmonary Hypertension

The discrepancy between the evidence derived from clinical and animal studies, leading to the recognition of the 'oestrogen paradox', will be discussed below. It should be noted however, that generally first reports on sex differences in animal models showed male animals developed more severe phenotypes compared to female animals in terms of mPAP and RV hypertrophy (Rabinovitch et al., 1981), which is now know to greatly depend on the choice of the animal model employed.

1.7.1.1 Oestrogens in the Monocrotaline-Induced Pulmonary Hypertension

The MCT model of PAH, is one of the classical and well-established models, and was extensively used extensively in the research of PAH. More than two decades ago, Farhat and colleagues investigated the effects of oestrogens in male rats administered with MCT, demonstrating that treatment with 17 β E2 attenuated muscularisation of small PAs and RV hypertrophy (Farhat et al., 1993). Equally, although female animals appeared to develop less severe phenotype when exposed to MCT, exacerbated disease phenotype and poorer survival caused by ovariectomy was rescued by administration of 17 β E2 (Tofovic et al., 2006; Yuan et al., 2013). Furthermore, in male rats with established PH phenotype, induced by MCT, treatment with 17 β E2 resulted in the reversal of disease progression, as assessed by the loss of pulmonary micro-vessels and RV hypertrophy, and resulted in the survival of all animals (Umar et al., 2011). Curiously, inhibition of CYP1B1 improved survival in this model (Johansen et al., 2016).

1.7.1.2 Oestrogen in the Hypoxia-Induced Pulmonary Hypertension

The cHx model, although a classical animal model of PAH, does not completely recapitulate the human disease. Moreover, the extent of involvement of Hx-induced signalling pathways is not completely understood in human disease. In animals, prolonged exposure to Hx is associated with activation of Hx-induced signalling pathways, whereas intermittent Hx also results in altered oestrogen signalling through ER α (Wu et al., 2008). Similarly, as in the MCT model females develop a less severe disease phenotype, with ovariectomy severely exacerbating the condition (Tofovic et al., 2006). In Hx models, the protective effects of exogenous 17 β E2, mediated through both ER isoforms, were found to include attenuation of remodelling in pulmonary vasculature and RV (Lahm et al., 2012). Interestingly, the authors showed the protective effects of 17 β E2 do not depend on its metabolism, as the use of specific inhibitor resulted in enhanced effects of 17 β E2 on its haemodynamic targets. However, possibly more relevant to the disease, endogenous 17 β E2 is pathogenic in this model, as anastrozole reverses experimental PH phenotype in female Hx animals (Mair et al., 2014).

1.7.1.3 Oestrogens in Sugen 5416 and Chronic Hypoxia-Induced Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

The disease phenotype of PAH induced by combination of Sugen 5416 and Hx remarkably resembles that observed in humans, featuring complex vascular lesions and exceedingly elevated mPAP. Therefore, it might not be surprising that it is female animals who develop a more severe disease phenotype as characterised by vascular remodelling and the presence of complex vascular lesions in this model, yet exhibiting a lesser change in the RV mass and hypertrophy (Tofovic et al., 2012;Tofovic and Rafikova, 2009), which closely recapitulates the observations of epidemiological studies. Ovariectomy and/or inhibition of endogenous oestrogen production in this model is associated with lessened and delayed disease phenotype (Bilan et al., 2013;Tofovic and Rafikova, 2009). However, possibly more relevant to the disease, endogenous 17β E2 is pathogenic in this model as anastrozole and metformin (through aromatase inhibition) reverse PAH in female Su5416/Hx rats (Mair et al., 2014;Dean et al., 2016).

1.7.2 Role of Oestrogens in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension Onset and Progression

The accumulating evidence of the involvement of oestrogens in the pathogenesis of PAH resulted in increased interest in the role of specific oestrogen metabolites in the underlying disease mechanisms.

1.7.2.1The Role of 16α-Hydroxyoestrone in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

Oestrogens in extrahepatic tissues are mainly metabolised to 4-hydroxyestrogens, however, numerous extrahepatic CYP450 isoforms were shown to exhibit high catalytic activity at position C2 and moderate activity at position C16a, with the formation of 2- and 16ahydroxylated oestrogens being mutually exclusive (Sepkovic and Bradlow, 2009). The ratio of circulating levels of 20HE1/16aOHE1 was hypothesised to be a suitable indicator of breast cancer risk. The detrimental effects of 16aOHE1 were first shown in animal oestrogen-responsive cancer, where mice having elevated capacity of hydroxylation of oestrogens at position C16a spontaneously developed mammary tumours (Bradlow et al., 1985). 16aOHE1 induced significant increase in spontaneous DNA repair synthesis in mouse mammary epithelial cells (Telang et al., 1992). The potency of $16\alpha OHE1$ signalling through ERs, is attributed to its capacity to form covalent adduct formation with the receptor (Swaneck and Fishman, 1988), resulting in constitutively active receptor complexes (Lustig et al., 1989). In the context of PAH, the 16aOHEs are regarded as pathogenic as the circulating and urinary levels of 16aOHE1 were significantly increased in patients (Austin et al., 2009). The levels of this metabolite were also increased in animals exposed to cHx (White et al., 2012; Austin et al., 2009). The influence of $16\alpha OHE1$ on the pathogenesis of PAH was further demonstrated by the direct induction of disease phenotype in in female mice (White et al., 2012) and in BMPRII haplo-sufficient mice (Fessel et al., 2011) when animals were treated with this metabolite. Amongst the hydroxylated oestrogen metabolites, 16αOHE1 is the only metabolite to induce significant proliferation of hPASMCs (White et al., 2012).

1.7.2.2 The Effects of 2-Methoxyoestradiol

Numerous studies have reported protective effects of circulating oestrogens in the onset and progression of PAH in experimental animal models (Resta et al., 2001;Farhat et al., 1993;Umar et al., 2011). The parental oestrogens are mainly metabolised to 2OHE1/2 by CYP1A1 in extrahepatic tissues (Aoyama et al., 1990), which are then biotransformed into methoxyoestrogens by COMT. All enzymes involved in the formation of methoxyoestrogens are expressed in vascular SMCs and ECs (Zacharia et al., 2001), suggesting these metabolites are regularly formed in vasculature. As an anti-carcinogenic agent, 2MeOE2 was shown to exhibit anti-mitogenic and anti-angiogenic properties in

vascular ECs (Fotsis et al., 1994). This metabolite can be converted under physiological conditions by the activity of 17β HSD type 2 to 2MeOE1, which is largely devoid of any protective properties in cardiovascular cells. The opposite transformation, catalysed by 17β HSD type 1, was shown to occur in the vascular system and attenuates vascular remodelling in MCT-induced model of PH (Tofovic et al., 2008a; Tofovic et al., 2006). Cotreatment of hPASMCs and lung fibroblasts with 2MeOE1 and 17\betaHSD type 2 inhibitor, inhibited the growth of both cell types (Tofovic et al., 2008b). Moreover, the 2MeOEs opposes the PAH onset and progression in animal models (Fotsis et al., 1994;Tofovic et al., 2006), through i) the inhibition of VSMCs proliferation and migration, ii) enhancing production of vasodilators PGI₂ and NO (Barchiesi et al., 2006;Seeger et al., 1999;Tsukamoto et al., 1998), and iii) inhibiting ET-1 production (Dubey et al., 2001). The presence of CYP1A1 and COMT variants exhibiting high catalytic activity might be considered as protective in disease (Kisselev et al., 2005), as the resulting methoxyoestrogens, especially 2MeOE2, act as antiangiogenic and anti-carcinogenic compounds (Zhu and Conney, 1998), possibly reducing the extent of vascular remodelling in CVD (Kisselev et al., 2005). The antiproliferative effects of 2MeOE2 were shown to be concentration dependent in vascular SMCs, cardiac fibroblasts and breast cancer cells. SMCs and cardiac fibroblasts are intimately involved in the pathophysiological processes leading to clinical PAH (Dubey et al., 2003; Nishigaki et al., 1995; Tofovic et al., 2009; Dubey et al., 1998; Vijayanathan et al., 2006). Nonetheless, several lines of evidence indicate the antiproliferative effects of 2MeOE2 might be highly dependent on experimental conditions and type of cells used (Lippert et al., 2000;Lai and Law, 2004). In vivo, 2MeOE2 can supress the expression of HIF1α, thereby affecting all the downstream target genes of this transcription factor (Becker et al., 2008a). Through its effects on the proteins involved in cell cycle regulation, and Akt/MAPK signalling pathway, 2MeOE2 also opposes the formation of neointima in rat carotid arteries, possibly indicating that this metabolite might reduce vasoocclusion (Barchiesi et al., 2006). Interestingly, 2MeOE2 only induced apoptosis in ECs, but not in SMCs (Fotsis et al., 1994; Yue et al., 1997). Moreover, similar observations were made in vitro, where treatment of A549 cells with 2MeOE2 under Hx conditions resulted in significantly reduced expression of both, HIF1a and HIF2a (Aquino-Galvez et al., 2016). Additionally, low circulating 20HE1/16aOHE1 levels might be reflecting not only an increase in the production of pathogenic 16aOHE1, but also decreased hydroxylation of oestrogens at position C2, especially considering these two reactions might be mutually exclusive (Sepkovic and Bradlow, 2009). Furthermore, evidence indicated that the formation of protective 2MeOE2 might be inhibited by the 4-OHEs (Roy et al., 1990; Zhu and Conney,

1998). In accordance, cHx was shown to reduce the expression of CYP450 enzymes catalysing this reaction in extrahepatic tissues, e.g. CYP1A1 (Fradette et al., 2007).

1.7.2.3 The Effects of 2- and 4-Hydroxyoestradiol

In the liver, the dominant metabolic transformation of oestrogens is hydroxylation at position C2, with only small proportion of the hydroxylation occurring at position C4 (Zhu and Conney, 1998). In numerous extrahepatic tissues, however, the reaction of hydroxylation of oestrogens at position C4 represents the dominant metabolic conversion pathway, as most of extrahepatic CYP450 isoforms catalyse this reaction, previously reviewed in this work. Amongst extrahepatic isoforms, CYP1B1 exhibits preferential catalytic activity for hydroxylation at position C4, leading to the formation of biologically active metabolite, which has been associated with incidence of oestrogen-dependent cancers (Liehr, 2001). Interestingly, further biotransformation to methoxyoestrogens occurs much more rapidly in 2-hydroxyoestrogens (Roy et al., 1990). 2- and 4OHEs exhibit similar affinity for both ER isoforms, which is 5–10-fold lower than that of the parental hormone $17\beta E2$ (Schutze et al., 1994). 4OHE2 was shown to mediate biological effects through pathways independent of ER (Das et al., 1997), however, the 4OHEs were also shown to potentially activate ER (Martucci and Fishman, 1976), and possibly have prolonged oestrogen effects due to slower dissociation rates (Zhu and Conney, 1998; Barnea et al., 1983). The possible mechanism by which 4OHEs could promote PAH, might depend on the promotion of cell proliferation and oxidative stress as observed in cancers (Gao et al., 2004;Liehr and Ricci, 1996;Rogan et al., 2003). Interestingly, 4OHE2 decreases phospho-Smad1/5/8(9) and Id expression in female hPASMCs, while increasing these in males commensurate with a decreased proliferative effect in male hPASMCs (Mair et al., 2015). It therefore appears that distinct oestrogen metabolites might exert sex-dependent effects in hPASMCs, which is something that was not considered previously. Generally, catechol-oestrogens readily undergo oxidation, forming quinones and semiquinones, which can result, due to their highly reactive nature, in the formation of covalent adducts with proteins (Markides and Liehr, 2005) or DNA (Cavalieri et al., 2002;Cavalieri et al., 2000), leading to carcinogenicity and/or genotoxicity. During the formation of quinones and semiquinones, ROS are also formed, whose accumulation can result in DNA damage and cytotoxicity. Interestingly, 4OHE2, but not 20HE2, was shown to induce HIF1 α and VEGFA expression at protein level through the PI3K/Akt pathway (Gao et al., 2004), however not all studies support this line of evidence

(Seeger et al., 2006). Contrary, Bradlow and colleagues have indicated that 2OHE1 might also exhibit anti-carcinogenic properties (Bradlow et al., 1996).

1.8 Aims and Objectives

According to the Home Office statistics 3.87 million animals were used for research purposes and 3.93 million procedures were carried out in year 2016 alone (Office, 2013). As the necessity of animals in research of disease pathogenies is undeniable, considering the complexity of signalling pathways, in addition to the need for pre-clinical assessment of novel therapeutic approaches, it is the responsibility of the researchers to drive the progress of these models and substitute them where possible with similarly suitable alternative models. While numerous animal models have been developed for the research of pulmonary arterial hypertension, not all models resemble the human disease in the most important histopathological hallmarks, meaning not all aspects of disease pathogenesis can be investigated in every model. Therefore, more effort must be made to understand the underlying mechanisms leading to the establishment of disease phenotype, and to establish alternative models, which could replace the use of animals in the initial stages of research hypothesis testing. The objective of this research work was to develop a novel *in vitro* model, which could be used to investigate the role of oestrogens and their metabolites in pulmonary vascular disease.

This was addressed by the following aims:

- 1.) To investigate the mechanism through which the animal model of pulmonary arterial hypertension employing Sugen 5416 coupled with chronic hypoxia is induced, utilising *in vitro* methods.
- 2.) To develop a liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry method to quantitively evaluate oestrogen metabolism in an *in vitro* model of pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells.
- 3.) To characterise the metabolic profile of oestrogens in pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells derived from female and male patients and control subjects, respectively.
- 4.) To investigate the effects of oestrogens metabolites in an *in vitro* model of pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells, derived from patients and control subjects of both sexes, respectively.

Chapter II

2 Methods

2.1 Chemical Reagents and Equipment

All chemical and reagents were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (UK) or Fisher Scientific (Loughborough, UK), unless stated otherwise. Materials for RNA and protein analyses were obtained from Qiagen (UK) and Life Technologies (UK), respectively. For experimental protocols involving RNA, reagents and plastic-ware, which were certified to be nuclease-free, were supplied by Ambion, Life Technologies (UK). Plastic-ware used for cell culture was supplied by Corning, Fisher Scientific (UK).

2.2 Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis

2.2.1 Protein Solubilisation and Preparation

For *in vitro* experiments, hPASMCs, at the end time point of an experiment, were placed on ice. The media was aspirated off, and the monolayer of cells was then washed twice with DPBS. 120μ L of 1% (v/v) lauryl maltoside (LM, Abcam, UK) buffer in DPBS was added to each well, when protein was extracted from 6-well plates. When protein was extracted from unstimulated hPASMCs growing in a T75cm² culture flask, 600μ L of 1% LM, supplemented with protease inhibitors (0.1mmol/L PMSF, 1μ g/mL soybean trypsin inhibitor and 1μ g/mL benzamidine), was used. The cells were then collected using a sterile plastic scraper, collected in pre-chilled 1.5mL Eppendorf tubes and left on ice for 30 minutes to allow for improved disassociation of protein complexes and protein solubilisation. Cell lysates were then sonicated in iced water, before centrifuging at 10,000rpm (4°C) to remove any debris.

Alternatively, when extracting protein from tissue, a piece of tissue was placed in a 2mL Eppendorf tube, containing 300 μ L of 1% LM buffer. A 5mm stainless-steel ball (Qiagen, UK) was added, and the tissue homogenised using the Tissue Lyser II (Qiagen, UK). Homogenised tissue was then left on ice for 30 minutes to promote disassociation of protein complexes and improve protein solubilisation. Tissue samples were then centrifuged at 10,000rpm for 10 minutes (4°C).

Protein supernatant was collected into a new pre-chilled Eppendorf tube, and stored at -80°C until further.

2.2.2 Bicinchoninic Protein Assay

Protein concentration in supernatants was determined using the bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay (Pierce, Thermo Fisher, USA). To quantify protein concentration in collected samples, a standard curve was constructed within the 0.0–2.0mg/mL concentration range, using the albumin standard ampules consisting the BCA Kit, diluted in 1% LM. Briefly, suitable volume of the albumin standards and unknown samples was pipetted into a 96-well plate. BCA assay working solution was prepared by combining 9.8mL of reagent A with 200µL of reagent B. 200µL of the working solution was quickly added to each well and incubated at room temperature with gentle agitation on micro-plate shaker for 30 minutes. Protein concentration was then evaluated against the standard curve, by measuring the absorbance at 652nm with POLARstar OPTIMA microplate reader (BMG Labtech, Germany).

2.2.3 Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis

Samples, containing equal amounts of protein, were prepared by adding NuPAGE® LDS (lithium dodecyl sulphate) Sample Buffer (4X) and NuPAGE® Reducing Agent (10X) (10mmolL/L dithiothreitol), and heated at 70°C for 10 minutes. Samples were then separated per their molecular weight on Novex® Tris-Glycine gels (Invitrogen, Life Technologies, UK) using Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis, under constant voltage at 110–150V in NuPAGE MOPS SDS running buffer (20x), containing 1% (v/v) NuPAGE® Antioxidant.

2.2.4 Protein Transfer

Once adequate separation of protein according to their weight was achieved, the protein was blotted onto hydrophobic Immobilon polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane (Millipore, USA) using a wet blotting system by Life Technologies. Due to its hydrophobic character, the membrane was immersed into 100% methanol prior to use in order to activate it and expose membrane's full protein binding capacity. The buffer for wet blotting contained 5% (v/v) NuPAGE Transfer Buffer (20x) and 20% (v/v) methanol. Proteins were transferred onto PVDF membranes at constant voltage (35V) for 2 hours and 15 minutes. Transfer efficiency was assessed by a short incubation of membranes in 0.1% (w/v) solution

of Ponceau S stain, prepared in 5% (v/v) acetic acid solution. The stain was washed off the membranes in 10% (v/v) TBS buffer containing 0.1% (v/v) Tween-20 (Fisher Scientific, UK) (TBST) washing buffer, before blocking in 5% (w/v) milk prepared in TBST, for 1 hour at room temperature in order to minimise non-specific binding of the antibody. The residual blocking solution was washed off the membrane by numerous short washes in TBST.

2.2.5 Immunoblotting

The detection of a specific protein was achieved by an overnight incubation of the membrane in primary antibody (the dilutions and concentrations are provided in Table 2-1 on a shaker at 4°C. The membranes were then washed for 3x10 minutes in TBST washing buffer to remove any unbound primary antibody, before incubating in secondary antibody conjugated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP) (Table 2-1) prepared in 5% (w/v) BSA (Sigma, UK) in TBST for 1 hour at room temperature. The membrane was again washed in TBST buffer for 3x15 minutes. The secondary antibodies used were coupled with HPR, catalysing the oxidation reaction of the luminal, which is present in the substrate Immobilon western chemiluminescence HRP substrate (Merck Millipore, USA) or Pierce ECL Western Blotting Substrate (Thermo Scientific, USA). The light emitted during the reaction catalysed by HPR, was captured on X-ray film (Kodak, UK), allowing protein visualisation after film processing using MIN-R Mammography Processor. When samples were probed for several proteins, membranes were washed in TBST for 5 minutes, following a 15-minute incubation in the Restore western blot stripping buffer (Thermo Scientific, UK) on a shaker, during which the bound antibodies were stripped. Equally, to reduce the number of times the PVDF membranes were stripped, the membranes were cut alongside suitable molecular-weight size markers, labelled and probed as described previously.

The membranes were re-probed for another protein of interest, or for loading control (β -actin, GAPDH). Protein expression was quantified by densitometry analysis using TotalLab TL100 v2006 programme (TotalLab, United Kingdom). In the following chapters the representative immunoblotting images are shown. Where images have been altered from full blots to remove redundant samples, it is stated in the legend.

Primary Antibody	Dilution		Supplier	Molecular Weight (kDa)	Secondary Antibody	Concentration
AhRR	1:100	ab108518	Abcam	76	Rb	1:5000
PHD2	1:1000	D31E11	Cell Signalling	50	Rb	1:5000
HIF1a	1:500	NB100- 105	Novus Biologicals	120/100	Ms	1:5000
ARNT (HI1β)	1:2000	ab2771	Abcam	87	Ms	1:5000
vHL	1:5000	NB100- 41384	Novus Biologicals	17	Go	1:5000
Caspase 3	1:1000	9662	Cell Signalling	35/19/17	Rb	1:5000
VEGFR2	1:1000	ab39256	Abcam	151	Rb	1:5000
p27/Kip1	1:500	ab54563	Abcam	22	Ms	1:5000
Lamin A	1:1000	ab26300	Abcam	74	Rb	1:5000
Nucleoporin	1:2500	ab2460	Abcam	55	Ms	1:5000
β actin	1:1000	A5441	Sigma	42	Ms	1:10000
CYP1A1	1:1000	ab79819	Abcam	58/51	Rb	1:5000
CYP1A1 (A- 9)	1:1000	sc- 393979	Santa Cruz	56/51	Ms	1:5000
CYP1B1	1:1000	ab78044	Abcam	61	Rb	1:10000
CYP1B1	1:1000	ab33586	Abcam	61	Rb	1:5000
17βHSD2 (H- 12)	1:1000	sc-373990	Santa Cruz	43	Ms	1:5000
AhR	1:500	ab84833	Abcam	95	Rb	1:5000
a tubulin		ab80779	Abcam	50	Ms	1:10000
BMPR <i>II</i>	1:500	612292	BD Biosystems	115	Ms	1:5000
Id1	1:1000	M085	Cal	20	Rb	1:5000
			Bioreagents			

Table 2-1: List of antibodies used for immunoblotting.

Id3	1:1000	M100	Cal	17	Rb	1:5000	
			Bioreagents				
pSmad1/5/9	1:1000	9511	Cell	55-60	Rb	1:5000	
			Signalling				
GAPDH	1:1000	ab9484	Abcam	40	Ms	1:10000	

AhRR= AhR repressor, PHD2= Prolyl hydroxylase 2, HIF1 α = Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 α , ARNT (HI1 β)= Aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator, vHL= von Hippel-Lindau tumour suppressor, VEGFR2= Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2, p27/Kip1= Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1B (p27/Kip1), CYP1A1=, Cytochrome P450 1A1, CYP1B1=, Cytochrome P450 1B1, 17 β HSD2= 17 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2, AhR= Aryl hydrocarbon receptor, BMPR*II*= Bone morphogenetic protein receptor II, Id1= Inhibitor of DNA binding 1, Id3= Inhibitor of DNA binding 3, pSmad1/5/9= phosphorylated Smad 1/5/9

Table 2-2: List of positive controls.

Protein	Positive Control	#	Supplier
CYP1A1	HeLa whole cell lysate	ab29545	Abcam
CYP1B1	Human liver tissue lysate, total protein	ab29889	Abcam
CYP1B1	Rat liver lysate		N/A
AhR	Rat kidney lysate		N/A
HIF1a	CoCl ₂ -treated hPASMC lysate		N/A
Caspase 3	Resveratrol-treated EC lysate		N/A

HIF1 α = Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 α ,), CYP1A1=, Cytochrome P450 1A1, CYP1B1=, Cytochrome P450 1B1, AhR= Aryl hydrocarbon receptor

2.3 RNA Analysis

2.3.1 RNA Extraction

To extract RNA from hPASMCs, 6-well plates or T75cm² culture flasks were placed on ice at the end time point of an experiment. The media was aspirated, and the cell monolayer was washed with ice-cold DPBS, before adding 700µL of QIAzol (Qiagen, UK) per well in 6well plates or per culture flask. The cells were collected using a sterile plastic scraper and lysates placed in a pre-chilled 1.5mL Eppendorf tube. Whole tissue sample RNA was extracted by placing the lung tissue in a pre-chilled 2mL Eppendorf tubes containing 700µl of QIAzol. A 5mm stainless steel bead (Qiagen, UK) was added to each sample, and tissue was homogenised in Tissue Lyser II (Qiagen, UK) using 4x30 second intervals. The RNA samples were immediately stored at -80°C until RNA extraction.

RNA purification was carried out using miRNeasy mini kit (Qiagen, Germany) as per the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, RNA samples were defrosted on ice and left at room temperature for 5 minutes to promote disassociation of nucleoprotein complexes. 140µL of chloroform was added to each tube containing the homogenate and capped securely. The tubes were then shaken vigorously for 15 seconds and left at room temperature for 3 minutes to improve the subsequent separation of phases. Samples were then centrifuged at 12,000g for 15 minutes (4°C). This step allowed for the separation of the sample in three distinct phases: aqueous (top, colourless), interphase (middle, white) and organic (bottom, red) phase. The aqueous phase, containing the RNA, was transferred to a new labelled RNasefree 1.5mL Eppendorf tube, to which a 1.5 volume of 100% ethanol was added to precipitate the RNA. The aqueous phase and ethanol were thoroughly mixed by pipetting, before loading onto a RNeasy Mini spin column, and centrifuging at 8,000g for 15 seconds at room temperature. The flow through was discarded, and the column in which RNA was captured, was washed with 350µL of RWT buffer. The flow through was again discarded. A DNase digestion was performed on column to remove any residual trances of DNA in the sample. The working solution for DNase digestion was prepared by diluting DNase I stock solution with RDD buffer in a 1:7 ratio. 80µL of the working solution was then pipetted directly onto each RNeasy Mini spin column membrane and left to incubate at room temperature for 30 minutes, to ensure complete DNA digestion. Following the DNase digestion, 350µL of RWT buffer was added to Mini spin column and centrifuged at 8,000g for 15 seconds. The flow through was discarded, before 500µL of RPE buffer was pipetted onto the column and 94

centrifuged at 8,000g for 15 seconds. The wash step with RPE buffer was immediately repeated, however, this time the samples were centrifuged at 8,000g for 2 minutes. To remove any residual RPE buffer, the Mini spin column was placed in a new 2mL collection tube, and centrifuged at maximal speed of 14,000rpm (Centrifuge 5417R, Eppendorf, UK) for 1 minute. The Mini spin column was then transferred to a new RNase-free 1.5mL Eppendorf tube, and 30μ L of RNase-free H2O was pipetted directly onto each RNeasy Mini spin column membrane. To elute the RNA, the samples were then centrifuged at 10,000g for 1 minute at room temperature. This step was repeated with the eluate, to maximise the RNA elution. Immediately after elution, the samples were transferred to ice or stored at -80°C.

2.3.2 RNA Quantification

The quality and concentration of the extracted RNA was determined using Nanodrop 1000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, UK). The absorbance at 260nm and 280nm was measured, to assess the presence and concentration of RNA and protein, respectively. The quality of the RNA was assessed using the 260nm/280nm ratio. The ratio of approximately 2 indicated the sample contains pure RNA. Values lower than 2 indicated, the presence of a contaminant, such as protein, phenol or other compounds with absorbance at 280nm. Samples with 260nm/280nm ratio of approximately 2 were considered to contain RNA of good purity. The concentration of RNA was determined by the spectrophotometer by using a form of the Beer-Lambert equation:

Concentration of RNA $(ng/\mu L) = \frac{(260nm Absorbance \times Extinction coefficent)}{Path length in cm}$

Where the extinction coefficient was 40ng-cm/µL.

2.3.2 Reverse Transcription

Samples considered to contain good purity RNA were subjected to a two-step reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) to assess the levels of mRNA expression. Firstly, the samples were reverse transcribed to complementary DNA (cDNA), using the TaqMan® Reverse Transcription Reagents Kit (Life Technologies, UK). Briefly, for one 20µL reverse transcription reaction, master-mix was prepared by mixing 10X RT buffer, 25mM magnesium chloride, 2.5mM deoxynucleotide triphosphates (dNTPs), 50 µM random hexamers, 20U/µL RNase Inhibitor and 50 U/µL Multiscribe. The master-mix was pipetted

into wells on a MicroAmp 96-Well Plates (Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK), and 500ng–1µg of RNA template was added. The MicroAmp 96-Well Plate was quickly vortexed and centrifuged at 1,000rpm for 2 minutes. The RNA template was reverse transcribed using the Veriti® Thermal Cycler (Life Technologies, UK), per the following thermal cycling parameters:

Stage	Temperature (°C)	Time (minutes)	Action
1	10	25	Annealing
2	48	30	Reverse transcription
3	95	5	Inactivation of reverse transcription
4	4	∞	Short-term storage

 Table 2-3: Thermal cycling conditions for reverse transcription PCR.

2.3.3 Quantitative Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction

To assess the levels of mRNA in the samples, the Applied Biosystems[™] TaqMan[™] Gene Expression Assays (Life Technologies, UK) quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) was used. Briefly, cDNA was added to a mixture of TaqMan® Universal Master Mix II and Taqman® probes (Life Technologies, UK) tagged with FAM fluorescent label, to measure the strength of the fluorescence, where a change in fluorescence after each amplification cycle is proportional to the level of the target gene expression. The ViiA7[™] Real Time PCR System (Life Technologies, UK) was used to measure fluorescence of the qRT-PCR.

Each sample was performed in triplicate and expression was determined relative to housekeeping control primers as listed in Table 2-4–Table 2-6.

Table 2-4: List of mRNAs TaqMan primers used in human samples.

mRNA Name	Assay ID
HIF1a	Hs00153153_m1
vHL	Hs00184451_m1
P4HA2	Hs00990001_m1
AhR	Hs00907314_m1
ARNT (HIF1β)	Hs01121918_m1
CYP1B1	Hs00164383_m1
CYP1A1	Hs01054797_g1
NQ01	Hs02512143_s1
HSD17b2	Hs0015993_m1
PTGIR	Hs00168765_m1
β2m	Hs00187842_m1

Table 2-5: List of mRNAs TaqMan primers used in rat samples.

mRNA Name	Assay ID
HIF1a	Rn01472831_m1
vHL	Rn00583795_m1
P4HA2	Rn01495731_m1
AhR	Rn0565750_m1
ARNT	Rn00688999_m1
CYP1A1	Rn01418021_g1
CYP1B1	Rn00564055_m1
AhRR	Rn01537444_m1
NQO1	Rn00566528_m1
Kdr	Rn00564986_m1
β2m	Rn00560865_m1

Table 2-6: List of mRNAs TaqMan primers used in mouse samples.

mRNA Name	Assay ID
CYP1A1	Ms00487218_m1
β2m	Ms00437762_m1

	Temperature (°C)	Time	Action	Stage
1	50	2 minutes		Hold
2	95	10 minutes		Hold
3	95	15 seconds	Denaturing	Cycle
4	60	1 minute	Polymerisation	Cycle

Table 2-7: Thermal cycling conditions for quantitative real time PCR.

For quantitation analysis of gene expression, a comparative cycle threshold (CT) method was used, where CT is the number of cycles in the PCR reaction required for fluorescence to surpass a threshold level of fluorescence and is inversely proportional to the measured mRNA. The CT value is inversely proportional to the measured mRNA level. A Δ CT value was obtained from the difference between the CT value of the mRNA of interest and the CT value of the housekeeper CT. By calculating the difference of Δ CT values of the test sample and control sample, a $\Delta\Delta$ CT value was obtained. The relative quantitation (RQ) was calculated from the following equation:

$$RQ = 2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}.$$

This method of quantitative comparison allowed the test samples to be expressed as a fold change in contrast to the control samples.

2.4 Cell Culture

All cell culture experiments were performed under sterile conditions in a class II laminar flow cabinet. Cell culture was maintained in a humidified incubator at 37°C, with a supply of gaseous mixture of 5% CO₂ 95% air.

2.4.1 Human Pulmonary Arterial Smooth Muscle Cells

Human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells (hPASMCs) derived from the distal pulmonary arteries (with external diameter of 1mm) by explant protocols previously described in (Wharton et al., 2000;Johnson et al., 1994), from subjects with no reported presence of PAH and subjects diagnosed with either idiopathic or heritable form of PAH, were generously provided by Prof Nicholas W. Morrell (University of Cambridge). Patient information for cell lines utilised in this work is shown in Table 2.3.

Cell line	Gender	Age	Disease status	Medications
9MP	М	72	Emphysema	
34MP	М	62	Adenocarcinoma (Metastatic disease)	
75MP	М	78	Squamous cell carcinoma	
79MP	М	60	Mild bronchiectasis/adenocarcinoma	
103MP	М	52		
110MP	М		APAH (Eisenmenger's Syndrome)	
23MP	М	43	HPAH (C347R)	
56MP	М		HPAH (W9X)	
67MP	Μ	22		
80MP	F			
82MP	F	71	Adenocarcinoma	
84MP	F	59		aspirin, simvastatin, bisoprolol, ramipril, metalazine, quinine sulphate, loperamide
105MP	F	57	COPD Emphysema	
105MI 106MP	F	70	L eft lower lobectomy	
35MP	F	70		
37MP	F	24	IPAH	
38MP	F			
73MP	F	30	R899X	IV prostanoids, warfarin,
				zopliclone, mebeverine,
				frusemide by transplantation
113MP	F		IPAH	
115MP	F		Associated PAH (Congenital Heart Disease)	

 Table 2-8: Information on cell lines derived from patient and control subjects.

Primary cell line stocks were stored in the liquid nitrogen tank facility, in 10% (v/v) dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), 20% (v/v) FBS (Sera Laboratories International, UK) Dulbecco's modified eagle medium (DMEM, Life Technologies, UK). To initiate cell culture, hPASMCs were taken on dry ice from the storing facility, and rapidly defrosted in water bath maintained at 37° C. Immediately after thawing, the content of the cryo-vial was transferred into a T75cm² culture flask, and even dispersion was ensured by pipetting the cell suspension using stripette serological pipettes. HPASMCs were grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% (v/v) FBS and 1% (v/v) antibiotic anti-mycotic (AA) solution (10,000 units/mL penicillin G, 10 mg/mL streptomycin sulphate and 25µg/mL amphotericin B, Sigma Aldrich, UK). Cell culture media was replenished every 48 hours. Herein, donated cells derived from male and female individuals were used, as specified in each of the following sections.

2.4.1.1 Sub-culturing of Human Pulmonary Arterial Smooth Muscle Cells

Cells were grown until 85-90% confluency, and then sub-cultured for experiments between passage 3 and 8. Cell culture media was aspirated from the culture flask, and the cell monolayer was then washed twice with sterile Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline (DPBS, Life Technologies, UK). 2mL of 0.25% trypsin/0.1% (w/v) EDTA solution in PBS (Life Technologies, UK) was equally distributed over the entire culture flask and incubated at 37°C for between 2–3 minutes, or until the cells have started to detach. 8mL of 10% FBS DMEM was then immediately added to neutralise the trypsinisation process. Cells were seeded for experiments by diluting the cell stock suspension with an appropriate dilution factor. The medium was always replenished 24 hours after a newly generated sub-culture.

2.4.1.2 Charcoal-Stripped Foetal Bovine Serum

Oestrogens endogenously present in FBS were removed by charcoal stripping for all experiments. 0.1g of dextran-activated charcoal (Sigma-Aldrich, UK) was added per 100mL of FBS, and left under gentle agitation over night at 4°C. FBS was then centrifuged at 1811xg for 30 minutes at 4°C. The stripped serum was filtered using a sterile disposable filter unit with 0.22µm CN membrane filter (Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK). The process was repeated and CS-FBS was then aliquoted and frozen until use. In the results section this is referred to as Charcoal-stripped serum (CSS).

2.4.1.3 Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation Assay Using Haemocytometer

HPASMCs were counted manually using a haemocytometer to evaluate proliferation of the cells in culture. For proliferation assays, cells were seeded in 24-well plates, were 1mL of cell suspension during passaging was added to 24mL of 10% FBS DMEM and maintained until reaching 60% confluency. HPASMCs were then serum deprived using 0.2% CS-FBS PRF DMEM between 16 and 24 hours, to synchronise cell cycle before stimulation. HPASMCs were stimulated with appropriately diluted agonist for 24-72 hours in the presence of 2% (v/v) CS-FBS PRF DMEM. Stimulations of 0.2%, 2 % and 10% CS-FBS PRF DMEM were studied as negative and positive controls, respectively. Where necessary, hPASMCs were stimulated with appropriately diluted antagonist, 45 minutes prior to agonist stimulation. The media, agonist and if appropriate antagonists, were replaced every 48 hours. Each experimental condition was performed in triplicate. Upon completion of appropriate stimulation duration, media was aspirated, and the cell monolayer was washed twice with sterile DPBS. 150µL of trypsin/EDTA solution was added to each well, and cells were incubated at 37°C for 2 minutes to aid trypsinisation. Once the cells had detached, they were re-suspended using 0.5mL of 10% FBS DMEM per well, and gently pipetted to mix. The content of each well was then transferred into 1.5mL Eppendorf tubes, and spun in a precooled centrifuge (4°C) at 4,000rpm for 10 minutes. The supernatant was then carefully aspirated, not to disturb the cell pellet, which was re-suspended in 200uL of 10% FBS DMEM and shortly vortexed to ensure even suspension. The haemocytometer is designed 10µL of prepared cell suspension was applied onto AC1000 Improved Neubauer counting chamber (Hawksley, Lancing, UK), guaranteeing distribution of the suspension in the chamber due to capillary action. Using a hand tally counter, the number of cells was counted in four counting fields, with the set volume of 0.1mm³ (Figure 2–1). From the number of counted cells, the average number of cells in 1mL of cell suspension was calculated according to the following formulae:

Number of cells in
$$1mL = \frac{N}{4} \times 10^4$$

The number of cells in the volume used to suspend the cell pellet was then calculated.



Figure 2–1: Haemocytometer counting chamber.

2.4.1.4 Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation Assay Using Haemocytometer in Hypoxia

HPASMCs were seeded as previously described in section 2.4.1.3, immediately after seeding, the 24-well plates were placed in a hypoxia incubator chamber (Bilrups Rothenburg, US), ensuring lowered atmospheric oxygen tension (1% O_2 , 5% CO_2 (v/v)), where the cells were maintained between 24 and 72 hours. After every 24 hours, the hypoxia incubator chamber was opened in sterile environment and gassed to ensure that the cellular environment did not become overly acidic, causing cell death or altered cellular metabolism. The procedure was done as quickly as possible in order to reduce the exposure of cells to normal atmospheric oxygen tension.

2.4.1.5 Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation Assay Using 5-Bromo-2-deoxyuridine Incorporation

The proliferation of hPASMCs was also evaluated using the 5-bromo-2-deoxyuridine (BrdU) incorporation assay. When added to the cells, the reagent, which is a derivative of uridine, acts as the natural structural analogue of thymidine, incorporating into the newly synthesised DNA during the cell cycle. Protocol for adherent cell culture, provided by the Calbiochem® BrdU Cell Proliferation Assay manufacturer (Calbiochem, Merck Millipore, Germany), was followed. Briefly, hPASMCs were seeded in a 96-well plate, using 100µL of cell suspension per 10mL, and grown maintained in 10% FBS DMEM until reaching

approximately 60% confluence. HPASMCs were then serum-starved in 0.2% (v/v) FBS DMEM for 16-24 hours. Cells were stimulated with the appropriate agonist for a further 72 hours in the presence of 1% (v/v) CSS-PRF DMEM. Control groups consisting of 0.2% and 10% FBS DMEM stimulations were studied as a negative and positive control, respectively. Where necessary, hPASMCs were incubated with the appropriate antagonist 45 minutes prior to agonist stimulation. Each experimental condition was performed in quadruplicate. Two control conditions were utilised, blank control (1% CSS-PRF DMEM) and background control (no BrdU label). The BrdU label was prepared as follows, 1 μ L of the label was diluted in 2mL of 1% CSS-PRF DMEM, and 20 μ L of diluted stock was added to each well (except the background control group) 24 hours before assessment of proliferation. The contents of the wells were emptied, and the plate was carefully blotted dry, before adding 200 μ L of fixative/denaturing solution was added to each well, resulting in fixation and permeabilization of cells, denaturation of the DNA for the incorporated BrdU to be subsequently detected.

2.4.1.6 Fractionation

HPASMCs were grown in 100mm cell culture dishes until they reached approximately 80-90% confluence. Growth medium was then aspirated off, the cell monolayer washed with 10mL of DPBS, and 10mL of 1% CSS-PRF DMEM media was to each cell culture dish. HPASMCs were then stimulated with 1µM Sugen 5416 for 1, 15, 30, 60 and 90 minutes, starting with the longest stimulation time point. At experimental endpoint, the cell culture dishes were immediately placed on ice, and the media was aspirated off and hPASMCs were washed with ice-cold DPBS twice. For separation of nuclear and cytoplasmic protein fractions we have employed modified R.E.A.P protocol described in (Suzuki et al., 2010). Briefly, cell monolayer was collected into pre-chilled 1.5mL Eppendorf tube by adding 1mL of ice-cold DPBS to each cell culture dish and scrapped using a sterile plastic cell scraper. The samples were then centrifuged for 10 seconds at 10,000rpm in a centrifuge pre-chilled to 4°C. The supernatant was carefully removed, and 900µL of 0.1% (v/v) NP-40 (Sigma, UK) prepared in DPBS was added to each cell pellet and triturated 5 times using a p1000 pipette tip to ensure the cell pellet was equally dispersed. 300µL aliquot of the dispersed cell pellet was transferred into a new labelled 1.5mL Eppendorf tube. 100µL of the NuPAGE® LDS Sample Buffer (4X) was added to whole cell lysate and kept on ice. The remainder of the sample was again centrifuged as before. 330µL of the supernatant, forming the cytoplasmic fraction, were then carefully removed and transferred to a new labelled 1.5 mL

Eppendorf tube and kept on ice. 100μ L of the NuPAGE® LDS Sample Buffer (4X) was added to the cytoplasmic fraction, heated at 70°C for 1 minute and stored on ice. The remainder of the supernatant was removed, and the remaining pellet was re-suspended in 1mL of ice-cold 0.1% NP40-DPBS by triturating once using a p1000 pipette tip, followed by a 10 second centrifugation at 10,000rpm in a centrifuge pre-chilled to 4°C. The supernatant was removed and discarded, and the pellet was re-suspended in 90µL of NuPAGE® LDS Sample Buffer (4X). Whole cell lysate and nuclear fraction were sonicated in icy water for 10 seconds before heating at 70°C for 1 minute. Prepared samples were used for western blot.

2.4.2 Human Pulmonary Microvascular Endothelial Cells

Human pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells (hPMECs) were purchased from Promocell (UK). Equally, media and products required for sub-culturing of HPMECs were supplied by Promocell.

2.4.2.1 Sub-culturing of Human Pulmonary Microvascular Endothelial Cells

Upon purchase, the vial of HPMECs was carefully defrosted in a water bath, set to 37°C, cleaned with 70% (v/v) ethanol, and then in sterile conditions immediately transferred to a T25cm² containing Endothelial cell growth medium MV supplemented with Endothelial cell growth medium MV SupplementMix. The cells were left to adhere for 24 hours before the media was replaced. The cells were fed every 24–48 hours until reaching approximately 80% confluence. To sub-culture HPMECs, the Promocell DetachKit was warmed at room temperature for at least 30 minutes before use. The growth media was aspirated, and the monolayer of hPMECs was washed with HEPES Buffered saline solution (HEPES/BSS) $(100\mu L/cm^2 \text{ of vessel surface})$ by gentle agitation. The washing solution was then carefully aspirated, and 100µL/cm² of vessel surface of Typsin/EDTA solution (0.04 %/0.03 %) was added, and the cells were left to detach at room temperature for 2 minutes. During this time cells were carefully monitored under the microscope, and when cells started to detach, this process was aided by gently tapping the sides of the cell culture vessel. To neutralise the activity of Typsin/EDTA solution, 100µL of Trypsin neutralization solution (TNS) per cm² of cell culture flask surface was added and mixed with gentle agitation. Cell suspension was carefully transferred into a 15mL falcon tube and centrifuged at 220xg for 3 minutes at room temperature. The supernatant was then aspirated off, and the cell pellet was gently resuspended in supplemented Endothelial cell growth medium MV. The number of cells in the suspension was then assessed using a haemocytometer, and cells were seeded at 10,000– 20,000cells/cm².

2.4.2.2 Apoptosis Assay in Pulmonary Microvascular Endothelial Cell

HPMECs were counted using the Countess II FL Automated Cell Counter (Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK), together with the disposable slides to evaluate the number of cells in culture. For apoptosis assays, cells were seeded in 24-well plates at 8,000–10,000 cells/cm² and maintained until reaching approximately 90% confluency. HPMECs were then serum deprived using phenol red-free Endothelial cell basal medium MV, supplemented with 0.2% CS-FBS (v/v) for 2 hours, to synchronise cell cycle before stimulation. HPMECs were then stimulated with appropriately diluted agonists for 24 hours in the presence of 2% (v/v) CS-FBS PRF Endothelial cell basal medium MV. Stimulations of 0.1%, 2% and supplemented Endothelial cell growth medium MV were studied as negative and positive controls, respectively. Each experimental condition was performed in triplicate. Upon completion of appropriate stimulation duration, media was aspirated, and the cell monolayer was washed with sterile DPBS. 150µL of trypsin/EDTA (0.05%) solution was added to each well, and cells were incubated at room temperature for 2 minutes to allow the cells to begin trypsinisation. The cell culture plates were gently tapped to aid detaching. Once the cells had detached, they were re-suspended using 0.5mL of 10% FBS DMEM per well, and gently pipetted to mix. As represented the end time point of the experiment, we have used DMEM instead of Endothelial cell growth medium MV for resuspension, due to the cost of the Endothelial cell growth medium MV. The content of each well was then transferred into 1.5mL Eppendorf tubes, and spun in a pre-cooled centrifuge (4°C) at 220g for 3 minutes. The supernatant was then carefully aspirated, not to disturb the cell pellet, which was resuspended in 200µL of 10% FBS DMEM and shortly vortexed to ensure even suspension. 10µL of prepared cell suspension was applied onto disposable Countess II FL Automated Cell Counter slides, guaranteeing distribution of the suspension in the chamber due to capillary action. Resveratrol (Sigma-Aldrich, UK) at a concentration of 100µM was used as a positive control of apoptosis in these cells.

2.4.2.3 Measuring Prostacyclin Release Using an Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay

PMECs were stimulated with 1nM oestrogen metabolites (Steraloids, USA) for 1 hour or 24 hours. 20µM arachidonic acid was used as (Sigma, UK). The cell plates were kept on ice, while the media was collected and stored at -20°C until subsequent analyses. Cells were then washed twice with ice-cold PBS, and the cell monolayer was lysed with 60µL of 1% LM solution. Protein concentration in collected samples was determined as described previously (Chapter 2.2.2).

The release of PGI_2 was measured using 6-keto $PGF_{1\alpha}$ ELISA Kit (Enzo Life Sciences, USA), as PGI₂ is quickly oxidised to form a stable metabolite, 6-keto PGF_{1 α}. Our preliminary results have shown that 6-keto $PGF_{1\alpha}$ levels were out of the detection limit of the ELISA Kit. To circumvent this, 6-keto $PGF_{1\alpha}$ was extracted from the medium using liquid-liquid extraction, as described in Cayman Chemical 6-keto Prostaglandin F1a EIA Kit, Item No. 515211. Briefly, the proteins present in 1mL of media were first precipitated with acetone (4x the sample volume). Samples were then thoroughly vortexed, and incubated at 4°C for 5 minutes, before centrifugation at 3,000g for 10 minutes. Supernatant was decanted into fresh test tubes, and the acetone was evaporated by vacuum centrifugation. Solid residue was then resuspended in 1mL of NaCl solution (~28%, w/v). 6-keto $PGF_{1\alpha}$ was extracted from hydrophilic NaCl solution phase by the addition of 5mL of ethyl acetate: acetone (75:25, v/v). The addition of organic phase was repeated twice, and the extracts were collected to a new test tube. Organic phases were collected and stored at -20°C. The organic solvent was evaporated using vacuum centrifugation immediately before carrying out the ELISA. The concentration of 6-keto $PGF_{1\alpha}$ was quantified as per manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 6keto $PGF_{1\alpha}$ was assayed with specific alkaline phosphatase-labelled conjugation, and quantification was determined by spectrophotometry analysis at 405nm with correction between 570 and 590nm (SpectraMax M2, Molecular Devices, US).

The release of PGI_2 was assayed in duplicate and is expressed as pg of PGI_2 per μ g of protein.

2.5 High Performance Liquid Chromatography

2.5.1 Flux/HPLC Analysis of Oestrogen Metabolism in Human Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cell In Vitro Model

HPASMCs were plated in 100mm cell culture dishes and maintained in 10% FBS DMEM media until reaching approximately 70% confluence. The growth media was then replaced with 0.2% CSS-PRF DMEM for 16–24 hours, to ensure the cells were in the same stage of the cell cycle. When stimulating the cells, quiescing media was replaced with 1% CSS-PRF DMEM to maintain adequate cell growth, and hPASMCs were stimulated for 48 hours with 50nM (136.19ng) 17 β E2 radioactively labelled with carbon (¹⁴C) at position C4. ¹⁴C-17 β E2 with specific activity 55mCi/mmol and concentration, 0.1mCi/mL was purchased from American Radiolabelled Chemicals, Inc. (Missouri, USA). At the end time point of the experiment, cell culture dishes were placed on ice, and the spent media was collected into pre-chilled 15mL falcon tubes containing 0.1% (w/v) L-ascorbic acid (Sigma Aldrich, UK). The L-ascorbic acid was used to prevent the oxidation and degradation of catechol metabolites of 17BE2, which are extremely sensitive to oxidation. Immediately after collection, the media samples were stored at -20°C until further use. The cell monolayer was washed twice with ice-cold DPBS, and protein samples were collected by adding 600µL of Lysis and Extraction Buffer (ThermoFisher Scientific, UK), scraped carefully using a sterile plastic cell scraper and collected into pre-chilled 1.5mL Eppendorf tubes. Protein samples were left on ice for 30 minutes, before storing at -20°C until protein concentration was determined for normalisation of results, as described in section 2.2.2.

Metabolites formed form the radioactively labelled $17\beta E2$ were extracted using solid-phase extraction (SPE), described in section 2.5.2. After SPE extraction, unlabelled metabolite standards prepared in 100% methanol were added to the extracted sample at a concentration of $10\mu g/mL$ for peak identification.

2.5.1.1 Analysis of Treprostinil Effects on Oestrogen Metabolism In Vitro

PASMCs were stimulated with treprostinil at two time points: i) 24 hours prior to addition of 50nM 14C-17 β E2 (136.7pg), and ii) at the same time as 17 β E2. After 48 hours, media samples were collected into tubes containing 10mg L-ascorbic acid (Sigma, UK) to prevent oxidation of oestrogen metabolites. The cell monolayer was washed twice with ice-cold PBS and lysed with 300 μ L of RIPA buffer (Thermo Scientific, USA). This experimental design enables to determine whether i) treprostinil affects oestrogen metabolism by directly altering enzyme catalytic activities, or ii) treprostinil affects oestrogen metabolism by altering enzyme expression.



Figure 2–2: Experiment design to investigate the effects of treprostinil treatment on oestrogen metabolism in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells.

2.5.2 Solid-Phase Oestrogen Metabolite Extraction

The Oasis® HLB reverse-phase cartridges 3cc 60mg (Waters, UK) were used for solid-phase extraction of oestrogen metabolites from spent cell culture media. The cartridges were placed onto an extraction vacuum manifold (Waters, UK) to encourage the flow-through. The solid sorbent material in the cartridges was preconditioned first with 3mL of 100% methanol and then with 3mL of 100% water, prior to loading the biological sample or matrix containing known concentration of metabolite standards. The metabolites, having a steroid character, were retained in the sorbent material of the cartridge, which was subsequently re-equilibrated with 3mL of 100% water, followed by a wash of 3mL 5% (v/v) methanol in water. For flux/HPLC experiments, all solvents contained 0.1% (w/v) L-ascorbic acid. The oestrogen metabolites were eluted from cartridges with 3mL of 100% methanol. The eluents containing

concentrated and purified oestrogens were dried under a gentle stream of oxygen free nitrogen gas mixture at room temperature and reconstituted in the initial mobile phase containing water: acetonitrile: methanol (50:10:40, all HPLC Glass-distilled grade).

For HPLC analysis, samples were reconstituted in 250μ L of mobile phase (water:methanol in the ratio 32:68). To certain samples 15μ L of unlabelled oestrogen metabolite standard mixture was added, whilst 15μ L of mobile phase was added to the rest of samples. Oestrogen metabolite standard mixture was prepared by mixing 200μ L of each of the 10X standards (0.25mg/mL), resuspended in 300μ L of mobile phase, after drying down under oxygen free nitrogen gas mixture at room temperature.

2.5.3 Oestrogen Metabolism in Human Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells

A total of 40–70µL of each sample was injected onto the HPLC Sunfire C18 column (150mmx4.6mm, packed with 3.5µm C18 particles, 100Å, Waters, UK), maintained at 25°C, at a flow rate of 1mL/minute using the ASI-100 automated sample injector (Dionex, USA) and the P680 HPLC pump (Dionex, USA). Samples separated by HPLC were detected by UV and radio-labelled detection systems. To confirm peak identity, the samples were also separated with an Allure Biphenyl 5µm, 4.6x150mm column (Thames Restek, UK) maintained at 30°C, and using isocratic elution system with reverse phase chromatography with water and methanol in the mobile phase (water:methanol=32%:78%). %). Detection of radioactive metabolites was achieved by scintillation counting following mixing of column eluant with Ecoscint A scintillant (National Diagnostics, Georgia, USA; flow rate 1mL/min), using a LB509 β -scintillation counter (EG Berthold Technologies, Germany). Detection of unlabelled compounds was by ultra-violet (UV) absorption at wavelengths between 190nm to 220nm using a (PDA) Dionex PDA-100 detector (Dionex, USA).

All peak integrations for quantification were obtained from the sample run in the Sunfire C18 column. All HPLC data analysis was performed using Chromeleon 6.5 software (Dionex, USA).

2.6 Metabolomic Screen

2.6.1 Cell Culture

HPASMCs were plated in 100mm cell culture dishes, by adding 1mL of cell suspension to 9mL of 10% FBS DMEM and maintained until reaching approximately 70% confluence. Cells were then washed twice with warm DPBS, and the media was replaced with 1% CS-FBS PRF-DMEM. To assess the changes in the metabolome of hPASMCs, cells were stimulated with 50nM 17 β E2 for 48 hours. Quenching of the metabolites was performed by putting the cell culture dishes on ice, and washing twice with DPBS, before 1 mL of methanol:acetonitrile:water=50:30:20 (v/v) was added to each dish. The extraction mixture was kept cold in a mixture of dry ice and methanol. Collected samples were then shaken for 12 minutes at 4°C, before being spun at 13,000rpm for 15 minutes (0°C). The supernatant was then transferred to labelled HPLC vials (Thermo Scientific, UK), while the protein pellet was used for determining protein concentration. All samples were stored at -80°C until analysis using pHILIC method.

2.6.2 Metabolic Screen Using Liquid Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry

The samples were separated with a SeQuant® ZIC®-pHILIC Polymeric column (5µm, PEEK 150X4.6mm, Merck Millipore, UK) in gradient mode with 100% acetonitrile and 20mmol ammonia carbonate. Separated ions were analysed using LTQ Orbitrap mass spectrometer from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Hemel Hempstead, UK). Metabolomic screen data analysis was performed with open-source MZmine 2.12.4 data system.

2.7 Liquid Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry

2.7.1 Optimisation of Oestrogen Metabolite Extraction and Separation

The purification of biological samples is generally required prior to sample analysis using the LC-MS/MS technique, to eliminate the major sources of interference and to concentrate the sample when low concentration of the analyte is present. This purification method must be optimised to permit efficient analyte recovery and to avoid presence of particulates, which might interfere with the LC-MS/MS method. To optimise the preparation of biological samples to be investigated using the Shimadzu QTRAP® 6500 LC-MS/MS System, the extraction of 1ng mixture of oestrogen metabolites was used to determine the nature of 1) sorbents in SPE cartridges, 2) wash steps and 3) elution solvents resulting in highest extraction yields and most reproducible LC-MS/MS results.

2.7.1.1 Optimisation of Extraction

The Oasis Hydrophilic-Lipophilic Balance (HLB) and Mixed-mode, strong CationeXchange (MCX) 3cc/60mg (both Waters, UK) SPE cartridges have been compared, where both cartridges are described as reverse-phase and contain water-wettable polymers. The HLB SPE cartridges are characterised as strongly hydrophilic, having high capacity and retention, resulting in their wide application range, while the MCX cartridges allow greater selectively of retention through manipulation of pH, as per Watters website. To simultaneously assess the effects of the sample matrix on the investigated variables, the mixture of oestrogen metabolites was prepared either in aqueous medium or cellular medium. A mixture of all oestrogen metabolites, with the final amount of 10ng, was added to 10 mL of either water or PRF-DMEM cellular media complemented with 1% CSS and spiked with 10µL of 1µg/mL of I.S. prior to extraction. The solid sorbent material in the cartridges was preconditioned first with 3mL of 100% methanol and then with 3mL of 100% water, prior to loading the biological sample or matrix containing known concentration of metabolite standards. The metabolites, having a steroid character, were retained in the sorbent material of the cartridge, which was subsequently re-equilibrated with 3mL of 100% water, followed by a wash of 3mL 5% (v/v) methanol in water. The oestrogen metabolites

were eluted from the extraction cartridge by either 3mL of 100% methanol or 100% acetonitrile (Sigma-Aldrich, UK). Eluents containing concentrated and purified oestrogens were dried at 40°C under a gentle stream of oxygen-free nitrogen gas mixture at room temperature, and reconstituted in 70 μ L of the initial mobile phase containing H₂O:ACN=90:10. Post-spiked samples were prepared by extracting 10mL of PRF-DMEM cellular media complemented with 1% CSS, as described above. The eluent was then spiked with 10 μ L of 1 μ g/mL oestrogen metabolite mixture and 10 μ L 1 μ g/mL I.S. The unextracted sample was prepared by pipetting 10 μ L of 1 μ g/mL oestrogen metabolite mixture and 10 μ L 1 μ g/mL I.S. The unextracted sample was prepared by and drying at 40°C down under oxygen-free nitrogen stream. Together these samples allow assessment of recovery and matrix suppression.

2.7.1.2 Optimisation of Wash Step

A mixture of all oestrogen metabolites, with the final amount of 10ng, was added to 10mL of PRF-DMEM cellular media complemented with 1% CSS and spiked with 10µL of 1µg/mL of I.S. prior to extraction. The solid sorbent material in the cartridges was preconditioned first with 3mL of 100% methanol and then with 3mL of 100% water, prior to loading the biological sample or matrix containing known concentration of metabolite standards. The metabolites, having a steroid character, were retained in the sorbent material of the cartridge, which was subsequently re-equilibrated with 3mL of 100% water, followed by a two wash steps with 1) 3mL 5% (v/v) methanol in water and 2mL 30% (v/v) methanol in water or 2) 3mL of 100% water, followed by 3mL 5% (v/v) methanol in water, respectively. The oestrogen metabolites were eluted from the extraction cartridge by either 3mL of 100% methanol or 3mL of 100% ACN. Eluents containing concentrated and purified oestrogens were dried under a gentle stream of oxygen-free nitrogen gas mixture at room temperature and reconstituted in 70µL of the initial mobile phase containing H₂O:ACN=90:10. The post-spiked and unextracted samples were prepared as described above.
2.7.2 Liquid Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry - Analysis of Oestrogen Metabolism in Human Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells In Vitro Model

HPASMCs were plated in 100mm cell culture dishes and maintained in 10% FBS DMEM media until reaching approximately 70% confluence. The growth media was then replaced with 0.2% CSS-PRF DMEM for 16–24 hours, to ensure all cells were in the same stage of the cell cycle. When stimulating the cells, quiescing media was replaced with 1% CSS-PRF DMEM to maintain adequate cell growth, and hPASMCs were stimulated for 48 hours with 50nM (136.19ng) 17 β E2. At the end time point of the experiment, cell culture dishes were placed on ice, and the spent media was collected into pre-chilled 15mL falcon tubes. Immediately after collection, the media samples were stored at -80°C until further use. The cell monolayer was washed twice with ice-cold DPBS, and protein samples were collected by adding 600µL of 1% (v/v) LM buffer (Abcam, UK), scrapped carefully using a sterile plastic cell scraper and collected into pre-chilled 1.5mL Eppendorf tubes. Protein samples were left on ice for 30 minutes, before storing at -80°C until protein concentration was determined for normalisation of results, as described in section 2.2.2.

Metabolites formed form the 17 β E2 were extracted using SPE, described in section 2.5.2, and stored at -80°C until derivatisation. To all samples, 10 μ L of 1 μ g/mL of I.S., ¹³C₃-E1 and ¹³C₃-17 β E2 (Sigma-Aldrich, UK) was added prior to SPE extraction. For LC-MS/MS L-ascorbic acid was not added to any of the solvents used in the SPE.

2.7.3 Derivatisation with PPZ in Methylation Conditions

Extracted biological samples were dried under continuous stream of oxygen free nitrogen at 40° C. Then, 10μ L of 1M NaHCO₃ (Sigma Aldrich, UK), 10μ L 1mg/mL 1-(5-fluoro-2,4-dinitrophenyl)-4-methylpiperazine (1,PPZ, Tokyo Chemical Industry Ltd, UK) and 70μ L 100% acetone were added to the dry residue, and shortly vortexed. Oestrogen metabolites and reagents were incubated at 60° C for 1 hour. The reaction was quenched by the addition of 500μ L of H₂O:methanol=1:1 to each sample. The samples were again dried under continuous stream of oxygen free nitrogen, at 40° C, to complete dryness. To introduce a permanent positive charge into each molecule of oestrogen metabolite, the samples were further methylated by adding 100 μ L of methyl iodide (CH₃I, Sigma Aldrich, UK), and

incubating the mixture at 60°C for 30 minutes. The mixture was then dried down under a gentle stream of oxygen free nitrogen, and the dry residue was reconstituted in 70μ L of initial mobile phase with composition H₂O:acetonitrile=90:10.

File Run Time: 20 min ACQ-SM ACQ-BSM ACQ-CM **Binary Solvent Manager** General Analog Out Events ? 100 B % ~ # 0 20.00 min Time Flow ** ٠ %A %B Curve (mL/min) (min) 2 1.00 0.500 90.0 10.0 6 Gradient Start: 3 0.500 14.00 50.0 50.0 6 œ At injection 4 16.00 0.500 50.0 50.0 6 Before injection 5 17.00 0.500 90.0 10.0 6 After injection 20.00 0.500 90.0 6 6 10.0 uL Comment:

Derivatised samples were either analysed on an LC-MS/MS setting immediately, or they were stored at -80°C.

Figure 2–3: Gradient programme used to separate oestrogen metabolites within ACE Excel 2 C18-PFP (150x2.1mm) column, maintained at 25°C.

2.7.4 Liquid Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry

Samples to be analysed on the Shimadzu QTRAP® 6500 LC-MS/MS System (AB SCIEX, UK), were maintained at 5°C. 30μ L of each sample was injected onto the ACE Excel 2 C18-PFP (150x2.1mm) column (Hichrom Ltd, UK). Gradient separation method was employed, by an eluent composition initially set to 10% (B) 0.1% formic acid in acetonitrile (v/v) and 90% (A) 0.1% formic acid in water (v/v). The column was operated at 25°C with a flow rate of 0.5mL/min, with the following gradient program: 10% B to 50% B in 13 minutes, then maintained at 50% B for 2 minutes, linearly decreasing to 10% B in 3 minutes, finally the column was equilibrated with 10% B for 3 minutes (see Figure 2–3).

Turbo electron ion spray voltage (EIS) and temperature (TEM) were maintained at 5.5kV and 500°C, respectively. Multiple reaction monitoring (MRM), in positive polarity, with unit mass resolution for the precursor and product ions was used for quantitation of oestrogen metabolites.

The triple quadrupole mass spectrometer contains two mass filters (Q1 and Q3), while Q2 is used as collision cell to fragment molecule of interest. The Q1 is typically used to select the parental ions of interest generated in the ion source, hence the Q1 mass corresponds to molecular weight of the derivatised parental ion to charge ratio (m/z). The precursor ions are then fragmented in Q2, and the product ions are separated by m/z ratio in Q3. Therefore, Q3 mass is used to select specified fragments of precursor ion to the electron multiplier. The Q1 and Q3 masses of oestrogen metabolites analysed in the spent media samples are provided in Table 2-9.

 Table 2-9: Characteristic Q1 and Q3 masses of oestrogen metabolites derivatised with

 PPZ/methylation conditions used for LC-MS/MS identification and analysis.

Identification	Q1 Mass (Da)	Q3 Mass (Da)	Time (ms)	DP (Volts)	CE (Volts)	CXP (Volts)
E1	549.1	502.3	30	141.0	59.0	20.0
17βΕ2	551.1	504.3	30	51.0	59.0	20.0
17αΕ2	551.1	504.3	30	51.0	59.0	20.0
20HE1	565.0	58.0	30	130.0	129.0	10.0
40HE1	565.0	58.0	30	130.0	129.0	10.0
16aOHE1	565.0	58.0	30	130.0	129.0	10.0
20HE2	567.1	58.0	30	136.0	121.0	8.0
40HE2	567.1	58.0	30	136.0	121.0	8.0
16aOHE2	567.1	58.0	30	136.0	121.0	8.0
2MeOE1	579.0	58.0	30	66.0	121.0	8.0
4MeOE1	579.0	58.0	30	66.0	121.0	8.0
2MeOE2	581.0	280.0	30	111.0	57.0	28.0
4MeOE2	581.0	250.0	30	61.0	63.0	24.0
¹³ C-E1	552.3	505.3	30	135.0	39.0	15.0
¹³ C-17βE2	554.3	507.3	30	135.0	35.0	15.0

DP= De-clustering potential, CE= Collision energy, CXP= Collision exit potential

Nineteen MRM transitions were monitored with dwell time set at 30ms. Collision energy was set for each metabolite separately. Data acquisition and processing were controlled by

the Analyst Software (version 1.6.3) of the instrument. All LC-MS/MS data analyses was performed using MultiQuant 3.0.2 software (AB SCIEX, UK).

2.7.5 Validation of Assay for Oestrogen Metabolites in Cell Media

The limits of detection (LODs) was determined for each of the oestrogen metabolites of interest as the lowest concentration at which the observed signal was clearly separable from the baseline noise. Calibration curves for oestrogen metabolites of interest were obtained using linear regression without weighting. The linearity of the assay was assessed daily on three consecutive days using six concentrations from 0.2 to 100ng/mL, while the concentration of I.S. (${}^{13}C_{3}$ -E1 and ${}^{13}C_{3}$ -17 β E2) was kept constant at 100ng/mL for both standards. The uncertainty of measurements for the same sample was expressed in coefficient of variation (%CV), calculated by dividing standard deviation of the sample measurements with average value, multiplied by 100. Recovery and matrix effects were determined at concentration of 200ng/mL (n=2). The recovery (%RE) for each oestrogen metabolite was estimated as the ratio of peak areas for each analyte to I.S. spiked before extraction, divided by the ratio of peak areas of each analyte analyte to IS spiked post-extraction, multiplied by 100:

$$\% RE = \frac{\left(\frac{Peak \ area \ (Analyte - Prespiked)}{Peak \ Area \ (IS - Prespiked)}\right)}{\left(\frac{Peak \ area \ (Analyte - Postspiked)}{Peak \ Area \ (IS - Postspiked)}\right)} \times 100$$

It is important to consider matrix effects (%ME) when developing a quantitative LC-MS/MS method, as the presence of unknown compounds, which react unpredictively, in the sample might affect the methods' accuracy and reproducibility. %ME was calculated as the ratio of peak areas of each post-spiked analyte with the peak area of unextracted analyte:

$$\% ME = \frac{Peak area (Analyte - Postspiked)}{Peak area (Unextrcted)}.$$

Ion suppression (%IS) is defined as reduced response of the detector due to competition of compounds present in the sample with the analyte of interest for the efficiency in the ionisation source. When looking at several analytes of interest within a complex sample, the

competition of these compounds for the efficiency in the ionisation source might also result in ion suppression. %IS was estimated as the ratio of each oestrogen metabolite to IS response ratio, divided by unextracted mixture of oestrogen metabolites, multiplied by 100:

$$\% IS = \frac{\left(\frac{Peak \ area \ (Analyte - prespiked)}{Peak \ Area \ (IS - prespiked)}\right)}{\left(\frac{Peak \ area \ (Unextracted \ Mixture)}{Peak \ Area \ (IS - Unextracted \ Mixture)}\right)} \times 100$$

2.8 Statistical Analysis and Data Handling

Data presented herein was processed and analysed using GraphPad Prism (California, USA), version 5 and 6. The values are expressed as the mean value \pm the standard error of the mean (SEM). Herein, N denotes the number of cell lines used in an experiment, while the number of replicates indicates the number of times the experiment was repeated using a cell line. To evaluate the statistical significance of differences between groups, One-Way ANOVA followed by Tukey's or Bonferroni post-hoc tests, depending on whether all possible pairwise comparisons across all groups were examined or not. Where required, a Two-Way ANOVA followed by Sidak Post-hoc test was utilised. A probability level of p<0.05 was defined as being statistically significant.

Chapter III

3 *In Vitro* Investigation of Mechanisms Involved in the Establishment of Experimental Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension Phenotype in the Sugen 5416 and Chronic Hypoxia Model

3.1 Introduction

Numerous advances in medical research have been attributed to the use of animal models. According to Ericsson and colleagues, pre-clinical studies using animal models to appropriately and accurately replicate human diseases, offer rapid access to robust data, leading to imperative insight into the pathophysiological disease mechanisms and aid the development of novel treatment options (Ericsson et al., 2013). The research of complex diseases associated with numerous co-founding factors and aetiologies, such as PAH, might therefore rely heavily on animal models to elucidate underlying biological mechanism. This may require utilising more than one model to ensure robustness of gathered information. Although recent advances in genetic engineering have resulted in the generation of numerous novel models, these unfortunately do not generally recapitulate all the complex features of PAH pathophysiology. Moreover, larger number of genetically modified animals are required to maintain the genetically engineered line. Hence, it is not surprising that the number of animals in research has been increasing slowly since the beginning of 21st century, mostly due to increasing proportion of procedures using animals that have been genetically modified or harbour genetic mutations.



Figure 3–1: The trend of use of animals in research since 1930s to date.

The diagram showing the number of animals used in biomedical research per year was acquired from Understanding Animal Research.

In the UK, however, due to the efforts of British government to regulate more stringently the use of animals in research through establishment of the National Centre for the Replacement, Refinement and Reduction of Animals in Research, the proportion of percentage of experimental procedures on animals has not increased compared to the increase in all bioscientific experiments. The main aims of the NC3Rs are to promote researchers to develop novel methods enabling i) minimisation of the number of animals used per experiment, ii) replacement or complete avoidance of the use of animals, and iii) improvement the welfare of animals and minimise their suffering (NC3Rs). It has been proposed that, the development of new research technologies and refinement of existing models could in the future lead to significant reduction, and possible absolute replacement, of the use of animals in research.

To accurately replicate human PAH in terms of the histopathological changes observed within the distal pulmonary vasculature, including the occurrence of angio-obliterative lesions generally requires multiple stimuli. The Su5416/Hx model in rats is established by administration of a single dose of 20mg/kg of Sugen 5416 to the animals, which are then exposed to hypoxia for 14 or 21 days. Animals are then retained in Nx conditions for 6 to 10 weeks so that the experimental PH phenotype develops fully. This model recapitulates the human disease in terms of the presence of occlusive lesions. Additionally, the animals developed higher mPAP than Hx alone. In this model female animals developed the disease more frequently compared to males, and oestrogens apparently mediate a detrimental role in this specific model (Tofovic et al., 2012), this model could be regarded as most appropriate model to investigate PAH pathophysiology and the effectiveness of novel therapeutic approaches. As Su5416 is considered to be a potent ligand of the AhR, expressing high affinity for the receptor, the role of the AhR has been considered in the mechanism driving the onset of PAH phenotype in this animal model. In terms of the AhR mediating CVD, the receptor absence was associated with the occurrence of abnormal hepatic vascular structures according to (Lahvis et al., 2000). The absence of the receptor in AhR null mice also resulted in increased expression of HIF1 α and VEGF in the heart (Thackaberry et al., 2002), both of which have been associated with compensatory mechanisms resulting in cardiac hypertrophy (Vasquez et al., 2003). According to Sauzeau, absence of AhR in the vasculature was associated with increased thickness of arteria media vessel wall due to increased number of SMCs (Sauzeau et al., 2011). The activation of AhR in the cardiovascular system was also shown to increase the expression of *Phase I* metabolising enzymes, leading to subsequent increase in ROS (Park et al., 1996).

However, as the mechanism by which the disease phenotype is established in the Su5416/Hx model is largely unknown, it is important to determine which cellular pathways are involved to comprehend the suitability of the model.

Aims of this chapter:

- 1) To investigate the mechanism through which the animal model of pulmonary arterial hypertension employing Sugen 5416 coupled with chronic hypoxia is induced, utilising *in vitro* methods.
- To establish whether proteins involved in the AhR/HIF1α signalling pathways are differentially expressed in the lungs of animals with established disease phenotype and their control littermates, and in hPASMCs, derived from patients and control subjects of both sexes.
- 3) To establish an *in vitro* cellular model using human pulmonary arterial and human pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells, recapitulating the molecular changes observed in animal model of Sugen 5416 coupled with chronic hypoxia.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Cells Derived from Female Patients with Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension Exhibit Decreased Gene Expression of Cytochrome P450 1A1

White and colleagues conduced a microarray analysis to determine any sex differences in the genetically altered mouse that overexpresses the human gene for the serotonin transporter (SERT+ mouse), as only female SERT+ mice developed the PAH phenotype (White et al., 2011b). Thearray revealed the up-regulation of several genes in female SERT+ PAs, including *CYP1B1*, *CEBPβ* and *FOS* genes (White et al., 2011b). *CYP1A1* is induced by the AhR and is a good marker of AhR activity (Hu et al., 2007). To assess whether sex differences in *CYP1A1* gene expression levels exist and establish the importance in the disease onset and progression, we examined the expression of the gene encoding this enzyme in models of PAH.

Firstly, we examined hPASMCs derived from female PAH patients compared to female control cells. We observed that level of expression of the *CYP1A1* gene, determined using quantitative RT-PCR analysis, might be decreased in hPASMCs derived from female PAH patients compared to female control cells (Figure 3–2).

A slight variability in the Ct value of the housekeeper gene β -2-microglobulin was detected in the group of hPASMCs derived from female PAH patients. The normalisation of the Ct values of the gene of interest is important, as it enables the compensation of intra- and interkinetic RT-PCR variations, allowing to compare samples in the same experiment and between experiments. The quality of the data was examined by calculating the standard deviation of the Ct values. Generally, within our lab, the results for which the variability described by standard deviation of less than 1 amongst all groups were considered useable, and this criterion was also applied for this work. When the fold change in the expression of the gene of interest is high, there is a greater tolerance for the variation in the expression of the housekeeping gene, which has a lesser impact the interpretation of the results. Conversely, when looking at relatively small fold differences, the tolerance in the variation of housekeeping gene may be less. Therefore, optimisation of the assay may be required. The coefficient of variation for these experiments, calculated by dividing the standard deviation with the mean Ct value, was less than 5%, which is still acceptable. We recognise that with borderline results, larger variability of the housekeeper gene) could artificially result in greater significance of results, however, the variability of the housekeeper gene Ct values was within the acceptable limits of variation. To improve the experiment in order to produce highly accurate and reliable results, other housekeeping genes, which generally exhibit less variability could be employed, as described in (de Jonge et al., 2007). According to de Jonge *et al.*, the housekeeping genes exhibiting the least variability are different ribosomal proteins and ornithine decarboxylase antizyme 1.



Figure 3–2: The relative expression of the gene encoding the CYP1A1 is decreased in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female PAH patients.

Pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells (PASMCs) were explanted from distal arteries of control subjects and patients suffering from pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) and cultured as described previously. The expression of *CYP1A1* was assessed by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR. Results were normalised to the β -2-microglobulin. N=3-4 per group in triplicate, **p≤0.01, One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification.





Whole lungs of *Smad1* heterozygous mice of both sexes, and their age-matched C57BL/6 litter mates, used as control animals, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of *CYP1A1* by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR. Results were normalised to the β -2-microglobulin. N=4–6 per group in triplicate, *p<0.05, **p≤0.01, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification.

3.2.2 Female Smad1 Heterozygous Mice Exhibit Decreased Gene Expression Levels of Cytochrome P450 1A1

The tissue of Smad1 heterozygous mice and their WT counterparts used in these experiments was kindly provided by Dr Mair. The haemodynamic and remodelling parameters observed in these animals are published in (Mair et al., 2015). The expression of the *CYP1A1* gene was also assessed in whole lung from female and male *Smad1* heterozygous mice, and their age-matched C57BL/6 litter mates, which served as controls. The relative quantitation of the gene showed that *CYP1A1* gene is significantly decreased in the lungs derived from *Smad1* heterozygous mice compared to female control animals (Figure 3–3). This observation indicates that in this Nx PAH generic model exhibiting the PAH disease phenotype (Han et al., 2013;Mair et al., 2015), the expression of *CYP1A1* is decreased compared to agematched female litter mates. Interestingly, unlike the increased expression level of *CYP1B1*, reported previously in animals and hPASMCs (White et al., 2012) exhibiting PAH phenotype, the expression of *CYP1A1* was reduced.

3.2.3 The expression level of Cytochrome P450 1A1 is Significantly Decreased in Experimental Pulmonary Hypertension Induced by Hypoxia in Sprague-Dawley Rats of Both Sexes

To further investigate the expression of *CYP1A1* gene in models of PAH, the relative quantitation of the gene was assessed in lungs from the classical cHx model of PH. We studied this in Sprague-Dawley rats exposed to either Hx or Nx conditions for 28 days. The tissue used in these experiments was kindly provided by Dr Murphy. The haemodynamic and remodelling parameters observed in these animals after exposure to chronic hypoxia were published in (Murphy, 2017). We observed a significant decrease in the relative quantitation of the *CYP1A1* gene in female and male animals exposed to Hx compared to their Nx controls (Figure 3–4).



Figure 3–4: The relative expression of the gene encoding the CYP1A1 is decreased in female and male rats exposed to hypoxia for 28 days.

Whole lung of Sprague-Dawley rats of both sexes, exposed to hypoxia for 28 days, and their normoxic litter mates, used as control animals, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of *CYP1A1* by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR. Results were normalised to the β -2-microglobulin. N=4-6 per group in triplicate, *p<0.05, **p≤0.01, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification.



Figure 3–5: The expression of CYP1A1 is increased in whole lungs from female and male rats treated with Sugen 5416 and exposed to hypoxia.

Samples of whole lung of Wistar Kyoto rats, of both sexes, treated with single dose of Sugen 5416 and exposed to hypoxia and their normoxic controls, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of *CYP1A1* by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR (A). Results were normalised to β -2-microglobulin. N=4–6 per group in triplicate, ****p \leq 0.0001, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification. The level of CYP1A1 protein expression was assessed using immunoblotting (B). N=3–6 per group in duplicate, *p<0.05, ****p \leq 0.0001, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Representative immunoblot is shown in (C).

3.2.4 The Expression of Cytochrome P450 1A1 Gene is Increased in Experimental Pulmonary Hypertension Induced by Sugen 5416 and Chronic Hypoxia

Lastly, the level of CYP1A1 gene expression was addressed in the Su5416/Hx model, which is currently widely used to investigate the pathophysiological mechanisms of PAH onset and progression, due to histological, pathophysiological and epidemiological characteristics similar to those observed in humans. Here, the relative quantitation of the gene was assessed in the whole lungs from Wistar Kyoto rats treated with Su5416 and exposed to Hx or in agematched litter mates kept in Nx conditions (Mair et al., 2014). The experimental PH phenotype in Su5416/Hx model was established by a single dose of 20mg/kg Su5416, followed by 14 days in Hx and further 14 days in Nx (Mair et al., 2014). Su5416/Hx-treated animals developed right ventricular systolic pressure of approximately 110mmgHg, with 10–15% remodelled and 20–30% occluded vessels, and right ventricular hypertrophy index (RV/LV+S) of 0.6 (Mair et al., 2014). The relative expression of the CYP1A1 gene in female and male treated animals was significantly increased (Figure 3–5A), while no difference between the sexes was detected. Using immunoblotting technique to assess the level of protein expression we show that CYP1A1 protein expression was also increased in Su5416/Hx-treated animals of both sexes. The quantification of the protein expression also indicated that the CYP1A1 expression in male rats treated with Su5416/Hx is significantly higher than in age-matched female rats (Figure 3–5B).

The AhR signalling pathway is considered to be an organism's innate mechanisms to efficiently deal with exposure to environmental toxins Therefore, the activation results in induction of genes involved in metabolism of these substances, including the *CYP1B1* gene. We have therefore also examined the level of relative quantitation of *CYP1B1* in the whole lungs. We observed that in male and female animals exposed to Su5416 and cHx resulted in a significantly increased expression of CYP1B1 compared to their corresponding Nx controls, on both gene and protein level (Figure 3–6). The evaluation of the expression of CYP1B1 protein, however, was limited by the quality of the western blot. The diffuse nature of the bands and relatively high background limited the accuracy of determining the boarders of the protein bands and hence the measurement of optical density. The diffuse nature of the bands could be associated with the presence of post-translational modifications of CYP1B1

or the condition of the tissue used for this experiment. Additionally, the anti-CYP1B1 antibody used exhibited some off-target binding, leading to poorer results.



Figure 3–6: The expression of CYP1B1 is increased in whole lung from female and male rats treated with Sugen 5416 and exposed to chronic hypoxia.

Samples of whole lung of Wistar Kyoto rats, of both sexes, treated with single dose of Sugen 5416 and exposed to hypoxia and their normoxic controls, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of *CYP1B1* by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR (A). Results were normalised to the β -2-microglobulin. N=4–6 per group in triplicate, *p<0.05, **p≤0.01, ***p≤0.001, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification. The level of CYP1B1 protein expression was assessed using immunoblotting (B). N=3–6 per group in duplicate, *p<0.05, ****p≤0.0001, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Representative immunoblot is shown in (C).



Figure 3–7: The expression of anyl hydrocarbon receptor is unchanged in whole lung samples from female and male rats treated with Sugen 5416 and exposed to chronic hypoxia.

Samples of whole lung of Wistar Kyoto rats, of both sexes, treated with single dose of Sugen 5416 and exposed to hypoxia and their normoxic controls, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of *AhR* by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR (A). Results were normalised to β -2-microglobulin. N=4–6 per group in triplicate, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification. The level of AhR protein expression was assessed using immunoblotting (B). N=3–6 per group in duplicate, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Representative immunoblot is shown in (C).

When we assessed the relative quantitation of the *AhR* gene in lungs from male and female Su5416/hx rats and their controls, no significant differences were observed (Figure 3–7). The evaluation of the expression of AhR on protein level was limited by the level of expression and the diffuse nature of the bands, limiting the accuracy of determining the boarders of the protein bands and hence the measurement of optical density. *ARNT*(*HIF1β*) is the key binding partner of the AhR to produce an active receptor dimer. *ARNT*(*HIF1β*) gene levels in Su5416/Hx-treated females was significantly lower compared to female Nx controls (Figure 3–9). In male animals no such significant differences were observed (Figure 3–9).

The AhR signalling pathway is negatively regulated by the induction of the AhRR, which serves to bind to the AhR instead of the ARNT, and hence prevents the receptor's activity. Therefore, the relative expression level of the *AhRR* is another useful measure of the activity of the AhR signalling pathway. To confirm the AhR signalling pathways is greatly induced in the Su5416/Hx-treated animals, we have examined the relative quantitation of AhRR gene in whole lung samples. As previously with CYP1A1 expression levels, we reported that the expression of AhRR gene was significantly higher in the Su5416/Hx-treated animals compared to their sex- and age-matched Nx controls (Figure 3–8). The magnitude of increase in the gene expression level of AhRR observed was comparable to that of CYP1A1 gene. Moreover, we have also established that the expression of *AhRR* in Su5416/Hx male rats was significantly higher than in Su5416/Hx female rats. Equally, we observed that AhRR expression in Nx male rats was also significantly higher than in Nx female rats. Hence it appeared that there might be a sex specific difference in the level of AhRR expression, and therefore the AhR pathway might be differentially negatively regulated. The evaluation of the expression of AhRR protein, was limited by the quality of the western blot. The diffuse nature of the bands and relatively high background limited the accuracy of determining the boarders of the protein bands and hence the measurement of optical density. Additionally, the anti-AhRR antibody used exhibited some off-target binding, leading to poorer results.

As there is significant crosstalk between the AhR and the HIF1 α signalling pathways, we also aimed to examine the levels of *HIF1\alpha* gene expression in Su5416/Hx treated animals. As the HIF1 α gene is normally expressed regardless of the partial pressure of O₂, and the latter only influences the stability and degradation of HIF1 α on protein level, we investigated whether the basal level of gene expression is altered in treated animals compared to their Nx

controls. Herein, we report that the relative expression of $HIF1\alpha$ was significantly higher in Su5416/Hx treated males compared to treated females (Figure 3–10).



Figure 3–8: The expression of anyl hydrocarbon receptor repressor is increased in whole lungs derived from female and male rats treated with Sugen 5416 and exposed to chronic hypoxia.

Samples of whole lung of Wistar Kyoto rats, of both sexes, treated with single dose of Sugen 5416 and exposed to hypoxia and their normoxic controls, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of *AhRR* by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR (A). Results were normalised to β -2-microglobulin. N=3–6 per group in triplicate, ****p≤0.0001, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification. The level of AhRR protein expression was assessed using immunoblotting (B). N=3–6 per group in duplicate, *p<0.05, ****p≤0.0001, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Representative immunoblot is shown in (C).



Figure 3–9: The relative expression of the gene encoding the ARNT (HIF1 β) is decreased in whole lungs derived female rats treated with Sugen 5416 and exposed to chronic hypoxia.

Samples of whole lung of Wistar Kyoto rats, of both sexes, treated with a single dose of Sugen 5416 and subsequently exposed to chronic hypoxia, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of *ARNT (HIF1β)* by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR. Results were normalised to the β -2-microglobulin. N=4-6 per group in triplicate, *p<0.05, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification.



Figure 3–10: The relative expression of the gene encoding the hypoxia-inducible factor 1a is increased in whole lungs from male rats treated with Sugen 5416 and exposed to chronic hypoxia.

Samples of whole lung of Wistar Kyoto rats, of both sexes, treated with a single dose of Sugen 5416 and subsequently exposed to chronic hypoxia, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of *HIF1a* by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR. Results were normalised to β -2-microglobulin. N=4–6 per group in triplicate, *p<0.05, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification.

3.2.5The Expression of NAD(P)H Quinone Dehydrogenase 1 is Increased in the Lung of Sugen 5416-Hypoxic-Treated Animals, but not in Animals Exposed to Chronic Hypoxia

The activation of AhR in mice results in the induction of a battery of genes through the nuclear factor erythroid 2–related factor 2 (Nrf2), which includes *CYP1A1* and *NQ01* (Yeager et al., 2009). The aim of assessing *NQ01* gene expression was to determine the animal model in which, the AhR signalling pathways is most likely activated. We also wished to assess the expression of another gene known to be regulated through AhR signalling pathway in Su5416/Hx treated animals. Prolonged vessel wall sheer stress has been associated with altered expression of the *NQ01* gene in the endothelial cells ECs (Chen et al., 2003), with the enzyme mediating the removal of genotoxic quinones to form hydroquinone, thereby conferring protective role against oxidative stress.

In the cHx model of PH, the only significant difference in *NQO1* observed was that females exhibited significantly higher expression level of the *NQO1* gene compared to males (Figure 3–11A). The *NQO1* gene was upregulated in Su5416/Hx treated animals of both sexes (Figure 3–11B).

A slight variability was observed in the Ct values of the housekeeper gene β -2-microglobulin for animal kept in Hx for 28 days and their Nx controls. The quality of the data was examined by calculating the standard deviation of the Ct values. Generally, we considered results with variability described by standard deviation of less than 1 to be useable, and this criterion was also applied for this work. Considering, the standard deviation of the housekeeper gene Ct values was within the acceptable limits, we believe the results are satisfactory. However, we recognise that with borderline results, larger variability of the housekeeper gene) could artificially result in greater significance of results, however, the variability of the housekeeper gene Ct values was within the acceptable limits of variation. The impact of the level of variability in the housekeeping gene expression is described in Chapter 3.2.1.



Figure 3–11: The relative quantitation NAD(P)H quinone dehydrogenase 1 is increased in the whole lungs from Sugen 5416 and hypoxia-treated animals.

Samples of whole lungs of two experimental PH rat models: cHx (A) and Su5416/Hx (B) of both sexes, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of *NQO1* by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR. Results were normalised to β -2-microglobulin. N=3–6 per group in triplicate, **p<0.01, One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification.

3.2.6 Treatment of Human Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells with Sugen 5416 Leads to Increased Expression of Cytochrome P450 1A1 and 1B1, but not Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor or Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1β

As previously reported, AhR expression is increased in female PAH patient hPASMCs (Dean et al., 2016). Moreover, the AhR signalling pathway may be involved in the establishment of the disease-like phenotype in the Su5416/Hx animal model. We therefore aimed to assess the effect that stimulation of the AhR signalling pathway may have on the expression of CYP enzymes in female hPASMCs derived from control patients with no PAH. Both, CYP1A1 and CYP1B1, metabolise oestrogens and produce protective and/or detrimental oestrogen metabolites (Lee et al., 2003;White et al., 2012), which may be involved in PAH pathogenesis.

24 hour-long stimulation with Su5416 (1 μ M and 5 μ M) resulted in significant increase in the protein expression of CYP1A1 (Figure 3–12) and CYP1B1 (Figure 3–13) enzymes in female hPASMCs derived from control patients, while no such increase was observed for the AhR (Figure 3–15). We also showed that at gene expression levels, genes encoding for *CYP1A1* and *CYP1B1* were significantly increased with Su5416 stimulation, while no such increase was detected for *AhR* gene expression (Figure 3–14). Furthermore, in these cells, pre-treatment with AhR antagonist, CH223191 (100nM), antagonised the Su5416-induced decreased in CYP1A1 expression (Figure 3–12), but not CYP1B1 expression (Figure 3–13).



Figure 3–12: Expression of CYP1A1 is increased by treatment with Sugen 5416, and attenuated by AhR antagonist, CH223191, in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female controls.

HPASMCs were quiesced for 24 hours in 0.5% CSS PRF DMEM media. PASMCs were then treated with Sugen 5416 (1 μ M and 5 μ M) and CH223191 (30nM and 100nM), which was added 30 minutes before Sugen 5416, in the presence of 1% CSS PRF DMEM. (A) Protein expression of CYP1A1 was assessed as previously described, with representative immunoblotting image (B). N=3 per group, in duplicate, One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as fold-change of Control group±SEM.

A



Figure 3–13: Expression of CYP1B1 is increased after treatment with Sugen 5416 in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female controls.

HPASMCs were quiesced for 24 hours in 0.5% CSS PRF DMEM media. PASMCs were then treated with Sugen 5416 (1 μ M and 5 μ M) and CH223191 (30nM and 100nM), which was added 30 minutes before Sugen 5416, in the presence of 1% CSS PRF DMEM. (A) Protein expression of AhR were assessed as described previously, with representative immunoblotting image (B). N=3 per group, in duplicate, One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as fold-change of Control group±SEM.



Figure 3–14: Expression of CYP1A1 and CYP1B1 at gene level is increased in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female controls after treatment with Sugen 5416 in the presence or absence of AhR antagonist, CH223191.

HPASMCs were quiesced for 24 hours in 0.5% CSS PRF DMEM media. PASMCs were then treated with Sugen 5416 (1µM and 5µM) and CH223191 (30nM and 100nM), which was added 30 minutes before Sugen 5416, in the presence of 1% CSS PRF DMEM. The expression level of *CYP1A1* and *CYP1B1* was assessed by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR. Results were normalised to β -2-microglobulin. N=3–4 per group, in duplicate, *p<0.05,**p≤0.01, One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification.



Figure 3–15: Protein expression of aryl hydrocarbon receptor remains unaltered by treatment with Sugen 5416 in the presence or absence of AhR antagonist, CH223191, in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female controls.

HPASMCs were quiesced for 24 hours in 0.5% CSS PRF DMEM media. PASMCs were then treated with Sugen 5416 (1 μ M and 5 μ M) and CH223191 (30nM and 100nM), which was added 30 minutes before Sugen 5416, in the presence of 1% CSS PRF DMEM. N=3 per group, in duplicate, One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as fold-change of Control group±SEM. The representative blot shown (B) was altered to remove Control, 1 μ M and 5 μ M Sugen 5416 treatment groups, otherwise appearing in the position now replaced by vertical line, on the same immunoblot.

144

3.2.7 Treatment of Human Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells with Sugen 5416 Leads to Increased Expression of Cytochrome P450 1A1 and 1B1, but not Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor in Cells Derived from Female Patients

As treatment of animals with Su5416 resulted in increased expression of target genes of the AhR signalling pathway, we aimed to investigate whether the use of Su5416 in the *in vitro* model of PAH might have a similar effect, considering the AhR is increased in PASMCs derived from female patients. The exposure of hPASMCs from female PAH patients to Su5416 yielded a significant increase in CYP1A1 and CYP1B1, at gene (Figure 3–16) and protein levels (Figure 3–17 and Figure 3–18), respectively. The difference in CYP1A1 expression compared to control treatment was more considerable as the change in CYP1B1 expression. Although the treatment with the AhR antagonist, CH223191 (30nM and 100nM) resulted in decreased expression of both CYP enzymes, this alteration was not statistically significant.

Although the results of immunoblotting indicate that there might be no change in the protein expression of AhR, the results are limited by the quality of the blot. The overexposed and diffuse nature of the bands, together with relatively high background limit the accuracy of determining the boarders of the protein bands and hence the measurement of optical density. The diffuse nature of the bands could be associated with the presence of post-translational modifications of AhR. Additionally, the anti-AhR antibody used might exhibited some off-target binding, leading to poorer results, or it should be considered that multiple isoforms of the protein exist. In the latter instance the role of these isoforms should be investigated.

3.2.8 Treatment with Sugen 5416 does not Affect the Expression of Other Proteins Involved in the AhR and HIF1α Signalling Pathways

We also examined the expression of AhR, the main receptor mediating the alterations in the expression of CYP1A1 and CYP1B1 enzymes, to determine whether the observed upregulation might be a direct consequence of an increased expression of the AhR gene.

Stimulation of female patient PASMCs with Su5416 did not result in significant changes in the expression of AhR, on gene or protein levels, respectively (Figure 3–19). Nor did we observe any significant changes in the expression of HIF1 β and HIF1 α (Figure 3–20 and Figure 3–21). Equally, treatment with Su5416 did not affect the protein expression levels of PHD2 and vHL, which are involved in the regulation of HIF1 α oxygen-dependent degradation (Figure 3–22 and Figure 3–23). In Nx conditions, PHD2 catalyses hydroxylation of HIF1 α , thereby enabling the binding of a complex formed of vHL and ubiquitin ligase E3 (Kamura et al., 2000). This then leads to poly-ubiquitination of and proteasomal degradation of HIF1 α . In hypoxia, PHD2 is inactive, or its activity is greatly reduced, as the enzyme requires molecular oxygen as its co-factor, therefore, HIF1 α is stabilised due to greatly decreased proteasome-mediated degradation, leading to its accumulation in the nucleus, (Jiang et al., 1996). The role of PHD2 and vHL in HIF1 α signalling pathway were also described in Chapter 1.6.5.

The evaluation of protein expression of HIF1 α and HIF1 β were limited by the low expression levels of these proteins, leading to diffuse bands and higher background, rendering the determination of optical density difficult. Hence, it is difficult to draw solid conclusions regarding whether Su5416 might affect the expression of these two proteins.



Figure 3–16: Expression of CYP1A1 and CYP1B1 at gene level is increased in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female PAH patients after treatment with Sugen 5416 in the presence or absence of AhR antagonist, CH223191.

HPASMCs were quiesced for 24 hours in 0.5% CSS PRF DMEM media. PASMCs were then treated with Sugen 5416 (1µM and 5µM) and CH223191 (30nM and 100nM), which was added 30 minutes before Sugen 5416, in the presence of 1% CSS PRF DMEM. The expression level of *CYP1A1* and *CYP1B1* was assessed by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR. Results were normalised to β -2-microglobulin. N=3–4 per group, in duplicate, **p≤0.001, ***p≤0.001, ****p≤0.0001, One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification.



Figure 3–17: Protein expression of CYP1A1 is increased by stimulation with Sugen 5416 in the presence or absence of AhR antagonist, CH223191, in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female PAH patients.

HPASMCs were quiesced for 24 hours in 0.5% CSS PRF DMEM media. PASMCs were then treated with Sugen 5416 (1 μ M and 5 μ M) and CH223191 (30nM and 100nM), which was added 30 minutes before Sugen 5416, in the presence of 1% CSS PRF DMEM. (A) Protein expression of CYP1A1 were assessed as described previously, with representative immunoblotting image (B). N=3–4 per group, in duplicate, *p<0.05, **p≤0.01, One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as fold-change of Control group±SEM.

A


Figure 3–18: Protein expression of CYP1B1 is increased by stimulation with Sugen 5416 in the presence or absence of AhR antagonist, CH223191, in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female PAH patients.

HPASMCs were quiesced for 24 hours in 0.5% CSS PRF DMEM media. PASMCs were then treated with Sugen 5416 (1 μ M and 5 μ M) and CH223191 (30nM and 100nM), which was added 30 minutes before Sugen 5416, in the presence of 1% CSS PRF DMEM. (A) Protein expression of CYP1B1 were assessed as described previously, with representative immunoblotting image (B). N=4 per group, in duplicate, *p≤<0.01, One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as fold-change of Control group±SEM.

A



Figure 3–19: Expression of any hydrocarbon receptor remains unchanged by stimulation with Sugen 5416 in the presence or absence of AhR antagonist, CH223191, in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female PAH patients.

HPASMCs were quiesced for 24 hours in 0.5% CSS PRF DMEM media. PASMCs were then treated with Sugen 5416 (1µM and 5µM) and CH223191 (30nM and 100nM), which was added 30 minutes before Sugen 5416, in the presence of 1% CSS PRF DMEM. (A) When the expression level of the gene encoding for *AhR* was assessed by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR, the results were normalised to the β -2-microglobulin. N=4 per group, in duplicate, One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-hoc test. (B) Protein expression was assessed by immunoblotting. Data is expressed as fold-change of Control group±SEM or as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification. Representative immunoblot is shown in (C).



Figure 3–20: Protein expression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1β is unaltered by stimulation with Sugen 5416 in the presence or absence of AhR antagonist, CH223191, in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female PAH patients.

HPASMCs were quiesced for 24 hours in 0.5% CSS PRF DMEM media. PASMCs were then treated with Sugen 5416 (1 μ M and 5 μ M) and CH223191 (30nM and 100nM), which was added 30 minutes before Sugen 5416, in the presence of 1% CSS PRF DMEM. N=2–3 per group, in duplicate, One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as fold-change of Control group±SEM. The representative blot shown above was altered to remove Control, 1 μ M and 5 μ M Sugen 5416 treatment groups, otherwise appearing in the position now replaced by vertical line, on the same immunoblot.

А



Figure 3–21: Expression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1a is unaltered by stimulation with Sugen 5416 in the presence of absence of AhR antagonist, CH223191, in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female PAH patients.

HPASMCs were quiesced for 24 hours in 0.5% CSS PRF DMEM media. PASMCs were then treated with Sugen 5416 (1 μ M and 5 μ M) and CH223191 (30nM and 100nM), which was added 30 minutes before Sugen 5416, in the presence of 1% CSS PRF DMEM. N=3 per group, in duplicate, One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as fold-change of Control group±SEM.

Α





HPASMCs were quiesced for 24 hours in 0.5% CSS PRF DMEM media. PASMCs were then treated with Sugen 5416 (1 μ M and 5 μ M) and CH223191 (30nM and 100nM), which was added 30 minutes before Sugen 5416, in the presence of 1% CSS PRF DMEM. N=4 per group, in duplicate, One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as fold-change of Control group±SEM.

Α

B



Figure 3–23: Expression of von Hippel-Lindau tumour factor is unchanged by stimulation with Sugen 5416 in the presence or absence of the AhR antagonist, CH223191, in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female PAH patients. HPASMCs were quiesced for 24 hours in 0.5% CSS PRF DMEM media. PASMCs were then treated with Sugen 5416 (1 μ M and 5 μ M) and CH223191 (30nM and 100nM), which was added 30 minutes before Sugen 5416, in the presence of 1% CSS PRF DMEM. N=3 per group, in duplicate, One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as fold-change of Control group±SEM.

3.2.9 The Expression of Cytochrome P450 1A1 Gene is Significantly Increased Only in Male Hyper-Responsive Animals Treated with Sugen 5416

Recently, it was observed that a specific colony of Sprague Dawley (SD) rats develop severe PAH-like phenotype with a single dose of Su5416 and without subsequent exposure to cHx (Jiang, 2016). The SD-hyper-responsive rats exhibited enhanced mortality at 8 weeks compared to rats of other rat strains and colonies (Jiang, 2016). Interestingly, unlike the Su5416/Hx model in more common rat colonies, the proportion of male rats exhibiting severe phenotype of the disease exceeds that of female rats in SD-hyper-responsive colony (Jiang, 2016). In the following text we have termed SD-typical colony rats as non-responders, as they did not develop severe PAH phenotype after administration of a single dose of Su5416. While we have termed SD-hyper-responsive rats, which have developed severe PAH phenotype with Su5416 alone, as responders.

We have investigated the expression of gene encoding for the *CYP1A1* to assess the level of expression in hyper-responsive animals. The relative quantitation of *CYP1A1* gene was significantly increased in male hyper-responsive group compared to the male animals characterised by normal response to treatment with Su5416 (Figure 3–24). Exposure of female animals to a single dose of Su5416 did not result in significant difference in the relative expression of *CYP1A1* gene. Moreover, no difference between relative quantitation of *CYP1A1* gene between female and male normally responsive animals was observed.



Whole lungs from hyper-responsive and typical Sprague-Dawley rat colonies, of both sexes, treated with a single dose of Su5416, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of CYP1A1 by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR. Results were normalised to β -2-microglobulin. N=4-6 per group in triplicate, **p<0.01, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification.

3.2.10 The Relative Expression of Cytochrome P450 1B1 and Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Repressor is Increased in Male Hyper-Responsive Rats, but not in Female

Unlike the Su5416/Hx animal model of PAH, the treatment of male animals of hyperresponsive SD rat colony with a single dose of Su5416 results in the onset of a severe disease phenotype, without requiring exposure to cHx. As the expression of *CYP1B1* was previously reported to be increased in cHx and Su5416/Hx animal models, and CYP1B1 is considered as an important modulator of PAH development and progression, we wished to determine whether the expression of this gene is altered in animals who exhibit enhanced sensitivity to treatment with Su5416. We observed that the *CYP1B1* mRNA expression was significantly increased in whole lungs from male animals exhibiting hyper-responsive character, while the increase in female hyper-responsive animals us not significant (Figure 3–25). No difference between normally responsive animals to Su5416 of both sexes was observed, while hyper-responsive males exhibited significantly higher gene expression level as hyperresponsive females (Figure 3–25).

To determine whether the AhR signalling pathway may be ubiquitously activated in animals who exhibit hyper-responsive character for Su5416 treatment, we also aimed to assess the *AhRR* gene expression levels, as this gene is not normally expressed. The levels of *AhRR* gene in whole lung samples from male animals that develop a severe PAH-like phenotype in the absence of cHx was significantly higher than in male animals, that are characterised as normally responsive to Su5416 (Figure 3–26).



Figure 3–25: The relative expression of the gene encoding the CYP1B1 is increased in whole lungs from male hyper-responsive rats.

Whole lungs from hyper-responsive and typical Sprague-Dawley rat colonies, of both sexes, treated with a single dose of Su5416, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of *CYP1B1* by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR. Results were normalised to β -2-microglobulin. N=3-6 per group in triplicate, *p<0.05, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as RQ $\pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification.





Whole lungs from hyper-responsive and typical Sprague-Dawley rat colonies, of both sexes, treated with a single dose of Su5416, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of *AhRR* by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR. Results were normalised to the β -2-microglobulin. N=3-6 per group in triplicate, *p<0.05, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as RQ $\pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification.

3.2.11 The Expression of the Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor is Higher in Female Rats Exhibiting Hyper-Responsive Character to Sugen 5416 Treatment Compared to their Male Counterparts

Considering, the expression of *CYP1A1* and *CYP1B1* were increased in male rats exhibiting hyper-responsive phenotype to treatment with Su5416, we determined the relative expression of the *AhR* gene in these samples to show whether male animals, which developed severe disease-like phenotype also exhibited increased expression of the *AhR* gene, responsible for the induction of these genes. The relative expression of the *AhR* as per Real-Time Quantitative PCR was significantly higher in female animals, which were characterised as hyper-responsive to Su5416 compared to hyper-responsive male animals (Figure 3–27).



Figure 3–27: The relative expression of the gene encoding the aryl hydrocarbon receptor is increased in whole lungs from female hyper-responsive rats.

Whole lungs from hyper-responsive and typical Sprague-Dawley rat colonies, of both sexes, treated with a single dose of Su5416, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of *AhR* by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR. Results were normalised to β -2-microglobulin. N=4–6 per group in triplicate, *p<0.05, ***p≤0.001, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification.

3.2.12 The Expression of ARNT (HIF1β) is Increased Only in Female Rats Exhibiting Hyper-Responsive Character to Sugen 5416

The AhR is only capable of mediating the alterations in the gene expression of its target genes when coupled with the ARNT (HIF1 β). Moreover, a crosstalk between the AhR and HIF1 α signalling pathways exists, where the ARNT (HIF1 β) also serves as binding partner for HIF1α. A diagram of the cross talk between the mentioned pathways is shown in Chapter 1.6.5. Importantly, the latter exhibits higher binding affinity for the ARNT (HIF1β) compared to AhR. Therefore, we examined the relative gene expression of the ARNT $(HIF1\beta)$ in normally responsive animals and animals exhibiting a hyper-responsive character, of both sexes. The relative gene expression of ARNT (HIF1 β) was significantly increased in female hyper-responsive animals compared to their normally responsive female controls (Figure 3–28). In male hyper-responsive animals, the relative expression of ARNT (*HIF1* β) was not altered when compared to males, which have normal response to Su5416 treatment. Moreover, the relative expression of ARNT (HIF1 β) in normally responsive female animals was significantly lower than in corresponding male animals (Figure 3–28). The increased expression of ARNT (HIF1 β) could be associated with increased number of male animals form the SD colony, which exhibit hyper-responsive character to Su5416 stimulation.

No change was observed in the expression of HIF1 α (Figure 3–29) and NQO1 (Figure 3–30) between hyper-responsive and normally responsive.



Figure 3–28: The relative expression of the gene encoding the aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator protein (HIF1 β) is increased in whole lungs from female hyper-responsive rats.

Whole lungs from hyper-responsive and typical Sprague-Dawley rat colonies, of both sexes, treated with a single dose of Su5416, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of *ARNT* (*HIF1β*) by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR. Results were normalised to β -2-microglobulin. N=4–6 per group in triplicate, *p<0.05, One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification.



Figure 3–29: The relative expression of the gene encoding the hypoxia-inducible factor 1α in whole lungs derived from hyper-responsive rats of both sexes is unaltered.

Whole lungs from hyper-responsive and typical Sprague-Dawley rat colonies, of both sexes, treated with a single dose of Su5416, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of *HIF1a* by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR. Results were normalised to β -2-microglobulin. N=4–6 per group in triplicate, One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification.



Figure 3–30: The relative expression of NAD(P)H quinone dehydrogenase 1 in the whole lungs from hyper-responsive rats of both sexes is unchanged. Samples of whole lungs from hyper-responsive and typical Sprague Dawley rat colonies of both sexes, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of *NQO1* by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR. Results were normalised to β -2-microglobulin. N=3–6 per group in triplicate, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification.

3.2.13 Male Rats Treated with Sugen 5416 and Chronic Hypoxia Exhibit Higher Levels of the Regulators of Hydroxylation-Dependent Proteasome-Mediated Degradation of HIF1α

We previously discussed that we observed increased whole lung CYP1A1 expression at gene and protein level in Su5416/Hx-treated rats. Additionally, we looked at the expression of AhR and CYP1B1 in these animals. We have found no difference in the expression of AhR, however CYP1B1 expression was increased in treated animals of both sexes, with significantly higher levels in male treated animals compared to females.

Moreover, we investigated the levels of proteins involved in HIF1 α signalling pathway, due to the crosstalk between both signalling pathways (diagram is shown in Chapter 1.6.5). We found that HIF1 α was significantly increased in female Su5416/Hx-treated animals compared to Nx females, probably due to exposure to Hx. Interestingly, the levels of HIF1 α in male Nx animals were significantly higher than in their female counterparts (Figure 3–31A). Nonetheless, no difference exists between Su5416/Hx-treated males and their Nx controls. When examining the expression of PHD2 and vHL, which are both involved in the regulation of hydroxylation-dependent proteasome-mediated degradation of HIF1 α (see Figure 1–19), we discovered that Nx male animals exhibited higher levels of vHL compared to female rats kept in Nx conditions (Figure 3–31C). The levels of vHL in male treated animals are also significantly higher than those in treated females. The only significant difference in the expression of PHD2 was observed in male Su5416/Hx-treated animals compared to their female counterparts, where the expression in males was significantly higher than in females (Figure 3–31B).



Figure 3–31: Prolyl hydroxylase 2 and von Hippel-Lindau tumour suppressor expression is increased in whole lungs from male rats treated with Sugen 5416 and chronic hypoxia.

Samples of whole lungs from Wistar Kyoto rats, of both sexes, treated with single dose of Sugen 5416 and exposed to hypoxia and their normoxic controls, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of *HIF1a*, *PHD2* and *vHL* by immunoblotting (A, B, C) with representative images shown in (D). Results were normalised to the β Actin. N=3–4 per group in duplicate, **p≤0.001, ***p≤0.001, One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as mean±SEM.

3.2.14 Relative Expression of Hypoxia-Inducible Factor β in Pulmonary Arterial Smooth Muscle Cells Derived from Female Patients

The level of expression of HIF1 α and β have not yet been examined in hPASMCs derived from control and PAH patients of both sexes. We therefore assessed the expression in unstimulated protein samples. The results indicate the expression of HIF1 β could be significantly higher in female PAH patients compared to controls (Figure 3–32). However, due to high background and apparent low expression levels of HIF1 β , it is only warranted to report an observational trend based on accumulative results of repeating the experiment on different occasions. As due to poorer quality of the HIF1 β blot, the unequal loading could result in artificially increased expression.

The quantitation of expression level of the gene encoding HIF1 α showed no difference between hPASMCs derived from control and patient subjects of both sexes (Figure 3–33A). However, when we examined the expression at protein level, we observed significant increase in HIF1 α in hPASMCs derived from female PAH patients compared to controls (Figure 3–33B, C).



Figure 3–32: Expression of ARNT (HIF1 β) is increased in unstimulated human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derived from female PAH patients.

HPASMCs were grown to reach approximately 80% confluence in 10% FBS DMEM media. PASMCs were then washed with ice-cold PBS and protein samples were collected and prepared as previously described. N=3–4 per group, in duplicate, *p<0.05, **p \leq 0.01, One-Way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as mean \pm SEM.



female PAH patients.

HPASMCs were grown to reach approximately 80% confluence in 10% FBS DMEM media. PASMCs were then washed with ice-cold PBS and samples were collected and prepared as previously described to assess gene (A) and protein (B) expression levels. For assessment of gene HIF1a expression by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR, results were normalised to β -2-microglobulin expression level. N=3–5 per group, in duplicate, *p<0.05, **p≤0.01, One-Way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification. HIF1 α expression at protein level was assessed using immunoblotting (B). N=3–5 per group, in duplicate, *p<0.05, unpaired t-test. Data is expressed as mean±SEM. Representative image of immunoblotting is provided in (C).

3.2.15 Chronic Hypoxia Elicits Significant Changes in Relative Quantitation of Genes Involved in Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor and Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1α Signalling Pathways in Female, But Not in Male Rats

In whole lungs from male SD rats exposed to cHx alone, the relative expression of *AhR* was significantly reduced compared to their Nx controls. When female rats exposed to cHx alone were compared to their Nx controls, no difference in the level of *AhR* expression was observed (Figure 3–34). However, the relative quantitation of *HIF1β* (*ARNT*) expression was significantly increased in female animals exposed to cHx compared to Nx controls (Figure 3–35). And while no significant difference was observed in male animals, we demonstrated that relative expression of *HIF1β* (*ARNT*) in male rats exposed to cHx alone was significantly less than in equally treated female animals (Figure 3–35).

Due to the possible crosstalk between the AhR and HIF1 α signalling pathways, we also examined the relative quantitation of *HIF1\alpha* gene expression in the whole lungs. We determined that only in female rats exposed to cHx alone, the relative quantitation of *HIF1\alpha* gene expression was significantly increased compared to Nx controls (Figure 3–36). Interestingly, exposure to cHx did not elicit a significant change in *HIF1\alpha* gene expression in males.



Figure 3–34: The relative expression of the gene encoding the aryl hydrocarbon receptor is decreased in whole lungs from male rats exposed to chronic hypoxia for 28 days

Samples of whole lung of Sprague-Dawley rats, of both sexes, exposed to chronic hypoxia or normoxia for 28 days, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of *AhR* by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR. Results were normalised to β -2-microglobulin. N=4-6 per group in triplicate, **p≤0.01, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification.



Figure 3–35: The relative expression of the gene encoding the HIF1 β (ARNT)was only increased in whole lungs from female rats exposed to chronic hypoxia for 28 days.

Samples of whole lung of Sprague-Dawley rats, of both sexes, exposed to chronic hypoxia or normoxia for 28 days, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of *HIF1β (ARNT)* by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR. Results were normalised to β -2-microglobulin. N=4–6 per group in triplicate, **p≤0.01, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification.



Figure 3–36: The relative expression of the gene encoding the HIF1a was only increased in whole lungs from female rats exposed to chronic hypoxia for 28 days.

Samples of whole lung of Sprague-Dawley rats, of both sexes, exposed to chronic hypoxia or normoxia for 28 days, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of *HIF1a* by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR. Results were normalised to β -2-microglobulin. N=4–6 per group in triplicate, **p≤0.01, One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification.

3.2.16 Male Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells Derived from PAH Patients Exhibit Higher Expression Levels of Proteins Regulating the Hydroxylation-Dependent Proteasome-Mediated Degradation of Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1α Signalling Pathway, Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor and its Repressor

To determine whether the expression of proteins involved in the AhR and HIF1α signalling pathways are altered in diseased condition, we compared the basal levels of expression in protein samples derived from control and patient hPASMCs, of both sexes. We determined that in male hPASMCs the expression of AhR is increased in PAH patients compared to controls (Figure 3–37). Equally, basal expression of AhRR at protein level was also increased in male PAH patients compared to male controls (Figure 3–38). While, the basal expression of CY1B1, an important modulator of PAH onset and development, was found to be increased in female and male patient hPASMCs compared to suitable controls (Figure 3–40), no significant difference was observed for CYP1A1 (Figure 3–39).

When examining the basal level of expression of regulators of hydroxylation-dependent proteasome-mediated degradation of HIF1 α (PHD2 and vHL), we observed that observed that PHD2 and vHL expression was increased in male patient PASMCs but decreased in female patient PASMCs (Figure 3–41 and Figure 3–42).



Figure 3–37: In human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from male PAH patients, the basal expression of aryl hydrocarbon receptor is increased at protein level.

HPASMCs were grown to reach approximately 80% confluence in 10% FBS DMEM media. PASMCs were then washed with ice-cold PBS, and protein samples were collected and prepared as previously described. N=3–5 per group, in duplicate. ** $p\leq0.01$, unpaired t-test. Data is expressed as mean±SEM.



Figure 3–38: The basal expression of anyl hydrocarbon receptor repressor in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from male PAH patients, is increased at protein level.

HPASMCs were grown to reach approximately 80% confluence in 10% FBS DMEM media. PASMCs were then washed with ice-cold PBS, and protein samples were collected and prepared as previously described. N=3-6 per group, in duplicate. *p<0.05, unpaired t-test. Data is expressed as mean \pm SEM.



Figure 3–39: The basal expression of cytochrome P450 1B1 level in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from male and female PAH patients, is not altered at protein level.

HPASMCs were grown to reach approximately 80% confluence in 10% FBS DMEM media. PASMCs were then washed with ice-cold PBS, and protein samples were collected and prepared as previously described. N=3-6 per group, in duplicate. unpaired t-test. Data is expressed as mean \pm SEM.



Figure 3–40: The basal expression of cytochrome P450 1B1 in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from male and female PAH patients, is increased at protein level.

HPASMCs were grown to reach approximately 80% confluence in 10% FBS DMEM media. PASMCs were then washed with ice-cold PBS, and protein samples were collected and prepared as previously described. N=3–6 per group, in duplicate. *p<0.05, ** $p\leq0.01$, unpaired t-test. Data is expressed as mean±SEM.



Figure 3–41: The basal expression of prolyl hydroxylase 2 in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from male PAH patients, is increased at protein level.

HPASMCs were grown to reach approximately 80% confluence in 10% FBS DMEM media. PASMCs were then washed with ice-cold PBS, and protein samples were collected and prepared as previously described. N=3–6 per group, in duplicate. *p<0.05, unpaired t-test. Data is expressed as mean±SEM.



Figure 3–42: The basal expression of von Hippel-Lindau tumour suppressor in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from male PAH patients, is increased at protein level.

HPASMCs were grown to reach approximately 80% confluence in 10% FBS DMEM media. PASMCs were then washed with ice-cold PBS, and protein samples were collected and prepared as previously described. N=3–6 per group, in duplicate. *p<0.05, $**p\leq0.01$, unpaired t-test. Data is expressed as mean±SEM.

3.2.17 Male Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells Derived from Control Patients Exhibit Lower Levels of Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1β and Cytochrome P450 1B1 than Female Cell Lines

The AhR and HIF1 α signalling pathways both appear to be involved in the onset of disease phenotype in PAH (Dean et al., 2017;Ray et al., 2008). Although, we have observed no difference in the expression of AhR (Figure 3–43 and Figure 3–44) and HIF1 α in hPASMCs, there was a significant difference in the expression of ARNT (HIF1 β). The expression of CYP1A1 did not differ between female and male control hPASMCs, possibly due to its inducible nature. Significantly less CYP1B1 was expressed in male control hPASMCs compared to female counterparts (Figure 3–43 and Figure 3–44). No significant difference in the expression of PHD2 and vHL was observed (Figure 3–43 and Figure 3–44).



Figure 3–43: In human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from male control patients, the basal expression of cytochrome P450 1B1 and hypoxiainducible factor 1 \u03b3 is decreased.

HPASMCs were grown to reach approximately 80% confluence in 10% FBS DMEM media. PASMCs were then washed with ice-cold PBS and protein samples were collected and prepared as previously described. N=3–6 per group, in duplicate, *p<0.05, unpaired t-test. Data is expressed as mean±SEM.



Figure 3–44: Representative immunoblot images of basal expression levels of proteins involved in AhR and HIF1a signalling pathways in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derived from controls.

HPASMCs were grown to reach approximately 80% confluence in 10% FBS DMEM media. PASMCs were then washed with ice-cold PBS, and protein samples were collected and prepared as previously described. N=3-6 per group, in duplicate.
3.2.18 Male Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells Derived from Clinical Patients Exhibit Higher Levels of Aryl Hydrocarbon receptor, and Proteins Involved in the Regulation of Oxygen-Dependent Degradation of Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1α

The expression of the mediators of AhR and HIF1 α signalling pathways have not been assessed in terms of protein expression in female and male patient hPASMCs to determine whether a sex-related difference exists. A possible sex dimorphism might contribute to the higher penetrance of the disease in female population (Ling et al., 2012;Escribano-Subias et al., 2012).

No significant difference in the expression of HIF1 α and 1 β was observed between samples derived from female and male hPASMCs derived from PAH patients (Figure 3–45 and Figure 3–46). Moreover, the expression of CYP1A1 and CYP1B1 did not differ between male and female PAH patients (Figure 3–45 and Figure 3–46). However, significant differences were observed in the protein expression of AhR, vHL and PHD2, with significantly more protein expressed in male PAH patient hPASMCs compared to female counterparts (Figure 3–45 and Figure 3–46).





HPASMCs were grown to reach approximately 80% confluence in 10% FBS DMEM media. PASMCs were then washed with ice-cold PBS and protein samples were collected and prepared as previously described. N=3–5 per group, in duplicate, p<0.05, p<0.01, unpaired t-test. Data is expressed as mean±SEM.



Figure 3–46: Representative immunoblot images of basal expression levels of proteins involved in AhR and HIF1a signalling pathways in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from patients.

HPASMCs were grown to reach approximately 80% confluence in 10% FBS DMEM media. PASMCs were then washed with ice-cold PBS, and protein samples were collected and prepared as previously described. N=3-5 per group, in duplicate.

3.2.19 The Expression of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor 2 is Significantly Decreased in Sugen 5416/Hypoxia-Treated Female Rats

As Su5416 is a known selective inhibitor of the VEGF receptor 1/2. We investigated VEGFR2, for which Su5416 exhibits the greatest affinity, is expressed in whole lungs of Su5416/Hx model. For clarity, VEGFR isoforms 1 and 2 were previously known as Flk-1 and Kdr.

We observed that the relative expression level of Kdr gene is decreased in female rats, treated with a single dose of Su5416 and exposed to cHx, compared to Nx controls (Figure 3–47A), while in male animals no significant changes were observed. Equally, using immunoblotting technique we showed that at protein level, the expression of VEGFR2 was decreased in Su5416/Hx-treated female animals compared to their Nx controls (Figure 3–47B, C).



Figure 3–47: Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 in whole lung from Sugen 5416 model.

Samples of whole lung of Sprague-Dawley rats, of both sexes, treated with single dose of Sugen 5416 and exposed to hypoxia and their normoxic controls, were prepared, as described previously, to assess the expression level of *VEGFR2* by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR (A). Results were normalised to β -2-microglobulin. N=4–6 per group in triplicate, *p<0.05, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification. The level of VEGFR2 (Kdr) protein expression was assessed using immunoblotting (B). N=3–6 per group in duplicate, *p<0.05, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Representative immunoblotting image is shown in (C).

3.2.20 The Effects of Sugen 5416 in Control Human Microvascular Endothelial Cells

The disruption of vascular endothelium, resulting in endothelial dysregulation, leads to increased vascular tone due to imbalance in the production of vasoactive compounds favouring vasoconstriction, as well as dysregulated proliferation and growth of SMCs due to alterations in molecules influencing proliferative pathways in these cells (Peiro et al., 1995). Several research groups have reported the imperative role of endothelium in the onset of PAH-like phenotype in animal models (Taraseviciene-Stewart et al., 2001;Ciuclan et al., 2011). In the Su5416/Hx model of PAH, early transient apoptosis of ECs is closely associated with the onset of experimental phenotype (Ciuclan et al., 2011) and expansion of apoptosis-resistant sub-population of ECs (Jurasz et al., 2010).

As previous studies reported the effects of Su5416 on ECs in whole lungs derived from animals exposed to Su5416/Hx, we aimed to investigate its effects in control human microvascular ECs. We assessed apoptosis of ECs by cell number and immunoblotting quantification of active Caspase 3. We have observed no significant difference between treatment with 2% CSS and 2% CSS with DMSO, indicating the percentage of DMSO added to deliver treatments did not affect the overall cell number. The number of cells was significantly reduced in 0.1% CSS and 100 μ M resveratrol treated cells, serving as positive control groups for apoptosis compared to 2% CSS (Figure 3–48A, B). In the negative control group, where ECs were exposed to endothelial cell growth medium MV SupplementMix, the number of cells was significantly increased compared to control group. The decrease in cell number in Su5416 treatment groups appeared to be dose related, with significant effect observed only in 1 μ M Su5416 treatment group (Figure 3–48A, B). FICZ, a potent AhR pathway activator, induced a significant decrease in cell number only at the concentration of 50nM (Figure 3–48A).

Treatment of ECs with positive control for apoptosis, 100μM resveratrol, resulted in significantly increased cleaved Caspase 3, while there was no significant difference in the growth medium treatment group, serving as negative control, compared to 2% CSS treated cells. Moreover, the treatment of ECs with FICZ also resulted in significantly increased proportion of cleaved Caspase 3 (Figure 3–48B). Stimulation of ECs with 1μM and 5μM Su5416 resulted in significantly increased cleavage of Caspase 3 compared to the 2% CSS control group (Figure 3–48B). Administration of 16αOHE1 *in vivo* in mice has been

previously shown to inflict a PH phenotype only in female animals (White et al., 2012;Johansen, 2014). We therefore wanted to determine whether the observed changes in the haemodynamic and remodelling parameters could be preceded by endothelial injury. Pro-apoptotic signalling as per increased active Caspase 3 was also observed upon exposure of ECs to 1nM 16 α OHE1, but not 100nM 16 α OHE1 (Figure 3–48B).

3.2.21 The Proliferation of Human Pulmonary Arterial Smooth Muscle Cells in Normoxic Conditions is Not Affected by Sugen 5416

During the onset and progression of PAH, the vascular wall of the distal non-muscular vessels of the pulmonary circulation gradually becomes thickened and muscularised (Barst et al., 2011) either through i) differentiation of pericytes and/or and fibroblasts, into SMCs, followed by their subsequent proliferation and hypertrophy (Tuder et al., 2007; Rabinovitch, 2012) or ii) the transition of SMCs phenotype from contractile to synthetic and/or proliferative phenotype, where the metabolic pathways regulating SMCs proliferation, migration and apoptosis, e.g RhoA/ROCK (Barst et al., 2011; Chan and Loscalzo, 2008; Sheikh et al., 2014) are dysregulated. There was extensive vascular muscularisation and significantly increased percentage of fully muscularised vessels in the lungs of their murine Su5416/Hx model compared to control group, or groups of animals exposed to Hx or Su5416 alone(Ciuclan et al., 2011).

To determine whether 48-hour stimulation with Su5416 affects the proliferation of SMCs, we have assessed the effects of stimulation with (100nM, 500nM, 1 μ M and 5 μ M) Su5416 in SMCs in Nx conditions by cell counting. We have compared the cell number in treatment groups to 1% CSS with 0.5% (v/v) DMSO. The culturing of cells in the presence of 10% CSS resulted in significantly increased number of cells, indicating increased proliferation. However, over a wide range of Su5416 concentration, we did not observe a statistically significant change in the cell number of SMCs compared to control group (Figure 3–49).



Figure 3–48: The Effects of Sugen5416 stimulation in human microvascular endothelial cells.

Samples of human pulmonary microvascular ECs derived from a female control subject, treated with Su5416(500nM–5 μ M), FICZ (5–50nM) and 16 α OHE1 (1nM and 10nM), were prepared as described previously, to assess the cell number using automatic cell counter (A) and the level of protein expression of activated cleaved Caspase 3 (B) with representative visualisation shown in (C). Results of protein expression were normalised to the total Caspase 3. N=4 per group in duplicate, ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p≤0.05, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as mean±SEM.

Α



Figure 3–49: In normoxic conditions, Sugen 5416 does not increase proliferation pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derived from females diagnosed with pulmonary arterial hypertension.

HPASMCs from female patients were quiesced for 24 hours in 0.5% CSS PRF DMEM media. Cells were incubated with a range of concentrations of Su5416. Experiments were conducted in the presence of 1% CSS PRF DMEM media. Cell number was assessed after 48 hours by haemocytometer. N=4 per group in triplicate, *** $p \le 0.001$, ** $p \le 0.01$. One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as percentage of 1% CSS +DMSO control ± SEM.

3.2.22 The Proliferation of Human Pulmonary Arterial Smooth Muscle Cells in Hypoxic Conditions is Increased by Sugen 5416

Animals treated with Su5416 only develop severe phenotype of PAH when exposed to cHx, while only a moderate phenotype is observed in animals in Nx conditions.

We have carried out preliminary experiments assessing the suitability of time points to determine the effects of Su5416 stimulation in ECs in Hx. To summarise, upon stimulation with Su5416, cells were placed in a Hx incubator chamber in sterile conditions. The chamber was then flushed with gas mixture containing lowered atmospheric oxygen tension (1% O2, 5% CO2 (v/v)) and placed in the incubator. This procedure was repeated every 24 hours. Out of the three time-points considered, at 24 (Figure 3–50A) and 72 hours (Figure 3–50B), stimulation with Su5416 either did not result in significant alterations in cell number, or resulted in drastically reduced cell number, indicating cellular death due to prolonged exposure to Hx. Therefore, all further experiments were considered at 48-hour time-point.

As in Nx conditions, culturing SMCs in the presence of 10% CSS prompted a significant increase in the cell number, indicating increased proliferation of these cells compared to the control group. In cHx, treatment with Su5416 elicited a concentration-dependent increase in cell number, with 1µM resulting in statistically significant changes in cellular proliferation (Figure 3–51).





HPASMCs from female patients were quiesced for 24 hours in 0.50% CSS PRF DMEM media. Cells were incubated with a range of concentrations of Su5416 and exposed to hypoxia for 24 (A) and 72 (B) hours, respectively. Experiments were conducted in the presence of 1% CSS PRF DMEM media. Cell number was assessed after 48 hours by haemocytometer. N=4 per group in triplicate, *** $p \le 0.001$, ** $p \le 0.01$, *p < 0.05. One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as percentage of 1% CSS +DMSO control ± SEM.

A



Figure 3–51: Stimulation with Sugen 5416 in hypoxia $(0.1\% O_2, 5\% CO_2)$ increased proliferation of pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derived from females diagnosed with pulmonary arterial hypertension.

HPASMCs from female patients were quiesced for 24 hours in 0.50% CSS PRF DMEM media. Cells were incubated with a range of concentrations of Su5416. Experiments were conducted in the presence of 1% CSS PRF DMEM media. Cell number was assessed after 48 hours by haemocytometer. N=4 per group in triplicate, ***p \leq 0.001, **p \leq 0.01, *p<0.05. One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as percentage of 1% CSS +DMSO control ± SEM.

3.2.23 Sugen 5416 Increased Localisation of the Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor in the Nucleus in Female Patient Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells

In the absence of a suitable ligand, the inactive AhR is localised in the cytoplasm, where it is bound to accessory proteins, which keep the receptor in a conformation capable of binding a suitable ligand (see Figure 1–18). Upon receptor's activation, the ligand-bound receptor is translocated into the nucleus, where it encounters and binds to the ARNT (HIF1 β), thereby forming the transcriptionally active complex, resulting in the induction of target genes. To determine whether stimulation of hPASMCs with Su5416 might result in the activation of the AhR, we have examined the expression of AhR in nuclear and cytoplasmic fraction utilising the REAP protocol.

We have observed that exposure of hPASMCs derived from female patients to Su5416 elicited increased expression of AhR in the nuclear fraction (Figure 3–52A). A significant difference in AhR expression between cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions was recorded at 90 minutes (Figure 3–52A). Our results indicate that at short time-points, stimulation with Su5416 directly resulted in the translocation of the AhR from cytoplasm to the nucleus.



Figure 3–52: Nuclear translocation of aryl hydrocarbon receptor in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells following time-dependent stimulation with $1\mu M$ Sugen 5416.

HPASMCs from female patients were washed with ice-cold PBS solution and incubated with 1 μ M Sugen5416 as indicated. Experiments were conducted in the presence of 1% CSS PRF DMEM media. Protein samples were prepared according to the REAP fractionation protocol. N=3 in duplicate, *p<0.05. Two-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as fold-change to Veh±SEM.

А

3.3 Discussion

The evidence for the underlying reasons for the prevailing occurrence of PAH in females is still limited. However, recently emerging literature is supportive of a causative role of oestrogens and their altered metabolism in females (Rajkumar et al., 2010;White et al., 2011a;White et al., 2012;Mair et al., 2014). The pathogenesis of PAH in humans is characterised by numerous cofounding molecular processes, resulting in a disease, whose complex mechanism and novel therapeutic approaches are difficult to investigate. Thus, numerous animal models were developed to explore the individual contributions of these processes. Experimental models which recapitulate the important hallmarks of PAH, such as the Su5416/Hx model, are becoming the gold standard in the field of PAH research. The mechanism responsible for the development of Su5416/Hx experimental phenotype are still largely unknown. This work provides an understanding of the mechanisms driving the experimental PH in the Su5416/Hx animal model.

3.3.1**CYP1A1 in Animal Models of Pulmonary Arterial** Hypertension

A significant upregulation of the gene encoding for the inducible oestrogen-metabolising enzyme *CYP1A1* was observed and considering that altered oestrogen metabolism was associated with the development of experimental and clinical PAH, we aimed to determine whether its expression might exhibit sex- or disease-related expression patterns. The relative expression of *CYP1A1* in clinical samples of *Smad1* heterozygous female mice and cHx animals of both sexes was significantly reduced. In samples derived from hPASMCs, however, the determination of *CYP1A1* gene expression was less reliable, probably due to more marginal expression of the enzyme in these cells and larger variability in the stability of housekeeper gene. Interestingly, the expression of *CPY1A1* in whole lungs from Su5416/Hx model was significantly increased in male and female animals. Our observations were consistent with previous reports that prior exposure to Hx greatly hindered AhR signalling induced by receptor activator 3,3',4,4',5-pentachlorobiphenyl (PCB 126) in human hepatocytes (Vorrink et al., 2014). Albeit the reduction in *CYP1A1* transcription was reported to be independent of HIF1 α signalling in these cells (Allen et al., 2005). Nonetheless, microarray analysis in breast cancer cell line MCF7 indicated that the expression of *CYP1A1* in these cells might be increased in Hx with unknown underlying mechanism (Elvidge et al., 2006).

We therefore wished to determine why CYP1A1 expression was highly increased in the Su5416/Hx model, considering it was largely decreased in other experimental PH models. Recent report on the reversal of experimental PAH by metformin revealed that the hypoglycaemic drug mediates a decrease in the circulating levels of oestrogen and its metabolites by decreasing the expression of aromatase, CYP1B1 and the transcription factor affecting the expression of the latter enzyme, the AhR. CYP1A1 gene expression was considerably more than that of CYP1B1, in female and male animals, respectively. This is likely to be due to the fact that CYP1B1 is constitutively expressed whilst CYP1A1 is an inducible enzyme and not normally expressed at significant levels. Therefore, the expression of CYP1A1 is the most sensitive marker for AhR activation (Taraseviciene-Stewart et al., 2001). Although an increase in AhR expression was previously reported (Dean et al., 2016), we did not note such changes in the expression of AhR in animals with established Su5416/Hx-induced PAH phenotype. We hypothesised that the mechanism of Su5416/Hxinduced experimental PH might involve the activation of the AhR signalling pathway, as Su5416 was shown to activate AhR, and the corresponding murine receptor isoforms, with a potency comparable to that of TCDD (Mezrich et al., 2012). The regulation of the localisation of a ligand-activated transcription factor is a highly dynamic process, involving a mechanism associated with stabilisation of the receptors and retention in the cytoplasm, as well as its transport to the nucleus. The transportation of AhR between the cytoplasm and the nucleus was shown to occur also in the absence of an exogenous ligand (Richter et al., 2001). However, in the presence of an exogenous ligand, the import of AhR to the nucleus is significantly increased, without stopping nuclear export of the receptor (Richter et al., 2001). Hence, the binding of a suitable ligand, leading to enhanced receptor translocation to nucleus, might be important, and the increase in expression of the receptors might not be required for its enhanced transcriptional activity.

To determine whether the AhR signalling pathway may be activated in animals with established experimental disease phenotype, we have assessed the expression of several downstream target genes, such as the *AhRR* and *NQO1*, both of which have been found to be significantly increased in the lungs from Su5416/Hx animals. While the increment in the expression of *AhRR* gene was similar in magnitude of *CYP1A1*, the magnitude of change in the expression of *NQO1* was significantly lower. In the cHx animal model, we observed that

the *NQO1* gene was significantly reduced in male animals exposed to cHx alone when compared to their female counterparts. This might indicate that Hx might interfere with the induction of AhR signalling, as previously reported (Vorrink et al., 2014).

We demonstrated that several of the transcription target genes of the AhR signalling pathway are induced in the Su5416/Hx model, therefore we were interested to determine the effects of Su5416 compound in the *in vitro* model of hPASMCs. The importance of the use of *in* vitro models in research became increasingly significant, since the care for welfare of animals in research has become stringently regulated by the government and criticised by the public. We reduced the number of animals studied by carrying out all expression experiments in the lungs of animals used for previous studies. As an innovative approach to understanding the mechanism behind the Su5416/Hx-induced experimental PAH, we employed our established in vitro model, where we have stimulated hPASMCs derived from female control and clinical patients and assessed the expression of AhR target genes involved in oestrogen metabolism. We showed that in both cases, stimulation with Su5416 resulted in significant increase in protein and gene expression of CYP1A1. The observed increase in CYP1A1 expression, however, was significantly larger than that observed with CYP1B1. Moreover, the assessment of CYP1B1 expression was hindered by the selection of available antibodies, which did not give reliable and precise results. Where possible, monoclonal antibodies were utilised, however, due to existence of different CYP isoforms, several bands were shown, despite taking great care to optimise the protocol. We have analysed the bands, which corresponded closely to the molecular weight specified by the provider. Nonetheless, the observed difference might be attributed to the inducible nature of CYP1A1, while CYP1B1 an inducible and constitutively expressed forms of exist (Eltom et al., 1999). Interestingly, changes in the expression of CYP1B1 due to gene induction, through activation of AhR by 3MC, was only observed at protein level (McFadyen et al., 2003), which corresponds with our observations in female control hPASMCs. Our published findings indicate that in Nx rats CPY1A1 was expressed mainly in the PA endothelium, while in Su5416/Hx-treated animals the expression was also detected in the medial layer of small PAs (Dean et al., 2017). It appeared that Su5416 administration influenced CYP1A1 expression in the Su5416/Hx model. When hPASMCs were pre-treated with an AhR antagonist, CH223191, prior to stimulation with Su5416, to determine whether the observed changes in the expression of oestrogen metabolising enzymes occurs through activation of the AhR, the effects in protein expression were reversed, but only in female hPASMCs derived from control subjects. This observation could be associated with reported increased expression of AhR in female cell lines derived from clinical patients (Dean et al., 2016). We found that AhR expression was not changed by Su5416, specifically in hPASMCs. However, as previously discussed, it is possible that an increase in AhR expression is not required for the reported increase in the induction of CYP1A1 and CYP1B1 (Dean et al., 2017), as receptors' activation might be sufficient to confer the changes in transcription of target genes. We were interested in the effects Su5416 of on expression of ARNT (HIF1B), and mediators involved in Hx-inducible signalling pathway (HIF1a, PHD2 and vHL). This is of interest as there is possible crosstalk between the two pathways. Overexpression of ARNT (HIF1β) can alleviate Hx-induced decrease in CYP1A1 expression (Vorrink et al., 2014). Therefore, we wanted to determine whether activation of the AhR pathway by Su5416 might affect its expression in hPASMCs. We found that Su5416 did not change the expression of ARNT (HIF1 β) in hPASMCs. Equally, we assessed the expression of PHD2 and vHL, which are vital in the regulation of proteasome-mediated degradation of HIF1 α in Nx. If Su5416 increased the expression of PHD2 and vHL in Nx, this could also affect the degradation of HIF1a in Hx, thereby enhancing the induction of AhR-regulated gene expression. No change in the expression of PHD2, vHL and HIF1 α by Su5416 in Nx was observed. In Hx conditions, however, we previously reported that Su5416 reduced the levels of HIF1 α in cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions (Dean et al., 2017), showing also AhR signalling pathway might interfere with the induction of Hx-inducible genes.

3.3.2AhR Signalling in Rat Colony Exhibiting Hyper-Responsiveness to Sugen 5416 Exposure

The establishment of experimental PH in Su5416/Hx model was closely related to exposure of animals to cHx, as otherwise animals would only develop a moderate disease phenotype. However, a specific SD rat colony discovered in Canada developed a severe PAH phenotype when treated only with a single dose of Su5416, without the exposure to cHx (Jiang, 2016). The genetic background of rat strain played an important role in the response of animals to Su5416 treatment. Hyper-responsive animals exhibited increased haemodynamic and vascular remodelling parameters compared to typical SD strain and other commonly available rat strains (such as Lewis and Fischer rats), as assessed by RVSP and RV/(LV+S) parameters (Jiang, 2016). Additionally, the presence of angio-proliferative plexiform-like lesions in Nx was only reported in hyper-responsive animals (Jiang, 2016). These animals also exhibited increased apoptosis of ECs in small arterioles shortly after administration of Su5416 (Jiang, 2016). The genetic background differences of rat strains used to establish 202

experimental PAH models influenced the severity of experimental phenotype in Su5416/Hx model (Jiang, 2016). Unpublished data indicated that the SD strain with enhanced response to Su5416 treatment exhibits sex dimorphism, favouring the development of the disease in male animals (Stewart et al., unpublished). As exogenous 17BE2 was shown to exacerbate the Su5416/Hx phenotype in typical rat strains (Tofovic et al., 2012), it was our intention to employ an *in situ* approach to determine whether hyper-responsive male SD rats exhibit differential expression of mediators involved in AhR and HIF1a signalling pathways. Any observed differences might point towards important modifiers of PAH-like phenotype in these animals and link-in with our observations in Su5416/Hx model in typical rat strains. We therefore aimed to assess the expression of CYP enzymes associated with oestrogen metabolism and other proteins involved in the AhR and HIF1α signalling pathways in the lungs from normally responsive and hyper-responsive rats. The expression of CYP1A1 and CYP1B1 in this PH experimental model was only increased in males, which were confirmed to develop severe experimental PH without exposure to cHx, hence characterised as 'hyperresponsive'. Moreover, the expression of the *AhRR*, which is induced by the activation of the AhR to serve as negative regulator of this signalling pathway, was also increased in hyper-responsive male animals. Surprisingly, the expression of AhR in hyper-responsive male animals was significantly lower than in their female counterparts. Further investigations showed that ARNT (HIF1 β), which binds to AhR and thereby forms an active transcriptional heterodimer, was significantly increased in female hyper-responsive animals. In typical SD strain, males exhibited reduced expression of ARNT (HIF1 β). The overexpression of ARNT (HIF1B) was shown to rescue the inhibitory effects of Hx enforced upon AhR signalling pathway (Vorrink et al., 2014). The basal levels of expression of this particular protein might therefore be of utmost importance in the establishment of the experimental PH in female animals. Interestingly, in the SD colony exhibiting enhanced sensitivity to Su5416, the hyper-responsive female rats increased expression of ARNT (*HIF1* β), while the expression of *HIF1* α remained unchanged at gene level in all the groups. We therefore examined whether the expression of HIF1a, and the regulator proteins involved in the oxygen-dependent ubiquitination and degradation, PHD2 and vHL in whole lung samples of Su5416/Hx model. The increase in the expression of HIF1a was observed at protein level in Su5416/Hx-treated female animals compared to their Nx controls, which may be due to the exposure of animals to Hx. Some caution is required with the interpretation of this data, as the level of HIFs was shown to be rather low in these tissues. Furthermore, we also noted that Nx males had significantly higher levels of HIF1a compared to Nx females. Unpublished results from our research group indicated that hyper-responsive

female SD rats had significantly more HIF1a at protein levels (*Docherty, unpublished*). Therefore, the possible increased expression of AhR, ARNT (HIF1 β) and HIF1a in hyperresponsive SD female rats might result in higher coupling of these signalling pathways, resulting in the onset of experimental PAH. Whereas, in male hyper-responsive rats enhanced signalling through AhR might be important. Increased expression of AhR target genes in male hyper-responsive SD rats pointed toward a constitutively active receptor in these animals, warranting the investigation of such possibility. The investigation of the genetic background of hyper-responsive SD colony indicated that enhanced expression of genes under the transcriptional activation of AhR, such as *CYP1A1* and *CYP1B1* might be associated with increased probability of PAH phenotype establishment in these animals. It appears that the mechanisms driving the experimental PAH phenotype depended on the sex of the animal.

3.3.3 Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1α in Human Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells

A difference in gene induction in response to reduced O_2 exists between males and females in the right and left heart ventricles (Bohuslavova et al., 2010). Although the initial induction of genes in response to O_2 deprivation is higher in females, it is males who exhibit significantly higher levels of target genes regulated by Hx (Bohuslavova et al., 2010). To determine the basal expression of receptors and their binding partners involved in AhR and HIF1a signalling pathways, we prepared unstimulated hPASMCs derived from control and IPAH patients of both sexes. A trend of increased expression of HIF1β in female PAH patient hPASMCs was observed. However, due to lower expression level in hPASMCs and poor response of the employed antibody, the quantitation of this particular protein is not completely reliable. Nonetheless, the expression of HIF1a in these cells compared to female controls was significantly higher. Considering the affinity of the HIF1 α for its obligatory binding partner for heterodimerisation is significantly higher than that of AhR, increased expression of the HIF1a might interfere with AhR signalling. Even though the documented increased binding of HIF1α to ARNT may be a direct consequence of decreased degradation of HIF1a during O₂ deprivation, resulting in increased proportion of the receptor in the receptive form to bind to ARNT, compared to AhR (Chan et al., 1999). Interestingly, in male rats exposed to cHx alone, we observed a significant decrease in the gene expression of AhR, which was not observed in females.

ARNT (HIF1 β), the obligate partner of the AhR, is ubiquitously and constitutively expressed in all cells, as it is involved in pathways other than HIF1 signalling. Recently, conflicting evidence on the effects of Hx on the expression of ARNT (HIF1 β) were reported. Mandl and Depping observed that Hx does not affect the expression levels (Mandl and Depping, 2014). Whilst others reported that decreased partial pressure of O₂ increases the expression of HIF1 α and ARNT (HIF1 β) (Wang et al., 1995). It appears that the induction of ARNT (HIF1 β) by Hx greatly depends on the cell and tissue type, with induction being more common in tumour tissues. Moreover, ARNT (HIF1 β) might also have a more restricted pattern of expression compared to HIF1 α subunit. Our results indicate that in the whole lung samples from rats exposed to cHx alone, the expression of HIF1 β is only increased in female animals, while the expression in Hx males is significantly reduced. Equally, in these animals only female Hx rats showed an increase in HIF1 α . Hx therefore appeared to increase the expression of both HIFs in female rats, corroborating the findings of (Wang et al., 1995).

A comparison of basal levels of proteins involved in the AhR and HIF1 α signalling pathways was not yet reported, therefore we aimed to examine the existence of possible basal differences in hPASMCs. When comparing the basal protein expression between control and patient PASMCs for each sex, we observed that in male patient hPASMCs the expression of AhR, AhRR, CYP1B1, PHD2 and vHL are significantly increased compared to controls, whilst in female cell lines, patient cells exhibited more CYP1B1, and less PHD2 and vHL. It appears that similarly, as in hPASMCs derived from male clinical patients, the expression of vHL and PHD2 was also increased in whole lungs of male rats with Su5416/Hx-induced experimental PAH. Some of these results should be considered with caution, as the protein expression is low, bands obtained for quantification do not have sharp edges despite considerable optimisation procedures, and on occasion contain multiple bands, indicating the presence of multiple isoforms. Nonetheless, the observations in the whole lung samples from female Su5416/Hx animals are in accordance with the observed increase in HIF1a expression in female animals. Moreover, the decreased expression of PHD2 and vHL might affect the basal expression of HIF1a and/or its expression in Hx. It may also be associated with less severe disease phenotype in male animals due to the absence of a synergy between AhR and HIF1 α signalling pathways. We believe that this aspect of PAH pathogenesis must be further investigated. Since Hx was shown to induce the proliferation of SMCs derived from systemic arteries (Ray et al., 2008), increased expression of HIF1a observed in hPASMCs from female PAH patients might have implications in establishment of more proproliferative phenotype of these cells. Equally, in male patient hPASMCs increased

expression of protein regulating HIF1 α degradation in basal levels might affect proliferation of these cells in Hx.

3.3.4 Effects of Sugen 5416 in Pulmonary Microvascular Endothelial Cells

In the Su5416/Hx animal model, establishment of the experimental disease phenotype involves vascular injury and hyper-proliferation of vascular cells (Taraseviciene-Stewart et al., 2001). As EC apoptosis may initiate vascular remodelling, and Su5416 induced apoptosis of ECs in animal models (Taraseviciene-Stewart et al., 2001; Jiang, 2016), we wished to examine this in hPMECs, which we considered as control ECs. Increased apoptosis of ECs might result in the selection of apoptosis-resistant ECs that contribute to the formation of angio-proliferative plexiform lesions in clinical and experimental PAH (Jurasz et al., 2010). Here we established that stimulation with Su5416, as well as with FICZ, which is a known AhR agonist, caused apoptosis of ECs as assessed by a reduction in cell number and immunoblotting for active Caspase 3. Recently we reported that stimulation of BOECs from PAH patients with Su5416 resulted in increased proliferation of these cells (Dean et al., 2017). Indeed, Su5416 might contribute to the development of plexiform-like lesions in some animals through imbalance in EC turnover, resulting in selection of apoptosis-resistant cells and increased proliferation of these apoptosis-resistant cells (Sakao et al., 2009;Dean et al., 2017). We also wished to assess whether Su5416 alone, or in the combination with cHx might affect the proliferation of hPASMCs. Our results indicated that in Nx stimulation of hPASMCs from female clinical patients with Su5416 had no effect on the proliferation of these cells. However, when cells were subsequently exposed to cHx, a significant increase in proliferation was recorded (Dean et al., 2017). There was increased proliferation of SMCs in animals after stimulation with Su5416 (Taraseviciene-Stewart et al., 2001). Contrary, the number of PCNA positive vessels and the percentage of fully muscularised vessels was only significantly increased when mice were treated with Su5416 and cHx (Ciuclan et al., 2011).

Finally, to investigate further the effects of Su4516 in the activation of the AhR in hPASMCs, we carried out fractionation analysis, thereby assessing the change in the localisation of this receptor from the cytoplasm to the nuclear fraction. We determined that stimulation of female hPASMCs derived from patients with Su5416 directly resulted in significantly increased localisation of AhR in the nucleus at 90-minute time-point. This is the first report of AhR translocation by SU5416 treatment in hPASMCs. Interestingly, in

BOECs stimulation with Su5416 reduced cytoplasmic expression of AhR, whilst nuclear expression remained constant (Dean et al., 2017). Therefore, it appeared that the expression of AhR in BOECs from patients was decreased, with unaltered activity of AhR within the nucleus.

In summary, the data presented herein, and published in (Dean et al., 2017), provides a new insight into the potential mechanisms behind the Su5416/Hx experimental PH model. In Nx, the AhR is expressed at low levels in whole lungs. Exposure to Su5416/Hx, results in increased expression of AhR (Dean et al., 2016). The in the animals showing PH phenotype, the RVSP, RVH and pulmonary vascular remodelling are all markedly increased by Su5416/Hx. The mechanism behind the induction of experimental PH is thought to affect the cell turn-over of ECs, resulting in Su5416-induced. Increased apoptosis of ECs may initiate vascular remodelling in experimental PAH. This could cause degeneration of precapillary arterioles or select apoptosis-resistant ECs that contribute to "angio-proliferative" plexiform lesions (Jurasz et al., 2010) As ECs are subject to stricter contact inhibition in intact arteries than hPASMCs, they do not normally proliferate. However, it was shown that BOECs from patients with PAH can exhibit increased proliferation (Toshner et al., 2009). Indeed, the dysregulated proliferation of ECs is considered a fundamental process in the development of clinical PAH (Tuder et al., 1994). Su5416 induced the proliferation of BOECs from PAH patients, which could perhaps precede and contribute to the selection of apoptosis-resistant ECs, leading to vascular remodelling and the development of occlusive lesions in some animals. The exposure of hPASMCs to Su5416 leads to increased activation of AhR, which is a complex and dynamic process involving the mechanism of receptor retention and stabilisation in the cytosol, and continuous nuclear export. Increased activation results in increased rate of nuclear AhR import without affecting nuclear AhR export (Richter et al., 2001). Firstly, increased activation of AhR induces the expression of aromatase, leading to increased local production of 17BE2 within the lung. 17BE2 can be converted to 20HE2 by CYP1A1/2, CYP1B1 and CYP3A4. Moreover, CYP1A1 also metabolises E1 and 17βE2 to 20HE2 and 16αOHE1, which are mitogenic in hPASMCs and may contribute to the development of PAH (White et al., 2012;Hood et al., 2016). Indeed, increased activation of AhR leads to increased expression of CYP1A1, and possibly CYP1B1, resulting in altered oestrogen metabolism. In Hx, exposure of hPASMCs to Su5416 results in increased proliferation, perhaps through the synergy of Su5416 and Hx signalling pathways via ARNT (HIF1 β).

The effects of AhR on 17β E2 synthesis and metabolism are of interest as major PAH registries report a greater incidence of PAH among women than men (Shapiro et al., 2012) and 17β E2 metabolism is implicated in the increased penetrance of heritable PAH (HPAH) among female patients harbouring a mutation in the gene encoding (Austin et al., 2009). The resulting increase in EC apoptosis, as well as 17β E2 synthesis and metabolism, may contribute to experimental PH. This is summarized in Figure 3–54.Therefore, inhibition of AhR may be a potential novel approach to the treatment of PAH, should these new findings translate to the human situation.

To summarise, the AhR and HIF1 α signalling pathways appear to have an important role in the establishment of experimental as well as clinical PAH and might possibly offer another attractive target for the development of novel treatment approaches for PAH.

3.3.5 Limitations of the Study

Genotypic and phenotypic variation amongst animals used in research might limit scientific validity by enhancing experimental variability. Genetic background of animals is defined as an assortment of interactions of the complete genotype of the animal with the particular gene of interest, potentially resulting in the appearance of a specific phenotype. Therefore, the understanding of the effects of genetic background on phenotype is of utmost importance in research. Herein, a well-established SD rats from Canada exhibited hyper-responsive phenotype to treatment with Su5416. With the determination of complete genotypes of numerous animals used in research, the understanding of genetic background was improved. Most animals used research are namely derived from established laboratory strains, hence the genetic variation is expected to be rather uniform, due to prolonged in-breeding process. Although in-breeding should theoretically result in animal populations that are relatively genetically unvarying, mutations can occur and accumulate naturally, resulting in phenotypic variance (Yoshiki and Moriwaki, 2006). This could be the reason behind the apparent hyper-responsiveness to Su5416 reported in a colony of SD rats in Canada. Another issue arises when using specific transgenic strains, such as *Smad1* heterozygous mice. Transgenic animals usually have mixed genetic backgrounds, as the main effort is to create animals with specific genotype in order to investigate the role of that particular gene. Hence, the varying genetic background of such animals might have even more apparent influence on animals' phenotype. The natural presence/occurrence of such significant phenotypic

variance exposes the question whether it is appropriate to compare the effects of a treatment across different animal strains, and even species.

The age at which the animal was subjected to experiments might be another limiting factor. As shown by several transgenic models, described in Chapter 1.4, the phenotype might greatly depend on the age (and sex) of the animal, with specific phenotype only being present in older animals. The age-dependent changes in the phenotype might be attributable to significant effect ageing might have on transcription. Indeed, changes in the level of circulating oestrogens might affect the pattern of gene expression in the genes under oestrogen regulation. However, with age mutations might naturally accumulate, resulting in phenotypic variance. Hence for quality and comparable data, the age of animals for experiments should be determined on the basis of development or cellular ageing.

The choice of the housekeeping gene could also pose a further limitation of the study, as described above. The characteristic for the selection of an appropriate housekeeping gene for normalisation of RT-qPCR results is stable expression, which can be described by: i) small coefficient of variation and ii) maximal fold change. De Jonge and colleagues described the experiments undertaken to determine the most appropriate housekeeping genes (de Jonge et al., 2007). The variation of traditionally used housekeeping genes, i.e. β -2–macroglobulin (*B2M*), glyceraldehyde-3 phosphate dehydrogenase (*GAPDH*) and β actin (*ACTB*) was found to fluctuate considerable. Therefore, other genes were proposed to be used as housekeeping genes of choice. Equally, the low protein expression levels and the presence of multiple isoforms, with possible off-target binding, have limited some aspects of this study. Further optimisation should be considered in terms of using more specific protein detection systems with the exclusive used of monoclonal antibodies for detection and localisation.



Figure 3–53: Proposed synergy of aryl hydrocarbon receptor and hypoxia-inducible factor 1 a signalling pathways.

Herein we demonstrated the existence of a possible synergy of both insults in the establishment of the Su5416/Hx model. First, we provided data, that stimulation with Su5416 in female hPASMCs from PAH patients, results in increased localisation of AhR in the nucleus, indicating increased receptor activation. *In vivo* studies showed that the ARNT (HIF1β) protein levels are increased in diseased animals, and the levels of the protein are returned to normal by AhR antagonist CH223191. Second, we showed that exposure of hPASMCs derived from female PAH patients results in increased proliferation of these cells, while in Nx conditions proliferation was not significant. Hx may synergise with AhR activation through the ARNT (HIF1β). A simplified diagram of the proposed synergy is shown in Figure 3–53. Third, we provided evidence that in female hPASMCs stimulation with Su5416 results in increased expression of CYP1A1 and CYP1B1. And while exposure to AhR antagonist CH223191 only resulted in decreased expression of CYP1A1 in hPASMCs derived from female control subjects, it is anticipated that increased expression of these CYP enzymes might result in increased production of oestrogen metabolites promoting proliferation.



Figure 3–54: Proposed mechanism of Sugen 5416 and hypoxia-induced experimental phenotype of pulmonary arterial hypertension mediated through activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor.

In ECs, Su5416 causes an imbalance in cell turnover, favouring apoptosis of these cells. The insult result in vascular injury, leading to vascular remodelling and selection of apoptosis-resistant ECs. Furthermore, Su5416 activates AhR, leading to increased expression of oestrogen-metabolising enzymes, resulting in altered oestrogen metabolism. In SMCs, Su5416 leads to increased translocation of AhR from the cytoplasm to the nucleus, resulting in induced expression of ARNT (HIF1 β), CYP1A1 and aromatase. Increased production of 17 β E2 and altered oestrogen metabolism, through the synergy of AhR and HIF1 α signalling pathways lead to increased proliferation of SMCs and vascular remodelling.

ECs= Endothelial cells, SMCs= Smooth muscle cells, AhR= Aryl hydrocarbon receptor, 17β E2= 17β -oestradiol, CYP1A1= Cytochrome P450 1A1

Chapter IV

4 An *In Vitro* Model to Investigate the Role of Oestrogen and Oestrogen Metabolism

4.1 Introduction

The importance of sex hormones in the pathogenesis of PAH was exposed when numerous large national registries and surveys repeatedly demonstrated that PAH affects predominantly women (Rich et al., 1987; Badesch et al., 2009; Escribano-Subias et al., 2012;Ling et al., 2012;Galiè et al., 2015). Therefore, much research was focused on discovering the causative mechanism by which oestrogen might possibly contribute to disease development in animal models and, most recently, in clinical setting. In animal models, disease susceptibility and severity were associated with abnormal synthesis of $17\beta E2$, as shown in (Mair et al., 2014). It appeared that stimulation of vascular cells derived from female control subjects with 17BE2, suppresses the expression of final effectors of BMPRII signalling pathway (Mair et al., 2015). While Austin and colleagues reported that $17\beta E2$ suppressed the expression of BMPRII receptor (Austin et al., 2012). Hence, increased levels of circulating hormone might contribute to establishment of conditions favouring SMC proliferation, leading to muscularisation and remodelling of distal PAs. The probability of clinical PAH in men, but not in women, was also shown to correlate with higher levels of endogenous 17BE2 (Ventetuolo et al., 2016). Increased level of endogenous $17\beta E2$ and decreased levels of circulating sex hormone precursor DHEA-S in men were associated with more severe haemodynamic impairment and patient's lower tolerance of physical activity (Ventetuolo et al., 2016).

17βE2 is metabolised to numerous metabolites through oxidative biotransformation reactions, with most oestrogen-metabolising enzymes exhibiting high activity for hydroxylation at positions C2 and C4, and only moderate activity at position C16α. Evidence suggested that amongst most commonly produced hydroxylated oestrogens, only 16αOHE1 induced significant proliferation of PASMCs (White et al., 2012). White and colleagues provided evidence of dysregulation of oestrogen metabolism in PAH, reporting that the expression of CYP1B1 oestrogen-metabolising enzyme was increased in clinical PAH as well as in experimental models of PH (White et al., 2012). The anomalous metabolism of oestrogens, arising from pathogenic expression of oestrogen-metabolising enzymes, might therefore result in the accumulation of metabolites, capable of driving the pathological changes in the distal pulmonary vasculature due to their pro-proliferative properties. The hydroxylated oestrogens serve as precursors for conjugation reactions, resulting in metabolites that are easily excretable due to enhanced hydrophilic character and/or metabolically/pharmacologically inactive (Jancova et al., 2010). 2-Methoxyoestrogens have

been shown to mediate protective effects in terms of PAH pathogenesis, with demonstrated anti-mitotic and anti-angiogenic properties (Fotsis et al., 1994), further affecting the production of vasoactive compounds to favour vasodilation (Barchiesi et al., 2006;Seeger et al., 1999;Tsukamoto et al., 1998;Dubey et al., 2001). Administration of these metabolites resulted in protection against or reversal of haemodynamic impairment and vascular remodelling in animals with established PH phenotype (Tofovic et al., 2006;Tofovic et al., 2008b;Tofovic and Rafikova, 2009;Fotsis et al., 1994). It was previously suggested that the dysregulated oestrogen metabolism in disease setting might also include reduced formation of protective metabolites, due to the presence of enzyme isoform exhibiting decreased activity of MeOE formation and the presence of oestrogen-metabolising enzymes with increased activity (Kisselev et al., 2005). In such circumstances, the accumulation of hydroxylated oestrogens, which are normally rapidly metabolised to form methoxyoestrogens, could lead to formation of quinones and semiquinones, which due to their reactive character might result in increased production of ROS (Yager and Liehr, 1996) leading to protein as well as DNA damage (Cavalieri et al., 1997).

As discussed previously (in Chapter 3.1), each year millions of animals are used in research. According to the viewpoint of the Committee for Proprietary Medicinal Products, published in 1997, the ethical consideration requires the use of animals in research to be limited as much as possible. Approximately 30 years ago, Pearson has produced a perspective article on the possibility of *in vitro* models replacing the use of animals, especially in the assessment of drug toxicity and safety. Published work stated that *in vitro* studies might offer the advantage of producing relevant and precise results much more rapidly than animal studies (Pearson, 1986). Albeit, the use of animals in research might not be completely avoidable, the use of animal models to investigate the contribution of specific molecular processes to disease development is hindered by i) the lack of recapitulating the human condition, ii) the un-feasibleness of varying individual molecular processes to identify their contribution to the disease pathogenesis, and iii) incapability of measuring the responses to stimulation in real time (Benam et al., 2015). The *in vitro* model using hPASMCs was employed in the research of PAH pathology previously, however the role oestrogen metabolism in this model has not yet been fully investigated.

Although the primary biological functions of oestrogens are mediated in endocrine manner, the paracrine effects of oestrogens, due to high concentrations of locally produced hormones, might be importantly associated with pathological processes in numerous diseases (Simpson and Davis, 2001; de Jong et al., 1997). Considering that emerging evidence points to the importance of individual oestrogen metabolites in the pathogenesis of PAH, the qualitative and quantitative assessment of the levels of oestrogen metabolites produced locally by the vascular cells to ascertain actual metabolomic profile of oestrogens in normal and diseased conditions is required. Currently, the available techniques to quantitatively measure oestrogen metabolites encompass various immunoassays and chromatographic techniques. Unfortunately, the use of these well-established techniques to determine the normal and diseased metabolic profile of oestrogens is hindered by i) poor reproducibility of results of immunoassays due to assay interferences (Tate and Ward, 2004), ii) the extremely low physiological concentration range of oestrogens, and iii) structural similarity of these compounds. Previously, significant efforts were made to establish a precise and sensitive measuring technique, using the high-performance liquid chromatography approach (HPLC) (Johansen, 2014), which has been successfully used to investigate oestrogen metabolism by several research groups (Rogan et al., 2003; Johansen et al., 2014; Delvoux et al., 2007). Nonetheless, the use of this technique to ascertain the metabolomic profile of oestrogens is hindered by i) difficult quantitation of oestrogen metabolites, ii) method's relatively high detection limit and low concentrations range of certain oestrogen metabolites, and iii) difficulty of peak identification, introducing the possible error of subjective analysis. According to Gaikwad, gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) and liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry have been extensively used to date for quantification of oestrogen metabolism (Gaikwad, 2013), with reported simultaneous detection and quantitation of oestrogen metabolites in tissue, urine and serum samples (Flores-Valverde and Hill, 2008; Dai et al., 2012; Carvalho et al., 2008). However the elaborate sample preparation methods and the requirement of analyte derivatisation, resulting in significant matrix effects and hence less robust assays (Ke et al., 2014), render these methods rather unsuitable.

For this study, the general hypothesis was that oestrogen metabolism is dysregulated in pulmonary arterial hypertension, and that the disparity observed in the incidence of this vasculopathy in women might be associated with increased production of oestrogen metabolites having pathogenic properties.

Aims of this chapter:

- To assess the effects of oestrogen metabolites on the expression and activity of prostacyclin synthase in microvascular endothelial cells derived from control female subject.
- 2) To assess the effects of oestrogen metabolites on the expression of BMPR*II* signalling pathway in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells.
- 3) To assess the extent of anti-proliferative effects of 2-methoxyoestradiol in *in vitro* model of pulmonary hypertension consisting of pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derived from control and patient subjects of both sexes.
- 4) To develop and validate a precise and sensitive liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry method to quantitatively assess the concentration of oestrogen metabolites in *in vitro* model of pulmonary hypertension consisting of pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derived from control subjects and individuals with clinical pulmonary arterial hypertension.
- 5) Establishment of the oestrogen metabolic profile in *in vitro* model of pulmonary hypertension consisting of pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derived from control and patient subjects of both sexes, using the novel quantitative technique.

4.2.12-Methoxyoestradiol and 2-Methoxyoestrone Significantly Increase Expression of Prostacyclin Synthase in Pulmonary Microvascular Endothelial Cells

Sustained vasoconstriction is an important hallmark of PAH pathogenesis and is associated with dysregulated synthesis of vasoactive compounds. The circulating levels of endogenous vasodilator PGI₂ were reduced in patients (Moncada and Vane, 1978;Badesch et al., 2004;Barst et al., 2009); (Christman et al., 1992). PGIS is expressed in all vascular cells of proximal and distal PAs, with greater expression in the ECs (Badesch et al., 1989). Hx increased the expression of PGIS and release of PGI2 in VSMC and ECs (Camacho et al., 2011). The effects of oestrogen metabolites on the release of PGI₂ were recently examined in human umbilical ECs (Jobe et al., 2013). Hydroxy and methoxy metabolites of oestradiol significantly increased the production of PGI₂ in pregnant and non-pregnant women, at physiological concentrations (Jobe et al., 2013). As the lung, is highly sensitive to oestrogens, we aimed to determine the effects of stimulation of ECs derived from pulmonary micro-vessels. Considering, the reported changes were rapid, we treated the hPMECs with 1nM oestrogen metabolites for 24 hours to assess whether these metabolites might affect the expression of PGIS. Herein, we showed that stimulation with oestrogen metabolites did not affect the expression of *PGIS* at gene level (Figure 4–1A). Nonetheless, significant increase in PGIS protein expression was caused by stimulation with 2-methoxyoestradiol and 2methoxyoestrone (Figure 4–1B, C). $17\beta E2$ and 4-methoxy metabolites caused an insignificant increase in PGIS expression at protein level. Equally, 2- and 4OHE2 had no effect on the expression of PGIS at protein level.

1nM concentration of oestrogen metabolites was selected for these experiments, as this was approximately close to the average reported physiological concentrations of oestrone and oestradiol. Furthermore, as currently the physiological plasma concentrations of other prominent oestrogen metabolites are not known, we concluded the estimate of oestrone, and oestradiol concentrations would be a good approximation. We further wished to assess the release of PGI₂ in these cells to determine whether increased expression of PGIS might be associated with increased release of its product. We used 6-keto PGF1 α immunoassay to determine the level of stable PGI₂ metabolite. Acute stimulation with oestrogen metabolites led to significantly decreased expression of 6-keto PGF1 α when cells were treated with 16 α OHE2 and 2MeOE1 (Figure 4–2A), indicating decreased release of its parental molecule PGI₂. The release of 6-keto PGF1 α in positive control group, where cells were treated with 20 μ M arachidonic acid, was like that observed in treatment groups 16 α OHE2, 2MeOE1 and 2MeOE2. Prolonged treatment with oestrogen metabolites though did not result in significant changes in the release of PGI₂ as assessed per 6-keto PGF1 α levels (Figure 4–2B). Prolonged stimulation with 20 μ M arachidonic acid resulted in significantly increased production of 6-keto PGF1 α , indicating the production of PGI₂ was also increased in this instance (Figure 4–2B).

4.2.2 2-Methoxyoestradiol Increases Expression of Prostacyclin Synthase in Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells from Male Control Subjects, but not in Female Cells

Although the PGI₂ production has only been documented in ECs, the expression of PGIS has been also reported in vascular SMCs (Nakayama, 2005). As we have previously shown that certain oestrogen metabolites affect the expression of PGIS in hPMECs (Chapter 4.2.1), we wanted to investigate whether oestrogens also affect the expression of PGIS in hPASMCs. Herein, we show that the expression of PGIS is only significantly increased by 100nM 2MeOE2 in hPASMCs derived from male control subjects (Figure 4–3), while no change was observed in female cells (Figure 4–4). It appears that PGIS expression in PASMCs is only affected at higher pharmacological concentrations of oestrogens compared to PMECs, as significant changes were observed with 100nM and 1nM 2MeOE2, respectively. Moreover, oestrogen-induced changes in the expression of PGIS in PASMCs seem to be sex-dependent, with female hPASMCs not responding to oestrogen treatment.



Figure 4–1: The protein expression of prostacyclin synthase in human microvascular endothelial cells derived from female control subjects is significantly increased by 1nM methoxyoestrogens.

Human pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells (hPMECs) derived from female control, purchased from Qiagen, were grown as previously described to approximately 80% confluence. Before stimulation with oestrogen metabolites (1nM) for 24 hours, cells were washed twice with ice-cold DPBS. (A) The expression of *PGIS* was assessed by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR. Results were normalised to β -2-microglobulin. N=3 per group in triplicate, One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification. (B) The level of PGIS protein expression was addressed using immunoblotting. N=3–6 per group in duplicate, *p<0.05, **p≤0.01, One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as fold change to Control group±SEM. The representative immunoblotting image is shown in (C).



Figure 4–2: Acute stimulation with 1nM methoxyoestrogens decreases the release of prostacyclin from human microvascular endothelial cells.

Human pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells (hPMECs) derived from female control subjects, purchased from Qiagen, were grown as previously described to approximately 80–90% confluence. Before stimulation with oestrogen metabolites (1nM) for 1 hour (A) or 24 hours (B), cells were washed twice with ice-cold DPBS. The release of PGI₂ was assessed using 6-keto PGF1 α ELISA Kit (Enzo Life Sciences, USA). Results were normalised to protein amount. N=3 per group in duplicate, ****p≤0.00010ne-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as mean±SEM.

A

B


Figure 4–3: The protein expression of prostacyclin synthase is increased by 100nM 2methoxyoestradiol in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derived from male controls.

HPASMCs were grown to reach approximately 70% confluence in 10% FBS DMEM media. PASMCs were then serum starved for 24 hours, before stimulation with oestrogen metabolites (1nM, 100nM). Protein samples were collected and prepared as previously described. N=3 per group, in duplicate, *p<0.05, One-Way ANOVA, followed by Tukey's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as fold change of Control group±SEM Representative immunoblotting image is shown in (B).



Figure 4–4: Methoxyoestrogens do not affect the protein expression of prostacyclin synthase in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derived from female controls. HPASMCs were grown to reach approximately 70% confluence in 10% FBS DMEM media. PASMCs were then serum starved for 24 hours, before stimulation with oestrogen metabolites (1nM, 100nM). Protein samples were collected and prepared as previously described. N=3 per group, in duplicate, One-Way ANOVA, followed by Tukey's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as fold change of Control group±SEM. Representative immunoblotting image is shown in (B).

4.2.3 Exposure to 2-Methoxyoestradiol Reduces Proliferation in Human Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells of Both Sexes

2-MeOE2 was shown to prevent and/or rescue the experimental PH phenotype in animal models (Fotsis et al., 1994;Tofovic et al., 2006;Tofovic et al., 2008b). As the protective properties of methoxy-oestradiol are partially mediated by their anti-proliferative effects on vascular cells (Barchiesi et al., 2006), we wished to assess these in *in vitro* models using cell lines derived from control subjects, which were subjected to pro-proliferative conditions.

Here we showed that exposure to physiological concentration of 2MeOE2 results in a trend of reduced proliferation in male hPASMCs derived from control subjects, as assessed by BrDU assay (Figure 4–5A). Equally, exposure to MeOEs reduced serum-induced proliferation in female hPASMCs from controls (Figure 4–6). At higher pharmacological concentrations all MeOEs seemed to diminish cell proliferation induced in the presence of 10% CSS. When hPASMCs were treated with inhibitors of ER α , ER β and gpr30 receptors through which oestrogens mediate their effects, inhibition of all three receptors appeared to restore proliferation compared to 2MeOE2 only treated cells (Figure 4–7). Whilst inhibition of gpr30 had no effect on diminished proliferation when cells were treated with 4MeOE2, inhibition of both classical oestrogen receptors resulted in increased proliferation of cells despite treatment with 4MeOE2 (Figure 4–7). It therefore appeared that the anti-proliferative effects of 2MeOE2 and 4MeOE2 are mediated through ER α and β , while only 2MeOE2 might also affect proliferation through non-classical oestrogen signalling. These trends were also observed with BrDU assay (Figure 4–8), although more cell lines would need to be tested.

In female control cell lines, treatment with 2MeOE2 and 4MeOE2 resulted in significantly decreased serum-induced proliferation (Figure 4–9). Pre-exposure to ER α and ER β antagonists resulted in observable trend of apparently increased proliferation, while the antagonism of gpr30 had no effect. Moreover, in these cell lines exposure to 2MeOE2 appeared to induce a concentration-dependent increase in the p27/Kip1 protein expression (Figure 4–10), showing this could be a potential mechanism through which 2MeOE2 protective properties are mediated.



Figure 4–5: The anti-proliferative effects of methoxyoestrogens in male pulmonary artery smooth muscle cell lines derived from control subjects.

HPASMCs from male control subjects were serum starved for 24 hours. PASMCs were then stimulated by methoxyoestrogens (2MeOE1, 2MeOE2, 4MeOE1 and 4MeOE2) at physiological and pharmacological concentrations (1nM, 100nM). Experiments were carried out in the presence of 10% CSS PRF DMEM media. Cell counts were assessed after 72 hours by BrDU assay (A) or haemocytometer (B). (A) N=2 per group, repeated 8 times, One-Way ANOVA with Tukey's posthoc test. Data expressed as mean \pm SEM. (B) N=3 per group, in triplicate, *p<0.05, **p≤0.01, One-Way ANOVA with Tukey's posthoc test. Data expressed as fold change of 10% control group \pm SEM.

B



Figure 4–6: The anti-proliferative effects of methoxyoestrogens in female pulmonary artery smooth muscle cell lines derived from control subjects.

HPASMCs from male control subjects were serum starved for 24 hours. PASMCs were then stimulated by methoxyoestrogens (2MeOE1, 2MeOE2, 4MeOE1 and 4MeOE2) at physiological and pharmacological concentrations (1nM, 100nM). Experiments were carried out in the presence of 1% CSS PRF DMEM media. Cell counts were assessed after 72 hours by haemocytometer. N=4 per group, in triplicate, *p<0.05, **p \leq 0.01, ****p<0.0001, One-Way ANOVA with Tukey's posthoc test. Data expressed as fold change of 10% control group±SEM.



Figure 4–7: Inhibition of ER α and ER β appears to restore proliferation of male control human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells treated with 2- and 4-methoxyoestradiol.

HPASMCs from male control subjects were serum starved for 24 hours. PASMCs were then stimulated by ER α inhibitor (MPP, 10nM), ER β inhibitor (PHTPP, 10nM), and gpr30 receptor (G15, 100nM) 30 minutes prior to stimulation with methoxyoestrogens (2MeOE2 and 4MeOE2) at physiological concentrations (1nM). Experiments were carried out in the presence of 10% CSS PRF DMEM media. Cell proliferation were assessed after 72 hours by BrDU assay. N=1 per group, repeated 4 times. Data expressed as mean±SEM.



Figure 4–8: The mechanism of anti-proliferative properties of 2-methoxyoestradiol and 4-methoxyoestradiol in male human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells derived from male control subject.

HPASMCs from male control subjects were serum starved for 24 hours. PASMCs were then stimulated by ER α inhibitor (MPP, 10nM), ER β inhibitor (PHTPP, 10nM), and gpr30 receptor (G15, 100nM) 30 minutes prior to stimulation with methoxyoestrogens (2MeOE2 and 4MeOE2) at physiological concentrations (1nM). Experiments were carried out in the presence of 10% CSS PRF DMEM media. Cell proliferation were assessed after 72 hours by haemocytometer. N=2 per group, in triplicate, One-Way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data expressed as fold change of 10% CSS group±SEM.



Figure 4–9: 2- and 4-methoxyoestradiol reduce serum-induced proliferation in female control pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells.

HPASMCs from male control subjects were serum starved for 24 hours. PASMCs were then stimulated by ER α inhibitor (MPP, 10nM), ER β inhibitor (PHTPP, 10nM), and gpr30 receptor (G15, 100nM) 30 minutes prior to stimulation with methoxyoestrogens (2MeOE2 and 4MeOE2) at physiological concentrations (1nM). Experiments were carried out in the presence of 10% CSS PRF DMEM media. Cell proliferation were assessed after 72 hours by haemocytometer. N=3–4 per group, in triplicate, One-Way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data expressed as fold change of 10% CSS group±SEM.



Figure 4–10: In human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female control subjects, 2-mtehodyoestradiol induces protein expression of the cell cycle inhibitory protein p27/Kip1.

HPASMCs were quiesced for 24 hours in 0.5% CSS PRF DMEM media. PASMCs were then stimulated by 2MeOE2 (1nM, 10nM, 100nM and 1 μ M) in the presence of 10% CSS PRF DMEM. N=2 per group, in duplicate, One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as fold-change of 10% CSS group±SEM. The 10% CSS was set to 1, and other treatment groups are shown as fold change.

4.2.42-Methoxyoestradiol Reduces Proliferation in Female, but not in Male Patient Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells

Evidence up to date, indicates that in animal models, administration of 2MeOE2 opposed the onset of experimental PH phenotype, while in diseased animals the metabolite improves the haemodynamic parameters and improved pulmonary vascular remodelling (Tofovic et al., 2008b). Therefore, we aimed to assess the documented anti-proliferative properties of 2MeOE2 in PAH *in vitro* model using cell lines derived from subjects with clinical PAH. Stimulation with 1nM 2MeOE2 and 4MeOE2 resulted in significant reduction of proliferation in female cell lines derived from patients (Figure 4–11A), while we observed no changes in male cell lines (Figure 4–11B). Moreover, it appeared that the metabolites had significant effects only at lower physiological concentrations.



Figure 4–11: Methoxyoestrogens do not attenuate serum-induced proliferation in male patient pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells.

HPASMCs from female (A) and male (B) clinical patient subjects were serum starved for 24 hours. PASMCs were then stimulated by 2MeOE1, 2MeOE2, 4MeOE1 and 4MeOE2 (1nM, 100nM). Experiments were carried out in the presence of 10% CSS PRF DMEM media. Cell counts were assessed after 72 hours by haemocytometer. N=3–4 per group, in triplicate, *p \leq 0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, One-Way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test. Data expressed as fold change of 10% control group±SEM.

B

4.2.5 In Female Control Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells Only Methoxyoestrogens Appear to Increase the Expression of the BMPRII Signalling Pathway

The protective effects of oestradiol in PAH could partially be attributed to the formation of protective MeOEs, which were shown to oppose the onset of experimental PH in animal models (Tofovic et al., 2006;Tofovic and Rafikova, 2009). 2MeOE2 decreased proliferation of vascular cells (Dubey et al., 1998;Tofovic and Rafikova, 2009;Vijayanathan et al., 2006), albeit experimental conditions and cellular type appear to be of noteworthy importance (Lippert et al., 2000;Lai and Law, 2004). As the arrest of proliferation of vascular cells seems to be one of the most important protective effects of 2MeOE2 in PAH, we aimed to assess the effects of 15 oestrogen metabolites, including methoxy-oestradiols, on the expression of mediators of the BMPR*II* signalling pathway in female hPASMCs derived from control subjects.

A trend of increased expression of BMPR*II*, pSmad1/5/(8)9 and Id3 at protein level was observed when cells were treated with MeOEs, however this increase was not statistically significant due to large variations in the response of the cell lines used (Figure 4–12). Therefore, we decided to further evaluate the effects of methoxyoestrogens at physiological and pharmacological concentrations, in hPASMCs of both sexes.



Figure 4–12: Methoxyoestrogens appear to increase the protein expression of effectors involved in the BMPRII signalling pathway in female control pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells.

HPASMCs were quiesced for 24 hours in 0.5% CSS PRF DMEM media. PASMCs were then stimulated by oestrogen metabolites (1nM) in the presence of 1% CSS PRF DMEM. The expression level of BMPRII, pSmad1/5/(8)9 was assessed using immunoblotting. Results were normalised to the GAPDH. N=3 per group, in duplicate, One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as fold change of Control group±SEM.

4.2.6 2-Methoxyoestradiol Significantly Increased Expression of DNA-binding protein inhibitor Id-1 in Male but not in Female Control Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells

The mutations in the gene encoding the *BMPRII* receptor usually result in reduced receptor expression and/or activity (Atkinson et al., 2002). Although these mutations are present in most patients with HPAH, and in approximately 20–25% of patients with IPAH (Atkinson et al., 2002;Machado et al., 2009;Hamid et al., 2009), the low penetrance of the disease in these individuals indicates a second factor is required for disease onset. The basal expression of proteins involved in the BMPR*II* signalling pathway was significantly reduced in hPASMCs derived from female control subjects compared to males (Mair et al., 2015). Additionally, 17 β E2 decreased the expression of DNA-binding protein inhibitor *Id1* and *Id3* in male control cells (Mair et al., 2015). The suppressive effects that 17 β E2 exerted on the expression of BMPR*II* receptor were mediated through ER α receptor (Austin et al., 2012).

As the anti-proliferative properties of 2MeOE2 are well documented, and the metabolite was shown to oppose the onset of experimental PH in animal models, we wished to assess the effects of methoxy metabolites on expression of proteins involved in BMPR*II* signalling pathway, at a physiological and pharmacological concentrations.

Treatment with MeOEs did not affect the protein expression levels of BMPR*II* and pSmad/5/(8)9 in hPASMCs from control subjects of both sexes (Figure 4–13 and Figure 4–14). Exposure of male hPASMCs from control subjects to pharmacological concentration of 2MeOE2 resulted in increased expression of Id1, while Id3 expression was unaffected (Figure 4–13). In female cell lines, treatment with MeOEs did not result in significantly altered expression of Id1 and Id3 (Figure 4–14).



Figure 4–13: 2-Methoxyoestradil increases the protein expression of DNA-binding protein 1 in male control pulmonary artery smooth muscle.

HPASMCs were quiesced for 24 hours in 0.5% CSS PRF DMEM media. PASMCs were then stimulated by oestrogen metabolites (1nM, 100nM) in the presence of 1% CSS PRF DMEM. The expression level of BMPRII, pSmad1/5/(8)9, ID1 and ID3 was assessed using immunoblotting. Results were normalised to the GAPDH. N=3 per group, in duplicate, *p<0.05, One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as fold change of Control group±SEM.



Figure 4–14: Methoxyoestrogens do not alter protein expression of effectors involved in the BMPRII signalling pathway in female control pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells.

HPASMCs were quiesced for 24 hours in 0.5% CSS PRF DMEM media. PASMCs were then stimulated by oestrogen metabolites (1nM, 100nM) in the presence of 1% CSS PRF DMEM. The expression level of BMPRII, pSmad1/5/(8)9, ID1 and ID3 was assessed using immunoblotting. Results were normalised to the GAPDH. N=3 per group, in duplicate, One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as fold change of Control group±SEM.

4.2.7 2- and 4-Hydroxyoestradiol Oppose Proliferation in Male Control Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells

Albeit the presence of oestrogen-metabolising enzymes with increased activity has been linked to the pathology of numerous diseases, due to high production of hydroxylated oestrogens which may be metabolised to form highly reactive quinones and semiquinones, mutagenic activity has only been attributed to 4OHE2 (Liehr et al., 1986). Nonetheless, administration of 4OHE2 did not result in the onset of experimental PH in animals (Johansen, 2014). In male hPASMCs 4OHE2 increased expression of Id1, Id3 and pSmad1/5/8 (Mair et al., 2015). Firstly, we showed using the BrDU assay that treatment of male control PASMCs with 2OHE2 and 4OHE2 significantly decreased number of cells (Figure 4–15A). Considering both catechol oestrogens serve as precursor molecules for the COMT, forming protective oestrogen metabolites, we wished to ascertain whether the mechanism for observed decreased proliferation of hPASMCs might be due to their conversion to methoxyoestrogens. We therefore treated male control cell lines with COMT inhibitors, entacapone and OR-486, prior to stimulation with both oestrogen metabolites. Pre-treatment with entacapone opposed the anti-proliferative properties of 2OHE2, while the inhibition of COMT had no effect on anti-proliferative properties of 40HE2 (Figure 4–15B).

When male control cell lines were stimulated with inhibitors of oestrogen receptors prior to stimulation with 2OHE2, inhibition of ER α and ER β resulted in increased proliferation compared to 2OHE2 only treated cells (Figure 4–16). This indicates that in addition to the protective properties of 2MeOE2, protective properties of 2OHE2 might also be mediated through ER signalling. Additionally, inhibition of ER α also opposed the anti-proliferative properties of 4OHE2, indicating the decrease in the cell number might be also be mediated through ER signalling as opposed to the metabolite being biotransformed to 4MeOE2 (Figure 4–16).



Figure 4–15: Treatment of male control cell lines with 2- and 4-hydroxyoestradiol results in decreased proliferation.

HPASMCs from male control subjects were serum starved for 24 hours. PASMCs were then stimulated 2OHE2 or 4OHE2 (1nM, 10nM, 100nM, 1 μ M). Otherwise, cells were pre-treated with COMT inhibitor entacapone (10nM) OR or-486 (100nM). Experiments were carried out in the presence of 10% CSS PRF DMEM media. Cellular proliferation was assessed after 72 hours either by BrDU assay (A) or haemocytometer (B). N=3 per group, in triplicate, One-Way ANOVA with Tukey's post-hoc test. Data expressed as fold change of mean±SEM (A) or fold change of 10% control group±SEM (B).

A

B



Figure 4–16: The anti-proliferative effects of 2- and 4-hydroxyoestradiol in male control pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells are mediated through classical oestrogen receptors.

HPASMCs from male control subjects were serum starved for 24 hours. PASMCs were then stimulated by ER α inhibitor (MPP, 10nM), ER β inhibitor (PHTPP, 10nM), gpr30 receptor (G15, 100nM) or an ER α/β inhibitor (ICI182780, 10nM) 30 minutes prior to stimulation with 2OHE2 or 4OHE2 (10nM). Experiments were carried out in the presence of 10% CSS PRF DMEM media. Cell counts were assessed after 72 hours by haemocytometer. N=3 per group, in triplicate, One-Way ANOVA with Tukey's post-hoc test. Data expressed as fold change of 10% control group±SEM.

4.2.8 High-Performance Liquid Chromatography Method to Investigate Oestrogen Metabolism In Vitro

4.2.8.1 Treatment of Human Pulmonary Arteries with Treprostinil Significantly Alters the Production of Oestrone in Male Patient Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells

Albeit prostacyclin analogues were the first approved class of therapeutics for the treatment of PAH, they are still frequently prescribed as part of combinational therapy to manage persistent symptoms. The beneficial effects of prostacyclin analogues include i) vasorelaxation and vasodilation (Narumiya et al., 1999; Wise, 2003), and ii) the inhibition of SMC proliferation (Clapp et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2010). Approved prostacyclin analogues, such as treprostinil and iloprost, are currently used to manage moderate to severe PAH.

Gathered evidence indicates that RXR can modulate the expression of oestrogen-regulated genes due to their interaction with promotor regions of these genes (Segars et al., 1993;Keller et al., 1995). PPARs affect oestrogen signalling through i) competitive inhibition of ERs (Keller et al., 1995), and ii) increased degradation of ERa (Qin et al., 2003), resulting in altered oestrogen signalling. Moreover, Becker and colleagues reported that PPAR α , which is constitutively expressed in the mouse lung (Becker et al., 2008b), altered oestrogen metabolism through an increase of 17β HSD type 1 expression (Corton et al., 1997;Davis et al., 1994). Inhibition of PPARs was shown to modulate the expression of certain oestrogen metabolising enzymes according to (Corton et al., 1997). As evidence indicated that CYP1B1 may be induced through the activation of PPARa (Lovekamp-Swan et al., 2003; Murray et al., 2001), we were interested in the assessment of oestrogen metabolism in cell lines treated with a prostacyclin analogue, as the endogenous molecule and its metabolites were shown to activate certain PPAR isoforms (Forman et al., 1995;Nemenoff et al., 2008), directly (Forman et al., 1997) or indirectly, though the IP receptor (Falcetti et al., 2007). Prostacyclin and its analogues only have a marginal effect on PPAR activation due to their rapid elimination and degradation (Yu et al., 1995). Recently, iloprost and treprostinil, were shown to activate PPAR isoforms (Forman et al., 1997;Ali et al., 2006),

further stimulating our interest in the effects of prostacyclin analogue on oestrogen metabolism.

We employed high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) to assess the effects of stimulation of treprostinil on oestrogen metabolism in in vitro model of PAH. Cells were treated with ¹⁴C₄-17βE2, which enabled the tracking and flux analysis of oestrogen metabolism in these cells. All cells were exposed to 50nM ${}^{14}C_4$ -17 β E2. Treatment groups T24B and TE48 referred to the time points when cells were stimulated with treprostinil $(1\mu M)$: i) 24 hours prior to addition of 50nM ¹⁴C₄-17 β E2 (T24B), and ii) at the same time as 17βE2 (TE48). Cells were then incubated with 50nM ¹⁴C₄-17βE2 for 48 hours, and the differences in cell growth during the duration of the experiment, was eliminated by normalisation of metabolite amount per amount of protein. It appears that the treatment of female cell lines derived from control subjects with treprostinil resulted in increased metabolism of $17\beta E2$, as the amount of the parental oestrogen was decreased in both groups treated with treprostinil compared to control treatment (Figure 4-17A). Moreover, the metabolism of $17\beta E2$ in other cell lines appeared to be faster, as the HPLC/flux experiments show that the amount of labelled $17\beta E2$ was lower compared to female control cell lines, indicating the hormone was metabolised to other metabolites. Radioactively labelled $17\beta E2$ was mainly metabolised to E1 in cell lines derived from female patient, male control and male patient subjects, respectively. The formation of E1 was considerably higher in female patient cell line compared to female and male control cell lines (Figure 4–17B). Treatment with treprostinil had no effect on the formation of E1 in female control and patient cell line. Preliminary results indicate that in male patient cell line, pre-treatment with treprostinil might resulted in increased production of E1 compared to control treatment, while cotreatment of cells with treprostinil and 17BE2 might result in decreased in E1 production compared to pre-treatment group (Figure 4-17B). In assessed samples we also detected 16aOHE1, 17aE2 and an unknown oestrogen metabolite, albeit the levels of these metabolites were considerably lower than both parental hormones. The amount of $17\beta E2$ metabolised to 16aOHE1 was higher in the cell line derived from female patient compared to female control cell line (Figure 4–18A). Treatment with treprostinil did not affect the formation of $16\alpha OHE1$ compared to control treatment group across the cell lines used in these experiments. Interestingly, the formation of 16aOHE1 was higher in female patient cell line treated with $17\beta E2$ compared to male patient cell line (Figure 4–18A). Conversion of 17BE2 to 17aE2 was only observed in cell lines derived from female patient and male control subjects, specifically in treprostinil treatment groups (Figure 4–18B).

Interestingly we also observed the formation of an unknown oestrogen metabolite (Figure 4–19), which could not be identified based on the retention time of the 15 unlabelled oestrogen metabolites used to determine the retention time using UV detection system. Nonetheless, due to the position of the ¹⁴C within the 17 β E2, we were satisfied labelled oestrogen was metabolised to this uncharacterised metabolite, whose formation was significantly enhanced when cells were co-treated with treprostinil and 17 β E2 for 48 hours (TE48) compared to control treatment in female patient cell line. Representative chromatograms are shown in Figure 4–20 to Figure 4–23.

The effects of treprostinil treatment on oestrogen metabolic profile are shown in Figure 4–24. In female control cell line, the oestrogen metabolites present in the analysed media samples, indicated the enzymatic activity of 17β HSD type 2 and cytochrome P450 oestrogen metabolising enzymes, while there was no evidence of COMT activity (Figure 4–17 and Figure 4–18). In female patient, male control and patient cells, however, the present metabolites indicated that 17β HSD type 2 was more active compared to control cell line (Figure 4–24). Pre-treatment with treprostinil in male patient cells may result in increased activity of 17β HSD type 2, indicating the used prostacyclin analogue might affect the expression of this enzyme, while it does not affect the enzymes' activity (Figure 4–17B).

The presence of 16α OHE1 further indicated the presence and enzymatic activity of cytochrome P450 oestrogen metabolising enzymes, especially CYP1B1, whilst the formation of 17α E2 also showed that hPASMCs can convert the original substrate to this isomer. It is not clear, though, whether this was a spontaneous reaction, or a specific isomerase enzyme was required. The presence of an unknown metabolite implied that 17β E2 is the substrate of an oestrogen metabolising enzyme, whose end products we have not yet included in our research of oestrogen metabolism in *in vitro* model. In order to draw sound conclusions regarding the effect of treprostinil on oestrogen metabolism, these experiments would require to be repeated in more cell lines in order to increase the N number and allow statistical evaluation of the results. However, some of the preliminary results corroborate previous observations that prostacyclin analogues might affect oestrogen metabolism, specifically the 17β HSD expression (Corton et al., 1997;Davis et al., 1994), leading to altered production of enzymes' metabolites. Whether this occurs trough activation of PPARs still remains to be investigated.



Figure 4–17: Treprostinil increases metabolism of 17β-oestradiol in human pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells derived from female controls. HPASMCs were grown to 60-70% confluence, as previously described, and serum starved for 16–24 hours. Cells were then stimulated with either treprostinil (1 μ M) l or vehicle (0.005% ethanol (v/v)) for 24 hours, prior to addition of 50nM ¹⁴C₄-17βE2, and treprostinil (1 μ M) or vehicle (0.005% ethanol) for further 48 hours. The spend media were collected and analysed using HPLC with scintillation counter. N=1 per group, repeated 3 times over three different passages. Data is expressed as mean±SEM.



Figure 4–18: In human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cell line derived from male control subjects, treprostinil increases the formation of 17aE2 isoform.

HPASMCs were grown to 60-70% confluence, as previously described, and serum starved for 16–24 hours. Cells were then stimulated with either treprostinil (1 μ M) l or vehicle (0.005% ethanol (v/v)) for 24 hours, prior to addition of 50nM ¹⁴C₄-17 β E2, and treprostinil (1 μ M) or vehicle (0.005% ethanol) for further 48 hours. The spend media were collected and analysed using HPLC with scintillation counter. N=1 per group, repeated 3 times over three different passages. Data is expressed as mean±SEM.

А



Figure 4–19: In human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female patient, treprostinil increases the formation of an unknown oestrogen metabolite.

HPASMCs were grown to 60-70% confluence, as previously described, and serum starved for 16–24 hours. Cells were then stimulated with either treprostinil (1 μ M) l or vehicle (0.005% ethanol (v/v)) for 24 hours, prior to addition of 50nM ¹⁴C₄-17 β E2, and treprostinil (1 μ M) or vehicle (0.005% ethanol) for further 48 hours. The spend media were collected and analysed using HPLC with scintillation counter. N=1 per group, repeated 3 times. Data is expressed as mean±SEM.



Figure 4–20: Representative high-performance liquid chromatography chromatograms for female control pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells (84MP).

A) Chromatogram of oestrogen metabolites formed when female control hPASMCs were stimulated with ${}^{14}C_{4}$ -17 β E2 for 48 hours. B) Chromatogram of oestrogen metabolites formed when female control cell lines were pre-treated with 1 μ M treprostinil 24 hours prior to stimulation with 50nM ${}^{14}C_{4}$ -17 β E2 and 1 μ M treprostinil. C) Chromatogram of oestrogen metabolism in female control cell lines co-stimulated with 50nM ${}^{14}C_{4}$ -17 β E2 and 1 μ M treprostinil for 48 hours.



Time (min)

Figure 4–21: Representative high-performance liquid chromatography chromatograms for female patient pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells (35MP).

A) Chromatogram of oestrogen metabolites formed when female PAH patient hPASMCs were stimulated with ${}^{14}C_{4}$ -17 β E2 for 48 hours. B) Chromatogram of oestrogen metabolites formed when female control cell lines were pre-treated with 1 μ M treprostinil 24 hours prior to stimulation with 50nM ${}^{14}C_{4}$ -17 β E2 and 1 μ M treprostinil. C) Chromatogram of oestrogen metabolism in female control cell lines co-stimulated with 50nM ${}^{14}C_{4}$ -17 β E2 and 1 μ M treprostinil for 48 hours.



Time (min)

Figure 4–22: Representative high-performance liquid chromatography chromatograms for male control pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells (34MP).

A) Chromatogram of oestrogen metabolites formed when male control hPASMCs were stimulated with ¹⁴C₄-17 β E2 for 48 hours. B) Chromatogram of oestrogen metabolites formed when female control cell lines were pre-treated with 1 μ M treprostinil 24 hours prior to stimulation with 50nM ¹⁴C₄-17 β E2 and 1 μ M treprostinil. C) Chromatogram of oestrogen metabolism in female control cell lines co-stimulated with 50nM ¹⁴C₄-17 β E2 and 1 μ M treprostinil for 48 hours.



Time (min)

Figure 4–23: Representative high-performance liquid chromatography chromatograms for male patient pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells (67MP).

A) Chromatogram of oestrogen metabolites formed when male PAH patient hPASMCs were stimulated with ${}^{14}C_{4}$ -17 β E2 for 48 hours. B) Chromatogram of oestrogen metabolites formed when female control cell lines were pre-treated with 1 μ M treprostinil 24 hours prior to stimulation with 50nM ${}^{14}C_{4}$ -17 β E2 and 1 μ M treprostinil. C) Chromatogram of oestrogen metabolism in female control cell lines co-stimulated with 50nM ${}^{14}C_{4}$ -17 β E2 and 1 μ M treprostinil. C) Chromatogram of oestrogen metabolism in female control cell lines co-stimulated with 50nM ${}^{14}C_{4}$ -17 β E2 and 1 μ M treprostinil for 48 hours.



Figure 4–24: Oestrogen metabolic profile in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells stimulated with treprostinil.

Female and male, control and patient PASMCs were incubated with ${}^{14}C_{4}$ -17 β E2 (50nM) for 48 hours in 1% (oestrogen-free) CSS PRF DMEM. Samples were extracted by solid phase extraction using Oasis® HLB cartridges and analysed by HPLC/flux method with UV and radiolabelled detection. N=1 cell line per group, repeated two or three times.

4.2.8.2 2,4,3',5'-Tetramethoxystilbene did not Alter Oestrogen Metabolism in Female Human Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells

TMS, a potent inhibitor of the CYP1B1 oestrogen-metabolising enzyme, has been shown to attenuate the development of experimental PH phenotype in female SERT+ mice and mice exposed to cHx (Johansen, 2014). It also improved the overall survival in male rats exhibiting monocrotaline-induced PH, although it did not improve the haemodynamic parameters and vascular remodelling (Johansen, 2014). The beneficial effects of CYP1B1 inhibition may be mediated through anti-proliferative effects observed *in vitro*, where TMS reduced 17β E2-induced proliferation in hPASMCs (White et al., 2012). High local concentrations of oestrogens due to local synthesis (Mair et al., 2014) and metabolism (Johansen, 2014) was shown to potentially contribute to potent pathogenic environment, stimulating proliferation of VSMCs, and leading to muscularisation of small PAs. Considering the robust evidence of the detrimental role of CYP1B1 in the pathogenesis of PAH (Austin et al., 2009; White et al., 2012), we wished to assess the effects of its inhibition in vitro on oestrogen metabolism in female cell lines.

We showed that female control and patient cell lines metabolise $17\beta E2$ differently (Figure 4–25A), with larger quantities of E1 produced in female patient cells compared to control cells (Figure 4–25B). Moreover, in accordance with previous studies, $16\alpha OHE1$ was only detected in female patient cells (Figure 4–27A). Its production in female patient cells stimulated with $17\beta E2$ was higher compared to control cell line. We also observed the formation of $16\alpha OHE2$ and 2OHE1 in female control and patient cell lines, respectively (Figure 4–26A and Figure 4–27B). Treatment with TMS did not affect the overall oestrogen metabolism in control and patient cell lines, respectively, although a small decrease in the production of $16\alpha OHE1$ was observed (Figure 4–27A). Similarly, the production of $16\alpha OHE1$ was observed (Figure 4–27A). Similarly, the production of $16\alpha OHE1$ was observed (Figure 4–27A). Similarly, the production of $16\alpha OHE2$ in female control cells was decreased as well, albeit this was not significant (Figure 4–27B). Stimulation of female patient cell line with TMS also resulted in the formation of two unknown oestrogen metabolites (Figure 4–26 B, C).



Figure 4–25: Treatment of human pulmonary arteries from female control subjects and clinical patients with 2,4,3',5'-tetramethoxystilbene (TMS) does not alter oestrogen metabolism.

HPASMCs were grown to 60-70% confluence, as previously described, and serum starved for 16–24 hours. Cells were then stimulated with 2,4,3',5'-tetramethoxystilbene (TMS, 100nM) 30 minutes prior to addition of 50nM $^{14}C_4$ -17 β E2. The spent media samples were collected after 48 hours and analysed using HPLC with scintillation counter. N=1 per group, repeated 3 times. Data is expressed as mean±SEM.



Figure 4–26: In human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cell line derived from female patient subject, treatment with 2,4,3',5'-tetramethoxystilbene (TMS) results in the formation of two unknown metabolites.

HPASMCs were grown to 60-70% confluence, as previously described, and serum starved for 16–24 hours. Cells were then stimulated with 2,4,3',5'-tetramethoxystilbene (TMS, 100nM) 30 minutes prior to addition of 50nM ¹⁴C₄-17 β E2. The spent media samples were collected after 48 hours and analysed using HPLC with scintillation counter. N=1 per group, repeated 3 times. Data is expressed as mean±SEM.



Figure 4–27: 2,4,3',5'-Tetramethoxystilbene (TMS) does not affect the metabolism of 17β-oestradiol to 16α-hydroxyoestrogens.

HPASMCs were grown to 60-70% confluence, as previously described, and serum starved for 16–24 hours. Cells were then stimulated with 2,4,3',5'-tetramethoxystilbene (TMS, 100nM) 30 minutes prior to addition of 50nM $^{14}C_4$ -17 β E2. The spent media samples were collected after 48 hours and analysed using HPLC with scintillation counter. N=1 per group, repeated 3 times, Two-Way ANOVA, followed by Tukey's multiple comparison post-hoc test. Data is expressed as mean±SEM.



Time (min)

Figure 4–28: Representative high-performance liquid chromatography chromatograms for female control and patient pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells (80MP, 38MP). Chromatograms shown above depict oestrogen metabolites in female control and patient cell lines treated with 50nM ${}^{14}C_{4}$ -17 β E2 (A, C) and 2,4,3',5'-tetramethoxystilbene (TMS, 100nM), a potent cytochrome CYP1B1 inhibitor, in the presence of ${}^{14}C_{4}$ -17 β E2 (B, D).

4.2.9 Expression of 17β-Hydroxysteroid Dehydrogenase Type 2 is Increased in Unstimulated Male Patient Pulmonary Arterial Smooth Muscle Cells

17 β HSD type 2 is the oxidoreductase catalysing the interconversion of 17 β E2 to E1, with equally high catalytic activity for the interconversion of testosterone to androstenedione (Labrie et al., 1997), and is therefore generally considered to mediate anti-oestrogenic and anti-androgenic effects. 17BHSD type 2 is widely expressed in the peripheral tissues, including the lung and liver (Miettinen et al., 1996), as well as in oestrogen-target tissues, indicating its main metabolic role might be associated with the conversion of sex hormones to biologically less potent hormones. Previously, it was reported that exposure to cHx results in increased expression of 17BHSD type 1 enzyme, which catalyses the interconversion of the E1 to 17β E2 (Johansen, 2014), indicating that increased conversion of less biologically potent oestrogens to more biologically potent hormones, might be associated with dysregulated oestrogen metabolism observed in PAH. We assessed the expression levels of 17βHSD type 2 in PASMCs of both sexes, derived from control and PAH patient subjects to determine whether there is a difference in the expression associated with sex. At gene expression level, we observed no difference in the expression of 17β HSD type 2 between the groups (Figure 4–29A), indicating the expression level of this enzyme might not be affected by sex or disease.

Furthermore, at protein level, a trend of increased expression of 17β HSD type 2 in unstimulated human PASMCs derived from male subjects exhibiting clinical PAH phenotype compared to cells derived from control male subjects and female subjects exhibiting PAH phenotype, respectively was observed (Figure 4–29B). Although the results from immunoblotting should be considered with caution due to the quality of the blot, the results indicate that the protein expression might be affected on the level of microRNA or its degradation pathway, considering the expression at gene level was not altered across groups, our observations.




HPASMCs were grown to reach approximately 80% confluence in 10% FBS DMEM media. PASMCs were then washed with ice-cold PBS and protein samples were collected and prepared as previously described. (A) The expression of *17\betaHSD type 1* was assessed by Taqman quantitative Real Time-PCR. Results were normalised to β -2-microglobulin. N=3–6 per group in triplicate, One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test. Data is expressed as $RQ \pm \frac{RQ_{max}}{RQ_{min}}$, where RQ=Relative quantification. (B) The level of 17 β HSD type 1 protein expression was addressed using immunoblotting. N=3–4 per group in duplicate, ****p<0.0001, One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test. The representative immunoblotting image is shown in (C).

4.2.10 Hypothesis-Free Metabolomic Screen in Female Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells Stimulated with 17β-Oestradiol

When conducting HPLC/flux analyses of oestrogen metabolism in vitro we have been confronted with the presence of oestrogen metabolites that were previously not identified. Due to the position of radioactive label within the parental hormone, however, we were convinced the observed compounds were oestrogen metabolites, although we were unable to correlate them with the retention times of 15 most frequent metabolites.

To the best of author's knowledge, a metabolomic screen using an *in vitro* model of hPASMCs has not yet been carried out. Our aim was, therefore, to conduct a hypothesis-free metabolomic screen in female control and patient cell lines, treated with $17\beta E2$ or vehicle, as described in Chapter 2.6.1. Sample preparation and analysis were performed at Strathclyde University, Glasgow with the support of Dr David Watson and Muhammad Abbas. Our aim was to identify any metabolites that are either altered with clinical disease onset or with $17\beta E2$ stimulation, an insult known to contribute to PAH pathogenesis. Any identified changes in the metabolome could namely potentially point towards molecular pathways that might be imperative in disease pathogenesis but have not yet been investigated in the context of PAH. The library used to carry out the metabolomic screen was constructed at Strathclyde University and was kindly provided by Dr Watson.

The analysis was carried out in two modes, positive and negative, hence the results herein are presented in such manner as well. In positive mode, we observed that stimulation with $17\beta E2$ did not lead to many changes in the metabolome of female control cell lines. A statistically significant increase in (S)-ATPA and an unknown complex was observed, with more of the molecule present when cells were stimulated with 17 $\beta E2$. Similar observations were made in negative mode, where the only significant difference in the metabolome between vehicle- and 17 $\beta E2$ -treated cells was a fatty acid 4,7-dioxo-octanoic acid (*data not shown*). Interestingly, when comparing female patient cells stimulated with vehicle and 17 $\beta E2$, more metabolites were shown to be significantly changed (Figure 4–30). A variety of peptides and chemical complexes were found to be altered in female patient cells stimulated with 50nM unlabelled 17 $\beta E2$ compared to vehicle treatment. However due to their general character, it is difficult to establish their potential association with metabolic pathways which might be affected in hPASMCs by 17 β E2 stimulation (Figure 4–31). Interestingly, creatine, whose main physiological function is to recycle adenosine triphosphate (ATP), was significantly increased in female patient cells stimulated with 50nM unlabelled 17 β E2. Moreover, the levels of glutathione were also affected by 17 β E2 treatment in female patient cells. It therefore appears that energy metabolism and the formation of ROS are affected by oestrogens in female patient hPASMCs. The level of L-kynurenine, a catabolite of tryptophan which is the precursor of 5-HT, was also altered in female patient cells treated with 17 β E2 (Figure 4–31), where treatment resulted in catabolite diminished concentration. While further catabolite products of L-kynurenine metabolism have been shown to possess vasoactive properties (Wang et al., 2010), the parental molecule is a known AhR ligand, shown to be increased in certain cancers, where it promoted tumour growth (Opitz et al., 2011). In negative mode, we did not observe significant changes in metabolites present in female patient cells stimulated with 17 β E2 compared to vehicle treatment group.

When comparing the metabolome of vehicle-treated female controls to female patients, we observed significantly increased levels of glutathione and decreased levels of nicotinamide in female patient cell lines, indicating the formation of ROS might be dysregulated (Figure 4–32). The levels of L-carnitine and pantothenate, which are both involved in the synthesis and stabilisation of coenzyme A (CoA) and acetyl-CoA, respectively, were decreased with treatment in female control cell lines. In negative mode, we show that besides numerous complexes, the levels of pantothenate are slightly reduced in female patient cell lines (Figure 4–34). Equally, using positive mode, we have established that in female patient cells treatment with 17 β E2, results in significantly altered levels of numerous chemical complexes, and levels of L-carnitine compared to female patient cell lines. Whilst in negative mode, treatment with 17 β E2 resulted in increased levels of 2-oxoglutarate, which has an important role in oxidation reactions involving molecular oxygen, in female patient cell lines compared to female control cell lines (Figure 4–34).



Figure 4–30: Metabolomic screen of pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female patient subjects comparing vehicle-treated cells with those treated with 17 β -oestradiol using positive mode.

Female patient hPASMC were grown to 60-70% confluence, as previously described, and serum starved for 16–24 hours. Cells were then stimulated with vehicle (0.005% (v/v) EtOH in 1% CSS PRF DMEM) for 48 hours. The spend media were collected as previously described and analysed using LC-MS. N=3 per group, repeated 2–3 times, *p \leq 0.05, ****p<0.0001, unpaired t-test.

The graph presents only the selection of metabolites, which were significantly altered by treatment with 17β -oestradiol.



Figure 4–31: Metabolomic screen comparing vehicle-treated pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female control subjects to female patient subjects using positive mode. Female control hPASMC were grown to 60-70% confluence, as previously described, and serum starved for 16–24 hours. Cells were then stimulated with vehicle (0.005% (v/v) EtOH in 1% CSS PRF DMEM) for 48 hours. The spend media were collected as previously described and analysed using LC-MS. N=3 per group, repeated 2–3 times, *p \leq 0.05, ****p<0.0001, unpaired t-test.

The graph presents only the selection of metabolites, which were significantly different between vehicle-treated female cell lines derived from control and patient subjects.





The graph presents only the selection of metabolites, which were significantly different between vehicle-treated female cell lines derived from control and patient subjects.



Figure 4–33: Metabolomic screen comparing vehicle-treated pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female control subjects to female patient subjects using negative mode. Female control and patient hPASMC were grown to 60-70% confluence, as previously described, and serum starved for 16–24 hours. Cells were then stimulated with vehicle 17 β E2 (50nM) in 1% CSS PRF DMEM for 48 hours. The spend media were collected as previously described and analysed using LC-MS. N=3 per group, repeated 2–3 times, *p≤0.05, ****p<0.0001, unpaired t-test.

The graph presents only the selection of metabolites, which were significantly different between vehicle-treated female cell lines derived from control and patient subjects.



Figure 4–34: Metabolomic screen comparing 17β -oestradiol-treated pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from female control subjects to female patient subjects using negative mode.

Female control and patient hPASMC were grown to 60-70% confluence, as previously described, and serum starved for 16–24 hours. Cells were then stimulated with vehicle 17 β E2 (50nM) in 1% CSS PRF DMEM for 48 hours. The spend media were collected as previously described and analysed using LC-MS. N=3 per group, repeated 2–3 times, *p≤0.05, ****p<0.0001, unpaired t-test.

The graph presents only the selection of metabolites in female cell lines derived from controls compared to patient cell lines, which were significantly altered by 17β -oestradiol.

4.2.11 Initial Development of Liquid Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry Method for the Detection and Quantitation of Oestrogens in Spent Cell Media Samples

Liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC/MS/MS) is an analytical technique, providing information on structure, molecular mass and concentration of analytes present within a complex sample. The technique utilises separation of analytes by liquid chromatography or HPLC, and detection of these analytes by mass spectrometry (MS). Briefly, the compounds in samples are first separated by UHPLC, where the sample together with mobile phase is pumped through the separation column, resulting in differential elution of compounds, based on their interaction with stationary phase packed inside the column. The separated sample compounds are then immediately introduced into the mass spectrometer. In mass spectrometer, the sample components are firstly ionised, most often using the electrospray ionisation technique (ESI). Here, the sample introduce into the MS is dispersed by electrospray tip into a mist of highly charged droplets, having the same polarity as the capillary voltage, due to strong electric field applied at the tip. The charged droplets travel down a pressure gradient and potential gradient toward the analyser of the mass spectrometer. The temperature of the ESI source together with a stream of drying gas enable the de-solvation of charged droplets, leading to reduction of droplet size, to a critical point, when ions can be ejected in an electric field, resulting in the formation of analyte ions. Resulting emitted ions are then accelerated into the mass analyser, where the charged parental molecules or charged fragments of the analyte are separated in vacuum according to their mass-to-charge ratio by their behaviour within quadrupole analysers. The value of indicator quantity is then recorded by the detector, and signal is transformed into a mass spectrum. In tandem mass spectrometry, a precursor ion is selected based on its mass by a mass analyser. The selected ion then undergoes a gas-phase chemical reaction, resulting in the fragmentation of the ion to product ions of different masses, which are then passed to another mass analyser. The masses of the product ions are detected in the latter mass analyser, generating the mass ion spectrum. Due to the method's numerous advantages, such as small sample volumes, improved specificity and sensitivity, and short analysis times, LC-MS/MS is rapidly replacing other methods for steroid hormone analysis. Importantly, LC-MS/MS additionally offers the identification of unknown analytes present in a sample, based on their molecular weight and structure, determined by fragmentation pattern of the analyte.

As dysregulation of oestrogen metabolism has been associated with the onset of PAH, it is our belief that a technique is required, which could be employed to investigate the changes and/or differences in the oestrogen metabolism in patients and healthy individuals. Albeit numerous techniques are currently available to assess the levels of individual oestrogen metabolites, the considerable number of oestrogen metabolites, having similar structure and exhibiting high tendency for oxidation, severely hinder the separation and identification of these compounds. UHPLC was previously successfully used to investigate oestrogen metabolism by several groups (Rogan et al., 2003; Johansen et al., 2014; Delvoux et al., 2007). Nonetheless, this technique did not readily guarantee quantification of oestrogen metabolites, as it is partially hindered by high detection limits. Moreover, the identification of the metabolites when analysing complex samples might be impeded by the lack of means of metabolite identification. We therefore opted to develop an LC-MS/MS method to assess the profile of oestrogens in *in vitro* model of hPASMCs, which offers numerous advantages over other methods: i) the separation of oestrogen metabolites is not only based on liquid chromatography, but also the differences in metabolite molecular masses and chemical structures, ii) enhanced sensitivity of LC-MS/MS, achieved through the introduction of derivatising chemical groups, enables the detection of oestrogen metabolites on pico-molar level, and iii) the redundancy of radioactively labelled oestrogens introduces cost- and environment/health-benefits. Most often this technique has been used to investigate the levels of parental oestrogens (Nelson et al., 2004b), with Guo and colleagues recently reporting the quantification of 16aOHE1 in human sera samples (Guo et al., 2008).

However, the LC-MS/MS approach to oestrogen metabolism analysis requires the compounds to ionise for them to be separated in the electrical field according to their molecular mass, and oestrogens, as all other steroid-based compounds, do not ionise readily. Although chemical derivatisation, which enhances the sensitivity of the assay, is required, it could potentially introduce errors into the system.

The work presented in this chapter was done in close collaboration with Prof Ruth Andrew and Dr Natalie Homer at University of Edinburgh. The method development was a joint effort by the author and Ioannis Stasinopoulos, who has dedicated his time to establishing and validating the initial technique as a part of his internship research project.



Figure 4–35: Initial liquid-chromatography tandem mass spectrometry method for the detection and quantitation of oestrogen metabolites in in vitro model.

4.2.11.1 Establishing a Method by Initial Liquid Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry

The initial method for quantitation of oestrogen metabolites in aqueous matrix was established by Ioannis Stasinopoulos, who compared available ACE LC columns, by Hichrom Ltd, UK, which were suitable for separation of analytes with steroid character. The most suitable column was selected based on the peak shape and size, and the maximal resolving power achieved for E1 and 17β E2, as assessed by the difference in the retention time for these two parental oestrogens. For the separation of oestrogens, gradient elution was selected, as generally longer gradient times result in larger differences in the retention times of metabolites, and therefore better chromatographic separation.

The ACE Excel C18-AR column was selected for the separation of complex mixture of oestrogen metabolites, with gradient length (t_g) of 660 seconds at 25°C, where the gradient was applied from to increase the organic phase (CH₃CN+0.1% FA (v/v), B) from 10% to 80%, before the system was re-equilibrated to initial 10% of organic phase. Excellent separation of E1, 17 α E2, 17 β E2, 20HE1, 20HE2, 40HE1, 40HE2, 16 α OHE1 and 16 α OHE2 was achieved (Figure 4–35). The separation of methoxy metabolites, however, was not obtained. Considering the important impact of these metabolites in the treatment and prevention of the experimental PH in animal models, we deemed it necessary to alter the method to also be able to detect and quantify methoxyoestrogens.

4.2.11.2 Separation of Methoxyoestrogens was Achieved by Replacement of High-Performance Liquid Chromatography Column

Separation of methoxyoestrogens was attempted by the author by i) decreasing temperature $(T=10^{\circ}C \text{ and } 15^{\circ}C)$, ii) prolonging the gradient time to $t_g=23$ minutes, and iii) reducing flow rate (0.5mL/min). None of the introduced changes in the LC-MS/MS method resulted in improved chromatographic separation of these metabolites.

Separation of methoxyoestrogens was achieved only by exchange of the ACE Excel C18-AR column for the ACE Excel C18-PFP column (Figure 4–36). Improved selectivity was achieved due to the presence of pentafluorophenyl (PFP) group, due to multiple mechanism of analyte separation. With ACE Excel C18-PFP column, the retention times of

methoxyoestrogens have changed. Specifically, with ACE Excel C18-AR column, the 4MeOE1 eluted from the column after 2MeOE1, while the order of metabolite elution was reversed with ACE Excel C18-PFP column. Importantly, the peaks presenting 2MeOE1 and 4MeOE1 were completely separated. Equally, the replacement of ACE Excel C18-AR column resulted in complete separation of the peaks corresponding to 2MeOE2 and 4MeOE2, which previously eluted from the column simultaneously.

4.2.11.3 Sample Matrix Affects Calibration Curves of Oestrogen Metabolites

As the initial method development was done using aqueous sample matrix, we aimed to determine whether the relationship between the ratio of peak area of an oestrogen metabolite to the peak area of corresponding internal standard with concentration of that metabolite was linear when recovered from cell medium. The ratio of peak areas is used instead of metabolite peak area to account for any losses during solid-phase extraction. We prepared two calibration curves for each of oestrogen metabolites in either aqueous or media matrices in the range of 5 to 2000ng/mL, and extracted these samples as previously described (Chapter 2.5.2). Extracted samples were then derivatised and methylated as described in Chapter 2.7.3.

While the relationship between the concentration and the ratio of oestrogen metabolites to the peak area of corresponding inert standard was linear in aqueous samples, the relationship was not linear in the media sample matrix for all steroids, with particular problems at lower concentrations (Figure 4–37 to Figure 4–41). Nonetheless, in the range between 500 and 2000ng/mL, linearity was obtained for most of oestrogen metabolites in both sample matrices. Therefore, the quantitation of oestrogen metabolites using the LC-MS/MS method might be hindered, as the expected concentrations of oestrogen metabolites are expected in physiological concentrations, i.e. the lower part of the calibration curves.



Figure 4–36:Liquid-chromatography tandem mass spectrometry method for the detection and quantitation of oestrogen metabolites in in vitro model, using ACE Excel C18-PFP column.



Figure 4–37: Calibration curves for oestrone, 17α -oestradiol and 17β -oestradiol prepared in two different sample matrices (aqueous – above and media – below).



Figure 4–38: Calibration curves for 2- 4- and 16a-hydroxyoestrone prepared in two different sample matrices (aqueous – above and media – below).



Figure 4–39: Calibration curves for 2- 4- and 16a-hydroxyoestradiol prepared in two different sample matrices (aqueous – above and media – below).



Figure 4–40: Calibration curves for 2- and 4-methoxyoestrone prepared in two different sample matrices (aqueous – above and media – below).



Figure 4–41: Calibration curves for 2- and 4-methoxyoestradiol prepared in two different sample matrices (aqueous – above and media – below).

4.2.11.4 Assessment of Wash Step for Solid-Phase Extraction of Oestrogen Metabolites from Media Sample Matrix

The solid-phase extraction protocol was optimised as previously described in (Johansen, 2014) for use with radio-HPLC. Due to the observed matrix effects of media, we wished to assess whether the extraction protocol may be further optimised. First, we assessed alternative types of solid-phase cartridges. Here we compared the HLB and MCX cartridges where the first cartridge is universal, exhibiting strongly hydrophilic character and can maintain high retention and capacity even if it dries, and the latter is a mixed-mode, strong cation-exchange cartridge, allowing for greater selectively of retention through manipulation of pH. The suitability of cartridges was assessed based on recoveries of oestrogen metabolites and internal standards. To recapitulate, recovery was calculated as the percentage of a given extracted oestrogen metabolite to unextracted metabolite. It follows from the equation, that the best cartridge for SPE is the one offering recoveries close to 100%. Here we showed that although MCX cartridges might offer better recovery of some metabolites, the HLB cartridges exhibit better recovery of internal standards labelled with stable ¹³C isotope and most of oestrogen metabolites, when MeOH is used for elution (Figure 4–42 and Figure 4–44). Although ACN as eluent resulted in seemingly better recoveries, we observed large variability with the latter eluent. The difference in the recovery of hydroxylated oestrogens is shown in Figure 4–43, where the recovery of these metabolites in HLB extraction cartridges was poorer compared to the MCX cartridges. To circumvent this, samples of spent media could be divided, and applied to both cartridges, although this would inevitably lead to lower metabolite amount per each sample.

We then also assessed the wash steps used to wash out undesired matrix components, which are not bound to the cartridge. We show that the combination of a wash step with 100% H₂O followed by a wash with 5% (v/v) MeOH in water might wash out some of the oestrogen metabolites present in the samples, as the recoveries, especially for more hydrophilic metabolites, were lower in this instance (Figure 4–44B).



Figure 4–42: The combination of HLB cartridges for solid-phase extraction and methanol as eluent results in less variable recovery of oestrogen metabolites from cell media.

10ng of each oestrogen metabolite was added to 10mL of 1% CSS PRF DMEM media before extraction. MCX and HLB cartridges were used for solid-phase extraction, and either 3mL of methanol (MeOH) or acetonitrile (ACN) was used to elute the oestrogens. The recovery of oestrogen metabolite using solid-phase extraction cartridges Oasis® HLB was calculated by determining the ratio of pre- to post-spiked samples. The recovery of oestrogen metabolites was calculated by determining the ratio of pre- to post-spiked samples. Each extraction was performed in duplicate.

Unextracted Hydroxyoestrones (10ng)



Hydroxyoestrones (10ng) extracted using HLB cartridge (MeOH)



Hydroxyoestrones (10ng) extracted using MCX cartridge (MeOH)



Figure 4–43: Liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry of unextracted hydroxyoestrones compared to those extracted using either HLB or MCX solid-phase extraction cartridges.



Figure 4–44: Recovery of hydroxy oestrogens is reduced by additional wash step with 100% water.

100ng of each oestrogen metabolite was added to 10mL of 1% CSS PRF DMEM media, either before (pre-spiked) or after extraction (post-spiked). The recovery of oestrogen metabolite using solid-phase extraction cartridges Oasis® HLB was calculated by determining the ratio of pre- to post-spiked samples. A) Solid-phase extraction with 5% (v/v) MeOH wash. B) Solid-phase extraction with 100% (v/v) H₂0 and 5% (v/v) MeOH wash steps. Each extraction was performed in triplicate.

A

B

4.2.12 Oestrogen Metabolomic Profile and Quantitation in In Vitro Model of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

4.2.12.1 Calibration Curves for Oestrogen Metabolites of Interest in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension in Media Sample Matrix

As we showed previously that the media sample matrix might affect the reaction of derivatisation and therefore hinder quantitation of oestrogen metabolites in spent media samples of naïve hPASMCs derived from control and patient subjects of both sexes, we have dedicated special care to construction of calibration curves. Here we show that over a wide concentration range of oestrogen metabolites included in these experiments, we have achieved satisfactory calibration curves as assessed per R-square values, which assesses the closeness of the data to the fitted regression curve (Figure 4–45 to Figure 4–48). Poorer fit of data to the linear regression curve was observed for hydroxylated oestrogens, as seen in Figure 4–46 and Figure 4–47.



Figure 4–45: Calibration curves for oestrone, 17a-oestradiol and 17β -oestradiol prepared in media sample matrix, and used to quantify oestrogen metabolites in spent media samples of naïve cell cultures of human pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells derived from control and patient subjects of both sexes.



• • Standard 0.15 O Excl. Standard Area Ratio 0.10 0.05 0.00 100 200 300 400 600 700 800 900 0 500 **Concentration Ratio** Calibration for 16OH-E1_MPPZ (58.0; 12.7): y = 7.63598e-4 x + 0.01607 (r = 0.99585) (weighting: None) Standard O Excl. Standard 0.6 Area Ratio 0.4 0.2 0.0 200 300 400 500 600 700 800 900 100 Concentration Ratio

Figure 4–46: Calibration curves for 2-, 4- and 16a-hydroxyoestrone prepared in media sample matrix, and used to quantify oestrogen metabolites in spent media samples of naïve cell cultures of human pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells derived from control and patient subjects of both sexes.



Figure 4–47: Calibration curves for 2-, 4- and 16a-hydroxyoestradiol prepared in media sample matrix, and used to quantify oestrogen metabolites in spent media samples of naïve cell cultures of human pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells derived from control and patient subjects of both sexes.





Figure 4–48: Calibration curves for 2- and 4- methoxyoestrogens prepared in media sample matrix, and used to quantify oestrogen metabolites in spent media samples of naïve cell cultures of human pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells derived from control and patient subjects of both sexes.

4.2.12.2 Oestrogen Metabolic Profile in In Vitro Model of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

As the lung is a site of oestrogen synthesis and metabolism, and individual oestrogen metabolites have been shown to convey differential biological effects in PASMCs, we wished to establish a metabolic profile of oestrogens using the LC-MS/MS methodology. The data within this chapter is presented in two ways. Firstly, we showed the complete oestrogen metabolic profile in *in vitro* model of PAH. Next, we compared the levels of individual oestrogen metabolites for hPASMCs derived from control and PAH patient hPASMCs of both sexes, to determine whether there were significant differences in the amounts of these metabolites.

According to the profile, in cells derived from female control subjects, the metabolites present in highest concentrations were E1, 17β E2, 17α E2, 2OHE1, 4OHE1, 2OHE2, 4OHE2, and 4MeOE2 (Figure 4-49A). Although other metabolites are formed in these cells from $17\beta E2$, their amounts were low. The results suggested in these cells oestrogen metabolising enzymes with high affinity for hydroxylation at positions C2 and C4 were present, alongside 17β HSD type 2, which converts highly active 17β E2 to less biologically active E1. Moreover, a significant proportion of 17BE2 was also converted to the geometrical isoform 17aE2, which has been in the past considered to be less biologically active. Whether this is a spontaneous isomerisation, or an enzyme-catalysed reaction is not clear. Considering the numerous extrahepatic CYP enzymes exhibits moderate or high affinity for hydroxylation at position C2, it is perhaps not surprising that we observed relatively high levels of 20HE1. The presence of 16aOHE1 was also detected, while less of 16aOHE2 was present. In Chapter 1.6.1 we have summarised the catalytic affinities of CYP1A1 and CYP1B1 enzymes. CYP enzymes exhibit specific substrate preference, resulting in differential hydroxylation of E1 and 17β E2. The comparable levels of hydroxylated E1 and 17βE2 indicated that the present CYP enzymes did not exhibit significant preference for their substrates. Among the protective methoxyoestrogens, 4MeOE2 was present in the highest amount of metabolite per µg of protein in female control hPASMCs. The observed amount of 4MeOE2 also indicated relatively high activity of COMT in these cells. While 20HE1, 40HE1 and 20HE2 were shown to be present, we have only measured low amounts of these metabolites. It is unclear why they have not been metabolised by COMT to form corresponding methoxyoestrogens. HPASMCs derived from female PAH patients metabolised 17 β E2 mainly to E1, 20HE1 and 40HE1, with other metabolites present only

in moderate amounts (Figure 4–49B). Therefore, high enzymatic activity or increased expression of the 17 β HSD type 2 was indicated. High amounts of 2OHE1 and 4OHE1 compared to those of 2OHE2 and 4OHE2, indicated there is a shift in the expression of CYP enzymes, favouring E1 as their substrate. In samples from female PAH patient hPASMCs, the production of 16 α -hydroxy metabolites was smaller than in female control cell lines. We have observed no significant production of protective methoxyoestrogens in samples from female PAH patient hPASMCs.

In cell lines derived from male control subjects we observed the formation of E1, 20HE1, 4OHE1, 2OHE2 and 4OHE2. 16aOHE1 and MeOEs were also detected, while other metabolites were present only in minor amounts. The metabolic profile of oestrogens indicated high activity of 17βHSD type 2, CYP enzymes exhibiting high and moderate affinity for hydroxylation at position C2 and C4, with only moderate activity at position C16 α . Moreover, considering less of 16 α OHE2 was produced, the enzymes appear to favour hydroxylation of E1 at position C16a. The detection of all methoxyoestrogens indicated the activity of COMT. The oestrogen metabolism in male PAH patient hPASMCs appeared to be especially influenced by the enzymatic activity of 17βHSD type 2, which has also been confirmed in female PAH patient hPASMCs (Figure 4–50B). Interestingly, like in female patient hPASMCs, the isomerisation of $17\beta E2$ to $17\alpha E2$ appeared to be a significant part of oestrogen metabolism in these cells (Figure 4–50B). Although, the literature on the effects of 17aE2 in humans is very scarce, there are reports of its pro-proliferative effects in human neoplasms (Papendorp et al., 1985;Hajek et al., 1997). Moreover, 17αE2 was also shown to increase aromatase activity in a concentration- and time-dependent manner (Hoffmann et al., 2002). In these cells much of the $17\beta E2$ introduced as the source for oestrogen metabolism has remained unmetabolized.

For easier interpretation of oestrogen metabolite profiles in hPASMCs measured using the LC-MS/MS methodology for *in vitro* investigation of oestrogen metabolism, pie charts are shown in Figure 4–51.



Figure 4–49: Oestrogen metabolic profile in human pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells derived from females.

Female control and patient hPASMCs were grown to 60-70% confluence, as previously described, and serum starved for 16–24 hours. Cells were then stimulated with 17 β E2 (50nM) for 48 hours. The spent media were collected and analysed using LC-MS/MS, as previously described. N=3–5 per group, repeated 1–2 times. Oestrogen metabolic profile was constructed.

Α

B





Male control and patient hPASMCs were grown to 60-70% confluence, as previously described, and serum starved for 16–24 hours. Cells were then stimulated with 17 β E2 (50nM) for 48 hours. The spent media were collected and analysed using LC-MS/MS, as previously described. N=3–5 per group, repeated 1–2 times. Oestrogen metabolic profile was constructed.

B

A

To compare the levels of oestrogen metabolites formed between different hPASMCs derived from control and patient subjects of both sexes, we further presented the quantified levels for each of the metabolites. For OHEs, currently achievable limit of detection was relatively high, therefore the measured amounts of these metabolites could not be deemed reliable. We observed that the levels of conversion of 17β E2 into E1, was increased in female and male patient hPASMCs, however only in female cells the increase was significant compared to female controls (Figure 4–52A). Furthermore, the isomerisation of 17β E2 appeared to be increased in patient hPASMCs of both sexes, although the increase was only statistically significant in female patient hPASMCs (Figure 4–52B). It is not clear whether a specific isomerase enzyme is required for this reaction. Interestingly, it appeared that in male patient hPASMCs (Figure 4–52C). No statistically significant changes in the formation of OHEs (Figure 4–53 and Figure 4–54) and MeOEs metabolites (Figure 4–55) were detected.

As all the results are expressed in ng of metabolite per μ g of protein, we also calculated the amount of 17 β E2 introduced as the source of oestrogen metabolism in these experiments, per μ g of protein at 48-hour end time-point. The amount of 17 β E2 used varied between approximately 0.11 ng/ μ g protein to approximately 1.1 ng/ μ g protein. These figures indicated that in certain instances significant loss of either 17 β E2 or the metabolites formed from this source had occurred.



Figure 4–51: Oestrogen metabolite profile of pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells from controls and PAH patients of both sexes, determined using novel LC-MS/MS method to investigate oestrogen metabolism in vitro.



С

B

Α

Figure 4–52: Comparison of oestrone, 17β-oestradiol and its 17α geometric isomer quantities in human pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells determined using the novel liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry method.

HPASMCs were grown to 60-70% confluence, as previously described, and serum starved for 16–24 hours. Cells were then stimulated with 17 β E2 (50nM) for 48 hours. The spent media were collected and analysed using LC-MS/MS, as previously described. N=3–5 per group, repeated 1–2 times, *p≤0.05, **p<0.01, One-Way ANOVA, followed by Tukey's multiple comparison post-hoc test. Data is expressed as mean±SEM.



B

А

С

Figure 4–53: Comparison of 2-, 4- and 16a-hydroxyoestrone quantities in human pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells determined using the novel liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry method.

HPASMCs were grown to 60-70% confluence, as previously described, and serum starved for 16–24 hours. Cells were then stimulated with 17 β E2 (50nM) for 48 hours. The spent media were collected and analysed using LC-MS/MS, as previously described. N=3–5 per group, repeated 1–2 times, One-Way ANOVA, followed by Tukey's multiple comparison post-hoc test. Data is expressed as mean±SEM.


B

Α

С

Figure 4–54: Comparison of 2-, 4- and 16a-hydroxyoestradiol quantities in human pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells determined using the novel liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry method.

HPASMCs were grown to 60-70% confluence, as previously described, and serum starved for 16–24 hours. Cells were then stimulated with 17 β E2 (50nM) for 48 hours. The spent media were collected and analysed using LC-MS/MS, as previously described. N=3–5 per group, repeated 1–2 times, One -Way ANOVA, followed by Tukey's multiple comparison post-hoc test. Data is expressed as mean±SEM.





HPASMCs were grown to 60-70% confluence, as previously described, and serum starved for 16–24 hours. Cells were then stimulated with 17 β E2 (50nM) for 48 hours. The spent media were collected and analysed using LC-MS/MS, as previously described. N=3–5 per group, repeated 1–2 times, *p≤0.05, **p<0.01, Two-Way ANOVA, followed by Tukey's multiple comparison post-hoc test. Data is expressed as mean±SEM.

B

А

4.3 Discussion

The molecular mechanisms associated with the role of sex in the development of PAH remain largely poorly investigated and understood. It appears that the effects of sex are two-fold. Firstly, the development of the clinical form of PAH is influenced by sex, with significantly higher proportion of women presenting the clinical form of the disease compared to men (Humbert et al., 2010a;Ling et al., 2012;Escribano-Subias et al., 2012). Secondly, according to survival data, women, albeit developing the disease more often, exhibit improved survival compared to men (Escribano-Subias et al., 2012;Humbert et al., 2010b). Women have improved cardiac function as assessed by higher ejection fraction and RV function (Swift et al., 2015;Marra et al., 2016). Moreover, in CVD, the RV function appeared to be better preserved in women compared to men (Cleland et al., 2003), with documented detrimental effects of testosterone and DHEA on RV mass and volume (Ventetuolo et al., 2011). In PAH, the initiation of appropriate therapy does not significantly reduce the deterioration in RV function in men compared to matched women patients (Jacobs et al., 2014).

Within the lung, oestrogen is produced and metabolised locally (Mair et al., 2014;Bieche et al., 2007). As numerous extrahepatic oestrogen metabolising enzymes were shown to be expressed within the lung, the array of metabolites that exert could be exerting their biological effects is considerable. Specifically, 16α OHE1 was implicated in the promotion of proliferation of VSMCs in PAH, while 2MeOE2 was shown to attenuate the proliferation of several vascular cell types (Fotsis et al., 1994;Barchiesi et al., 2006;Tsukamoto et al., 1998;Tofovic et al., 2009;Nishigaki et al., 1995). We hypothesised that in PAH, the local oestrogen metabolism is altered and favours the accumulation of metabolites driving the disease pathogenesis, whilst less of the protective metabolites is formed. We therefore wished to establish oestrogen metabolic profile of VSMCs and quantify the production of oestrogen metabolites. Furthermore, we aimed to assess the effects of oestrogen metabolites on specific aspects of PAH pathogenesis.

In human uterine artery ECs, 2OHE2, 4OHE2, 2MeOE2 and 4MeOE2 induced the expression of PGIS (Jobe et al., 2013). As PGIS is also widely expressed within the lung, we wished to assess whether oestrogen metabolites might be affecting the expression of this enzyme in the lung, and therefore possibly convey protective or pathogenic properties. We showed that in hPMECs, only 2MeOE1 and 2MeOE2 increase the expression of PGIS,

contrary to observations by (Jobe et al., 2013). Considering we report no changes in the gene expression encoding for PGIS, it is possible that MeOEs might stabilise the enzyme and protect it from degradation compared to other oestrogens, instead of inducing synthesis de *novo*. When assessing the effects of oestrogen metabolites on the release of PGI₂, we showed that acute stimulation led to significantly decreased expression of 6-keto PGF1 α when cells were treated with 16aOHE2 and 2MeOE1, indicating decreased release of its parental molecule PGI_2 . Interestingly, the release of 6-keto $PGF1\alpha$ in the positive control group for PGI₂ release (20µM arachidonic acid), was like the one observed in treatment groups 16αOHE2, 2MeOE1 and 2MeOE2. One might argue that it appears that the mentioned metabolites do not affect the release of PGI₂ from intracellular storage. However, as all prostaglandins also PGI₂ is produced as required in response to appropriate stimuli. Therefore, the observed decreased synthesis of PGI₂ in response to acute treatment with 16αOHE2, 2MeOE1 and 2MeOE2 should be further investigated. Prolonged exposure to oestrogen metabolites though did not result in significant changes in the release of PGI₂ levels, probably due to the selected time-points for these experiments. Furthermore, as PGIS is expressed not only in vascular ECs, but also in VSMCs, we assessed the effects that oestrogen metabolites might have on the expression of PGIS in PAs. Treatment of hPASMCs derived from male control subjects with pharmacological levels of 2MeOE2 resulted in increased expression of PGIS, whilst no effect was observed in cell lines derived from females. Hence, it appeared that 2MeOE2 effects on the expression of PGIS might be sexdependent in VSMCs.

The protective properties of 2MeOE2 were first described in cancer research, where treatment with this metabolite opposed tumour progression by having antiproliferative and antiangiogenic activity (Sutherland et al., 2005) in numerous types of tumours, including lung (Huober et al., 2000). The protective effects in the lung were also described in PAH, where 2MeOE2 was found to prevent and attenuate the development of experimental PH phenotype in MCT, belomycine-induced and Su5416/Hx model (Tofovic et al., 2009;Tofovic et al., 2008b;Tofovic and Rafikova, 2009). We therefore wanted to assess the antiproliferative properties of methoxyoestrogens in *in vitro* model of PAH and determine whether the protective effects are sex-dependent. We treated PASMC cell lines derived from control subjects of both sexes with 1nM and 100nM MeOEs. We demonstrated that 2MeOE1, 2MeOE2 and 4MeOE2 reduce proliferation in control PASMCs of both sexes, at both concentrations. According to radioligand binding assays, the affinity of MeOEs for ER at physiological concentrations are not significant, compared to the parental hormone and

catechol oestrogens (Merriam et al., 1980). It is however noteworthy, that normal physiological concentration of 2MeOE2 is supposed to be <0.1nM. We therefore wished to assess whether some of the antiproliferative properties might be mediated through classical oestrogen signalling. Our results indicated that in male control hPASMCs, inhibition of ER α , ER β and gpr30 restored proliferation, in the presence of 2MeOE2. Moreover, the antiproliferative properties of 4MeOE2 were only opposed by inhibition of both classical ER. Similar response was documented in female control PASMCs. Interestingly, 2MeOE2 only attenuated cellular proliferation in female patient PASMCs, while it had no effect on male patient PASMCs. The research showing the protective activity of 2MeOE2 as determined by prevention and/or attenuation of experimental PH phenotype was done in female animals only, therefore no description of in vivo effects of 2MeOE2 in male exist. Treatment of hPASMCs with 20HE2 and 40HE2, precursors in the formation of antiproliferative MeOEs, led to attenuated proliferation of these cells. Herein we showed that both catechol oestrogens decrease serum-induced proliferation of hPASMCs. To establish whether the observed attenuation of proliferation is due to the metabolism of catechol oestrogens to methoxy metabolites, we have pre-stimulated hPASMCs with COMT inhibitors. Indeed, our results indicate that inhibition of the conversion of 2OHE2 into corresponding methoxyoestrogen, at least restores cellular proliferation. Interestingly, inhibition of COMT only partially restored proliferation in the presence of 4OHE2, indicating that 4OHE2 might confer its anti-proliferative properties through other mechanisms. Due to reported high binding affinity of catechol oestrogens to classical ER, we also explored whether these metabolites might mediate some of their effects through ER signalling. 20HE2 and 40E2 have similar affinity for both ER isoforms, which is 5-10-fold lower than that of the parental hormone 17β -E2 (Schutze et al., 1994). The presence of ER α and ERβ antagonist, or the dual ER antagonist ICI 182 780, resulted in restored proliferation of hPASMCs in the presence of 2OHE2, while in the presence of 4OHE2 the proliferation was only restored by ER α antagonist. It appears that 4OHE2 may convey its effects through the ERa receptors. ERa is increased in hPASMCs derived from female PAH patients, therefore the anti-proliferative properties of 4OHE2 might not be associated with the amount of the present receptor but affect cellular proliferation through a different mechanism. The 4-OHEs were also reported to potentially activate ER (Martucci and Fishman, 1976), and possibly convey prolonged biological effects due to slower dissociation rates from receptors (Zhu and Conney, 1998;Barnea et al., 1983).

The BMPRII signalling pathway is intimately involved in the pathogenesis of PAH, and its dysregulation resulted in proliferation of PASMCs (Perez et al., 2011;Nakaoka et al., 1997) (Zhang et al., 2003) and apoptosis of PAECs (Teichert-Kuliszewska et al., 2006). 17BE2 reduced BMPRII signalling, in Hx through HIF1 α (Ichimori et al., 2013) and ER α signalling (Fessel et al., 2013). Additionally, sex appeared to be associated with differential expression of proteins participating in the BMPRII signalling pathway, with PASMCs from female control subjects exhibiting lower levels of mRNA and protein expression of BMPRII, Smad1, Id1 and Id3 (Mair et al., 2015). We therefore wished to assess whether different oestrogen metabolites might affect the expression of components of the BMPRII pathway. We first conducted a preliminary assessment of 13 oestrogen metabolites, showing that methoxyoestrogens might increase the expression of BMPRII, pSmad1/5/8(9) and Id1. We further showed that in male PASMCs from control subject, 2MeOE2 significantly increased the expression of Id1, while the increase in female PASMCs was not statistically significant. The alterations in the expression of other components of the BMPRII signalling pathway were not statistically significant due to large variation in the response between cell lines. Interestingly, increased expression in Id1 was observed at higher concentration of 2MeOE2, while we previously observed antiproliferative effects of this metabolite at lower concentrations. The p27/Kip1 protein is a tumour suppressor, belonging to cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors (CKIs), which bind to various cyclin/cycle dependent kinase (CDK) complexes throughout the cell cycle and negatively regulate cells' progression through cell cycle. p27/Kip1 primarily regulates CDK activity in response to extracellular signals, such as DNA damage, TGF β , resulting in the formation of inhibition of cyclin E-CDK2 complexes and phase G₁ cell cycle arrest (Polyak et al., 1994;Koff et al., 1992;Kato et al., 1994). The expression of p27/Kip1 was significantly reduced in high serum environment, indicating VSMCs were progressing through cell cycle and proliferating, while overexpression of this tumour suppressor reduced cell proliferation (Fouty et al., 2001). Considering vascular remodelling is essential in the pathology of PAH, the role of p27/Kip1 in disease development might be important due to its role in the regulation of PASMCs proliferation. Previously, treatment of rats exposed to cHx with 17BE2 resulted in increased expression of p27/Kip1 animal lung tissue and cultured PASMCs (Xu et al., 2010). The authors summarised the mechanism by which $17\beta E2$ might rescue the experimental PH phenotype in these animals might at least partially depend on increased expression of p27/Kip1. Moreover, the ability of 2MeOE2 to oppose the neointima formation appeared to at least partially depend on upregulation of p27/Kip1 expression in VSMCs (Barchiesi et al., 2006). Here we showed that stimulation of hPASMCs derived from female control subjects

with 2MeOE2 elicited a concentration-dependent increase in p27/Kip1 expression, which might be another mechanism by which 2MeOE2 might modulate hPASMC proliferation. This offers the possibility that 2MeOE2 conveys its anti-proliferative properties through various mechanisms, which could be concentration-dependent.

Previously, an HPLC/flux method was developed within our research group with the aim to trace oestrogen metabolism in in vitro model of PAH. Due to accumulating evidence indicating prostacyclin analogues, such as iloprost and treprostinil, used for treatment of PAH possess the ability to activate PPARs (Forman et al., 1997; Ali et al., 2006). Therefore, the protective effects of these analogues might be partly mediated through the PPAR signalling pathways. PPAR signalling was shown to modulate oestrogen signalling by i) altering the expression of ERs (Segars et al., 1993;Keller et al., 1995) or ii) binding to ERE and acting as competitive inhibitors (Keller et al., 1995). Activation of PPARy results in reduced transcription of aromatase gene and increased protein turnover (Yanase et al., 2001; Fan et al., 2005), while PPARa, which is constitutively expressed in the mouse lung (Becker et al., 2008b), increases the expression of 17β HSD type 1, leading to increased E1 production (Corton et al., 1997; Davis et al., 1994). Interestingly, the expression of CYP1B1 was shown to be induced through the activation of PPARa activation (Lovekamp-Swan et al., 2003; Murray et al., 2001). We therefore treated hPASMCs derived from control and patient subjects of both sexes and examined how treatment with treprostinil affects oestrogen metabolism in these cells. All cells were exposed to 50nM $^{14}C_4$ -17 β E2, and cells were then stimulated with treprostinil (1 μ M): i) 24 hours prior to addition of 50nM ¹⁴C₄-17 β E2 (*T*24*B*), and ii) at the same time as 17BE2 (TE48). The experiment was designed to ascertain whether treprostinil affected the expression of enzymes involved in the metabolism of oestrogen or merely affected the enzyme's activity. In female control cell line, preliminary results indicate that treprostinil increases the metabolism of oestrogen as shown by decreased amount of radioactively labelled 17BE still present in the samples. Moreover, in male patient cell line, pre-treatment with treprostinil resulted in increased production of E1, whereas co-treatment with treprostinil did not affect the conversion of $17\beta E2$ to E1. Hence, we conclude that treprostinil affects the expression of 17β HSD type 2 expression level, which is in line with previous reports (Corton et al., 1997; Davis et al., 1994). Interestingly, treprostinil may only affect the expression of 17β HSD type 2 in male patient hPASMCs, indicting the mechanism behind the observed effect might be sex-dependent. A line of evidence indicates that in unstimulated hPASMCs, the basal expression of 17β HSD type 2 might be higher in male patient hPASMCs compared to female patient hPASMCs. Further investigation is merited here, to establish whether the observed effects were mediated through PPAR activation and to ascertain whether PPAR signalling might be influenced by sex.

CYP1B1 is overexpressed PASMCs, in experimental and clinical PAH (Johansen, 2014). Its role in the pathogenesis of PAH ranges from production of 16 α OHE1 and 4OHE1, exhibiting proliferative (White et al., 2012) and genotoxic (Cavalieri et al., 2000;Cavalieri et al., 1997) properties, respectively, to increased formation of ROS. CYP1B1 inhibition by TMS *in vivo* reversed pulmonary haemodynamic parameters as well as vascular remodelling (White et al., 2012). We therefore wished to assess the effects of CYP1B1 inhibition on oestrogen metabolism in PASMCs derived from female control and patient subjects. Although we observed significant differences in the metabolism of oestrogen between control and patient cell lines, treatment with TMS did not significantly affect the conversion of 17 β E2 into other metabolites. The experiments were conducted using a single time-point; however, it may be a warranted notion to repeat these experiments using several experimental end-points.

During the HPLC/flux experiments used to trace the metabolism of $17\beta E2$, we encountered the formation of unknown oestrogen metabolites. To possibly identify any metabolites that were not included in our research interests, and to correlate exposure to $17\beta E2$ with dysregulation of other signalling pathways that might not yet be considered in PAH, we conducted a hypothesis-free metabolomic screen in female cell lines. Here we compared female control and patient cell lines, which were stimulated either by vehicle or $17\beta E2$. Exposure of female control cell lined to $17\beta E2$ did not affect the levels of numerous metabolites, whilst more metabolites were affected by 17BE2 in female patient cell lines, indicating energy and fatty acid metabolism might be affected alongside redox cycling. Indeed, exposure of hPASMCs to serotonin resulted in increased production of ROS, which according to the authors might cause DNA damage, and redox-sensitive proliferation (Hood et al., 2017). We further observed that the level of L-kynurenine, a catabolite of tryptophan which is the precursor of 5-HT, was also altered in female patient cells treated with $17\beta E2$, where treatment resulted in catabolite diminished concentration. L-kynurenine is a known AhR ligand, shown to be increased in certain cancers, where it promotes tumour growth (Opitz et al., 2011). Here we showed that pathogenesis of PAH might be affected by 5HT in two-fold: i) through the formation of 5HT from its precursor tryptophan, and by ii) the degradation of this precursor to L- kynurenine, activating the AhR and resulting in altered oestrogen metabolism. The decrease in L-kynurenine levels in the $17\beta E2$ female patient cell lines might be associated with decreased turnover of tryptophan due to its increased conversion into 5HT.

Investigation of oestrogen metabolism is complicated by the sheer number of metabolites, which are similar in chemical structure, and are therefore difficult to separate chromatographically. We therefore wanted to develop an LC-MS/MS methodology, with which we could identify and quantify each of oestrogen metabolites. Herein we provide qualitative oestrogen metabolic profile in control and patient hPASMC cell lines of both sexes, and quantitation of these metabolites. We observed statistically significant differences in the production of E1 and 17α E2 in female patient hPASMCs compared to female control hPASMCs, revealing a prominent role of 17βHSD type 2. Interestingly, in male patient hPASMCs, the metabolism of $17\beta E2$ appeared to be slower compared to female patient hPASMCs, as assessed by the amount of the parental hormone, indicating reduced activity of the 17β HSD type 2, albeit the difference in the amount of E1 was not statistically significant. Similar observations were reported previously (Johansen, 2014). Although E1 is significantly less biologically active compared to $17\beta E2$ due to lower affinity for ER, its production might have a significant role in PAH pathogenesis. The conversion to E1 might increase the pool of precursor for oestrogen metabolising enzymes, which generally do not distinguish between their substrates, resulting in increased production of hydroxylated metabolites of E1. Although these metabolites might be converted to OHEs, through the activity of 17\beta HSD type 1, the enzyme kinetic parameters are less favourable compared to 17 β HSD type 2. Moreover, the role of geometrical isomerisation of the 17 β E2 to 17 α E2 might also be important in the pathogenesis of PAH, as the amount of this metabolite was significantly increased in female patient hPASMCs. Although previously, 17aE2 was considered devoid of oestrogenic effects, recent lines of evidence indicate otherwise. The research in the production and biological effects of the $17\alpha E2$ in the lung is therefore merited.

Although the notion of an LC-MS/MS technique to quantify oestrogen metabolism *in vitro* and ascertain the effects of other environmental and endogenous insults involved in the development of clinical PAH on oestrogen metabolism is attractive, unfortunately, the transfer of the method from aqueous to media sample matrix has proven to be more difficult than previously warranted. Indeed, the cell media highly affected the LC-MS/MS system. The presence of matrix components affected the detection of metabolites despite the use of guard columns to remove any unwanted sample matrix constituents. It might therefore be

beneficial to assess how the samples might be further purified or attempt to culture cells in a different media, which might exert less adverse effects on the LC-MS/MS system. Furthermore, our results indicated that the limit of detection of certain metabolites, such as OHEs, needs to be addressed and improved if the LC-MS/MS method is to be used to reliably quantify these metabolites.

Chapter V

5 General Discussion

5.1General Discussion

More than 60 years ago, the female predominance in the patient population with PAH was recognised. The extent of female susceptibility to develop PAH observed in recent surveys and registries revealed that female sex may be even more important than previously supposed (Humbert et al., 2006; Escribano-Subias et al., 2012; Ling et al., 2012; Badesch et al., 2010). Namely, the incidence of the disease in post-menopausal women is approaching that of men (Hoeper et al., 2013), indicating that the reducing levels of endogenous female sex hormones might be protective. Young female patients exhibit better pulmonary haemodynamics compared to age-matched men (Shapiro et al., 2012). Hence, it appears that albeit endogenous $17\beta E2$ may be facilitating the pathophysiological processes associated with the onset of clinical PAH, $17\beta E2$ might be protective against changes in haemodynamic parameters, such as mean PAP and vascular resistance. Additionally, menopause was reported to lessen the differences in the pulmonary haemodynamics between men and women (Ventetuolo et al., 2014). Despite female sex being considered the main risk factor for the development of clinical PAH in humans, women generally exhibit better outcome and survival compared to men (Shapiro et al., 2012). This could be due to a better response to therapy (Gabler et al., 2012) or better RV compensation (van de Veerdonk et al., 2011;Swift et al., 2015). Hence, the understanding of the role of female sex hormones in the onset and progression of PAH is of utmost importance.

Protective properties of exogenous $17\beta E2$ were reported in the classical cHx and MCT experimental models of PH, where exogenously administered $17\beta E2$ attenuated hemodynamic and remodelling parameters in these animals (Lahm et al., 2012; Yuan et al., 2013). In these models female animals developed less severe experimental phenotype, whereas female sex was associated with the development of severe experimental phenotype in novel experimental models. The latter include the SERT+ and S100 Ca²⁺ binding protein A4 overexpressing mouse models, where ovariectomy protects against the onset of PH (Greenway et al., 2004; White et al., 2011b; White et al., 2011a; Dempsie et al., 2011). Locally, stimulation of hPASMCs with 17 β E2 was associated with augmented proliferation of these cells (White et al., 2011a; White et al., 2012). Indeed, PASMCs expressed aromatase and can synthesise 17 β E2, and the inhibition of the local synthesis of oestrogens in PAs, documented in (Mair et al., 2014), was shown to reduce progression of established PH phenotype in cHx and Su5416/Hx animal models. The study provided evidence of direct role of endogenous oestrogens in the pathogenesis of PAH. The presence of numerous

extrahepatic oestrogen metabolising enzymes indicates the lung is an important site of oestrogen metabolism (Bieche et al., 2007). Increased expression of CYP1B1 was documented in animal models, where more female animals develop experimental PH, and in lung sections derived from IPAH patients (White et al., 2011b; White et al., 2012). The detrimental role of oestrogen metabolism dysregulation in PAH was documented in (Austin et al., 2009), where the authors reported the association of disease penetrance in female BMPRII mutation carriers with the levels of urinary oestrogen metabolite, specifically 20HE1/2 and 16a0HE1. In female C57BL/6 mice, the administration of the latter metabolite resulted in increased haemodynamic and vascular remodelling parameters (White et al., 2012). At least partially, the observed phenotype may be associated with the proproliferative effects of 16aOHE1 documented in hPASMCs (White et al., 2012). Interestingly, the products of O-methylation of catechol oestrogens, catalysed by COMT enzyme, opposed proliferation of hPASMCs, as well as lung and cardiac fibroblasts (Dubey et al., 1998;Tofovic et al., 2006;Tofovic et al., 2008b), and even induce apoptosis in ECs (Yue et al., 1997). Due to documented beneficial properties of methoxy oestrogens, increased activity of CYP1A1, which exhibits high affinity for hydroxylation of oestrogens at position C2, and COMT might be protective in cancer (Kisselev et al., 2005) and even PAH. The efficiency of O-methylation depends on the local concentration of catechol oestrogens, with evidence pointing towards inhibition of O-methylation of 4OHE2 by the presence of 2OHE2 (Roy et al., 1990;Zhu and Conney, 1998). Reduced removal of 4OHEs might be directly associated with increased production of ROS, leading to protein and DNA damage. Currently, no direct evidence of the effects 4OHE2 might have on O-methylation of 2OHE2 exists. Nonetheless, in mice, the deletion of CYP1B1 gene was associated with decreased production of 4-hydroxyoestrogens and increased production of 2-hydroxy and 2methoxyoestrogens within the lung (Peng et al., 2013a), due to inhibitory effects of 4OHE2 on COMT expression. Previously, however, it was reported that 4OHE2 exerts differential effects in female and male hPASMCs (Mair et al., 2015). Namely, the metabolite decreased phospho-Smad1/5/8(9) and Id expression in female hPASMCs while increasing these in males, commensurate with a decreased proliferative effect in male hPASMCs. We showed that stimulation with 20HE2 and 40HE2 in male hPASMCs led to a reduction in seruminduced proliferation of these cells. It is possible that the initial resistance of men to develop PAH might be due to the anti-proliferative effects of 2- and 4OHE2, and their respective Omethylated metabolites.

The AhR regulates the expression of xenobiotic-metabolizing enzymes, including CYP450 enzymes. The deletion of AhR is associated with i) the formation of abnormal vascular structures (Lahvis et al., 2000), ii) increased expression of HIF1α and VEGF (Thackaberry et al., 2002), and iii) inability to induce target genes such as CYP1A1, CYP1A2, and CYP1B1 upon stimulation with selective AhR agonist (Fernandez-Salguero et al., 1995). The activity of AhR, however, was linked to increased thickness of vessel wall due to abnormal proliferation of SMCs (Sauzeau et al., 2011). Moreover, the expression of AhR was reportedly increased in female hPASMCs derived from PAH patients (Dean et al., 2016). Enhanced expression of the receptor might lead to increased ROS production, as documented in experimental PH animal models (Jernigan et al., 2017), due to enhanced expression of Phase I metabolising enzymes (Park et al., 1996). Although female sex is protective in classical experimental models of PH, the oestrogens apparently mediated a detrimental role in the Su5416/Hx model (Tofovic et al., 2012), which therefore recapitulates the human disease in terms of epidemiological data, as female animals develop the disease more frequently compared to males. Female animals exposed to Su5416/Hx insult to establish the experimental phenotype also developed a more severe disease compared to male animals according to (Tofovic et al., 2014). Therefore, we sought to examine the role of the AhR as a plausible key effector in the mechanism driving the onset of PAH phenotype in this animal model, considering the mechanism behind the experimental PH phenotype in this animal model is not completely understood.

In Chapter 3 we first examined the expression level of *CYP1A1*, in several models of PH utilised within our research group, as unpublished data from microarray analysis revealed that this gene is significantly upregulated in Su5416/Hx model. We demonstrated that the expression of *CYP1A1* gene could be decreased in *in vitro* model using hPASMCs, *Smad1* heterozygous mice and rats exposed to cHx. Our observations corroborate previous work showing that HIF signalling pathway reduces the expression of *CYP1A1*(Vorrink et al., 2014). Recently it was demonstrated that CYP1A1 influences blood pressure regulation through activation of eNOS, NO bioavailability and NO-dependent vasodilation (Agbor et al., 2014). Hence, the decreased expression of CYP1A1 we observed might be associated with increased blood pressure in pulmonary circulation. Interestingly, an association between increased sheer stress and AhR activation was also reported in ECs (Han et al., 2008).

The AhR and HIF1 α signalling pathways share a common translocator protein, HIF1 β (ARNT), which is required for receptor activation in both instances. Vorrink and colleagues showed that overexpression of HIF1 β (ARNT) rescues the interference of Hx with AhR transcriptional transactivation of its target genes (Vorrink et al., 2014). In Su5416/Hx model, however, the expression of CYP1A1 and CYP1B1 enzymes was considerably increased, at gene and protein levels, respectively. Considering the reported affinity of murine AhR receptor isoforms for Su5416 approaches that of TCDD (Mezrich et al., 2012), we inferred that the mechanism of Su5416/Hx-induced experimental PH might at least partially entitle the activation of the AhR signalling pathway. Interestingly, increased expression of CYP1A1 and CYP1B1 was previously also reported in the classical MCT-induced PH animal model (Yuan et al., 2013). In primary human hepatocytes, pyrrolizidine alkaloids were shown to regulate the expression of numerous nuclear receptor or ligand-activated transcription factors, including PPARs and AhR, both of which regulate gene expression of CYP enzymes (Luckert et al., 2015). Although the effects of pyrrolizidine alkaloids and their metabolites in the lung have not yet been assessed in terms of their effects on the AhR signalling pathway, evidence suggests that increased expression and/or activity of AhR leads to increased expression of CYP enzymes. Sustained activity of AhR was linked to onset of endothelial dysfunction, hypertension and CVD (Korashy and El-Kadi, 2006;Kopf et al., 2010).

To further determine whether the AhR signalling pathway is activated in Su5416/Hx model of PH, we examined the expression of *AhRR* and *NQO1*, which are both under the transcriptional regulation of AhR. The expression pattern of both genes was similar to that observed for *CYP1A1* and *CYP1B1*, showing that numerous target genes of AhR are induced in the Su5416/Hx model. It would be interesting to determine whether these genes are also induced in the MCT model, considering current, albeit indirect, evidence showed that pyrrolizidine alkaloids affect the AhR expression. We recently published our findings that Su5416 activates the AhR *in vitro* in female patient hPASMCs, resulting in the translocation of the receptor to the nucleus, and leading to the induction of *CYP1A1* and *CYP1B1*, in the Red Journal with an encouraging positive editorial of the findings presented within the paper. The antagonist of the AhR attenuated the gene induction only in female hPASMCs from control subjects, while in patients the AhR antagonist showed no effect. The increased expression of AhR reported (Dean et al., 2016) might be the underlying cause for findings reported in this work.

The interaction of the HIF and AhR signalling pathways appears to be significant in the establishment of the experimental Su5416/Hx model, as both pathways require the translocator protein, HIF1 β (ARNT), for full functionality of the respective receptors. We reported herein that the basal expression of proteins regulating the proteasome-mediated degradation of HIF1a, PHD2 and vHL, is significantly increased in male patient hPASMCs, compared to same-sex control cells. Similar observations were also made in male rats treated with Su5416 and exposed to cHx. Contrary, in female cells, we reported opposite trends, with female patient cells exhibiting lower basal expression of PHD2 and vHL compared to control cells. In line with these observations, exposure to cHx only increased HIF1 α in female animals. Moreover, herein we showed that the expression of HIF1 α might be higher in male Nx animals compared to matched female animals. Additionally, the expression of HIF1 α did not change in Su5416/Hx male animals, while in female animals treated with both experimental insults, HIF1 α was significantly increased. We also report the basal expression of HIF1a is significantly increased in female patient hPASMCs, probably due to lower expression of proteins regulating the receptor degradation. It appears that a sex dimorphism exists in response to cHx, due to sex differences in the regulation and signalling of HIF1a pathway. Sex differences in the response to cHx in left and right heart ventricles were reported, where females initially were more responsive to Hx, however in long-term, male animals exhibited higher levels of Hx-inducible genes (Bohuslavova et al., 2010). Whether the observed differences in PASMCs in exposure to cHx could be responsible for differences in the severity of disease phenotype and survival remains to be investigated. Equally, it is possible that the initial adverse response to Hx, which could be greater in females, might be associated with the observed dimorphism in the onset of PAH. We recently shown that in Hx conditions, Su5416 decreased the expression of HIF1a in nuclear and cytoplasmic fractions, in hPASMCs derived from female patient subjects (Dean et al., 2017). Although we showed that Su5416 does not have any effect on PHD2 and vHL, which are involved in regulation of, these experiments were conducted in Nx conditions. It would be interesting to repeat these experiments in Hx. Herein, we also demonstrated that in male rats exposure to cHx leads to diminished expression of AhR, further indicating that a complex interaction between both pathways exists.

A significant hallmark of pathophysiological changes in the pulmonary circulation of patients with PAH, is the muscularisation of normally non-muscular small PAs. In experimental models of PH, the establishment of disease phenotype often relays on vascular injury and introduction of an insult causing hyper-proliferation of PASMCs. In the

Su5416/Hx model, Su5416 caused proliferation of PASMCs in Nx (Taraseviciene-Stewart et al., 2001). The increased muscularisation of distal small PAs in vivo, depends on the increased proliferation of PASMCs, although this was only described in animals which werem exposed to cHx (Ciuclan et al., 2011). Here it was observed that there is increased proliferation of hPASMCs derived from female PAH patients stimulated with Su5416 and Hx reported herein, which is consistent with previous reports (Ciuclan et al., 2011). Our observations, now published in (Dean et al., 2017), indicate that a possible synergy of Su5416 and Hx insults exists, through the increased expression of ARNT (HIF1 β). The return of ARNT (HIF1 β) to normal levels by the AhR antagonist, suggested the possibility of a synergy of the AhR and HIF signalling pathways through this coupling protein, which was also shown by (Vorrink et al., 2014). As ECs are also intimately involved in the pathogenesis of PAH, we also assessed the effects of Su5416 on PMECs, observing increased apoptosis. In BOECs from clinical patients, Su5416 induced cellular proliferation. We deduced that the initial vascular injury by apoptosis of ECs, and subsequent proliferation of the apoptosis-resistant population of ECs, contributes to the development of PH (Dean et al., 2017).

The interaction of AhR and ER signalling needs to be investigated in the context of understanding the role of AhR signalling in the pathogenesis of disease with exceeding prevalence in females, such as PAH. The interaction of the AhR/ARNT complex with ERs was previously reported by (Ohtake et al., 2003). The authors showed that activated AhR may directly associate with unliganded ER α and ER β , and the co-activator p300. Hence, also in the absence of oestrogens, the oestrogenic effects, such as induction of VEGF, *c-fos* and oestrogen-dependent cell proliferation, may be mediated through the association of AhR/ARNT/ER to EREs. Since exposure to cHx and 17 β E2 have synergistic effects in ECs, resulting in increased proliferation of this cell type (Kleinman et al., 2007), it might be interesting to investigate whether the AhR/ARNT/ER interaction is involved in the synergistic effects of Su5416 and Hx on proliferation of female patient hPASMCs. To determine the role of AhR in the establishment of experimental PH phenotype, the interaction with ER should also be considered.

The research presented in this thesis was enabled by the NC3Rs, which is dedicated to promoting the development of new research technologies and refinement of existing models and techniques to minimise the number of animals in research and improve the welfare of animals, whose use might not be completely avoidable. Currently, *in vitro* models offer the

advantage measuring the responses to stimulation and/or inhibition of individual molecular processes in real time, to determine the contribution of specific molecular processes to disease development (Benam et al., 2015). In Chapter 4 we sought to develop a LC-MS/MS technique to be used to quantify local oestrogen metabolism by hPASMCs. Although the circulatory levels of the parental oestrogens have been well-established, the levels of specific oestrogen metabolites were not addressed in the context of PAH pathogenesis. Moreover, as the importance of local oestrogen synthesis and metabolism were recently demonstrated and recognised (Mair et al., 2014; White et al., 2012), and oestrogen metabolites reportedly have protective and pathogenic effects in the pulmonary circulation, the quantification of local levels of oestrogen metabolites was warranted. We aimed to present the first quantification of oestrogen metabolism in hPASMCs. However, as the concentrations of some metabolites were below the methods' limit of detection, the complete quantification of oestrogen metabolism in vitro was not reliable. Significant differences in the metabolism of parental oestrogen hormones were detected. Our findings indicated that in PAH the activity and/or expression of the 17 β HSD type 2 enzyme might be increased, as the conversion of 17 β E2 to E1 was increased. The consequences of high levels of E1 could be three-fold. Firstly, as numerous oestrogen-metabolising enzymes exhibit similar affinity for E1 and 17BE2, it is plausible that increased formation of E1 could be driving increased production of oestrone metabolites, such as 16aOHE1. Importantly, compared to 16aOHE2, 16aOHE1 metabolite has greater pro-proliferative character (White et al., 2012). Secondly, increased conversion of the 17BE2 to less biologically active E1, could also diminish the protective effects of 17βE2 reported in the heart (Frump et al., 2015;Liu et al., 2014). Thirdly, the role of 17βHSD type 2 is not solely restricted to the conversion of $17\beta E2$ to E1, as the enzyme can convert all metabolites of oestradiol to the corresponding oestrone metabolites, which are considered to be largely devoid of protective properties in cardiovascular cells. (Tofovic et al., 2008b). The importance of the 17\beta HSD pathway was shown to impose significant effects in the experimental MCT model in rats, where preventive treatment with 2MeOE1 attenuated the development of experimental phenotype, as well as cardiac and vascular remodelling (Tofovic et al., 2008b). Increased conversion of protective oestradiol metabolites to less active oestrone metabolites might therefore be an important aspect of oestrogen metabolism dysregulation in PAH. Although the expression of 17β HSD type 2 might be increased in hPASMCs derived from male subjects with clinical PAH phenotype, the quantitation of oestrogen metabolites using the novel LC-MS/MS approach, the amount of unmetabolized 17βE2 was greater in male patient hPASMCs metabolised compared to female patient hPASMCs. It would be beneficial to assess the activity of 17β HSD type 2 in hPASMCs, as it is possible that the presence of polymorphic variants exhibiting increased metabolic rate might result in observed increased formation of E1 in female patient cells. Similar suggestions were made regarding the expression of *CYP1A1* and *COMT*, where the presence of such variants might lead to accumulation of hydroxylated oestrogen metabolites, and increased production of oestrogen quinones and semi-quinones (Kisselev et al., 2005).

We also observed that geometrical isomerisation of 17β E2 to 17α E2 was increased in female patient cells. The geometric isomer of oestradiol was long considered to convey little hormonal activity. Although, the literature on the effects of 17α E2 in humans is very limited, there are reports of its pro-proliferative effects in human neoplasms (Papendorp et al., 1985, Hajek et al., 1997). In breast cancer cell lines, 17α E2 was shown to bind to ERs with high affinity, resulting in i) increased expression of progesterone receptor, ii) reversal of inhibition of cellular proliferation, and iii) increased DNA polymerase activity (Edwards and McGuire, 1980). Furthermore, 17α E2 may also affect aromatase activity (Hoffmann et al., 2002). Although the authors did not provide a possible mechanism, others have suggested that 17α E2 may affect the levels of sex hormones by inhibiting the 5α -reductase, which catalyses the conversion of testosterone to the more potent dihydrotestosterone (DHT), in skin fibroblasts (Munster et al., 2003). The physiological function remains undetermined as 17α E2 appeared to mediate vasorelaxation (Salas et al., 1994). It would be therefore interesting to assess the effects of stimulation with 17α E2 on i) aromatase activity in hPASMCs and ii) vasoconstriction in isolated intra-pulmonary arteries.

Although we, in part, succeeded to quantify oestrogen metabolites produced in hPASMCs upon stimulation with 17 β E2, we observed that the method is extremely sensitive to the presence of impurities present in the samples. Indeed, the analysis of numerous spent media samples resulted in significant decline in the sensitivity of the LC-MS/MS method, probably due to deterioration of column condition brought upon sample impurity. Moreover, the detection limit of OHEs was considerably higher than the detection limit for parental oestrogens or MeOEs. Hence, more work is warranted to establish ranges within which the method would produce reliable quantification of these metabolites. Further, it was considered that the composition of the cell media and serum used in these experiments might not be most suitable for LC-MS/MS approach, as the technique heavily relies on the use of sensitive LC and chemical derivatisation of oestrogen metabolites. We therefore suggest that if local oestrogen metabolism *in vitro* should be further investigated, efforts must be made

to try and replace the currently used cell growth media with more inert matrix or to make the method more robust.

HPLC/flux analyses were used to investigate how the use of a common medicine prescribed for the treatment of PAH, treprostinil, affects oestrogen metabolism in hPASMCs. Prostacyclin analogues, which are currently used to manage moderate to severe PAH affect i) vasorelaxation and vasodilation of PAs (Narumiya et al., 1999, Wise, 2003), and ii) PASMC proliferation (Clapp et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2010). Recently it was shown that therapeutic effects of treprostinil might present sex bias, with females showing better antiproliferative response to the therapeutic compared to males (Murphy, 2017). Endogenous PGI₂ and its stable metabolite to activate certain PPAR isoforms (Forman et al., 1995; Nemenoff et al., 2008), directly (Forman et al., 1997) or indirectly, though the IP receptor (Falcetti et al., 2007). PPARs affect oestrogen metabolism by i) competitive inhibition of ERs (Keller et al., 1995), ii) increased degradation of ERa (Qin et al., 2003), iii) increased expression of 17βHSD type 1 expression (Corton et al., 1997;Davis et al., 1994), and iv) modulation of the expression of oestrogen metabolising enzymes (Corton et al., 1997). Recently published evidence suggests that in human lung fibroblasts, treprostinil inhibits proliferation of these cells through activation of PPAR β (Ali et al., 2006). Our results indicate that treprostinil could affect oestrogen metabolism in male patient hPASMCs, through increased activity of 17βHSD type 2, indicating the used prostacyclin analogue might affect the expression of this enzyme.

The unbiased metabolomic screen of female control and patient hPASMCs stimulated with 17βE2 revealed significant changes in the levels of L-kynurenine, a catabolite of tryptophan which is the precursor of 5-HT, in female patient cells treated with 17βE2, where treatment resulted in catabolite diminished concentration. The identification of L-kynurenine in the context of PAH is important, as tryptophan serves as the precursor for the formation of 5-HT, acting at the 5-HT(1B) receptor and 5-HT transporter (SERT or 5-HTT) to mediate constriction and proliferation of PASMCs (Maclean and Dempsie, 2010). Interestingly, the implication of L-kynurenine in PAH might be two-fold. Firstly, L-kynurenine metabolism produces molecules with vasoactive properties (Wang et al., 2010). Secondly, the parental molecule is a known AhR ligand (Nguyen et al., 2014). Importantly, we showed that 5-HT may affect the pathogenesis of PAH in two ways: directly through activation of the 5-HT1B receptor (MacLean, 2007;MacLean et al., 2004;Morecroft et al., 2005), and indirectly

through the degradation of tryptophan precursor, leading to formation of AhR ligands (Denison and Nagy, 2003;DiNatale et al., 2010).

In Chapter 4 we summarised the findings of the effects of oestrogen metabolites in *in vitro* model of PAH. Protective effects of 2MeOE2 were reported in vitro, where 2MeOE2 was shown to attenuate the proliferation of several vascular cell types (Fotsis et al., 1994; Barchiesi et al., 2006; Tsukamoto et al., 1998; Tofovic et al., 2009b; Nishigaki et al., 1995), and in vivo, where 2MeOE2 prevented and attenuated the development of experimental PH phenotype in monocrotaline, bleomycin-induced and Su5416/Hx model (Tofovic et al., 2009b; Tofovic et al., 2008b; Tofovic and Rafikova, 2009). Previously, treatment with 17βE2 was reported to increase the expression of p27/Kip1 animals and cultured PASMCs exposed to Hx (Xu et al., 2010), where p27/Kip is a tumour suppressor which negatively regulate cells' progression through cell cycle. Authors of (Barchiesi et al., 2006) also reported that the inhibition of neointima formation by 2MeOE2 depends on upregulation of p27/Kip1 expression in VSMCs. Our data showed that treatment with 2MeOE2 resulted in arrested proliferation in control hPASMCs of both sexes, whilst only female patient hPASMCs responded to treatment. We further showed that in female control cells, stimulation with 2MeOE2 may result in increased expression of p27/Kip1. As the protective effects of 2MeOE2 might be dependent on the effects the metabolite exerts on the regulation of cells' progression through cell cycle, it might be worthy of examining the basal level of p27/Kip1 expression in PASMCs derived from control and patient subjects of both sexes. This might help to determine whether poorer survival prognosis in men could be associated with poorer response to protective metabolites. Additionally, in females, the protective character of 2MeOE2 might depend on the induction of PGIS in ECs and hPASMCs. Our findings indicated that in male cells, the mechanism through which 2MeOE2 might attenuate proliferation of male control hPASMCs might depend on the effects on BMPRII signalling pathway. Hence, it appears that 2MeOE2 might affect multiple pathways. Additionally, we have shown that the anti-proliferative effects observed for 2OHE2 are mediated through the formation of 2MeOE2, as inhibition of COMT enzyme reversed the inhibitory effects on proliferation. Partially, 20HE2 might also activate classical ER. The inhibition of proliferation by 40HE2 was found to be mediated through classical oestrogen signalling pathways, as inhibition of COMT had no significant effect. The enzyme was shown to favour 2-O-methylation over 4-O-methylation, due to unfavourable position of the 4-O-hydroxyl substrate in the catalytic site (Männistö and Kaakkola, 1999). Although 4OHE2 was shown to mediate its biological effects through pathways independent of classical ER (Das et al.,

1997), our data indicates certain effects might be mediated through activation of ERs, which is in accordance with reports by (Martucci and Fishman, 1976). The oestrogenic activity of 4OHE2 through activation of ER might be prolonged due to the slow dissociation rate of the metabolite (Zhu and Conney, 1998; Barnea et al., 1983). The activity of COMT in the liver was shown to be sex-dependent, with males exhibiting higher COMT activity compared to females (Boudikova et al., 1990). Therefore, due to significant activity of COMT in the lung, the expression of this enzyme should be assessed in terms of possible differences between the sexes. Moreover, an assay to assess the activity of this enzyme in hPASMCs is also warranted.

5.2 Limitations of the Study

There are several aspects of limitation for the research work presented herein. Firstly, the pathological onset and progression of PAH is a highly complex process, involving several cellular types, as described in Chapter 1.2.5. Although the pathological mechanisms that could contribute to the onset of PAH in animal models, as well in humans, were investigated in SMCs and ECs, the research presented was limited by the unavailability of an established co-culturing or conditioning technique. Unfortunately, the use of a single cell type cell culture is not appropriate as the natural interactions between cell populations, which are present within the lung and might be important for the disease process, were not taken into consideration.

Secondly, when investigating the effects of oestrogens in males and females, one should be aware that it is not known how the isolation of a cell type from a tissue affects the sexual aspect of the cells. Whether the cultures of isolated SMCs or ECs derived from a female/male subject retain the characteristics that they have within the intact organ within a functioning body is not known. Hence, *in vitro* research presents a valid supportive technique, however, only *in vivo* experiments might offer conclusive results when investigating the role of sex in PAH.

Thirdly, the chemiluminescent technique employed to investigate the levels of protein expression levels presents three major disadvantages. Firstly, narrow linear signal response range, which differ between exposures of film and hence make it difficult to compare band intensities from different exposures, secondly, reciprocity failure, which may cause the faint and strong bands to be underrepresented on film, and thirdly parallax effects, which can

reduce image clarity and sharpness. Therefore, the use of a fluorescence detection-based system would be more appropriate to avoid the named disadvantages associated with protein quantitation. Additionally, the quantitation of certain proteins was hindered by the low expression levels in individual cell types or by the availability of a suitable monoclonal antibody to be employed in tissue samples.

Fourthly, the study might have been partially limited by the selection of the housekeeping genes used for normalisation of RT-qPCR results. Especially, in the instances where the difference in the gene of interest was marginal, the variability of the housekeeper gene might affect the final result. Although, the variability of the housekeeper gene expression was assessed for each of the experiments, and was found to be acceptable, additional value would be added if another housekeeper gene would be employed, with documented stable expression.

Lastly, the work presented herein was limited by the lack of time and access to working LC-MS/MS equipment, in order to optimise the culture conditions, which would not hinder the following steps in derivatisation of oestrogen metabolites and allow us to lower the limit of detection.

5.3 Concluding Remarks

In summary, we have provided evidence for the importance of the AhR signalling pathway in experimental PH, showing how activation of this signalling pathway might result in initial vascular injury, increased VSMCs proliferation and dysregulation of oestrogen metabolism. We have further shown that exposure to cHx might elicit differential response depending on sex. Hence exposing the important question of AhR pathway interaction with HIF and ER signalling pathways.

The detection of oestrogen metabolism in hPASMCs using a novel LC-MS/MS approach has revealed that significant differences in the metabolism of $17\beta E2$ exist between control and patient hPASMCs of both sexes. The most significant finding shows altered conversion of $17\beta E2$ to its enantiomer $17\alpha E2$ and E1, indicating the possible role of $17\beta HSD$ type 2 and dehydrogenase in PAH. Further investigation of oestrogen metabolism dysregulation is therefore warranted.

5.4Future Perspective

Future studies examining the interaction of AhR, hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) and oestrogen signalling pathways are strongly encouraged, as evidence of synergistic effects of these pathways have been reported (Kleinman et al., 2007;Dean et al., 2017). The knowledge of how these pathways interact might be of critical importance in the understanding of the onset and progression of experimental and clinical PAH.

Inhibition of AhR signalling pathway attenuated experimental PH in Sugen 5416 and chronic hypoxia model (Dean et al., 2017), which is currently considered as the model which most accurately recapitulates the essential hallmarks of PAH pathogenesis. The role of AhR signalling in the classical monocrotaline model should be investigated, possibly to determine whether the inhibition of AhR activity might be protective against disease phenotype as shown in (Dean et al., 2017).

Studies of the role of 17β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 PAH are highly encouraged. Understanding the role of 17β -oestradiol to oestrone conversion may be of critical importance due to its role in the conversion of protective oestrogen metabolites to metabolites exhibiting no protective properties. A study of 17β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 inhibition might offer additional insight in the dysregulation of oestrogen metabolism in pulmonary arterial hypertension.

Although promising, the novel liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry to quantify oestrogen metabolism in *in vitro* model of PAH using PASMCs, requires further optimisation in terms of eliminating the any impurities and compounds that might interfere with sample preparation and analysis. Moreover, method optimisation might be required for this novel approach to be used as a high-through put screening method to identify novel therapeutic targets.

Due to significant role of endothelial cells in the pathogenesis of pulmonary arterial hypertension, we suggest that the expression of CYP1A1 should be addressed in blood-outgrowth ECs of control and patient subjects. Furthermore, the effects of silencing CYP1A1 on nitric oxide synthase and nitric oxide bioavailability in the BOECs from patients with PAH should also be investigated, as CYP1A1 was shown to affect NO-dependent blood pressure regulation through metabolism of polyunsaturated fatty acids in a CYP1A1 knock-out mouse model (Agbor et al., 2014).

Bibliography

- AARONSON, P. I., ROBERTSON, T. P. & WARD, J. P. 2002. Endothelium-derived mediators and hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol*, 132, 107-20.
- ABE, K. 2017. Animal Models with Pulmonary Hypertension. *In:* FUKUMOTO, Y. (ed.) *Diagnosis and Treatment of Pulmonary Hypertension (From Bench to Bedside).* Singapore: Springer Nature.
- ABE, K., TOBA, M., ALZOUBI, A., ITO, M., FAGAN, K. A., COOL, C. D., VOELKEL, N. F., MCMURTRY, I. F. & OKA, M. 2010. Formation of plexiform lesions in experimental severe pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Circulation*, 121, 2747-54.
- ABENHAIM , L., MORIDE , Y., BRENOT , F., RICH , S., BENICHOU , J., KURZ , X., HIGENBOTTAM , T., OAKLEY , C., WOUTERS , E., AUBIER , M., SIMONNEAU , G. & BÉGAUD , B. 1996. Appetite-Suppressant Drugs and the Risk of Primary Pulmonary Hypertension. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 335, 609-616.
- ACTELIONPHARMACEUTICALSLTD. *How is PAH diagnosed?* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.pah-info.com/diagnosing-pah</u> [Accessed 25th April 2017].
- ADAMI, H. O., PERSSON, I., HOOVER, R., SCHAIRER, C. & BERGKVIST, L. 1989. Risk of cancer in women receiving hormone replacement therapy. *Int J Cancer*, 44, 833-9.
- AGBOR, L. N., WIEST, E. F., ROTHE, M., SCHUNCK, W. H. & WALKER, M. K. 2014. Role of CYP1A1 in modulating the vascular and blood pressure benefits of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 351, 688-98.
- ALI, F. Y., EGAN, K., FITZGERALD, G. A., DESVERGNE, B., WAHLI, W., BISHOP-BAILEY, D., WARNER, T. D. & MITCHELL, J. A. 2006. Role of prostacyclin versus peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor beta receptors in prostacyclin sensing by lung fibroblasts. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 34, 242-6.
- ALLEN, J. W., JOHNSON, R. S. & BHATIA, S. N. 2005. Hypoxic inhibition of 3methylcholanthrene-induced CYP1A1 expression is independent of HIF-1alpha. *Toxicol Lett*, 155, 151-9.
- ALZOUBI, A., TOBA, M., ABE, K., O'NEILL, K. D., ROCIC, P., FAGAN, K. A., MCMURTRY, I. F. & OKA, M. 2013. Dehydroepiandrosterone restores right ventricular structure and function in rats with severe pulmonary arterial hypertension. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 304, H1708-H1718.
- AMARNEH, B., CORBIN, C. J., PETERSON, J. A., SIMPSON, E. R. & GRAHAM-LORENCE, S. 1993. Functional domains of human aromatase cytochrome P450 characterized by linear alignment and site-directed mutagenesis. *Mol Endocrinol*, 7, 1617-24.
- AMBARTSUMIAN, N., KLINGELHOFER, J., GRIGORIAN, M., KARLSTROM, O., SIDENIUS, N., GEORGIEV, G. & LUKANIDIN, E. 1998. Tissue-specific posttranscriptional downregulation of expression of the S100A4(mts1) gene in transgenic animals. *Invasion Metastasis*, 18, 96-104.
- AOYAMA, T., KORZEKWA, K., NAGATA, K., GILLETTE, J., GELBOIN, H. V. & GONZALEZ, F. J. 1990. Estradiol metabolism by complementary deoxyribonucleic acid-expressed human cytochrome P450s. *Endocrinology*, 126, 3101-6.
- AQUINO-GÁLVEZ, A., GONZÁLEZ-ÁVILA, G., DELGADO-TELLO, J., CASTILLEJOS-LÓPEZ, M., MENDOZA-MILLA, C., ZÚÑIGA, J., CHECA, M., MALDONADO-MARTÍNEZ, H. A., TRINIDAD-LÓPEZ, A., CISNEROS, J.,

TORRES-ESPÍNDOLA, L. U. Z. M., HERNÁNDEZ-JIMÉNEZ, C., SOMMER, B., CABELLO-GUTIÉRREZ, C. & GUTIÉRREZ-GONZÁLEZ, L. H. 2016. Effects of 2-methoxyestradiol on apoptosis and HIF-1α and HIF-2α expression in lung cancer cells under normoxia and hypoxia. *Oncology Reports*, 35, 577-583.

- ARCHER, S. L., HUANG, J. M., HAMPL, V., NELSON, D. P., SHULTZ, P. J. & WEIR, E. K. 1994. Nitric oxide and cGMP cause vasorelaxation by activation of a charybdotoxin-sensitive K channel by cGMP-dependent protein kinase. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 91, 7583-7587.
- ATKINSON, C., STEWART, S., UPTON, P. D., MACHADO, R., THOMSON, J. R., TREMBATH, R. C. & MORRELL, N. W. 2002. Primary pulmonary hypertension is associated with reduced pulmonary vascular expression of type II bone morphogenetic protein receptor. *Circulation*, 105, 1672-8.
- AUSTIN, E. D., COGAN, J. D., WEST, J. D., HEDGES, L. K., HAMID, R., DAWSON, E.
 P., WHEELER, L. A., PARL, F. F., LOYD, J. E. & PHILLIPS, J. A., 3RD 2009.
 Alterations in oestrogen metabolism: implications for higher penetrance of familial pulmonary arterial hypertension in females. *Eur Respir J*, 34, 1093-9.
- AUSTIN, E. D., HAMID, R., HEMNES, A. R., LOYD, J. E., BLACKWELL, T., YU, C., PHILLIPS III, J. A., GADDIPATI, R., GLADSON, S., GU, E., WEST, J. & LANE, K. B. 2012. BMPR2 expression is suppressed by signaling through the estrogen receptor. *Biol Sex Differ*, 3, 6.
- AUSTIN, E. D., LOYD, J. E. & III, P. J. A. 2002. *Heritable Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension* [Online]. Seattle, WA: University of Washington, Seattle. Available: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1485/</u> [Accessed 25th April 2017].
- BADAWI, A. F., CAVALIERI, E. L. & ROGAN, E. G. 2001. Role of human cytochrome P450 1A1, 1A2, 1B1, and 3A4 in the 2-, 4-, and 16alpha-hydroxylation of 17betaestradiol. *Metabolism*, 50, 1001-3.
- BADESCH, D., CHAMPION, H., SANCHEZ, M., HOEPER, M., LOYD, J., MANES, A., MCGOON, M., NAEIJE, R., OLSCHEWSKI, H., OUDIZ, R. & TORBICKI, A. 2009. Diagnosis and assessment of pulmonary arterial hypertension. J Am Coll Cardiol, 54, S55-66.
- BADESCH, D. B., ABMAN, S. H., SIMONNEAU, G., RUBIN, L. J. & MCLAUGHLIN, V. V. 2007. Medical therapy for pulmonary arterial hypertension: updated ACCP evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. *Chest*, 131, 1917-28.
- BADESCH, D. B., MCLAUGHLIN, V. V., DELCROIX, M., VIZZA, C., OLSCHEWSKI, H., SITBON, O. & BARST, R. J. 2004. Prostanoid therapy for pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 43, S56-S61.
- BADESCH, D. B., ORTON, E. C., ZAPP, L. M., WESTCOTT, J. Y., HESTER, J., VOELKEL, N. F. & STENMARK, K. R. 1989. Decreased Arterial Wall Prostaglandin Production in Neonatal Calves with Severe Chronic Pulmonary Hypertension. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology*, 1, 489-498.
- BADESCH, D. B., RASKOB, G. E., ELLIOTT, C. G., KRICHMAN, A. M., FARBER, H.
 W., FROST, A. E., BARST, R. J., BENZA, R. L., LIOU, T. G., TURNER, M.,
 GILES, S., FELDKIRCHER, K., MILLER, D. P. & MCGOON, M. D. 2010.
 Pulmonary arterial hypertension: baseline characteristics from the REVEAL
 Registry. *Chest*, 137, 376-87.
- BAIREY MERZ, C. N., JOHNSON, B. D., SHARAF, B. L., BITTNER, V., BERGA, S. L., BRAUNSTEIN, G. D., HODGSON, T. K., MATTHEWS, K. A., PEPINE, C. J., REIS, S. E., REICHEK, N., ROGERS, W. J., POHOST, G. M., KELSEY, S. F. & SOPKO, G. 2003. Hypoestrogenemia of hypothalamic origin and coronary artery disease in premenopausal women: a report from the NHLBI-sponsored WISE study. J Am Coll Cardiol, 41, 413-9.

- BALASENTHIL, S., BARNES, C. J., RAYALA, S. K. & KUMAR, R. 2004. Estrogen receptor activation at serine 305 is sufficient to upregulate cyclin D1 in breast cancer cells. *FEBS Lett*, 567, 243-7.
- BARCHIESI, F., JACKSON, E. K., FINGERLE, J., GILLESPIE, D. G., ODERMATT, B. & DUBEY, R. K. 2006. 2-Methoxyestradiol, an estradiol metabolite, inhibits neointima formation and smooth muscle cell growth via double blockade of the cell cycle. *Circ Res*, 99, 266-74.
- BARNEA, E. R., MACLUSKY, N. J. & NAFTOLIN, F. 1983. Kinetics of catechol estrogenestrogen receptor dissociation: A possible factor underlying differences in catechol estrogen biological activity. *Steroids*, 41, 643-656.
- BARST, R. J., ERTEL, S. I., BEGHETTI, M. & IVY, D. D. 2011. Pulmonary arterial hypertension: a comparison between children and adults. *Eur Respir J*, 37, 665-77.
- BARST, R. J., GALIE, N., NAEIJE, R., SIMONNEAU, G., JEFFS, R., ARNESON, C. & RUBIN, L. J. 2006. Long-term outcome in pulmonary arterial hypertension patients treated with subcutaneous treprostinil. *European Respiratory Journal*, 28, 1195-1203.
- BARST, R. J., GIBBS, J. S., GHOFRANI, H. A., HOEPER, M. M., MCLAUGHLIN, V. V., RUBIN, L. J., ... & GALIÈ, N. 2009. Updated Evidence-Based Treatment Algorithm in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 54, S78–S84.
- BECKER, C. M., ROHWER, N., FUNAKOSHI, T., CRAMER, T., BERNHARDT, W., BIRSNER, A., FOLKMAN, J. & D'AMATO, R. J. 2008a. 2-methoxyestradiol inhibits hypoxia-inducible factor-1{alpha} and suppresses growth of lesions in a mouse model of endometriosis. *Am J Pathol*, 172, 534-44.
- BECKER, J., DELAYRE-ORTHEZ, C., FROSSARD, N. & PONS, F. 2006. Regulation of inflammation by PPARs: a future approach to treat lung inflammatory diseases? *Fundam Clin Pharmacol*, 20, 429-47.
- BECKER, J., DELAYRE-ORTHEZ, C., FROSSARD, N. & PONS, F. 2008b. Regulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-alpha expression during lung inflammation. *Pulm Pharmacol Ther*, 21, 324-30.
- BEDARD, E., DIMOPOULOS, K. & GATZOULIS, M. A. 2009. Has there been any progress made on pregnancy outcomes among women with pulmonary arterial hypertension? *Eur Heart J*, 30, 256-65.
- BEDARD, K. & KRAUSE, K. H. 2007. The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology. *Physiol Rev*, 87, 245-313.
- BEISCHLAG, T. V. & PERDEW, G. H. 2005. ERα-AHR-ARNT Protein-Protein Interactions Mediate Estradiol-dependent Transrepression of Dioxin-inducible Gene Transcription. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280, 21607-21611.
- BELKNAP, J. K., ORTON, E. C., ENSLEY, B., TUCKER, A. & STENMARK, K. R. 1997. Hypoxia increases bromodeoxyuridine labeling indices in bovine neonatal pulmonary arteries. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 16, 366-71.
- BENAM, K. H., DAUTH, S., HASSELL, B., HERLAND, A., JAIN, A., JANG, K. J., KARALIS, K., KIM, H. J., MACQUEEN, L., MAHMOODIAN, R., MUSAH, S., TORISAWA, Y. S., VAN DER MEER, A. D., VILLENAVE, R., YADID, M., PARKER, K. K. & INGBER, D. E. 2015. Engineered in vitro disease models. *Annu Rev Pathol*, 10, 195-262.
- BENZA, R. L., MILLER, D. P., BARST, R. J., BADESCH, D. B., FROST, A. E. & MCGOON, M. D. 2012. An evaluation of long-term survival from time of diagnosis in pulmonary arterial hypertension from the REVEAL Registry. *Chest*, 142, 448-56.
- BEPPU, H., ICHINOSE, F., KAWAI, N., JONES, R. C., YU, P. B., ZAPOL, W. M., MIYAZONO, K., LI, E. & BLOCH, K. D. 2004. BMPR-II heterozygous mice have mild pulmonary hypertension and an impaired pulmonary vascular

remodeling response to prolonged hypoxia. *American Journal of Physiology - Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology*, 287, L1241-L1247.

- BEPPU, H., KAWABATA, M., HAMAMOTO, T., CHYTIL, A., MINOWA, O., NODA, T. & MIYAZONO, K. 2000. BMP type II receptor is required for gastrulation and early development of mouse embryos. *Dev Biol*, 221, 249-58.
- BERGER, J. & MOLLER, D. E. 2002. The mechanisms of action of PPARs. *Annu Rev Med*, 53, 409-35.
- BERGOFSKY, E. H., BASS, B. G., FERRETTI, R. & FISHMAN, A. P. 1963. PULMONARY VASOCONSTRICTION IN RESPONSE TO PRECAPILLARY HYPOXEMIA. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 42, 1201–1215.
- BERRA, E., BENIZRI, E., GINOUVES, A., VOLMAT, V., ROUX, D. & POUYSSEGUR, J. 2003. HIF prolyl-hydroxylase 2 is the key oxygen sensor setting low steady-state levels of HIF-1alpha in normoxia. *Embo j*, 22, 4082-90.
- BIECHE, I., NARJOZ, C., ASSELAH, T., VACHER, S., MARCELLIN, P., LIDEREAU, R., BEAUNE, P. & DE WAZIERS, I. 2007. Reverse transcriptase-PCR quantification of mRNA levels from cytochrome (CYP)1, CYP2 and CYP3 families in 22 different human tissues. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*, 17, 731-42.
- BILAN, V., MI, Z., JACKSON, E. K. & SCHNEIDER, F. 2013. Aromatase Inhibition Attenuates And Ovariectomy And 4-Hydroxyestradiol Have Mixed Effects On Development Of Angioproliferative Pulmonary Hypertension In Female Rats. *American Thoracic Society.*
- BILSEL, A. S., MOINI, H., TETIK, E., AKSUNGAR, F., KAYNAK, B. & ÖZER, A. 2000. 17β-Estradiol modulates endothelin-1 expression and release in human endothelial cells. *Cardiovascular Research*, 46, 579-584.
- BOHUSLAVOVA, R., KOLAR, F., KUTHANOVA, L., NECKAR, J., TICHOPAD, A. & PAVLINKOVA, G. 2010. Gene expression profiling of sex differences in HIF1dependent adaptive cardiac responses to chronic hypoxia. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 109, 1195-202.
- BONNET, S., DUMAS-DE-LA-ROQUE, E., BÉGUERET, H., MARTHAN, R., FAYON,
 M., DOS SANTOS, P., SAVINEAU, J.-P. & BAULIEU, E.-E. 2003.
 Dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) prevents and reverses chronic hypoxic pulmonary
 hypertension. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100, 9488.
- BOUCHARDY, C., BENHAMOU, S., SCHAFFAR, R., VERKOOIJEN, H. M., FIORETTA, G., SCHUBERT, H., VINH-HUNG, V., SORIA, J. C., VLASTOS, G. & RAPITI, E. 2011. Lung cancer mortality risk among breast cancer patients treated with anti-estrogens. *Cancer*, 117, 1288-95.
- BOUDIKOVA, B., SZUMLANSKI, C., MAIDAK, B. & WEINSHILBOUM, R. 1990. Human liver catechol-O-methyltransferase pharmacogenetics. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, 48, 381-9.
- BRADLOW, H. L., HERSHCOPF, R., MARTUCCI, C. & FISHMAN, J. 1986. 16α-Hydroxylation of Estradiol: A Possible Risk Marker for Breast Cancer. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 464, 138-151.
- BRADLOW, H. L., HERSHCOPF, R. J., MARTUCCI, C. P. & FISHMAN, J. 1985. Estradiol 16 alpha-hydroxylation in the mouse correlates with mammary tumor incidence and presence of murine mammary tumor virus: a possible model for the hormonal etiology of breast cancer in humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 82, 6295-9.
- BRADLOW, H. L., TELANG, N. T., SEPKOVIC, D. W. & OSBORNE, M. P. 1996. 2hydroxyestrone: the 'good' estrogen. *J Endocrinol*, 150 Suppl, S259-65.
- BRAUZE, D., ZAWIERUCHA, P., KIWERSKA, K., BEDNAREK, K., OLESZAK, M., RYDZANICZ, M. & JARMUZ-SZYMCZAK, M. 2017. Induction of expression of

aryl hydrocarbon receptor-dependent genes in human HepaRG cell line modified by shRNA and treated with beta-naphthoflavone. *Mol Cell Biochem*, 425, 59-75.

- BRENOT, F., HERVE, P., PETITPRETZ, P., PARENT, F., DUROUX, P. & SIMONNEAU, G. 1993. Primary pulmonary hypertension and fenfluramine use. *British Heart Journal*, 70, 537–541.
- BRISTOW, M. R., ZISMAN, L. S., LOWES, B. D., ABRAHAM, W. T., BADESCH, D. B., GROVES, B. M., VOELKEL, N. F., LYNCH, D. M. & QUAIFE, R. A. 1998. The pressure-overloaded right ventricle in pulmonary hypertension. *Chest*, 114, 101s-106s.
- BRUEGGEMEIER, R. W., QUINN, A. L., PARRETT, M. L., JOARDER, F. S., HARRIS, R. E. & ROBERTSON, F. M. 1999. Correlation of aromatase and cyclooxygenase gene expression in human breast cancer specimens. *Cancer Letters*, 140, 27-35.
- BRUNNBERG, S., PETTERSSON, K., RYDIN, E., MATTHEWS, J., HANBERG, A. & PONGRATZ, I. 2003. The basic helix–loop–helix–PAS protein ARNT functions as a potent coactivator of estrogen receptor-dependent transcription. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100, 6517–6522.
- BUCHANAN, D. L., OHSAKO, S., TOHYAMA, C., COOKE, P. S. & IGUCHI, T. 2002. Dioxin inhibition of estrogen-induced mouse uterine epithelial mitogenesis involves changes in cyclin and transforming growth factor-beta expression. *Toxicol Sci*, 66, 62-8.
- BUDHIRAJA, R., TUDER, R. M. & HASSOUN, P. M. 2004. Endothelial Dysfunction in Pulmonary Hypertension. *Circulation*, 109, 159-165.
- BULOTTA, S., IERARDI, M. V., MAIUOLO, J., CATTANEO, M. G., CERULLO, A., VICENTINI, L. M. & BORGESE, N. 2009. Basal nitric oxide release attenuates cell migration of HeLa and endothelial cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 386, 744-9.
- BULUN, S. E., LIN, Z., IMIR, G., AMIN, S., DEMURA, M., YILMAZ, B., MARTIN, R., UTSUNOMIYA, H., THUNG, S., GURATES, B., TAMURA, M., LANGOI, D. & DEB, S. 2005. Regulation of aromatase expression in estrogen-responsive breast and uterine disease: from bench to treatment. *Pharmacol Rev*, 57, 359-83.
- BUNTING, S., GRYGLEWSKI, R., MONCADA, S. & VANE, J. R. 1976. Arterial walls generate from prostaglandin endoperoxides a substance (prostaglandin X) which relaxes strips of mesenteric and coeliac ateries and inhibits platelet aggregation. *Prostaglandins*, 12, 897-913.
- BURLANDO, B., MARCHI, B., PANFOLI, I. & VIARENGO, A. 2002. Essential role of Ca2+ -dependent phospholipase A2 in estradiol-induced lysosome activation. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 283, C1461-8.
- BURRI, P. H. 2006. Structural aspects of postnatal lung development alveolar formation and growth. *Biol Neonate*, 89, 313-22.
- BUTERS, J. T., DOEHMER, J. & GONZALEZ, F. J. 1999. Cytochrome P450-null mice. *Drug Metab Rev*, 31, 437-47.
- CAMACHO, M., RODRÍGUEZ, C., GUADALL, A., ALCOLEA, S., ORRIOLS, M., ESCUDERO, J.-R., MARTÍNEZ-GONZÁLEZ, J. & VILA, L. 2011. Hypoxia upregulates PGI-synthase and increases PGI(2) release in human vascular cells exposed to inflammatory stimuli. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 52, 720-731.
- CAMERINI, F., ALBERTI, E., KLUGMANN, S. & SALVI, A. 1980. Primary pulmonary hypertension: effects of nifedipine. *British Heart Journal*, 44, 352–356.
- CARDEN, D. L., MATTHAY, M. A. & GEORGE, R. B. 2005. Functional Anatomy of the Respiratory System. In: GEORGE, R. B., LIGHT, R. W., MATTHAY, M. A. & MATTHAY, R. A. (eds.) Chest Medicine: Essentials of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine. 5th Edition ed. Philadephia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

- CARROLL, M. A., BALAZY, M., MARGIOTTA, P., HUANG, D. D., FALCK, J. R. & MCGIFF, J. C. 1996. Cytochrome P-450-dependent HETEs: profile of biological activity and stimulation by vasoactive peptides. *Am J Physiol*, 271, R863-9.
- CARVALHO, V. M., NAKAMURA, O. H. & VIEIRA, J. G. 2008. Simultaneous quantitation of seven endogenous C-21 adrenal steroids by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry in human serum. *J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci*, 872, 154-61.
- CARVER, L. A. & BRADFIELD, C. A. 1997. Ligand-dependent Interaction of the Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor with a Novel Immunophilin Homolog in Vivo. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272, 11452-11456.
- CARVER, L. A., HOGENESCH, J. B. & BRADFIELD, C. A. 1994. Tissue specific expression of the rat Ah-receptor and ARNT mRNAs. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 22, 3038-3044.
- CARVER, L. A., LAPRES, J. J., JAIN, S., DUNHAM, E. E. & BRADFIELD, C. A. 1998. Characterization of the Ah Receptor-associated Protein, ARA9. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273, 33580-33587.
- CAVALIERI, E., FRENKEL, K., LIEHR, J. G., ROGAN, E. & ROY, D. 2000. Estrogens as endogenous genotoxic agents--DNA adducts and mutations. *J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr*, 75-93.
- CAVALIERI, E. L., ROGAN, E. G. & CHAKRAVARTI, D. 2002. Initiation of cancer and other diseases by catechol ortho-quinones: a unifying mechanism. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 59, 665-81.
- CAVALIERI, E. L., STACK, D. E., DEVANESAN, P. D., TODOROVIC, R., DWIVEDY, I., HIGGINBOTHAM, S., JOHANSSON, S. L., PATIL, K. D., GROSS, M. L., GOODEN, J. K., RAMANATHAN, R., CERNY, R. L. & ROGAN, E. G. 1997. Molecular origin of cancer: catechol estrogen-3,4-quinones as endogenous tumor initiators. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94, 10937-42.
- CERFOLIO, R. J., BRYANT, A. S., SCOTT, E., SHARMA, M., ROBERT, F., SPENCER, S. A. & GARVER, R. I. 2006. Women with pathologic stage I, II, and III non-small cell lung cancer have better survival than men. *Chest*, 130, 1796-802.
- CHAKRABORTY, S., GANTI, A. K., MARR, A. & BATRA, S. K. 2010. Lung cancer in women: role of estrogens. *Expert Review of Respiratory Medicine*, 4, 509–518.
- CHAN, S. & LOSCALZO, J. 2008. Pathogenic mechanisms of pulmonary arterial hypertension. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*, 44, 14-30.
- CHAN, W. K., YAO, G., GU, Y. Z. & BRADFIELD, C. A. 1999. Cross-talk between the aryl hydrocarbon receptor and hypoxia inducible factor signaling pathways. Demonstration of competition and compensation. *J Biol Chem*, 274, 12115-23.
- CHARLIER, T. D., HARADA, N., BALTHAZART, J. & CORNIL, C. A. 2011. Human and Quail Aromatase Activity Is Rapidly and Reversibly Inhibited by Phosphorylating Conditions. *Endocrinology*, 152, 4199–4210.
- CHEN, D., ZHAO, M. & MUNDY, G. R. 2004. Bone morphogenetic proteins. *Growth* Factors, 22, 233-41.
- CHEN, X. L., VARNER, S. E., RAO, A. S., GREY, J. Y., THOMAS, S., COOK, C. K., WASSERMAN, M. A., MEDFORD, R. M., JAISWAL, A. K. & KUNSCH, C. 2003. Laminar flow induction of antioxidant response element-mediated genes in endothelial cells. A novel anti-inflammatory mechanism. *J Biol Chem*, 278, 703-11.
- CHEN, Z. J., YU, L. & CHANG, C. H. 1998. Stimulation of membrane-bound guanylate cyclase activity by 17-beta estradiol. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 252, 639-42.
- CHENG, X. & HART, G. W. 2001. Alternative O-glycosylation/O-phosphorylation of serine-16 in murine estrogen receptor beta: post-translational regulation of turnover and transactivation activity. *J Biol Chem*, 276, 10570-5.

- CHOUDHARY, D., JANSSON, I., SCHENKMAN, J. B., SARFARAZI, M. & STOILOV, I. 2003. Comparative expression profiling of 40 mouse cytochrome P450 genes in embryonic and adult tissues. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 414, 91-100.
- CHRISTMAN, B. W., MCPHERSON, C. D., NEWMAN, J. H., KING, G. A., BERNARD, G. R., GROVES, B. M. & LOYD, J. E. 1992. An imbalance between the excretion of thromboxane and prostacyclin metabolites in pulmonary hypertension. *N Engl J Med*, 327, 70-5.
- CIUCLAN, L., BONNEAU, O., HUSSEY, M., DUGGAN, N., HOLMES, A. M., GOOD, R., STRINGER, R., JONES, P., MORRELL, N. W., JARAI, G., WALKER, C., WESTWICK, J. & THOMAS, M. 2011. A novel murine model of severe pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 184, 1171-82.
- CLAPP, L. H., FINNEY, P., TURCATO, S., TRAN, S., RUBIN, L. J. & TINKER, A. 2002. Differential effects of stable prostacyclin analogs on smooth muscle proliferation and cyclic AMP generation in human pulmonary artery. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 26, 194-201.
- CLELAND, J. G., SWEDBERG, K., FOLLATH, F., KOMAJDA, M., COHEN-SOLAL, A., AGUILAR, J. C., DIETZ, R., GAVAZZI, A., HOBBS, R., KOREWICKI, J., MADEIRA, H. C., MOISEYEV, V. S., PREDA, I., VAN GILST, W. H., WIDIMSKY, J., FREEMANTLE, N., EASTAUGH, J. & MASON, J. 2003. The EuroHeart Failure survey programme-- a survey on the quality of care among patients with heart failure in Europe. Part 1: patient characteristics and diagnosis. *Eur Heart J*, 24, 442-63.
- COLLINS, F. 2009. Expression of oestrogen receptors, ERα, ERβ, and ERβ variants, in endometrial cancers and evidence that prostaglandin F may play a role in regulating expression of ERα. *In:* SHEILA MACPHERSON, P. B., VINCENT BOMBAIL, ALISTAIR RW WILLIAMS, RICHARD A ANDERSON, HENRY N JABBOUR AND PHILIPPA TK SAUNDERS (ed.). BMC Cancer.
- COOPER, C. J., LANDZBERG, M. J., ANDERSON, T. J., CHARBONNEAU, F., CREAGER, M. A., GANZ, P. & SELWYN, A. P. 1996. Role of Nitric Oxide in the Local Regulation of Pulmonary Vascular Resistance in Humans. *Circulation*, 93, 266-271.
- CORBIN, J. D., BEASLEY, A., BLOUNT, M. A. & FRANCIS, S. H. 2005. High lung PDE5: a strong basis for treating pulmonary hypertension with PDE5 inhibitors. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 334, 930-8.
- CORTON, J. C., BOCOS, C., MORENO, E. S., MERRITT, A., CATTLEY, R. C. & GUSTAFSSON, J. A. 1997. Peroxisome proliferators alter the expression of estrogen-metabolizing enzymes. *Biochimie*, 79, 151-62.
- COSMA, G., CROFTS, F., TAIOLI, E., TONIOLO, P. & GARTE, S. 1993. Relationship between genotype and function of the human CYP1A1 gene. *J Toxicol Environ Health*, 40, 309-16.
- COUGHTRIE, M. W. H., SHARP, S., MAXWELL, K. & INNES, N. P. 1998. Biology and function of the reversible sulfation pathway catalysed by human sulfotransferases and sulfatases. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 109, 3-27.
- CUI, J., SHEN, Y. & LI, R. 2013. Estrogen synthesis and signaling pathways during aging: from periphery to brain. *Trends Mol Med*, 19, 197-209.
- DAI, W., HUANG, Q., YIN, P., LI, J., ZHOU, J., KONG, H., ZHAO, C., LU, X. & XU, G. 2012. Comprehensive and Highly Sensitive Urinary Steroid Hormone Profiling Method Based on Stable Isotope-Labeling Liquid Chromatography–Mass Spectrometry. Analytical Chemistry, 84, 10245-10251.
- DALTON, T. P., DIETER, M. Z., MATLIB, R. S., CHILDS, N. L., SHERTZER, H. G., GENTER, M. B. & NEBERT, D. W. 2000. Targeted knockout of Cyp1a1 gene does

not alter hepatic constitutive expression of other genes in the mouse [Ah] battery. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 267, 184-9.

- DAS, M., DEMPSEY, E. C., REEVES, J. T. & STENMARK, K. R. 2002. Selective expansion of fibroblast subpopulations from pulmonary artery adventitia in response to hypoxia. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 282, L976-86.
- DAS, S. K., TAYLOR, J. A., KORACH, K. S., PARIA, B. C., DEY, S. K. & LUBAHN, D. B. 1997. Estrogenic responses in estrogen receptor-α deficient mice reveal a distinct estrogen signaling pathway. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94, 12786-12791.
- DAVARINOS, N. A. & POLLENZ, R. S. 1999. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor imported into the nucleus following ligand binding is rapidly degraded via the cytosplasmic proteasome following nuclear export. *J Biol Chem*, 274, 28708-15.
- DAVIE, N., HALEEN, S. J., UPTON, P. D., POLAK, J. M., YACOUB, M. H., MORRELL, N. W. & WHARTON, J. 2002. ET(A) and ET(B) receptors modulate the proliferation of human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 165, 398-405.
- DAVIS, B. J., MARONPOT, R. R. & HEINDEL, J. J. 1994. Di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate suppresses estradiol and ovulation in cycling rats. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 128, 216-23.
- DAWLING, S., ROODI, N. & PARL, F. F. 2003. Methoxyestrogens exert feedback inhibition on cytochrome P450 1A1 and 1B1. *Cancer Res*, 63, 3127-32.
- DE JONG, P. C., VAN DE VEN, J., NORTIER, H. W., MAITIMU-SMEELE, I., DONKER, T. H., THIJSSEN, J. H., SLEE, P. H. & BLANKENSTEIN, R. A. 1997. Inhibition of breast cancer tissue aromatase activity and estrogen concentrations by the thirdgeneration aromatase inhibitor vorozole. *Cancer Res*, 57, 2109-11.
- DE JONGE, H. J. M., FEHRMANN, R. S. N., DE BONT, E. S. J. M., HOFSTRA, R. M. W., GERBENS, F., KAMPS, W. A., DE VRIES, E. G. E., VAN DER ZEE, A. G. J., TE MEERMAN, G. J. & TER ELST, A. 2007. Evidence Based Selection of Housekeeping Genes. *PLOS ONE*, 2, e898.
- DE MELLO, D. E. & REID, L. M. 1997. Arteries and veins. *In:* CRYSTAL, R. G. & WEST, J. B. (eds.) *The lung: scientific foundations*. 2nd ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven.
- DE VIVO, I., HANKINSON, S. E., LI, L., COLDITZ, G. A. & HUNTER, D. J. 2002. Association of CYP1B1 polymorphisms and breast cancer risk. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 11, 489-92.
- DEAN, A., GREGORC, T., DOCHERTY, C. K., HARVEY, K. Y., NILSEN, M., MORRELL, N. W. & MACLEAN, M. R. 2017. Role of the Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor in Sugen 5416-induced Experimental Pulmonary Hypertension. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.
- DEAN, A., NILSEN, M., LOUGHLIN, L., SALT, I. P. & MACLEAN, M. R. 2016. Metformin Reverses Development of Pulmonary Hypertension via Aromatase Inhibition. *Hypertension*, 68, 446-54.
- DELVOUX, B., HUSEN, B., ALDENHOFF, Y., KOOLE, L., DUNSELMAN, G., THOLE, H. & GROOTHUIS, P. 2007. A sensitive HPLC method for the assessment of metabolic conversion of estrogens. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol*, 104, 246-51.
- DEMELLO, D. E. & REID, L. M. 2000. Embryonic and early fetal development of human lung vasculature and its functional implications. *Pediatr Dev Pathol*, 3, 439-49.
- DEMELLO, D. E., SAWYER, D., GALVIN, N. & REID, L. M. 1997. Early fetal development of lung vasculature. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 16, 568-81.
- DEMPSIE, Y., NILSEN, M., WHITE, K., MAIR, K. M., LOUGHLIN, L., AMBARTSUMIAN, N., ... & MACLEAN, M. R. 2011. Development of pulmonary arterial hypertension in mice over-expressing S100A4/Mts1 is specific to females. *Respiratory Research*, 12, 159.

- DENG, Z., MORSE, J. H., SLAGER, S. L., CUERVO, N., MOORE, K. J., VENETOS, G., KALACHIKOV, S., CAYANIS, E., FISCHER, S. G., BARST, R. J., HODGE, S. E. & KNOWLES, J. A. 2000. Familial primary pulmonary hypertension (gene PPH1) is caused by mutations in the bone morphogenetic protein receptor-II gene. *Am J Hum Genet*, 67, 737-44.
- DENISON, M. S. & NAGY, S. R. 2003. Activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor by structurally diverse exogenous and endogenous chemicals. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol*, 43, 309-34.
- DENISON, M. S., SOSHILOV, A. A., HE, G., DEGROOT, D. E. & ZHAO, B. 2011. Exactly the same but different: promiscuity and diversity in the molecular mechanisms of action of the aryl hydrocarbon (dioxin) receptor. *Toxicol Sci*, 124, 1-22.
- DEY, A., JONES, J. E. & NEBERT, D. W. 1999. Tissue- and cell type-specific expression of cytochrome P450 1A1 and cytochrome P450 1A2 mRNA in the mouse localized in situ hybridization. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 58, 525-37.
- DIAS, C. A., ASSAD, R. S., CANEO, L. F., ABDUCH, M. C., AIELLO, V. D., DIAS, A. R., MARCIAL, M. B. & OLIVEIRA, S. A. 2002. Reversible pulmonary trunk banding. II. An experimental model for rapid pulmonary ventricular hypertrophy. J *Thorac Cardiovasc Surg*, 124, 999-1006.
- DIGITAL, N. H. S. N. 2017. *National Audit of Pulmonary Hypertension 7th Annual Report* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.content.digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB23648</u> [Accessed 8th May 2017 2017].
- DINATALE, B. C., MURRAY, I. A., SCHROEDER, J. C., FLAVENY, C. A., LAHOTI, T. S., LAURENZANA, E. M., OMIECINSKI, C. J. & PERDEW, G. H. 2010. Kynurenic acid is a potent endogenous aryl hydrocarbon receptor ligand that synergistically induces interleukin-6 in the presence of inflammatory signaling. *Toxicol Sci*, 115, 89-97.
- DING, Y., WU, C. C., GARCIA, V., DIMITROVA, I., WEIDENHAMMER, A., JOSEPH, G., ZHANG, F., MANTHATI, V. L., FALCK, J. R., CAPDEVILA, J. H. & SCHWARTZMAN, M. L. 2013. 20-HETE induces remodeling of renal resistance arteries independent of blood pressure elevation in hypertension. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol*, 305, F753-63.
- DOLWICK, K. M., SCHMIDT, J. V., CARVER, L. A., SWANSON, H. I. & BRADFIELD, C. A. 1993. Cloning and expression of a human Ah receptor cDNA. *Mol Pharmacol*, 44, 911-7.
- DORFMULLER, P., CHAUMAIS, M. C., GIANNAKOULI, M., DURAND-GASSELIN, I., RAYMOND, N., FADEL, E., MERCIER, O., CHARLOTTE, F., MONTANI, D., SIMONNEAU, G., HUMBERT, M. & PERROS, F. 2011. Increased oxidative stress and severe arterial remodeling induced by permanent high-flow challenge in experimental pulmonary hypertension. *Respir Res*, 12, 119.
- DREXLER, E. S., BISCHOFF, J. E., SLIFKA, A. J., MCCOWAN, C. N., QUINN, T. P., SHANDAS, R., IVY, D. D. & STENMARK, K. R. 2008. Stiffening of the Extrapulmonary Arteries From Rats in Chronic Hypoxic Pulmonary Hypertension. J Res Natl Inst Stand Technol, 113, 239-49.
- DUBEY, R. K., GILLESPIE, D. G., JACKSON, E. K. & KELLER, P. J. 1998. 17β-Estradiol, Its Metabolites, and Progesterone Inhibit Cardiac Fibroblast Growth. *Hypertension*, 31, 522-528.
- DUBEY, R. K., GILLESPIE, D. G., ZACHARIA, L. C., BARCHIESI, F., IMTHURN, B. & JACKSON, E. K. 2003. CYP450- and COMT-derived estradiol metabolites inhibit activity of human coronary artery SMCs. *Hypertension*, 41, 807-13.

- DUBEY, R. K., JACKSON, E. K., KELLER, P. J., IMTHURN, B. & ROSSELLI, M. 2001. Estradiol metabolites inhibit endothelin synthesis by an estrogen receptorindependent mechanism. *Hypertension*, 37, 640-4.
- DUKE, H. N. & STEDEFORD, R. D. 1960. Pulmonary vasomotor responses to epinephrine and norepinephrine in the cat. Influence of the sympathetic nervous system. *Circ Res*, 8, 640-8.
- DUPUIS, J., JASMIN, J. F., PRIÉ, S. & CERNACEK, P. 2000. Importance of Local Production of Endothelin-1 and of the ETBReceptor in the Regulation of Pulmonary Vascular Tone. *Pulmonary Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 13, 135-140.
- DURMOWICZ, A. G., PARKS, W. C., HYDE, D. M., MECHAM, R. P. & STENMARK, K. R. 1994. Persistence, re-expression, and induction of pulmonary arterial fibronectin, tropoelastin, and type I procollagen mRNA expression in neonatal hypoxic pulmonary hypertension. *Am J Pathol*, 145, 1411-20.
- DURRINGTON, H. J., UPTON, P. D., HOER, S., BONAME, J., DUNMORE, B. J., YANG, J., CRILLEY, T. K., BUTLER, L. M., BLACKBOURN, D. J., NASH, G. B., LEHNER, P. J. & MORRELL, N. W. 2010. Identification of a lysosomal pathway regulating degradation of the bone morphogenetic protein receptor type II. J Biol Chem, 285, 37641-9.
- EBERT, B. L. & BUNN, H. F. 1998. Regulation of transcription by hypoxia requires a multiprotein complex that includes hypoxia-inducible factor 1, an adjacent transcription factor, and p300/CREB binding protein. *Mol Cell Biol*, 18, 4089-96.
- EDDAHIBI, S., FABRE, V., BONI, C., MARTRES, M. P., RAFFESTIN, B., HAMON, M. & ADNOT, S. 1999. Induction of serotonin transporter by hypoxia in pulmonary vascular smooth muscle cells. Relationship with the mitogenic action of serotonin. *Circ Res*, 84, 329-36.
- EDDAHIBI, S., GUIGNABERT, C., BARLIER-MUR, A. M., DEWACHTER, L., FADEL, E., DARTEVELLE, P., HUMBERT, M., SIMONNEAU, G., HANOUN, N., SAURINI, F., HAMON, M. & ADNOT, S. 2006. Cross talk between endothelial and smooth muscle cells in pulmonary hypertension: critical role for serotonin-induced smooth muscle hyperplasia. *Circulation*, 113, 1857-64.
- EDDAHIBI, S., RAFFESTIN, B., PHAM, I., LAUNAY, J. M., AEGERTER, P., SITBON, M. & ADNOT, S. 1997. Treatment with 5-HT potentiates development of pulmonary hypertension in chronically hypoxic rats. *Am J Physiol*, 272, H1173-81.
- EDWARDS, D. P. & MCGUIRE, W. L. 1980. 17 alpha-Estradiol is a biologically active estrogen in human breast cancer cells in tissue culture. *Endocrinology*, 107, 884-91.
- ELBEKAI, R. H. & EL-KADI, A. O. 2006. Cytochrome P450 enzymes: central players in cardiovascular health and disease. *Pharmacol Ther*, 112, 564-87.
- ELLIOTT, F. M. & REID, L. 1965. Some New Facts about the Pulmonary Artery and its Brancing Pattern. *Clin Radiol*, 16, 193-8.
- ELTOM, S. E., ZHANG, L. & JEFCOATE, C. R. 1999. Regulation of Cytochrome P-450 (CYP) 1B1 in Mouse Hepa-1 Variant Cell Lines: A Possible Role for Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Nuclear Translocator (ARNT) as a Suppressor of CYP1B1 Gene Expression. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 55, 594-604.
- ELVIDGE, G. P., GLENNY, L., APPELHOFF, R. J., RATCLIFFE, P. J., RAGOUSSIS, J. & GLEADLE, J. M. 2006. Concordant regulation of gene expression by hypoxia and 2-oxoglutarate-dependent dioxygenase inhibition: the role of HIF-1alpha, HIF-2alpha, and other pathways. *J Biol Chem*, 281, 15215-26.
- EMA, M., TAYA, S., YOKOTANI, N., SOGAWA, K., MATSUDA, Y. & FUJII-KURIYAMA, Y. 1997. A novel bHLH-PAS factor with close sequence similarity to hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha regulates the VEGF expression and is potentially involved in lung and vascular development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94, 4273-8.

- ERICSSON, A. C., CRIM, M. J. & FRANKLIN, C. L. 2013. A brief history of animal modeling. *Missouri medicine*, 110, 201-205.
- ESCRIBANO-SUBIAS, P., BLANCO, I., LOPEZ-MESEGUER, M., LOPEZ-GUARCH, C. J., ROMAN, A., MORALES, P., CASTILLO-PALMA, M. J., SEGOVIA, J., GOMEZ-SANCHEZ, M. A. & BARBERA, J. A. 2012. Survival in pulmonary hypertension in Spain: insights from the Spanish registry. *Eur Respir J*, 40, 596-603.
- EVANS, A. M., OSIPENKO, O. N. & GURNEY, A. M. 1996. Properties of a novel K+ current that is active at resting potential in rabbit pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. *The Journal of Physiology*, 496, 407–420.
- EVANS, J. D., GIRERD, B., MONTANI, D., WANG, X. J., GALIE, N., AUSTIN, E. D., ELLIOTT, G., ASANO, K., GRUNIG, E., YAN, Y., JING, Z. C., MANES, A., PALAZZINI, M., WHEELER, L. A., NAKAYAMA, I., SATOH, T., EICHSTAEDT, C., HINDERHOFER, K., WOLF, M., ROSENZWEIG, E. B., CHUNG, W. K., SOUBRIER, F., SIMONNEAU, G., SITBON, O., GRAF, S., KAPTOGE, S., DI ANGELANTONIO, E., HUMBERT, M. & MORRELL, N. W. 2016. BMPR2 mutations and survival in pulmonary arterial hypertension: an individual participant data meta-analysis. *Lancet Respir Med*, 4, 129-37.
- EVINGER, A. J., 3RD & LEVIN, E. R. 2005. Requirements for estrogen receptor alpha membrane localization and function. *Steroids*, 70, 361-3.
- FALCETTI, E., FLAVELL, D. M., STAELS, B., TINKER, A., HAWORTH, S. G. & CLAPP, L. H. 2007. IP receptor-dependent activation of PPARγ by stable prostacyclin analogues. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 360, 821-827.
- FALLER, D. V. 1999. Endothelial cell responses to hypoxic stress. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol*, 26, 74-84.
- FAN, W., YANASE, T., MORINAGA, H., MU, Y. M., NOMURA, M., OKABE, T., GOTO, K., HARADA, N. & NAWATA, H. 2005. Activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma and retinoid X receptor inhibits aromatase transcription via nuclear factor-kappaB. *Endocrinology*, 146, 85-92.
- FARBER, H. W., MILLER, D. P., POMS, A. D., BADESCH, D. B., FROST, A. E., MUROS-LE ROUZIC, E., ROMERO, A. J., BENTON, W. W., ELLIOTT, C. G., MCGOON, M. D. & BENZA, R. L. 2015. Five-Year outcomes of patients enrolled in the REVEAL Registry. *Chest*, 148, 1043-54.
- FARHAT, M. Y., ABI-YOUNES, S., DINGAAN, B., VARGAS, R. & RAMWELL, P. W. 1996. Estradiol increases cyclic adenosine monophosphate in rat pulmonary vascular smooth muscle cells by a nongenomic mechanism. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 276, 652-7.
- FARHAT, M. Y., CHEN, M. F., BHATTI, T., IQBAL, A., CATHAPERMAL, S. & RAMWELL, P. W. 1993. Protection by oestradiol against the development of cardiovascular changes associated with monocrotaline pulmonary hypertension in rats. *Br J Pharmacol*, 110, 719-23.
- FAUS, H. & HAENDLER, B. 2006. Post-translational modifications of steroid receptors. *Biomed Pharmacother*, 60, 520-8.
- FERNANDEZ-SALGUERO, P., PINEAU, T., HILBERT, D. M., MCPHAIL, T., LEE, S. S., KIMURA, S., NEBERT, D. W., RUDIKOFF, S., WARD, J. M. & GONZALEZ, F. J. 1995. Immune system impairment and hepatic fibrosis in mice lacking the dioxin-binding Ah receptor. *Science*, 268, 722-6.
- FESSEL, J. P., CHEN, X., FRUMP, A., GLADSON, S., BLACKWELL, T., KANG, C., JOHNSON, J., LOYD, J. E., HEMNES, A., AUSTIN, E. & WEST, J. 2013. Interaction between bone morphogenetic protein receptor type 2 and estrogenic compounds in pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Pulm Circ*, 3, 564-77.

- FESSEL, J. P., LOYD, J. E. & AUSTIN, E. D. 2011. The genetics of pulmonary arterial hypertension in the post-BMPR2 era. *Pulmonary Circulation*, 1, 305-319.
- FETALVERO, K. M., MARTIN, K. A. & HWA, J. 2007. Cardioprotective prostacyclin signaling in vascular smooth muscle. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat*, 82, 109-18.
- FETALVERO, K. M., ZHANG, P., SHYU, M., YOUNG, B. T., HWA, J., YOUNG, R. C. & MARTIN, K. A. 2008. Prostacyclin primes pregnant human myometrium for an enhanced contractile response in parturition *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 118, 3966–3979.
- FILARDO, E. J., QUINN, J. A., BLAND, K. I. & FRACKELTON, A. R., JR. 2000. Estrogen-induced activation of Erk-1 and Erk-2 requires the G protein-coupled receptor homolog, GPR30, and occurs via trans-activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor through release of HB-EGF. *Mol Endocrinol*, 14, 1649-60.
- FILARDO, E. J., QUINN, J. A., FRACKELTON, A. R., JR. & BLAND, K. I. 2002. Estrogen action via the G protein-coupled receptor, GPR30: stimulation of adenylyl cyclase and cAMP-mediated attenuation of the epidermal growth factor receptor-to-MAPK signaling axis. *Mol Endocrinol*, 16, 70-84.
- FILIPE, C., LAM SHANG LEEN, L., BROUCHET, L., BILLON, A., BENOUAICH, V., FONTAINE, V., GOURDY, P., LENFANT, F., ARNAL, J. F., GADEAU, A. P. & LAURELL, H. 2008. Estradiol accelerates endothelial healing through the retrograde commitment of uninjured endothelium. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 294, H2822-30.
- FINEMAN, J. R., SOIFER, S. J. A. & HEYMANN, M. A. 1995. Regulation of Pulmonary Vascular Tone in the Perinatal Period. *Annual Review of Physiology*, 57, 115-134.
- FLEMING, I. 2005. Cytochrome P-450 Under Pressure. *More Evidence for a Link Between* 20-Hydroxyeicosatetraenoic Acid and Hypertension, 111, 5-7.
- FLORES-VALVERDE, A. M. & HILL, E. M. 2008. Methodology for Profiling the Steroid Metabolome in Animal Tissues Using Ultraperformance Liquid Chromatography–Electrospray-Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry. Analytical Chemistry, 80, 8771-8779.
- FORMAN, B. M., CHEN, J. & EVANS, R. M. 1997. Hypolipidemic drugs, polyunsaturated fatty acids, and eicosanoids are ligands for peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors α and δ. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 94, 4312-4317.
- FORMAN, B. M., TONTONOZ, P., CHEN, J., BRUN, R. P., SPIEGELMAN, B. M. & EVANS, R. M. 1995. 15-Deoxy-delta 12, 14-prostaglandin J2 is a ligand for the adipocyte determination factor PPAR gamma. *Cell*, 83, 803-12.
- FOTSIS, T., ZHANG, Y., PEPPER, M. S., ADLERCREUTZ, H., MONTESANO, R., NAWROTH, P. P. & SCHWEIGERER, L. 1994. The endogenous oestrogen metabolite 2-methoxyoestradiol inhibits angiogenesis and suppresses tumour growth. *Nature*, 368, 237-9.
- FOUTY, B. W., GRIMISON, B., FAGAN, K. A., LE CRAS, T. D., HARRAL, J. W., HOEDT-MILLER, M., SCLAFANI, R. A. & RODMAN, D. M. 2001. p27(Kip1) is important in modulating pulmonary artery smooth muscle cell proliferation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 25, 652-8.
- FRADETTE, C., BATONGA, J., TENG, S., PIQUETTE-MILLER, M. & DU SOUICH, P. 2007. Animal models of acute moderate hypoxia are associated with a downregulation of CYP1A1, 1A2, 2B4, 2C5, and 2C16 and up-regulation of CYP3A6 and P-glycoprotein in liver. *Drug Metab Dispos*, 35, 765-71.
- FRANK, D. B., LOWERY, J., ANDERSON, L., BRINK, M., REESE, J. & DE CAESTECKER, M. 2008. Increased susceptibility to hypoxic pulmonary hypertension in Bmpr2 mutant mice is associated with endothelial dysfunction in the pulmonary vasculature. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 294, L98-109.
- FRUMP, A. L., GOSS, K. N., VAYL, A., ALBRECHT, M., FISHER, A., TURSUNOVA, R., FIERST, J., WHITSON, J., CUCCI, A. R., BROWN, M. B. & LAHM, T. 2015. Estradiol improves right ventricular function in rats with severe angioproliferative pulmonary hypertension: effects of endogenous and exogenous sex hormones. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 308, L873-90.
- FULTON, D. J. R., LI, X., BORDAN, Z., HAIGH, S., BENTLEY, A., CHEN, F. & BARMAN, S. A. 2017. Reactive Oxygen and Nitrogen Species in the Development of Pulmonary Hypertension. *Antioxidants*, 6, 54.
- GABLER, N. B., FRENCH, B., STROM, B. L., LIU, Z., PALEVSKY, H. I., TAICHMAN, D. B., KAWUT, S. M. & HALPERN, S. D. 2012. Race and sex differences in response to endothelin receptor antagonists for pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Chest*, 141, 20-26.
- GAIKWAD, N. W. 2013. Ultra performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry method for profiling of steroid metabolome in human tissue. *Anal Chem*, 85, 4951-60.
- GAINE, S. P. & RUBIN, L. J. 1998. Primary pulmonary hypertension. Lancet, 352, 719-25.
- GALIÈ, N., BARBERÀ, J. A., FROST, A. E., GHOFRANI, H.-A., HOEPER, M. M., MCLAUGHLIN, V. V., PEACOCK, A. J., SIMONNEAU, G., VACHIERY, J.-L., GRÜNIG, E., OUDIZ, R. J., VONK-NOORDEGRAAF, A., WHITE, R. J., BLAIR, C., GILLIES, H., MILLER, K. L., HARRIS, J. H. N., LANGLEY, J. & RUBIN, L. J. 2015. Initial Use of Ambrisentan plus Tadalafil in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 373, 834-844.
- GALIE, N., HOEPER, M. M., HUMBERT, M., TORBICKI, A., VACHIERY, J. L., BARBERA, J. A., BEGHETTI, M., CORRIS, P., GAINE, S., GIBBS, J. S., GOMEZ-SANCHEZ, M. A., JONDEAU, G., KLEPETKO, W., OPITZ, C., PEACOCK, A., RUBIN, L., ZELLWEGER, M. & SIMONNEAU, G. 2009. Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of pulmonary hypertension: the Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Pulmonary Hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Respiratory Society (ERS), endorsed by the International Society of Heart and Lung Transplantation (ISHLT). *Eur Heart* J, 30, 2493-537.
- GALIÈ, N., HUMBERT, M., VACHIERY, J.-L., GIBBS, S., LANG, I., TORBICKI, A., SIMONNEAU, G., PEACOCK, A., VONK NOORDEGRAAF, A., BEGHETTI, M., GHOFRANI, A., GOMEZ SANCHEZ, M. A., HANSMANN, G., KLEPETKO, W., LANCELLOTTI, P., MATUCCI, M., MCDONAGH, T., PIERARD, L. A., TRINDADE, P. T., ZOMPATORI, M. & HOEPER, M. 2016. 2015 ESC/ERS Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of pulmonary hypertension The Joint Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Pulmonary Hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Respiratory Society (ERS): Endorsed by: Association for European Paediatric and Congenital Cardiology (AEPC), International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation (ISHLT). *European Heart Journal*, 37, 67-119.
- GALIE, N., MANES, A. & BRANZI, A. 2004a. The endothelin system in pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Cardiovasc Res*, 61, 227-37.
- GALIE, N., TORBICKI, A., BARST, R., DARTEVELLE, P., HAWORTH, S., HIGENBOTTAM, T., OLSCHEWSKI, H., PEACOCK, A., PIETRA, G., RUBIN, L. J., SIMONNEAU, G., PRIORI, S. G., GARCIA, M. A., BLANC, J. J., BUDAJ, A., COWIE, M., DEAN, V., DECKERS, J., BURGOS, E. F., LEKAKIS, J., LINDAHL, B., MAZZOTTA, G., MCGREGOR, K., MORAIS, J., OTO, A., SMISETH, O. A., BARBERA, J. A., GIBBS, S., HOEPER, M., HUMBERT, M., NAEIJE, R. & PEPKE-ZABA, J. 2004b. Guidelines on diagnosis and treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension. The Task Force on Diagnosis and Treatment of

Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology. *Eur Heart J*, 25, 2243-78.

- GALL, H., FELIX, J. F., SCHNECK, F. K., MILGER, K., SOMMER, N., VOSWINCKEL,
 R., FRANCO, O. H., HOFMAN, A., SCHERMULY, R. T., WEISSMANN, N.,
 GRIMMINGER, F., SEEGER, W. & GHOFRANI, H. A. 2017. The Giessen
 Pulmonary Hypertension Registry: Survival in pulmonary hypertension subgroups. The Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation.
- GAO, N., NESTER, R. A. & SARKAR, M. A. 2004. 4-Hydroxy estradiol but not 2-hydroxy estradiol induces expression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha and vascular endothelial growth factor A through phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt/FRAP pathway in OVCAR-3 and A2780-CP70 human ovarian carcinoma cells. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 196, 124-35.
- GAO, Y. & RAJ, J. U. 2010. Regulation of the pulmonary circulation in the fetus and newborn. *Physiol Rev*, 90, 1291-335.
- GAO, Y. & RAJ, J. U. 2017. Regulation of Pulmonary Circulation. In: POLIN, R. A., ABMAN, S. H., ROWITCH, D. & BENITZ, W. E. (eds.) Fetal and Neonatal Physiology. 5th Edition ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier.
- GAVIN, K. M., SEALS, D. R., SILVER, A. E. & MOREAU, K. L. 2009. Vascular endothelial estrogen receptor alpha is modulated by estrogen status and related to endothelial function and endothelial nitric oxide synthase in healthy women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 94, 3513-20.
- GENINI, D., GARCIA-ESCUDERO, R., CARBONE, G. M. & CATAPANO, C. V. 2012. Transcriptional and Non-Transcriptional Functions of PPARβ/δ in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. *PLoS ONE*, 7, e46009.
- GEORGE, M. P., CHAMPION, H. C. & PILEWSKI, J. M. 2011. Lung transplantation for pulmonary hypertension *Pulmonary Circulation*, 1, 182–191.
- GERACI, M. W., GAO, B., SHEPHERD, D. C., MOORE, M. D., WESTCOTT, J. Y., FAGAN, K. A., ALGER, L. A., TUDER, R. M. & VOELKEL, N. F. 1999. Pulmonary prostacyclin synthase overexpression in transgenic mice protects against development of hypoxic pulmonary hypertension. J Clin Invest, 103, 1509-15.
- GIAID, A. & SALEH, D. 1995. Reduced expression of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in the lungs of patients with pulmonary hypertension. *N Engl J Med*, 333, 214-21.
- GIAID, A., YANAGISAWA, M., LANGLEBEN, D., MICHEL, R. P., LEVY, R., SHENNIB, H., KIMURA, S., MASAKI, T., DUGUID, W. P. & STEWART, D. J. 1993. Expression of Endothelin-1 in the Lungs of Patients with Pulmonary Hypertension. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 328, 1732-1739.
- GIRERD, B., MONTANI, D., COULET, F., SZTRYMF, B., YAICI, A., JAIS, X., TREGOUET, D., REIS, A., DROUIN-GARRAUD, V., FRAISSE, A., SITBON, O., O'CALLAGHAN, D. S., SIMONNEAU, G., SOUBRIER, F. & HUMBERT, M. 2010a. Clinical outcomes of pulmonary arterial hypertension in patients carrying an ACVRL1 (ALK1) mutation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 181, 851-61.
- GIRERD, B., MONTANI, D., EYRIES, M., YAICI, A., SZTRYMF, B., COULET, F., SITBON, O., SIMONNEAU, G., SOUBRIER, F. & HUMBERT, M. 2010b. Absence of influence of gender and BMPR2 mutation type on clinical phenotypes of pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Respir Res*, 11, 73.
- GOMBERG-MAITLAND, M., DUFTON, C., OUDIZ, R. J. & BENZA, R. L. 2011. Compelling evidence of long-term outcomes in pulmonary arterial hypertension? A clinical perspective. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 57, 1053-61.
- GOMEZ-ARROYO, J. G., FARKAS, L., ALHUSSAINI, A. A., FARKAS, D., KRASKAUSKAS, D., VOELKEL, N. F. & BOGAARD, H. J. 2012. The monocrotaline model of pulmonary hypertension in perspective. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 302, L363-9.

- GOODMAN, M. T., MCDUFFIE, K., KOLONEL, L. N., TERADA, K., DONLON, T. A., WILKENS, L. R., GUO, C. & LE MARCHAND, L. 2001. Case-control study of ovarian cancer and polymorphisms in genes involved in catecholestrogen formation and metabolism. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 10, 209-16.
- GRADIN, K., MCGUIRE, J., WENGER, R. H., KVIETIKOVA, I., FHITELAW, M. L., TOFTGARD, R., TORA, L., GASSMANN, M. & POELLINGER, L. 1996. Functional interference between hypoxia and dioxin signal transduction pathways: competition for recruitment of the Arnt transcription factor. *Mol Cell Biol*, 16, 5221-31.
- GREENWAY, S., VAN SUYLEN, R. J., DU MARCHIE SARVAAS, G., KWAN, E., AMBARTSUMIAN, N., LUKANIDIN, E. & RABINOVITCH, M. 2004. S100A4/Mts1 produces murine pulmonary artery changes resembling plexogenic arteriopathy and is increased in human plexogenic arteriopathy. *Am J Pathol*, 164, 253-62.
- GRODIN, J. M., SIITERI, P. K. & MACDONALD, P. C. 1973. Source of estrogen production in postmenopausal women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 36, 207-14.
- GU, Y.-Z., HOGENESCH, J. B. & BRADFIELD, C. A. 2000. The PAS Superfamily: Sensors of Environmental and Developmental Signals. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology*, 40, 519-561.
- GUNNARSSON, C., OLSSON, B. M. & STAL, O. 2001. Abnormal expression of 17betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenases in breast cancer predicts late recurrence. *Cancer Res*, 61, 8448-51.
- GUO, T., GU, J., SOLDIN, O. P., SINGH, R. J. & SOLDIN, S. J. 2008. Rapid measurement of estrogens and their metabolites in human serum by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry without derivatization. *Clin Biochem*, 41, 736-41.
- GUO, X. & WANG, X. F. 2009. Signaling cross-talk between TGF-beta/BMP and other pathways. *Cell Res*, 19, 71-88.
- GURTNER, H. P. 1985. Aminorex and pulmonary hypertension. A review. Cor Vasa, 27, 160-71.
- HAJEK, R. A., ROBERTSON, A. D., JOHNSTON, D. A., VAN, N. T., TCHOLAKIAN, R. K., WAGNER, L. A., CONTI, C. J., MEISTRICH, M. L., CONTRERAS, N., EDWARDS, C. L. & JONES, L. A. 1997. During development, 17alpha-estradiol is a potent estrogen and carcinogen. *Environ Health Perspect*, 105 Suppl 3, 577-81.
- HAKKOLA, J., PASANEN, M., PELKONEN, O., HUKKANEN, J., EVISALMI, S., ANTTILA, S., RANE, A., MANTYLA, M., PURKUNEN, R., SAARIKOSKI, S., TOOMING, M. & RAUNIO, H. 1997. Expression of CYP1B1 in human adult and fetal tissues and differential inducibility of CYP1B1 and CYP1A1 by Ah receptor ligands in human placenta and cultured cells. *Carcinogenesis*, 18, 391-7.
- HALL, J. M., COUSE, J. F. & KORACH, K. S. 2001. The multifaceted mechanisms of estradiol and estrogen receptor signaling. *J Biol Chem*, 276, 36869-72.
- HALL, S. M. & HAWORTH, S. G. 1987. Conducting pulmonary arteries: structural adaptation to extrauterine life in the pig. *Cardiovasc Res*, 21, 208-16.
- HALL, S. M., HISLOP, A. A., PIERCE, C. M. & HAWORTH, S. G. 2000. Prenatal origins of human intrapulmonary arteries: formation and smooth muscle maturation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 23, 194-203.
- HAMID, R., COGAN, J. D., HEDGES, L. K., AUSTIN, E., PHILLIPS, J. A., 3RD, NEWMAN, J. H. & LOYD, J. E. 2009. Penetrance of pulmonary arterial hypertension is modulated by the expression of normal BMPR2 allele. *Hum Mutat*, 30, 649-54.
- HAN, C., HONG, K. H., KIM, Y. H., KIM, M. J., SONG, C., KIM, M. J., KIM, S. J., RAIZADA, M. K. & OH, S. P. 2013. SMAD1 deficiency in either endothelial or

smooth muscle cells can predispose mice to pulmonary hypertension. *Hypertension*, 61, 1044-52.

- HAN, Z., MIWA, Y., OBIKANE, H., MITSUMATA, M., TAKAHASHI-YANAGA, F., MORIMOTO, S. & SASAGURI, T. 2008. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor mediates laminar fluid shear stress-induced CYP1A1 activation and cell cycle arrest in vascular endothelial cells. *Cardiovasc Res*, 77, 809-18.
- HANKINSON, O. 1995. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor complex. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol*, 35, 307-40.
- HARDER, D. R., CAMPBELL, W. B. & ROMAN, R. J. 1995. Role of cytochrome P-450 enzymes and metabolites of arachidonic acid in the control of vascular tone. *J Vasc Res*, 32, 79-92.
- HAWORTH, S. G., HALL, S. M., CHEW, M. & ALLEN, K. 1987. Thinning of fetal pulmonary arterial wall and postnatal remodelling: ultrastructural studies on the respiratory unit arteries of the pig. *Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histopathol*, 411, 161-71.
- HE, X., ZHENG, Z., SONG, T., WEI, C., MA, H., MA, Q., ZHANG, Y., XU, Y., SHI, W., YE, Q. & ZHONG, H. 2010. c-Abl regulates estrogen receptor alpha transcription activity through its stabilization by phosphorylation. *Oncogene*, 29, 2238-51.
- HEALY, A. M., MORGENTHAU, L., ZHU, X., FARBER, H. W. & CARDOSO, W. V. 2000. VEGF is deposited in the subepithelial matrix at the leading edge of branching airways and stimulates neovascularization in the murine embryonic lung. *Dev Dyn*, 219, 341-52.
- HELDRING, N., PIKE, A., ANDERSSON, S., MATTHEWS, J., CHENG, G., HARTMAN, J., TUJAGUE, M., STROM, A., TREUTER, E., WARNER, M. & GUSTAFSSON, J. A. 2007. Estrogen receptors: how do they signal and what are their targets. *Physiol Rev*, 87, 905-31.
- HEMNES, A. R., KIELY, D. G., COCKRILL, B. A., SAFDAR, Z., WILSON, V. J., AL HAZMI, M., PRESTON, I. R., MACLEAN, M. R. & LAHM, T. 2015. Statement on pregnancy in pulmonary hypertension from the Pulmonary Vascular Research Institute. *Pulmonary Circulation*, 5, 435-465.
- HERGET, J., WILHELM, J., NOVOTNA, J., ECKHARDT, A., VYTASEK, R., MRAZKOVA, L. & OSTADAL, M. 2000. A possible role of the oxidant tissue injury in the development of hypoxic pulmonary hypertension. *Physiol Res*, 49, 493-501.
- HERTZ, R., BERMAN, I., KEPPLER, D. & BAR-TANA, J. 1996. Activation of gene transcription by prostacyclin analogues is mediated by the peroxisome-proliferators-activated receptor (PPAR). *Eur J Biochem*, 235, 242-7.
- HEYMANN, M. A., LEWIS, A. B. & RUDOLPH, A. M. 1977. Pulmonary Vascular Responses during Advancing Gestation in Fetal Lambs in utero. *CHEST*, 71, 270-271.
- HIRATA, Y., EMORI, T., EGUCHI, S., KANNO, K., IMAI, T., OHTA, K. & MARUMO, F. 1993. Endothelin receptor subtype B mediates synthesis of nitric oxide by cultured bovine endothelial cells. *J Clin Invest*, 91, 1367-73.
- HISLOP, A. 2005. Developmental biology of the pulmonary circulation. *Paediatr Respir Rev,* 6, 35-43.
- HOEPER, M. M. 2009. Definition, classification, and epidemiology of pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Semin Respir Crit Care Med*, 30, 369-75.
- HOEPER, M. M. & GIBBS, S. R. J. 2014. The changing landscape of pulmonary arterial hypertension and implications for patient care. *European Respiratory Review*, 23, 450-457.
- HOEPER, M. M., HUSCHER, D., GHOFRANI, H. A., DELCROIX, M., DISTLER, O., SCHWEIGER, C., GRUNIG, E., STAEHLER, G., ROSENKRANZ, S., HALANK,

M., HELD, M., GROHE, C., LANGE, T. J., BEHR, J., KLOSE, H., WILKENS, H., FILUSCH, A., GERMANN, M., EWERT, R., SEYFARTH, H. J., OLSSON, K. M., OPITZ, C. F., GAINE, S. P., VIZZA, C. D., VONK-NOORDEGRAAF, A., KAEMMERER, H., GIBBS, J. S. & PITTROW, D. 2013. Elderly patients diagnosed with idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension: results from the COMPERA registry. *Int J Cardiol*, 168, 871-80.

- HOFFMANN, R., NIIYAMA, S., HUTH, A., KISSLING, S. & HAPPLE, R. 2002. 17alphaestradiol induces aromatase activity in intact human anagen hair follicles ex vivo. *Exp Dermatol*, 11, 376-80.
- HOOD, K. Y., MAIR, K. M., HARVEY, A. P., MONTEZANO, A. C., TOUYZ, R. M. & MACLEAN, M. R. 2017. Serotonin Signaling Through the 5-HT(1B) Receptor and NADPH Oxidase 1 in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 37, 1361-1370.
- HOOD, K. Y., MONTEZANO, A. C., HARVEY, A. P., NILSEN, M., MACLEAN, M. R. & TOUYZ, R. M. 2016. Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate Oxidase-Mediated Redox Signaling and Vascular Remodeling by 16alpha-Hydroxyestrone in Human Pulmonary Artery Cells: Implications in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. *Hypertension*, 68, 796-808.
- HOSHIKAWA, Y., ONO, S., SUZUKI, S., TANITA, T., CHIDA, M., SONG, C., NODA, M., TABATA, T., VOELKEL, N. F. & FUJIMURA, S. 2001a. Generation of oxidative stress contributes to the development of pulmonary hypertension induced by hypoxia. J Appl Physiol (1985), 90, 1299-306.
- HOSHIKAWA, Y., VOELKEL, N. F., GESELL, T. L., MOORE, M. D., MORRIS, K. G., ALGER, L. A., NARUMIYA, S. & GERACI, M. W. 2001b. Prostacyclin receptordependent modulation of pulmonary vascular remodeling. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 164, 314-8.
- HU, W., SORRENTINO, C., DENISON, M. S., KOLAJA, K. & FIELDEN, M. R. 2007. Induction of cyp1a1 is a nonspecific biomarker of aryl hydrocarbon receptor activation: results of large scale screening of pharmaceuticals and toxicants in vivo and in vitro. *Mol Pharmacol*, 71, 1475-86.
- HUANG, J., WOLK, J. H., GEWITZ, M. H. & MATHEW, R. 2010. Progressive endothelial cell damage in an inflammatory model of pulmonary hypertension. *Exp Lung Res*, 36, 57-66.
- HUANG, S., TANG, B., USOSKIN, D., LECHLEIDER, R. J., JAMIN, S. P., LI, C., ANZANO, M. A., EBENDAL, T., DENG, C. & ROBERTS, A. B. 2002. Conditional knockout of the Smad1 gene. *Genesis*, 32, 76-9.
- HUGHES, J. M. B. & MORRELL, N. W. 2001. Vasoactive mediators: Effects on tone and growth. *In:* HUGHES, J. M. B. & MORRELL, N. W. (eds.) *Pulmonary Circulation: From basics mechanisms to clinical practice*. London: Imperial College Press.
- HUKKANEN, J., PELKONEN, O. & RAUNIO, H. 2001. Expression of xenobioticmetabolizing enzymes in human pulmonary tissue: possible role in susceptibility for ILD. *Eur Respir J Suppl*, 32, 122s-126s.
- HUMBERT, M. & GHOFRANI, H.-A. 2016. The molecular targets of approved treatments for pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Thorax*, 71, 73–83.
- HUMBERT, M., LAU, E. M. T., MONTANI, D., JAÏS, X., SITBON, O. & SIMONNEAU, G. 2014. Advances in Therapeutic Interventions for Patients With Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. *Circulation*, 130, 2189-2208.
- HUMBERT, M., SITBON, O., CHAOUAT, A., BERTOCCHI, M., HABIB, G., GRESSIN,
 V., YAICI, A., WEITZENBLUM, E., CORDIER, J. F., CHABOT, F., DROMER,
 C., PISON, C., REYNAUD-GAUBERT, M., HALOUN, A., LAURENT, M.,
 HACHULLA, E., COTTIN, V., DEGANO, B., JAIS, X., MONTANI, D., SOUZA,
 R. & SIMONNEAU, G. 2010a. Survival in patients with idiopathic, familial, and

anorexigen-associated pulmonary arterial hypertension in the modern management era. *Circulation*, 122, 156-63.

- HUMBERT, M., SITBON, O., CHAOUAT, A., BERTOCCHI, M., HABIB, G., GRESSIN, V., YAICI, A., WEITZENBLUM, E., CORDIER, J. F., CHABOT, F., DROMER, C., PISON, C., REYNAUD-GAUBERT, M., HALOUN, A., LAURENT, M., HACHULLA, E. & SIMONNEAU, G. 2006. Pulmonary arterial hypertension in France: results from a national registry. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 173, 1023-30.
- HUMBERT, M., SITBON, O., YAICI, A., MONTANI, D., O'CALLAGHAN, D. S., JAIS, X., PARENT, F., SAVALE, L., NATALI, D., GUNTHER, S., CHAOUAT, A., CHABOT, F., CORDIER, J. F., HABIB, G., GRESSIN, V., JING, Z. C., SOUZA, R. & SIMONNEAU, G. 2010b. Survival in incident and prevalent cohorts of patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Eur Respir J*, 36, 549-55.
- HUOBER, J. B., NAKAMURA, S., MEYN, R., ROTH, J. A. & MUKHOPADHYAY, T. 2000. Oral administration of an estrogen metabolite-induced potentiation of radiation antitumor effects in presence of wild-type p53 in non-small-cell lung cancer. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology*Biology*Physics*, 48, 1127-1137.
- HURDMAN, J., CONDLIFFE, R., ELLIOT, C. A., DAVIES, C., HILL, C., WILD, J. M., CAPENER, D., SEPHTON, P., HAMILTON, N., ARMSTRONG, I. J., BILLINGS, C., LAWRIE, A., SABROE, I., AKIL, M., O'TOOLE, L. & KIELY, D. G. 2012. ASPIRE registry: assessing the Spectrum of Pulmonary hypertension Identified at a REferral centre. *Eur Respir J*, 39, 945-55.
- ICHIMORI, H., KOGAKI, S., TAKAHASHI, K., ISHIDA, H., NARITA, J., NAWA, N., BADEN, H., UCHIKAWA, T., OKADA, Y. & OZONO, K. 2013. Drastic shift from positive to negative estrogen effect on bone morphogenetic protein signaling in pulmonary arterial endothelial cells under hypoxia. *Circ J*, 77, 2118-26.
- IHIONKHAN, C. E., CHAMBLISS, K. L., GIBSON, L. L., HAHNER, L. D., MENDELSOHN, M. E. & SHAUL, P. W. 2002. Estrogen causes dynamic alterations in endothelial estrogen receptor expression. *Circ Res*, 91, 814-20.
- INGELMAN-SUNDBERG, M. 2004. Human drug metabolising cytochrome P450 enzymes: properties and polymorphisms. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol*, 369, 89-104.
- IVEY, M. E., OSMAN, N. & LITTLE, P. J. 2008. Endothelin-1 signalling in vascular smooth muscle: Pathways controlling cellular functions associated with atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis*, 199, 237-247.
- JACKSON, W. F. 2000. Ion Channels and Vascular Tone. Hypertension, 35, 173–178.
- JACOBS, W., VAN DE VEERDONK, M. C., TRIP, P., DE MAN, F., HEYMANS, M. W., MARCUS, J. T., KAWUT, S. M., BOGAARD, H. J., BOONSTRA, A. & VONK NOORDEGRAAF, A. 2014. The right ventricle explains sex differences in survival in idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Chest*, 145, 1230-1236.
- JAKACKA, M., ITO, M., WEISS, J., CHIEN, P.-Y., GEHM, B. D. & JAMESON, J. L. 2001. Estrogen Receptor Binding to DNA Is Not Required for Its Activity through the Nonclassical AP1 Pathway. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276, 13615-13621.
- JANCOVA, P., ANZENBACHER, P. & ANZENBACHEROVA, E. 2010. Phase II drug metabolizing enzymes. *Biomed Pap Med Fac Univ Palacky Olomouc Czech Repub*, 154, 103-16.
- JENKINS, S., ROWELL, C., WANG, J. & LAMARTINIERE, C. A. 2007. Prenatal TCDD Exposure Predisposes for Mammary Cancer in Rats *Reproductive Toxicology*, 23, 391–396.
- JENNINGS, B. L., MONTANEZ, D. E., MAY, M. E., ESTES, A. M., FANG, X. R., YAGHINI, F. A., MALIK, K. U. & KANU, A. 2014. Cytochrome P450 1B1 contributes to increased blood pressure and cardiovascular and renal dysfunction in

spontaneously hypertensive rats. Cardiovascular drugs and therapy / sponsored by the International Society of Cardiovascular Pharmacotherapy, 28, 145-161.

- JERNIGAN, N. L., NAIK, J. S., WEISE-CROSS, L., DETWEILER, N. D., HERBERT, L. M., YELLOWHAIR, T. R. & RESTA, T. C. 2017. Contribution of reactive oxygen species to the pathogenesis of pulmonary arterial hypertension. *PLoS ONE*, 12, e0180455.
- JIANG, B. D., Y.; SUEN, C.; TAHA, M.; CHAUDHARY, KR:; COURTMAN, DW.; STEWART, DJ 2016. Marked Strain-Specific Differences in the SU5416 Rat Model of Severe Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 54, 461-8.
- JIANG, B. H., RUE, E., WANG, G. L., ROE, R. & SEMENZA, G. L. 1996. Dimerization, DNA binding, and transactivation properties of hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *J Biol Chem*, 271, 17771-8.
- JOBE, S. O., RAMADOSS, J., WARGIN, A. J. & MAGNESS, R. R. 2013. Estradiol-17β and its Cytochrome P450- and Catechol-O-Methyltransferase–Derived Metabolites Selectively Stimulate Production of Prostacyclin in Uterine Artery Endothelial Cells: Role of Estrogen Receptor-α Versus Estrogen Receptor-β. *Hypertension*, 61, 509-518.
- JOHANSEN, A. K., Z. 2014. Estrogen metabolism in pulmonary arterial hypertension. PhD, University of Glasgow.
- JOHANSEN, A. K., Z., ANDREW, R. & MACLEAN, M., R. 2014. Dynamic Alterations In The Estrogen Metabolic Axis In Pulmonary Hypertension: Evidence From Metabolic Flux Analysis. B27. MITOCHONDRIA AND METABOLIC DYSFUNCTION IN PULMONARY HYPERTENSION. American Thoracic Society.
- JOHANSEN, A. K. Z., DEAN, A., MORECROFT, I., HOOD, K., NILSEN, M., LOUGHLIN, L., ANAGNOSTOPOULOU, A., TOUYZ, R. M., WHITE, K. & MACLEAN, M. R. 2016. The serotonin transporter promotes a pathological estrogen metabolic pathway in pulmonary hypertension via cytochrome P450 1B1. *Pulmonary Circulation*, 6, 82-92.
- JOHNSON, B. A., LOWENSTEIN, C. J., SCHWARZ, M. A., NAKAYAMA, D. K., PITT, B. R. & DAVIES, P. 1994. Culture of pulmonary microvascular smooth muscle cells from intraacinar arteries of the rat: characterization and inducible production of nitric oxide. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 10, 604-12.
- JONES, R., CAPEN, D. E. & REID, L. 2014. *The Lung: Development, Aging and the Environment*, Elsevier Academic Press.
- JONES, R. C. & CAPEN, D. E. 2011. *Textbook of Pulmonary Vascular Disease*, New York, NY, Springer US.
- JONES, T. H. Testosterone deficiency: a risk factor for cardiovascular disease? *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism,* 21, 496-503.
- JONES, T. H. 2010. Testosterone deficiency: a risk factor for cardiovascular disease? *Trends* in Endocrinology & Metabolism, 21, 496-503.
- JOSHI, S. & KOTECHA, S. 2007. Lung growth and development. *Early Hum Dev*, 83, 789-94.
- JURASZ, P., COURTMAN, D., BABAIE, S. & STEWART, D. J. 2010. Role of apoptosis in pulmonary hypertension: from experimental models to clinical trials. *Pharmacol Ther*, 126, 1-8.
- KAMURA, T., SATO, S., IWAI, K., CZYZYK-KRZESKA, M., CONAWAY, R. C. & CONAWAY, J. W. 2000. Activation of HIF1α ubiquitination by a reconstituted von Hippel-Lindau (VHL) tumor suppressor complex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97, 10430–10435.
- KANE, G. C., MARADIT-KREMERS, H., SLUSSER, J. P., SCOTT, C. G., FRANTZ, R. P. & MCGOON, M. D. 2011. Integration of clinical and hemodynamic parameters

in the prediction of long-term survival in patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Chest*, 139, 1285-93.

- KASE, N. G. 2003. The Normal Human Ovary Part II: How Steroid Hormones Work. *In:* ALTCHEK, A., DELIGDISCH, L. & KASE, N. (eds.) *Diagnosis and Management* of Ovarian Disorders. 2nd Edition ed. San Diego, CA: Elsevier Science.
- KATO, J. Y., MATSUOKA, M., POLYAK, K., MASSAGUE, J. & SHERR, C. J. 1994. Cyclic AMP-induced G1 phase arrest mediated by an inhibitor (p27Kip1) of cyclindependent kinase 4 activation. *Cell*, 79, 487-96.
- KATO, S., ENDOH, H., MASUHIRO, Y., KITAMOTO, T., UCHIYAMA, S., SASAKI, H., MASUSHIGE, S., GOTOH, Y., NISHIDA, E., KAWASHIMA, H., METZGER, D. & CHAMBON, P. 1995. Activation of the estrogen receptor through phosphorylation by mitogen-activated protein kinase. *Science*, 270, 1491-4.
- KATO, Y., IWASE, M., KANAZAWA, H., KAWATA, N., YOSHIMORI, Y., HASHIMOTO, K., YOKOI, T., NODA, A., TAKAGI, K., KOIKE, Y., NISHIZAWA, T., NISHIMURA, M. & YOKOTA, M. 2003. Progressive development of pulmonary hypertension leading to right ventricular hypertrophy assessed by echocardiography in rats. *Exp Anim*, 52, 285-94.
- KAWUT, S. M., ARCHER-CHICKO, C. L., DEMICHELE, A., FRITZ, J. S., KLINGER, J. R., KY, B., PALEVSKY, H. I., PALMISCIANO, A. J., PATEL, M., PINDER, D., PROPERT, K. J., SMITH, K. A., STANCZYK, F., TRACY, R., VAIDYA, A., WHITTENHALL, M. E. & VENTETUOLO, C. E. 2017. Anastrozole in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-controlled Trial. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 195, 360-368.
- KAWUT, S. M., KROWKA, M. J., TROTTER, J. F., ROBERTS, K. E., BENZA, R. L., BADESCH, D. B., TAICHMAN, D. B., HORN, E. M., ZACKS, S., KAPLOWITZ, N., BROWN, R. S., JR. & FALLON, M. B. 2008. Clinical risk factors for portopulmonary hypertension. *Hepatology*, 48, 196-203.
- KAWUT, S. M., LIMA, J. A. C., BARR, R. G., CHAHAL, H., JAIN, A., TANDRI, H., PRAESTGAARD, A., BAGIELLA, E., KIZER, J. R., JOHNSON, W. C., KRONMAL, R. A. & BLUEMKE, D. A. 2011. Sex and Race Differences in Right Ventricular Structure and FunctionClinical Perspective. The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis–Right Ventricle Study, 123, 2542-2551.
- KAY, J. M., HARRIS, P. & HEATH, D. 1967. Pulmonary hypertension produced in rats by ingestion of Crotalaria spectabilis seeds. *Thorax*, 22, 176–179.
- KAZLAUSKAS, A., POELLINGER, L. & PONGRATZ, I. 2000. The Immunophilin-like Protein XAP2 Regulates Ubiquitination and Subcellular Localization of the Dioxin Receptor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275, 41317-41324.
- KE, Y., BERTIN, J., GONTHIER, R., SIMARD, J.-N. & LABRIE, F. 2014. A sensitive, simple and robust LC–MS/MS method for the simultaneous quantification of seven androgen- and estrogen-related steroids in postmenopausal serum. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 144, 523-534.
- KELLER, H., GIVEL, F., PERROUD, M. & WAHLI, W. 1995. Signaling cross-talk between peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor/retinoid X receptor and estrogen receptor through estrogen response elements. *Mol Endocrinol*, 9, 794-804.
- KEY, T. J., APPLEBY, P. N., REEVES, G. K., RODDAM, A., DORGAN, J. F., LONGCOPE, C., STANCZYK, F. Z., STEPHENSON, H. E., JR., FALK, R. T., MILLER, R., SCHATZKIN, A., ALLEN, D. S., FENTIMAN, I. S., KEY, T. J., WANG, D. Y., DOWSETT, M., THOMAS, H. V., HANKINSON, S. E., TONIOLO, P., AKHMEDKHANOV, A., KOENIG, K., SHORE, R. E., ZELENIUCH-JACQUOTTE, A., BERRINO, F., MUTI, P., MICHELI, A., KROGH, V., SIERI, S.,

PALA, V., VENTURELLI, E., SECRETO, G., BARRETT-CONNOR, E., LAUGHLIN, G. A., KABUTO, M., AKIBA, S., STEVENS, R. G., NERIISHI, K., LAND, C. E., CAULEY, J. A., KULLER, L. H., CUMMINGS, S. R., HELZLSOUER, K. J., ALBERG, A. J., BUSH, T. L., COMSTOCK, G. W., GORDON, G. B., MILLER, S. R. & LONGCOPE, C. 2003. Body mass index, serum sex hormones, and breast cancer risk in postmenopausal women. *J Natl Cancer Inst*, 95, 1218-26.

- KHAW, K.-T., DOWSETT, M., FOLKERD, E., BINGHAM, S., WAREHAM, N., LUBEN, R., WELCH, A. & DAY, N. 2007. Endogenous Testosterone and Mortality Due to All Causes, Cardiovascular Disease, and Cancer in Men. *Circulation*, 116, 2694.
- KIM, J. H., SHERMAN, M. E., CURRIERO, F. C., GUENGERICH, F. P., STRICKLAND, P. T. & SUTTER, T. R. 2004. Expression of cytochromes P450 1A1 and 1B1 in human lung from smokers, non-smokers, and ex-smokers. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 199, 210-9.
- KING, W. J. & GREENE, G. L. 1984. Monoclonal antibodies localize oestrogen receptor in the nuclei of target cells. *Nature*, 307, 745-7.
- KISSELEV, P., SCHUNCK, W. H., ROOTS, I. & SCHWARZ, D. 2005. Association of CYP1A1 polymorphisms with differential metabolic activation of 17beta-estradiol and estrone. *Cancer Res*, 65, 2972-8.
- KITADA, M. & KAMATAKI, T. 1994. Cytochrome P450 in human fetal liver: significance and fetal-specific expression. *Drug Metab Rev*, 26, 305-23.
- KITTIKULSUTH, W., SULLIVAN, J. C. & POLLOCK, D. M. 2013. ET-1 actions in the kidney: evidence for sex differences. *Br J Pharmacol*, 168, 318-26.
- KLEIGER, R. E., BOXER, M., INGHAM, R. E. & HARRISON, D. C. 1976. Pulmonary hypertension in patients using oral contraceptives. A report of six cases. *Chest*, 69, 143-7.
- KLEINMAN, M. E., GREIVES, M. R., CHURGIN, S. S., BLECHMAN, K. M., CHANG, E. I., CERADINI, D. J., TEPPER, O. M. & GURTNER, G. C. 2007. Hypoxiainduced mediators of stem/progenitor cell trafficking are increased in children with hemangioma. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 27, 2664-70.
- KLINGE, C. M., BLANKENSHIP, K. A., RISINGER, K. E., BHATNAGAR, S., NOISIN, E. L., SUMANASEKERA, W. K., ZHAO, L., BREY, D. M. & KEYNTON, R. S. 2005. Resveratrol and estradiol rapidly activate MAPK signaling through estrogen receptors alpha and beta in endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem*, 280, 7460-8.
- KLINGER, J. R., ABMAN, S. H. & GLADWIN, M. T. 2013. Nitric oxide deficiency and endothelial dysfunction in pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 188, 639-46.
- KOBAYASHI, A., NUMAYAMA-TSURUTA, K., SOGAWA, K. & FUJII-KURIYAMA, Y. 1997. CBP/p300 functions as a possible transcriptional coactivator of Ah receptor nuclear translocator (Arnt). J Biochem, 122, 703-10.
- KOFF, A., GIORDANO, A., DESAI, D., YAMASHITA, K., HARPER, J. W., ELLEDGE, S., NISHIMOTO, T., MORGAN, D. O., FRANZA, B. R. & ROBERTS, J. M. 1992. Formation and activation of a cyclin E-cdk2 complex during the G1 phase of the human cell cycle. *Science*, 257, 1689-94.
- KOPF, P. G., SCOTT, J. A., AGBOR, L. N., BOBERG, J. R., ELASED, K. M., HUWE, J. K. & WALKER, M. K. 2010. Cytochrome P4501A1 is required for vascular dysfunction and hypertension induced by 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin. *Toxicol Sci*, 117, 537-46.
- KORASHY, H. M. & EL-KADI, A. O. 2006. The role of aryl hydrocarbon receptor in the pathogenesis of cardiovascular diseases. *Drug Metab Rev*, 38, 411-50.

- KOTOV, A., FALANY, J. L., WANG, J. & FALANY, C. N. 1999. Regulation of estrogen activity by sulfation in human Ishikawa endometrial adenocarcinoma cells. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol*, 68, 137-44.
- KOUREMBANAS, S. & BERNFIELD, M. 1994. Hypoxia and endothelial-smooth muscle cell interactions in the lung. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 11, 373-4.
- KOVACS, G., BERGHOLD, A., SCHEIDL, S. & OLSCHEWSKI, H. 2009. Pulmonary arterial pressure during rest and exercise in healthy subjects: a systematic review. *Eur Respir J*, 34, 888-94.
- KRISHNA, D. R. & KLOTZ, U. 1994. Extrahepatic metabolism of drugs in humans. *Clin Pharmacokinet*, 26, 144-60.
- KUIPER, G. G., CARLSSON, B., GRANDIEN, K., ENMARK, E., HAGGBLAD, J., NILSSON, S. & GUSTAFSSON, J. A. 1997. Comparison of the ligand binding specificity and transcript tissue distribution of estrogen receptors alpha and beta. *Endocrinology*, 138, 863-70.
- KUSHNER, P. J., AGARD, D. A., GREENE, G. L., SCANLAN, T. S., SHIAU, A. K., UHT, R. M. & WEBB, P. 2000. Estrogen receptor pathways to AP-1. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, 74, 311-7.
- KVINGEDAL, A. M. & SMELAND, E. B. 1997. A novel putative G-protein-coupled receptor expressed in lung, heart and lymphoid tissue. *FEBS Lett*, 407, 59-62.
- LABORATORIES, M. C. 2018. *Test ID: ESTF (Estrogens, Estrone (E1) and Estradiol (E2), Fractionated, Serum)* [Online]. Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research. [Accessed 25th May 2017].
- LABRIE, F., BELANGER, A., LUU-THE, V., LABRIE, C., SIMARD, J., CUSAN, L., GOMEZ, J. L. & CANDAS, B. 1998. DHEA and the intracrine formation of androgens and estrogens in peripheral target tissues: its role during aging. *Steroids*, 63, 322-8.
- LABRIE, F., LUU-THE, V., LIN, S. X., LABRIE, C., SIMARD, J., BRETON, R. & BELANGER, A. 1997. The key role of 17 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases in sex steroid biology. *Steroids*, 62, 148-58.
- LAFRANCONI, W. M. & HUXTABLE, R. J. 1984. Hepatic metabolism and pulmonary toxicity of monocrotaline using isolated perfused liver and lung. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 33, 2479-84.
- LAHM, T., ALBRECHT, M., FISHER, A. J., SELEJ, M., PATEL, N. G., BROWN, J. A., JUSTICE, M. J., BROWN, M. B., VAN DEMARK, M., TRULOCK, K. M., DIEUDONNE, D., REDDY, J. G., PRESSON, R. G. & PETRACHE, I. 2012. 17beta-Estradiol attenuates hypoxic pulmonary hypertension via estrogen receptormediated effects. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 185, 965-80.
- LAHVIS, G. P., LINDELL, S. L., THOMAS, R. S., MCCUSKEY, R. S., MURPHY, C., GLOVER, E., BENTZ, M., SOUTHARD, J. & BRADFIELD, C. A. 2000. Portosystemic shunting and persistent fetal vascular structures in aryl hydrocarbon receptor-deficient mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97, 10442-7.
- LAI, Y. L. & LAW, T. C. 2004. Chronic hypoxia- and monocrotaline-induced elevation of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha levels and pulmonary hypertension. *J Biomed Sci*, 11, 315-21.
- LAI, Y. L., OLSON, J. W. & GILLESPIE, M. N. 1991. Ventilatory dysfunction precedes pulmonary vascular changes in monocrotaline-treated rats. J Appl Physiol (1985), 70, 561-6.
- LAKSHMINRUSIMHA, S. 2012. The pulmonary circulation in neonatal respiratory failure. *Clin Perinatol*, 39, 655-83.
- LANE, K. B., MACHADO, R. D., PAUCIULO, M. W., THOMSON, J. R., PHILLIPS, J. A., 3RD, LOYD, J. E., NICHOLS, W. C. & TREMBATH, R. C. 2000. Heterozygous

germline mutations in BMPR2, encoding a TGF-beta receptor, cause familial primary pulmonary hypertension. *Nat Genet*, 26, 81-4.

- LANGENFELD, M. R., FORST, T., HOHBERG, C., KANN, P., LUBBEN, G., KONRAD, T., FULLERT, S. D., SACHARA, C. & PFUTZNER, A. 2005. Pioglitazone decreases carotid intima-media thickness independently of glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: results from a controlled randomized study. *Circulation*, 111, 2525-31.
- LANGLEBEN, D., DUPUIS, J., LANGLEBEN, I., HIRSCH, A. M., BARON, M., SENECAL, J. L. & GIOVINAZZO, M. 2006. Etiology-specific endothelin-1 clearance in human precapillary pulmonary hypertension. *Chest*, 129, 689-95.
- LARSEN, M. C., BUSHKOFSKY, J. R., GORMAN, T., ADHAMI, V., MUKHTAR, H., WANG, S., REEDER, S. B., SHEIBANI, N. & JEFCOATE, C. R. 2015. Cytochrome P450 1B1: An Unexpected Modulator of Liver Fatty Acid Homeostasis. Archives of biochemistry and biophysics, 571, 21-39.
- LAWRIE, A., SPIEKERKOETTER, E., MARTINEZ, E. C., AMBARTSUMIAN, N., SHEWARD, W. J., MACLEAN, M. R., HARMAR, A. J., SCHMIDT, A. M., LUKANIDIN, E. & RABINOVITCH, M. 2005. Interdependent serotonin transporter and receptor pathways regulate \$100A4/Mts1, a gene associated with pulmonary vascular disease. *Circ Res*, 97, 227-35.
- LE ROMANCER, M., POULARD, C., COHEN, P., SENTIS, S., RENOIR, J. M. & CORBO, L. 2011. Cracking the estrogen receptor's posttranslational code in breast tumors. *Endocr Rev*, 32, 597-622.
- LEE, A. J., CAI, M. X., THOMAS, P. E., CONNEY, A. H. & ZHU, B. T. 2003. Characterization of the oxidative metabolites of 17beta-estradiol and estrone formed by 15 selectively expressed human cytochrome p450 isoforms. *Endocrinology*, 144, 3382-98.
- LEE, A. J., KOSH, J. W., CONNEY, A. H. & ZHU, B. T. 2001. Characterization of the NADPH-dependent metabolism of 17beta-estradiol to multiple metabolites by human liver microsomes and selectively expressed human cytochrome P450 3A4 and 3A5. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 298, 420-32.
- LEE, A. J., MILLS, L. H., KOSH, J. W., CONNEY, A. H. & ZHU, B. T. 2002. NADPHdependent metabolism of estrone by human liver microsomes. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 300, 838-49.
- LEE, S. D., SHROYER, K. R., MARKHAM, N. E., COOL, C. D., VOELKEL, N. F. & TUDER, R. M. 1998. Monoclonal endothelial cell proliferation is present in primary but not secondary pulmonary hypertension. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 101, 927-934.
- LEE, S. L., WANG, W. W., LANZILLO, J. J. & FANBURG, B. L. 1994. Serotonin produces both hyperplasia and hypertrophy of bovine pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells in culture. *Am J Physiol*, 266, L46-52.
- LEE, Y. R., PARK, J., YU, H. N., KIM, J. S., YOUN, H. J. & JUNG, S. H. 2005. Upregulation of PI3K/Akt signaling by 17beta-estradiol through activation of estrogen receptor-alpha, but not estrogen receptor-beta, and stimulates cell growth in breast cancer cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 336, 1221-6.
- LEUNG, Y. K., MAK, P., HASSAN, S. & HO, S. M. 2006. Estrogen receptor (ER)-beta isoforms: a key to understanding ER-beta signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 103.
- LEVIN, E. R. 2005. Integration of the extranuclear and nuclear actions of estrogen. *Mol Endocrinol*, 19, 1951-9.
- LEVITZKY, M. G. 2013. Blood Flow to the Lung. *Pulmonary Physiology, 8th Ed.* New York, NY: McGraw Hill Education.

- LEWIS, A. B., HEYMANN, M. A. & RUDOLPH, A. M. 1976. Gestational changes in pulmonary vascular responses in fetal lambs in utero. *Circulation Research*, 39, 536-541.
- LI, B., YANG, L., SHEN, J., WANG, C. & JIANG, Z. 2007. The antiproliferative effect of sildenafil on pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells is mediated via upregulation of mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase-1 and degradation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 phosphorylation. *Anesth Analg*, 105, 1034-41, table of contents.
- LI, H., ELTON, T. S., CHEN, Y. F. & OPARIL, S. 1994. Increased endothelin receptor gene expression in hypoxic rat lung. *Am J Physiol*, 266, L553-60.
- LI, L., HAYNES, M. P. & BENDER, J. R. 2003. Plasma membrane localization and function of the estrogen receptor alpha variant (ER46) in human endothelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100, 4807-12.
- LI, Y., ZOU, Q., ZHOU, C., LEI, W., ZHENG, J. & HUANG, S. 2017. ITE inhibits growth of human pulmonary artery endothelial cells *Experimental Lung Research*, 43, 283-292.
- LIEHR, J. G. 2001. Genotoxicity of the steroidal oestrogens oestrone and oestradiol: possible mechanism of uterine and mammary cancer development. *Hum Reprod Update*, 7, 273-81.
- LIEHR, J. G. & RICCI, M. J. 1996. 4-Hydroxylation of estrogens as marker of human mammary tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 93, 3294-6.
- LIEHR, J. G., WAN-FEN, F., SIRBASKU, D. A. & ARI-ULUBELEN, A. 1986. Carcinogenicity of catechol estrogens in Syrian hamsters. *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry*, 24, 353-356.
- LIN, H., LEE, J. L., HOU, H. H., CHUNG, C. P., HSU, S. P. & JUAN, S. H. 2008. Molecular mechanisms of the antiproliferative effect of beraprost, a prostacyclin agonist, in murine vascular smooth muscle cells. *J Cell Physiol*, 214, 434-41.
- LINDBERG, M. K., MOVERARE, S., SKRTIC, S., GAO, H., DAHLMAN-WRIGHT, K., GUSTAFSSON, J. A. & OHLSSON, C. 2003. Estrogen receptor (ER)-beta reduces ERalpha-regulated gene transcription, supporting a "ying yang" relationship between ERalpha and ERbeta in mice. *Mol Endocrinol*, 17, 203-8.
- LING, Y., JOHNSON, M. K., KIELY, D. G., CONDLIFFE, R., ELLIOT, C. A., GIBBS, J. S., HOWARD, L. S., PEPKE-ZABA, J., SHEARES, K. K., CORRIS, P. A., FISHER, A. J., LORDAN, J. L., GAINE, S., COGHLAN, J. G., WORT, S. J., GATZOULIS, M. A. & PEACOCK, A. J. 2012. Changing demographics, epidemiology, and survival of incident pulmonary arterial hypertension: results from the pulmonary hypertension registry of the United Kingdom and Ireland. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 186, 790-6.
- LIPPERT, C., SEEGER, H., MUECK, A. O. & LIPPERT, T. H. 2000. The effects of A-ring and D-ring metabolites of estradiol on the proliferation of vascular endothelial cells. *Life Sciences*, 67, 1653-1658.
- LIU, A., SCHREIER, D., TIAN, L., EICKHOFF, J. C., WANG, Z., HACKER, T. A. & CHESLER, N. C. 2014. Direct and indirect protection of right ventricular function by estrogen in an experimental model of pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 307, H273-83.
- LONG, L., MACLEAN, M. R., JEFFERY, T. K., MORECROFT, I., YANG, X., RUDARAKANCHANA, N., SOUTHWOOD, M., JAMES, V., TREMBATH, R. C. & MORRELL, N. W. 2006. Serotonin increases susceptibility to pulmonary hypertension in BMPR2-deficient mice. *Circ Res*, 98, 818-27.
- LONG, L., YANG, X., MORRELL, N. W. & SOUTHWOOD, M. 2011. S97 BMPR2 R899X knock-in mice developed age-related pulmonary hypertension. *Thorax*, 66, A46.

- LOSORDO, D. W., KEARNEY, M., KIM, E. A., JEKANOWSKI, J. & ISNER, J. M. 1994. Variable expression of the estrogen receptor in normal and atherosclerotic coronary arteries of premenopausal women. *Circulation*, 89, 1501-1510.
- LOVEKAMP-SWAN, T., JETTEN, A. M. & DAVIS, B. J. 2003. Dual activation of PPARalpha and PPARgamma by mono-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate in rat ovarian granulosa cells. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 201, 133-41.
- LOYD, J. E., PRIMM, R. K. & NEWMAN, J. H. 1984. Familial primary pulmonary hypertension: clinical patterns. *Am Rev Respir Dis*, 129, 194-7.
- LUCKERT, C., HESSEL, S., LENZE, D. & LAMPEN, A. 2015. Disturbance of gene expression in primary human hepatocytes by hepatotoxic pyrrolizidine alkaloids: A whole genome transcriptome analysis. *Toxicol In Vitro*, 29, 1669-82.
- LUSTIG, R. H., MOBBS, C. V., PFAFF, D. W. & FISHMAN, J. 1989. Temporal actions of 16 alpha-hydroxyestrone in the rat: comparisons of lordosis dynamics with other estrogen metabolites and between sexes. *J Steroid Biochem*, 33, 417-21.
- MA, Q. & WHITLOCK, J. J. P. 1997. A Novel Cytoplasmic Protein That Interacts with the Ah Receptor, Contains Tetratricopeptide Repeat Motifs, and Augments the Transcriptional Response to 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272, 8878–8884.
- MA, Y. H., GEBREMEDHIN, D., SCHWARTZMAN, M. L., FALCK, J. R., CLARK, J. E., MASTERS, B. S., HARDER, D. R. & ROMAN, R. J. 1993. 20-Hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid is an endogenous vasoconstrictor of canine renal arcuate arteries. *Circ Res*, 72, 126-36.
- MAARMAN, G., LECOUR, S., BUTROUS, G., THIENEMANN, F. & SLIWA, K. 2013. A comprehensive review: the evolution of animal models in pulmonary hypertension research; are we there yet? *Pulm Circ*, *3*, 739-56.
- MACDONALD, P. C., MADDEN, J. D., BRENNER, P. F., WILSON, J. D. & SIITERI, P. K. 1979. Origin of estrogen in normal men and in women with testicular feminization. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 49, 905-16.
- MACHADO, R. D., EICKELBERG, O., ELLIOTT, C. G., GERACI, M. W., HANAOKA, M., LOYD, J. E., NEWMAN, J. H., PHILLIPS, J. A., 3RD, SOUBRIER, F., TREMBATH, R. C. & CHUNG, W. K. 2009. Genetics and genomics of pulmonary arterial hypertension. J Am Coll Cardiol, 54, S32-42.
- MACINDOE, J. H. 1988. The hydrolysis of estrone sulfate and dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate by MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. *Endocrinology*, 123, 1281-7.
- MACLEAN, M. R. 2007. Pulmonary hypertension and the serotonin hypothesis: where are we now? *Int J Clin Pract Suppl*, 27-31.
- MACLEAN, M. R. & DEMPSIE, Y. 2010. The serotonin hypothesis of pulmonary hypertension revisited. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, 661, 309-22.
- MACLEAN, M. R., DEUCHAR, G. A., HICKS, M. N., MORECROFT, I., SHEN, S., SHEWARD, J., COLSTON, J., LOUGHLIN, L., NILSEN, M., DEMPSIE, Y. & HARMAR, A. 2004. Overexpression of the 5-hydroxytryptamine transporter gene: effect on pulmonary hemodynamics and hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension. *Circulation*, 109, 2150-5.
- MACLEAN, M. R., MCCULLOCH, K. M. & BAIRD, M. 1994. Endothelin ETA- and ETBreceptor-mediated vasoconstriction in rat pulmonary arteries and arterioles. *Journal* of cardiovascular pharmacology, 23, 838-845.
- MACLEAN, M. R., SWEENEY, G., BAIRD, M., MCCULLOCH, K. M., HOUSLAY, M. & MORECROFT, I. 1996. 5-Hydroxytryptamine receptors mediating vasoconstriction in pulmonary arteries from control and pulmonary hypertensive rats. *Br J Pharmacol*, 119, 917-30.
- MAGGI, A. 2011. Liganded and unliganded activation of estrogen receptor and hormone replacement therapies. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1812, 1054-60.

- MAIR, K. M., WRIGHT, A. F., DUGGAN, N., ROWLANDS, D. J., HUSSEY, M. J., ROBERTS, S., FULLERTON, J., NILSEN, M., LOUGHLIN, L., THOMAS, M. & MACLEAN, M. R. 2014. Sex-Dependent Influence of Endogenous Estrogen in Pulmonary Hypertension. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 190, 456-467.
- MAIR, K. M., YANG, X. D., LONG, L., WHITE, K., WALLACE, E., EWART, M. A., DOCHERTY, C. K., MORRELL, N. W. & MACLEAN, M. R. 2015. Sex affects bone morphogenetic protein type II receptor signaling in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 191, 693-703.
- MALENFANT, S., NEYRON, A.-S., PAULIN, R., POTUS, F., MELOCHE, J., PROVENCHER, S. & BONNET, S. 2013. Signal transduction in the development of pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Pulmonary Circulation*, 3, 278–293.
- MANDEGAR, M., FUNG, Y. C., HUANG, W., REMILLARD, C. V., RUBIN, L. J. & YUAN, J. X. 2004. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of pulmonary vascular remodeling: role in the development of pulmonary hypertension. *Microvasc Res*, 68, 75-103.
- MANDEGAR, M. & YUAN, J. X. 2002. Role of K+ channels in pulmonary hypertension. *Vascul Pharmacol*, 38, 25-33.
- MANDL, M. & DEPPING, R. 2014. Hypoxia-Inducible Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Nuclear Translocator (ARNT) (HIF-1β): Is It a Rare Exception? *Molecular Medicine*, 20, 215-220.
- MANES, A., PALAZZINI, M., DARDI, F., D'ADAMO, A., RINALDI, A. & GALIE, N. 2012. [Female gender and pulmonary arterial hypertension: a complex relationship]. *G Ital Cardiol (Rome)*, 13, 448-60.
- MÄNNISTÖ, P. T. & KAAKKOLA, S. 1999. Catechol-Omethyltransferase (COMT): Biochemistry, Molecular Biology, Pharmacology, and Clinical Efficacy of the New Selective COMT Inhibitors. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 51, 593.
- MARKIDES, C. S. & LIEHR, J. G. 2005. Specific binding of 4-hydroxyestradiol to mouse uterine protein: evidence of a physiological role for 4-hydroxyestradiol. *J Endocrinol*, 185, 235-42.
- MARRA, A. M., BENJAMIN, N., EICHSTAEDT, C., SALZANO, A., ARCOPINTO, M., GARGANI, L., M, D. A., ARGIENTO, P., FALSETTI, L., DI GIOSIA, P., ISIDORI, A. M., FERRARA, F., BOSSONE, E., CITTADINI, A. & GRUNIG, E. 2016. Gender-related differences in pulmonary arterial hypertension targeted drugs administration. *Pharmacol Res*, 114, 103-109.
- MARTUCCI, C. & FISHMAN, J. 1976. Uterine estrogen receptor binding of catecholestrogens and of estetrol (1,3,5(10)-estratriene-3,15α,16α,17β-tetrol). *Steroids*, 27, 325-333.
- MASON, I. J. 1993. The 3β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase gene family of enzymes. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 4, 199-203.
- MASSAGUE, J., SEOANE, J. & WOTTON, D. 2005. Smad transcription factors. *Genes Dev*, 19, 2783-810.
- MASSON, L. F., SHARP, L., COTTON, S. C. & LITTLE, J. 2005. Cytochrome P-450 1A1 Gene Polymorphisms and Risk of Breast Cancer: A HuGE Review. American Journal of Epidemiology, 161, 901-915.
- MATTHEWS, J. & GUSTAFSSON, J. Å. 2006. Estrogen receptor and aryl hydrocarbon receptor signaling pathways. *Nuclear Receptor Signaling*, 4, e016.
- MATTHEWS, J., WIHLEN, B., THOMSEN, J. & GUSTAFSSON, J. A. 2005. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor-mediated transcription: ligand-dependent recruitment of estrogen receptor alpha to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin-responsive promoters. *Mol Cell Biol*, 25, 5317-28.

- MATTHEWS, J. C. & MCLAUGHLIN, V. 2008. Acute Right Ventricular Failure in the Setting of Acute Pulmonary Embolism or Chronic Pulmonary Hypertension: A Detailed Review of the Pathophysiology, Diagnosis, and Management. *Current Cardiology Reviews,*, 4, 49–59.
- MATTHEWS, K. A., MEILAHN, E., KULLER, L. H., KELSEY, S. F., CAGGIULA, A. W. & WING, R. R. 1989. Menopause and risk factors for coronary heart disease. *N Engl J Med*, 321, 641-6.
- MAZZA JR., E. & TAICHMAN, D. B. 2006. Functions and control of the pulmonary circulation. *In:* MANDEL, J. & TAICHMAN, D. (eds.) *Pulmonary Vascular Disease*. 1st Edition ed. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders Elsevier.
- MCFADYEN, M. C., ROONEY, P. H., MELVIN, W. T. & MURRAY, G. I. 2003. Quantitative analysis of the Ah receptor/cytochrome P450 CYP1B1/CYP1A1 signalling pathway. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 65, 1663-74.
- MCGOON, M. & HUMBERT, M. 2014. Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension: Epidemiology and Registries. *Advances in Pulmonary Hypertension*, 13, 21–26.
- MCGOON, M. D., KRICHMAN, A., FARBER, H. W., BARST, R. J., RASKOB, G. E., LIOU, T. G., MILLER, D. P., FELDKIRCHER, K. & GILES, S. 2008. Design of the REVEAL registry for US patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Mayo Clin Proc*, 83, 923-31.
- MCGOON, M. D. & VANHOUTTE, P. M. 1984. Aggregating platelets contract isolated canine pulmonary arteries by releasing 5-hydroxytryptamine. *J Clin Invest*, 74, 828-33.
- MEDAROV, B. I. & JUDSON, M. A. 2015. The role of calcium channel blockers for the treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension: How much do we actually know and how could they be positioned today? *Respir Med*, 109, 557-64.
- MEDUNJANIN, S., HERMANI, A., DE SERVI, B., GRISOUARD, J., RINCKE, G. & MAYER, D. 2005. Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3 Interacts with and Phosphorylates Estrogen Receptor α and Is Involved in the Regulation of Receptor Activity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280, 33006-33014.
- MELOCHE, J., PAULIN, R. & BONNET, S. 2010. Abstract 17741: Dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) Reverses Pulmonary Hypertension Through Inhibition of the Stat3/Pim1/NFAT Axis. *Circulation*, 122, A17741.
- MERRIAM, G. R., MACLUSKY, N. J., PICARD, M. K. & NAFTOLIN, F. 1980. Comparative properties of the catechol estrogens, I: methylation by catechol-Omethyltransferase and binding to cytosol estrogen receptors. *Steroids*, 36, 1-11.
- METZGER, R. J., KLEIN, O. D., MARTIN, G. R. & KRASNOW, M. A. 2008. The branching programme of mouse lung development. *Nature*, 453, 745-50.
- MEUNIER, B., DE VISSER, S. P. & SHAIK, S. 2004. Mechanism of Oxidation Reactions Catalyzed by Cytochrome P450 Enzymes. *Chemical Reviews*, 104, 3947-3980.
- MEYER, M. R., AMANN, K., FIELD, A. S., HU, C., HATHAWAY, H. J., KANAGY, N. L., WALKER, M. K., BARTON, M. & PROSSNITZ, E. R. 2012. Deletion of G protein-coupled estrogen receptor increases endothelial vasoconstriction. *Hypertension*, 59, 507-12.
- MEYRICK, B. O. & PERKETT, E. A. 1989. The sequence of cellular and hemodynamic changes of chronic pulmonary hypertension induced by hypoxia and other stimuli. *Am Rev Respir Dis*, 140, 1486-9.
- MEZRICH, J. D., NGUYEN, L. P., KENNEDY, G., NUKAYA, M., FECHNER, J. H., ZHANG, X., XING, Y. & BRADFIELD, C. A. 2012. SU5416, a VEGF receptor inhibitor and ligand of the AHR, represents a new alternative for immunomodulation. *PLoS One*, 7, e44547.
- MIETTINEN, M. M., MUSTONEN, M. V., POUTANEN, M. H., ISOMAA, V. V. & VIHKO, R. K. 1996. Human 17 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 and type

2 isoenzymes have opposite activities in cultured cells and characteristic cell- and tissue-specific expression. *Biochemical Journal*, 314, 839-845.

- MIMURA, J., EMA, M., SOGAWA, K. & FUJII-KURIYAMA, Y. 1999. Identification of a novel mechanism of regulation of Ah (dioxin) receptor function. *Genes Dev*, 13, 20-5.
- MISSO, M. L., JANG, C., ADAMS, J., TRAN, J., MURATA, Y., BELL, R., BOON, W. C., SIMPSON, E. R. & DAVIS, S. R. 2005. Adipose aromatase gene expression is greater in older women and is unaffected by postmenopausal estrogen therapy. *Menopause*, 12, 210-5.
- MITTAL, M., ROTH, M., KONIG, P., HOFMANN, S., DONY, E., GOYAL, P., SELBITZ, A. C., SCHERMULY, R. T., GHOFRANI, H. A., KWAPISZEWSKA, G., KUMMER, W., KLEPETKO, W., HODA, M. A., FINK, L., HANZE, J., SEEGER, W., GRIMMINGER, F., SCHMIDT, H. H. & WEISSMANN, N. 2007. Hypoxiadependent regulation of nonphagocytic NADPH oxidase subunit NOX4 in the pulmonary vasculature. *Circ Res*, 101, 258-67.
- MIYAUCHI, T., YORIKANE, R., SAKAI, S., SAKURAI, T., OKADA, M., NISHIKIBE, M., YANO, M., YAMAGUCHI, I., SUGISHITA, Y. & GOTO, K. 1993. Contribution of endogenous endothelin-1 to the progression of cardiopulmonary alterations in rats with monocrotaline-induced pulmonary hypertension. *Circ Res*, 73, 887-97.
- MIYAZONO, K., KAMIYA, Y. & MORIKAWA, M. 2010. Bone morphogenetic protein receptors and signal transduction. *J Biochem*, 147, 35-51.
- MONCADA, S. & VANE, J. R. 1978. Pharmacology and endogenous roles of prostaglandin endoperoxides, thromboxane A2, and prostacyclin. *Pharmacol Rev*, 30, 293-331.
- MONOSTORY, K., PASCUSSI, J. M., KOBORI, L. & DVORAK, Z. 2009. Hormonal regulation of CYP1A expression. *Drug Metab Rev*, 41, 547-72.
- MONTANI, D., GÜNTHER, S., DORFMÜLLER, P., PERROS, F., GIRERD, B., GARCIA, G., JAÏS, X., SAVALE, L., ARTAUD-MACARI, E., PRICE, L. C., HUMBERT, M., SIMONNEAU, G. & SITBON, O. 2013. Pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases*, 8, 97.
- MONTANO, M. M. & KATZENELLENBOGEN, B. S. 1997. The quinone reductase gene: A unique estrogen receptor-regulated gene that is activated by antiestrogens. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 94, 2581–2586.
- MOORE, J. T., MCKEE, D. D., SLENTZ-KESLER, K., MOORE, L. B., JONES, S. A., HORNE, E. L., SU, J. L., KLIEWER, S. A., LEHMANN, J. M. & WILLSON, T. M. 1998. Cloning and characterization of human estrogen receptor beta isoforms. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 247, 75-8.
- MORECROFT, I., DEMPSIE, Y., BADER, M., WALTHER, D. J., KOTNIK, K., LOUGHLIN, L., NILSEN, M. & MACLEAN, M. R. 2007. Effect of tryptophan hydroxylase 1 deficiency on the development of hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension. *Hypertension*, 49, 232-6.
- MORECROFT, I., LOUGHLIN, L., NILSEN, M., COLSTON, J., DEMPSIE, Y., SHEWARD, J., HARMAR, A. & MACLEAN, M. R. 2005. Functional interactions between 5-hydroxytryptamine receptors and the serotonin transporter in pulmonary arteries. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 313, 539-48.
- MORLEY, P., WHITFIELD, J. F., VANDERHYDEN, B. C., TSANG, B. K. & SCHWARTZ, J. L. 1992. A new, nongenomic estrogen action: the rapid release of intracellular calcium. *Endocrinology*, 131, 1305-12.
- MORRISON, R. F. & FARMER, S. R. 1999. Role of PPARgamma in regulating a cascade expression of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors, p18(INK4c) and p21(Waf1/Cip1), during adipogenesis. *J Biol Chem*, 274, 17088-97.

- MOSCA, L., BARRETT-CONNOR, E. & KASS WENGER, N. 2011. Sex/Gender Differences in Cardiovascular Disease Prevention. *What a Difference a Decade Makes*, 124, 2145-2154.
- MOSSELMAN, S., POLMAN, J. & DIJKEMA, R. 1996. ER beta: identification and characterization of a novel human estrogen receptor. *FEBS Lett*, 392, 49-53.
- MULLER, W. H., JR. & DANIMANN, J. F., JR. 1952. The treatment of certain congenital malformations of the heart by the creation of pulmonic stenosis to reduce pulmonary hypertension and excessive pulmonary blood flow; a preliminary report. *Surg Gynecol Obstet*, 95, 213-9.
- MUNSTER, U., HAMMER, S., BLUME-PEYTAVI, U. & SCHAFER-KORTING, M. 2003. Testosterone metabolism in human skin cells in vitro and its interaction with estradiol and dutasteride. *Skin Pharmacol Appl Skin Physiol*, 16, 356-66.
- MURPHY, G. W. 2017. The influence of sex on the in vivo and in vitro effects of treprostinil in pulmonary arterial hypertension. PhD, University of Glasgow.
- MURRAY, F., MACLEAN, M. R. & PYNE, N. J. 2002. Increased expression of the cGMPinhibited cAMP-specific (PDE3) and cGMP binding cGMP-specific (PDE5) phosphodiesterases in models of pulmonary hypertension. *Br J Pharmacol*, 137, 1187-94.
- MURRAY, G. I., MELVIN, W. T., GREENLEE, W. F. & BURKE, M. D. 2001. Regulation, function, and tissue-specific expression of cytochrome P450 CYP1B1. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol*, 41, 297-316.
- MURRAY, G. I., TAYLOR, M. C., MCFADYEN, M. C., MCKAY, J. A., GREENLEE, W. F., BURKE, M. D. & MELVIN, W. T. 1997. Tumor-specific expression of cytochrome P450 CYP1B1. *Cancer Res*, 57, 3026-31.
- NAKAMURA, K., KOGA, Y., SAKAI, H., HOMMA, K. & IKEBE, M. 2007. cGMPdependent relaxation of smooth muscle is coupled with the change in the phosphorylation of myosin phosphatase. *Circ Res*, 101, 712-22.
- NAKAOKA, T., GONDA, K., OGITA, T., OTAWARA-HAMAMOTO, Y., OKABE, F., KIRA, Y., HARII, K., MIYAZONO, K., TAKUWA, Y. & FUJITA, T. 1997. Inhibition of rat vascular smooth muscle proliferation in vitro and in vivo by bone morphogenetic protein-2. *J Clin Invest*, 100, 2824-32.
- NAKAYAMA, T. 2005. Prostacyclin synthase gene: genetic polymorphisms and prevention of some cardiovascular diseases. *Curr Med Chem Cardiovasc Hematol Agents*, 3, 157-64.
- NARUMIYA, S., SUGIMOTO, Y. & USHIKUBI, F. 1999. Prostanoid receptors: structures, properties, and functions. *Physiol Rev*, 79, 1193-226.
- NAWAZ, Z. & O'MALLEY, B. W. 2004. Urban renewal in the nucleus: is protein turnover by proteasomes absolutely required for nuclear receptor-regulated transcription? *Mol Endocrinol*, 18, 493-9.
- NC3RS. *What are the 3Rs?* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.nc3rs.org.uk/the-3Rs</u> [Accessed 25th August 2017].
- NEBERT, D. W. & RUSSELL, D. W. 2002. Clinical importance of the cytochromes P450. *Lancet*, 360, 1155-62.
- NELSON, D. R., ZELDIN, D. C., HOFFMAN, S. M., MALTAIS, L. J., WAIN, H. M. & NEBERT, D. W. 2004a. Comparison of cytochrome P450 (CYP) genes from the mouse and human genomes, including nomenclature recommendations for genes, pseudogenes and alternative-splice variants. *Pharmacogenetics*, 14, 1-18.
- NELSON, M. T. & QUAYLE, J. M. 1995. Physiological roles and properties of potassium channels in arterial smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol*, 268, C799-822.
- NELSON, R. E., GREBE, S. K., DJ, O. K. & SINGH, R. J. 2004b. Liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry assay for simultaneous measurement of estradiol and estrone in human plasma. *Clin Chem*, 50, 373-84.

- NEMENOFF, R., MEYER, A. M., HUDISH, T. M., MOZER, A. B., SNEE, A., NARUMIYA, S., STEARMAN, R. S., WINN, R. A., WEISER-EVANS, M., GERACI, M. W. & KEITH, R. L. 2008. Prostacyclin prevents murine lung cancer independent of the membrane receptor by activation of peroxisomal proliferator-activated receptor gamma. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila)*, 1, 349-56.
- NGUYEN, N. T., NAKAHAMA, T., LE, D. H., VAN SON, L., CHU, H. H. & KISHIMOTO, T. 2014. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor and kynurenine: recent advances in autoimmune disease research. *Front Immunol*, *5*, 551.
- NI, W., GEDDES, T. J., PRIESTLEY, J. R. C., SZASZ, T., KUHN, D. M. & WATTS, S. W. 2008. The existence of a local 5-hydroxytryptaminergic system in peripheral arteries. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 154, 663-674.
- NIE, M., BLANKENSHIP, A. L. & GIESY, J. P. 2001. Interactions between aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) and hypoxia signaling pathways. *Environ Toxicol Pharmacol*, 10, 17-27.
- NISHIGAKI, I., SASAGURI, Y. & YAGI, K. 1995. Anti-proliferative effect of 2methoxyestradiol on cultured smooth muscle cells from rabbit aorta. *Atherosclerosis*, 113, 167-70.
- NISHIMURA, M., YAGUTI, H., YOSHITSUGU, H., NAITO, S. & SATOH, T. 2003. Tissue distribution of mRNA expression of human cytochrome P450 isoforms assessed by high-sensitivity real-time reverse transcription PCR. *Yakugaku Zasshi*, 123, 369-75.
- NOVELLA, S. & HERMENEGILDO, C. 2011. Estradiol Regulation of Prostanoids Production in Endothelium. *In:* AKIN, F. (ed.) *Basic and Clinical Endocrinology Up-to-Date*. InTech.
- OFFICE, G. H. 2013. Statistics of scientific procedures on living animals, Great Britain 2016 [Online]. [Accessed].
- OHLSSON, C., BARRETT-CONNOR, E., BHASIN, S., ORWOLL, E., LABRIE, F., KARLSSON, M. K., LJUNGGREN, Ö., VANDENPUT, L., MELLSTRÖM, D. & TIVESTEN, Å. 2011. High Serum Testosterone Is Associated With Reduced Risk of Cardiovascular Events in Elderly Men: The MrOS (Osteoporotic Fractures in Men) Study in Sweden. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 58, 1674-1681.
- OHTAKE, F., TAKEYAMA, K.-I., MATSUMOTO, T., KITAGAWA, H., YAMAMOTO, Y., NOHARA, K., TOHYAMA, C., KRUST, A., MIMURA, J., CHAMBON, P., YANAGISAWA, J., FUJII-KURIYAMA, Y. & KATO, S. 2003. Modulation of oestrogen receptor signalling by association with the activated dioxin receptor. *Nature*, 423, 545-550.
- OKA, M., KAROOR, V., HOMMA, N., NAGAOKA, T., SAKAO, E., GOLEMBESKI, S. M., LIMBIRD, J., IMAMURA, M., GEBB, S. A., FAGAN, K. A. & MCMURTRY, I. F. 2007. Dehydroepiandrosterone upregulates soluble guanylate cyclase and inhibits hypoxic pulmonary hypertension. *Cardiovasc Res*, 74, 377-87.
- OKADA, K., TANAKA, Y., BERNSTEIN, M., ZHANG, W., PATTERSON, G. A. & BOTNEY, M. D. 1997. Pulmonary hemodynamics modify the rat pulmonary artery response to injury. A neointimal model of pulmonary hypertension. *Am J Pathol*, 151, 1019-25.
- OLAVE, N., NICOLA, T., ZHANG, W., BULGER, A., JAMES, M., OPARIL, S., CHEN, Y. F. & AMBALAVANAN, N. 2012. Transforming growth factor-beta regulates endothelin-1 signaling in the newborn mouse lung during hypoxia exposure. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 302, L857-65.
- OMIECINSKI, C. J., REDLICH, C. A. & COSTA, P. 1990. Induction and Developmental Expression of Cytochrome P450IA1 Messenger RNA in Rat and Human Tissues: Detection by the Polymerase Chain Reaction. *Cancer Research*, 50, 4315-4321.

- OPITZ, C. A., LITZENBURGER, U. M., SAHM, F., OTT, M., TRITSCHLER, I., TRUMP, S., SCHUMACHER, T., JESTAEDT, L., SCHRENK, D., WELLER, M., JUGOLD, M., GUILLEMIN, G. J., MILLER, C. L., LUTZ, C., RADLWIMMER, B., LEHMANN, I., VON DEIMLING, A., WICK, W. & PLATTEN, M. 2011. An endogenous tumour-promoting ligand of the human aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Nature*, 478, 197.
- PALMIERI, C., SAJI, S., SAKAGUCHI, H., CHENG, G., SUNTERS, A., O'HARE, M. J., WARNER, M., GUSTAFSSON, J. A., COOMBES, R. C. & LAM, E. W. 2004. The expression of oestrogen receptor (ER)-beta and its variants, but not ERalpha, in adult human mammary fibroblasts. *J Mol Endocrinol*, 33, 35-50.
- PAPAKONSTANTINOU, E., KOURI, F. M., KARAKIULAKIS, G., KLAGAS, I. & EICKELBERG, O. 2008. Increased hyaluronic acid content in idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Eur Respir J*, 32, 1504-12.
- PAPAMATHEAKIS, D. G., BLOOD, A. B., KIM, J. H. & WILSON, S. M. 2013. Antenatal hypoxia and pulmonary vascular function and remodeling. *Curr Vasc Pharmacol*, 11, 616-40.
- PAPENDORP, J. T., SCHATZ, R. W., SOTO, A. M. & SONNENSCHEIN, C. 1985. On the role of 17 alpha-estradiol and 17 beta-estradiol in the proliferation of MCF7 and T47D-A11 human breast tumor cells. *J Cell Physiol*, 125, 591-5.
- PARERA, M. C., VAN DOOREN, M., VAN KEMPEN, M., DE KRIJGER, R., GROSVELD, F., TIBBOEL, D. & ROTTIER, R. 2005. Distal angiogenesis: a new concept for lung vascular morphogenesis. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 288, L141-9.
- PARK, J. Y., SHIGENAGA, M. K. & AMES, B. N. 1996. Induction of cytochrome P4501A1 by 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin or indolo(3,2-b)carbazole is associated with oxidative DNA damage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 93, 2322-7.
- PASQUALINI, J. R., GELLY, C., NGUYEN, B. L. & VELLA, C. 1989. Importance of estrogen sulfates in breast cancer. *J Steroid Biochem*, 34, 155-63.
- PATRONE, C., CASSEL, T. N., PETTERSSON, K., PIAO, Y. S., CHENG, G., CIANA, P., MAGGI, A., WARNER, M., GUSTAFSSON, J. A. & NORD, M. 2003. Regulation of postnatal lung development and homeostasis by estrogen receptor beta. *Mol Cell Biol*, 23, 8542-52.
- PAYNE, A. H., ABBASZADE, I. G., CLARKE, T. R., BAIN, P. A. & PARK, C. H. 1997. The multiple murine 3 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase isoforms: structure, function, and tissue- and developmentally specific expression. *Steroids*, 62, 169-75.
- PEACOCK, A. J., MURPHY, N. F., MCMURRAY, J. J., CABALLERO, L. & STEWART, S. 2007. An epidemiological study of pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Eur Respir J*, 30, 104-9.
- PEARSON, R. M. 1986. In-vitro techniques: can they replace animal testing? *Hum Reprod*, 1, 559-60.
- PEIRO, C., REDONDO, J., RODRIGUEZ-MARTINEZ, M. A., ANGULO, J., MARIN, J. & SANCHEZ-FERRER, C. F. 1995. Influence of endothelium on cultured vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation. *Hypertension*, 25, 748-51.
- PENG, J., XU, X., MACE, B. E., VANDERVEER, L. A., WORKMAN, L. R., SLIFKER, M. J., SULLIVAN, P. M., VEENSTRA, T. D. & CLAPPER, M. L. 2013a. Estrogen metabolism within the lung and its modulation by tobacco smoke. *Carcinogenesis*, 34, 909-915.
- PENG, T., TIAN, Y., BOOGERD, C. J., LU, M. M., KADZIK, R. S., STEWART, K. M., EVANS, S. M. & MORRISEY, E. E. 2013b. Coordination of heart and lung codevelopment by a multipotent cardiopulmonary progenitor. *Nature*, 500, 589-92.

- PEREDA, J., SULZ, L., SAN MARTIN, S. & GODOY-GUZMAN, C. 2013. The human lung during the embryonic period: vasculogenesis and primitive erythroblasts circulation. J Anat, 222, 487-94.
- PEREZ, V. A., ALI, Z., ALASTALO, T. P., IKENO, F., SAWADA, H., LAI, Y. J., KLEISLI, T., SPIEKERKOETTER, E., QU, X., RUBINOS, L. H., ASHLEY, E., AMIEVA, M., DEDHAR, S. & RABINOVITCH, M. 2011. BMP promotes motility and represses growth of smooth muscle cells by activation of tandem Wnt pathways. *J Cell Biol*, 192, 171-88.
- PERL, A. K. & WHITSETT, J. A. 1999. Molecular mechanisms controlling lung morphogenesis. *Clin Genet*, 56, 14-27.
- POLYAK, K., LEE, M. H., ERDJUMENT-BROMAGE, H., KOFF, A., ROBERTS, J. M., TEMPST, P. & MASSAGUE, J. 1994. Cloning of p27Kip1, a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor and a potential mediator of extracellular antimitogenic signals. *Cell*, 78, 59-66.
- PONGRATZ, I., MASON, G. G. & POELLINGER, L. 1992. Dual roles of the 90-kDa heat shock protein hsp90 in modulating functional activities of the dioxin receptor. Evidence that the dioxin receptor functionally belongs to a subclass of nuclear receptors which require hsp90 both for ligand binding activity and repression of intrinsic DNA binding activity. J Biol Chem, 267, 13728-34.
- PONIKOWSKA, B., JANKOWSKA, E. A., MAJ, J., WEGRZYNOWSKA-TEODORCZYK, K., BIEL, B., RECZUCH, K., BORODULIN-NADZIEJA, L., BANASIAK, W. & PONIKOWSKI, P. Gonadal and adrenal androgen deficiencies as independent predictors of increased cardiovascular mortality in men with type II diabetes mellitus and stable coronary artery disease. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 143, 343-348.
- POWELL, F. L., WAGNER, P. D. & WEST, J. B. 2016. Ventilation, Blood Flow, and Gas Exchange. *In:* BROADDUS, V. C., MASON, R. J., ERNST, J. D., KING, J., T. E., LAZARUS, S. C., MURRAY, J. F., NADEL, J. A., SLUTSKY, A. S. & GOTWAY, M. B. (eds.) *Murray and Nadel's Textbook of Respiratory Medicine*. 6th Edition ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Saunders.
- PRESCOTT, E., HIPPE, M., SCHNOHR, P., HEIN, H. O. & VESTBO, J. 1998. Smoking and risk of myocardial infarction in women and men: longitudinal population study. *BMJ*, 316, 1043.
- PRICE, L., BOUILLON, K., WORT, S. J. & HUMBERT, M. 2012. Drug- and Toxin-Induced Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension *In:* HUMBERT, M., SOUZA, R. & SIMONNEAU, G. (eds.) *Pulmonary Vascular Disorders*. Basel: Krager.
- PROBST, M. R., REISZ-PORSZASZ, S., AGBUNAG, R. V., ONG, M. S. & HANKINSON, O. 1993. Role of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator protein in aryl hydrocarbon (dioxin) receptor action. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 44, 511-518.
- PUGH, P. J., JONES, T. H. & CHANNER, K. S. 2003. Acute haemodynamic effects of testosterone in men with chronic heart failure. *Eur Heart J*, 24, 909-15.
- PULLAMSETTI, S. S., SCHERMULY, R., GHOFRANI, A., WEISSMANN, N., GRIMMINGER, F. & SEEGER, W. 2014. Novel and emerging therapies for pulmonary hypertension. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 189, 394-400.
- QIN, C., BURGHARDT, R., SMITH, R., WORMKE, M., STEWART, J. & SAFE, S. 2003. Peroxisome Proliferator-activated Receptor γ Agonists Induce Proteasomedependent Degradation of Cyclin D1 and Estrogen Receptor α in MCF-7 Breast Cancer Cells. *Cancer Research*, 63, 958-964.
- RABINOVITCH, M. 2012. Molecular pathogenesis of pulmonary arterial hypertension. *J Clin Invest*, 122, 4306-13.

- RABINOVITCH, M., GAMBLE, W. J., MIETTINEN, O. S. & REID, L. 1981. Age and sex influence on pulmonary hypertension of chronic hypoxia and on recovery. *Am J Physiol*, 240, H62-72.
- RAFIKOVA, O., RAFIKOV, R., MEADOWS, M. L., KANGATH, A., JONIGK, D. & BLACK, S. M. 2015. The sexual dimorphism associated with pulmonary hypertension corresponds to a fibrotic phenotype. *Pulmonary Circulation*, 5, 184-197.
- RAFTOGIANIS, R., CREVELING, C., WEINSHILBOUM, R. & WEISZ, J. 2000. Estrogen metabolism by conjugation. *J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr*, 113-24.
- RAJKUMAR, R., KONISHI, K., RICHARDS, T. J., ISHIZAWAR, D. C., WIECHERT, A. C., KAMINSKI, N. & AHMAD, F. 2010. Genomewide RNA expression profiling in lung identifies distinct signatures in idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension and secondary pulmonary hypertension. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 298, H1235-48.
- RAMOS, M., LAME, M. W., SEGALL, H. J. & WILSON, D. W. 2007. Monocrotaline pyrrole induces Smad nuclear accumulation and altered signaling expression in human pulmonary arterial endothelial cells. *Vascul Pharmacol*, 46, 439-48.
- RAMSEY, T. L., RISINGER, K. E., JERNIGAN, S. C., MATTINGLY, K. A. & KLINGE, C. M. 2004. Estrogen receptor beta isoforms exhibit differences in ligand-activated transcriptional activity in an estrogen response element sequence-dependent manner. *Endocrinology*, 145, 149-60.
- RASANEN, J., WOOD, D. C., DEBBS, R. H., COHEN, J., WEINER, S. & HUHTA, J. C. 1998. Reactivity of the human fetal pulmonary circulation to maternal hyperoxygenation increases during the second half of pregnancy: a randomized study. *Circulation*, 97, 257-62.
- RASANEN, J., WOOD, D. C., WEINER, S., LUDOMIRSKI, A. & HUHTA, J. C. 1996. Role of the pulmonary circulation in the distribution of human fetal cardiac output during the second half of pregnancy. *Circulation*, 94, 1068-73.
- RAY, J. B., ARAB, S., DENG, Y., LIU, P., PENN, L., COURTMAN, D. W. & WARD, M. E. 2008. Oxygen regulation of arterial smooth muscle cell proliferation and survival. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 294, H839-H852.
- RAY, P., GHOSH, S. K., ZHANG, D. H. & RAY, A. 1997. Repression of interleukin-6 gene expression by 17 beta-estradiol: inhibition of the DNA-binding activity of the transcription factors NF-IL6 and NF-kappa B by the estrogen receptor. *FEBS Lett*, 409, 79-85.
- REID, M. J., LAME, M. W., MORIN, D., WILSON, D. W. & SEGALL, H. J. 1998. Involvement of cytochrome P450 3A in the metabolism and covalent binding of 14Cmonocrotaline in rat liver microsomes. *J Biochem Mol Toxicol*, 12, 157-66.
- REIS, G. S., AUGUSTO, V. S., SILVEIRA, A. P., JORDAO, A. A., JR., BADDINI-MARTINEZ, J., POLI NETO, O., RODRIGUES, A. J. & EVORA, P. R. 2013. Oxidative-stress biomarkers in patients with pulmonary hypertension. *Pulm Circ*, 3, 856-61.
- RESTA, T. C., KANAGY, N. L. & WALKER, B. R. 2001. Estradiol-induced attenuation of pulmonary hypertension is not associated with altered eNOS expression. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 280, L88-97.
- REVANKAR, C. M., CIMINO, D. F., SKLAR, L. A., ARTERBURN, J. B. & PROSSNITZ, E. R. 2005. A transmembrane intracellular estrogen receptor mediates rapid cell signaling. *Science*, 307, 1625-30.
- RICCI, M. S., TOSCANO, D. G., MATTINGLY, C. J. & TOSCANO, W. A. 1999. Estrogen Receptor Reduces CYP1A1 Induction in Cultured Human Endometrial Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274, 3430-3438.

- RICH, S., DANTZKER, D. R., AYRES, S. M., BERGOFSKY, E. H., BRUNDAGE, B. H., DETRE, K. M., FISHMAN, A. P., GOLDRING, R. M., GROVES, B. M., KOERNER, S. K. & ET AL. 1987. Primary pulmonary hypertension. A national prospective study. *Ann Intern Med*, 107, 216-23.
- RICH, S., KAUFMANN, E. & LEVY, P. S. 1992. The Effect of High Doses of Calcium-Channel Blockers on Survival in Primary Pulmonary Hypertension. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 327, 76-81.
- RICHARD, D. E., BERRA, E., GOTHIE, E., ROUX, D. & POUYSSEGUR, J. 1999. p42/p44 mitogen-activated protein kinases phosphorylate hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha (HIF-1alpha) and enhance the transcriptional activity of HIF-1. *J Biol Chem*, 274, 32631-7.
- RICHTER, A., YEAGER, M. E., ZAIMAN, A., COOL, C. D., VOELKEL, N. F. & TUDER,
 R. M. 2004. Impaired transforming growth factor-beta signaling in idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 170, 1340-8.
- RICHTER, C. A., TILLITT, D. E. & HANNINK, M. 2001. Regulation of subcellular localization of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR). *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 389, 207-17.
- RISAU, W. 1997. Mechanisms of angiogenesis. Nature, 386, 671-4.
- RISAU, W. & FLAMME, I. 1995. Vasculogenesis. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol, 11, 73-91.
- ROBERTS, K. E., FALLON, M. B., KROWKA, M. J., BROWN, R. S., TROTTER, J. F., PETER, I., TIGHIOUART, H., KNOWLES, J. A., RABINOWITZ, D., BENZA, R. L., BADESCH, D. B., TAICHMAN, D. B., HORN, E. M., ZACKS, S., KAPLOWITZ, N. & KAWUT, S. M. 2009. Genetic risk factors for portopulmonary hypertension in patients with advanced liver disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 179, 835-42.
- ROGAN, E. G., BADAWI, A. F., DEVANESAN, P. D., MEZA, J. L., EDNEY, J. A., WEST, W. W., HIGGINBOTHAM, S. M. & CAVALIERI, E. L. 2003. Relative imbalances in estrogen metabolism and conjugation in breast tissue of women with carcinoma: potential biomarkers of susceptibility to cancer. *Carcinogenesis*, 24, 697-702.
- ROGATSKY, I., TROWBRIDGE, J. M. & GARABEDIAN, M. J. 1999. Potentiation of Human Estrogen Receptor α Transcriptional Activation through Phosphorylation of Serines 104 and 106 by the Cyclin A-CDK2 Complex. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274, 22296-22302.
- ROMKES, M., PISKORSKA-PLISZCZYNSKA, J. & SAFE, S. 1987. Effects of 2,3,7,8tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin on hepatic and uterine estrogen receptor levels in rats. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 87, 306-14.
- ROSENBERG, H. C. & RABINOVITCH, M. 1988. Endothelial injury and vascular reactivity in monocrotaline pulmonary hypertension. *Am J Physiol*, 255, H1484-91.
- ROSENTHAL, M. & BUSH, A. 2002. The growing lung: normal development, and the long-term effects of pre- and postnatal insults. *In:* BUSH, A., ZACH, M. & CARLSEN, K. H. (eds.) *Growing up with lung disease: the lung and transition to adult life.* Eur Respir Monograph.
- ROY, D., WEISZ, J. & LIEHR, J. G. 1990. The O-methylation of 4-hydroxyestradiol is inhibited by 2-hydroxyestradiol: implications for estrogen-induced carcinogenesis. *Carcinogenesis*, 11, 459-62.
- RUBENS, C., EWERT, R., HALANK, M., WENSEL, R., ORZECHOWSKI, H. D., SCHULTHEISS, H. P. & HOEFFKEN, G. 2001. Big endothelin-1 and endothelin-1 plasma levels are correlated with the severity of primary pulmonary hypertension. *Chest*, 120, 1562-9.

- RYAN, J., BLOCH, K. & ARCHER, S. L. 2011. Rodent models of pulmonary hypertension: harmonisation with the world health organisation's categorisation of human PH. *Int J Clin Pract Suppl*, 15-34.
- RYAN, J. J. & ARCHER, S. L. 2014. The right ventricle in pulmonary arterial hypertension: disorders of metabolism, angiogenesis and adrenergic signaling in right ventricular failure. *Circ Res*, 115, 176-88.
- SAKAO, S., TATSUMI, K. & VOELKEL, N. F. 2009. Endothelial cells and pulmonary arterial hypertension: apoptosis, proliferation, interaction and transdifferentiation. *Respiratory Research*, 10, 95-95.
- SALAS, E., LOPEZ, M. G., VILLARROYA, M., SANCHEZ-GARCIA, P., DE PASCUAL, R., DIXON, W. R. & GARCIA, A. G. 1994. Endothelium-independent relaxation by 17-alpha-estradiol of pig coronary arteries. *Eur J Pharmacol*, 258, 47-55.
- SANDOO, A., VAN ZANTEN, J. J. C. V., METSIOS, G. S., CARROLL, D. & KITAS, G. D. 2010. The Endothelium and Its Role in Regulating Vascular Tone. *The Open Cardiovascular Medicine Journal*, 4, 302–312.
- SANDOVAL, J., BAUERLE, O., PALOMAR, A., GÓMEZ, A., MARTÍNEZ-GUERRA, M. L., BELTRÁN, M. & GUERRERO, M. L. 1994. Survival in primary pulmonary hypertension. Validation of a prognostic equation. *Circulation*, 89, 1733-1744.
- SANTEN, R. J., LESZCZYNSKI, D., TILSON-MALLET, N., FEIL, P. D., WRIGHT, C., MANNI, A. & SANTNER, S. J. 1986. Enzymatic control of estrogen production in human breast cancer: relative significance of aromatase versus sulfatase pathways. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 464, 126-37.
- SARJEANT, J. M., LAWRIE, A., KINNEAR, C., YABLONSKY, S., LEUNG, W., MASSAELI, H., PRICHETT, W., VEINOT, J. P., RASSART, E. & RABINOVITCH, M. 2003. Apolipoprotein D inhibits platelet-derived growth factor-BB-induced vascular smooth muscle cell proliferated by preventing translocation of phosphorylated extracellular signal regulated kinase 1/2 to the nucleus. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 23, 2172-7.
- SAUZEAU, V., CARVAJAL-GONZÁLEZ, J. M., RIOLOBOS, A. S., SEVILLA, M. A., MENACHO-MÁRQUEZ, M., ROMÁN, Á. C., ABAD, A., MONTERO, M. J., FERNÁNDEZ-SALGUERO, P. & BUSTELO, X. R. 2011. Transcriptional Factor Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor (Ahr) Controls Cardiovascular and Respiratory Functions by Regulating the Expression of the Vav3 Proto-oncogene. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286, 2896-2909.
- SCHANNWELL, C. M., STEINER, S. & STRAUER, B. E. 2007. Diagnostics in pulmonary hypertension. *J Physiol Pharmacol*, 58 Suppl 5, 591-602.
- SCHUTZE, N., VOLLMER, G., WUNSCHE, W., GROTE, A., FEIT, B. & KNUPPEN, R. 1994. Binding of 2-hydroxyestradiol and 4-hydroxyestradiol to the estrogen receptor of MCF-7 cells in cytosolic extracts and in nuclei of intact cells. *Exp Clin Endocrinol*, 102, 399-408.
- SCHWARTZ, A. G., WENZLAFF, A. S., PRYSAK, G. M., MURPHY, V., COTE, M. L., BROOKS, S. C., SKAFAR, D. F. & LONARDO, F. 2007. Reproductive factors, hormone use, estrogen receptor expression and risk of non small-cell lung cancer in women. J Clin Oncol, 25, 5785-92.
- SCHWARZ, D., KISSELEV, P., ERICKSEN, S. S., SZKLARZ, G. D., CHERNOGOLOV, A., HONECK, H., SCHUNCK, W. H. & ROOTS, I. 2004. Arachidonic and eicosapentaenoic acid metabolism by human CYP1A1: highly stereoselective formation of 17(R),18(S)-epoxyeicosatetraenoic acid. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 67, 1445-57.
- SCOBIE, G. A., MACPHERSON, S., MILLAR, M. R., GROOME, N. P., ROMANA, P. G.
 & SAUNDERS, P. T. 2002. Human oestrogen receptors: differential expression of ER alpha and beta and the identification of ER beta variants. *Steroids*, 67, 985-92.

- SEEGER, H., MUECK, A. O. & LIPPERT, T. H. 1999. Effect of estradiol metabolites on prostacyclin synthesis in human endothelial cell cultures. *Life Sci*, 65, Pl167-70.
- SEEGER, H., WALLWIENER, D., KRAEMER, E. & MUECK, A. O. 2006. Comparison of possible carcinogenic estradiol metabolites: effects on proliferation, apoptosis and metastasis of human breast cancer cells. *Maturitas*, 54, 72-7.
- SEGARS, J. H., MARKS, M. S., HIRSCHFELD, S., DRIGGERS, P. H., MARTINEZ, E., GRIPPO, J. F., BROWN, M., WAHLI, W. & OZATO, K. 1993. Inhibition of estrogen-responsive gene activation by the retinoid X receptor beta: evidence for multiple inhibitory pathways. *Mol Cell Biol*, 13, 2258-68.
- SEMENZA, G. L. 2009. Regulation of cancer cell metabolism by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *Semin Cancer Biol*, 19, 12-6.
- SEPKOVIC, D. W. & BRADLOW, H. L. 2009. Estrogen hydroxylation--the good and the bad. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1155, 57-67.
- SERGENTANIS, T. N., ECONOMOPOULOS, K. P., CHOUSSEIN, S. & VLAHOS, N. F. 2012. Cytochrome P450 1A1 (CYP1A1) gene polymorphisms and cervical cancer risk: a meta-analysis. *Mol Biol Rep*, 39, 6647-54.
- SHAPIRO, S., TRAIGER, G. L., TURNER, M., MCGOON, M. D., WASON, P. & BARST, R. J. 2012. Sex differences in the diagnosis, treatment, and outcome of patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension enrolled in the registry to evaluate early and longterm pulmonary arterial hypertension disease management. *Chest*, 141, 363-73.
- SHEIKH, A. Q., LIGHTHOUSE, J. K. & GREIF, D. M. 2014. Recapitulation of developing artery muscularization in pulmonary hypertension. *Cell Rep*, 6, 809-17.
- SHIMADA, T. & FUJII-KURIYAMA, Y. 2004. Metabolic activation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons to carcinogens by cytochromes P450 1A1 and 1B1. *Cancer Sci*, 95, 1-6.
- SHIMADA, T., HAYES, C. L., YAMAZAKI, H., AMIN, S., HECHT, S. S., GUENGERICH, F. P. & SUTTER, T. R. 1996. Activation of chemically diverse procarcinogens by human cytochrome P-450 1B1. *Cancer Res*, 56, 2979-84.
- SHIMIZU, Y., NAKATSURU, Y., ICHINOSE, M., TAKAHASHI, Y., KUME, H., MIMURA, J., FUJII-KURIYAMA, Y. & ISHIKAWA, T. 2000. Benzo[a]pyrene carcinogenicity is lost in mice lacking the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 97, 779-782.
- SIEGEL, R. L., MILLER, K. D. & JEMAL, A. 2017. Cancer statistics, 2017. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 67, 7-30.
- SIM, S. C. 2015. CYP1A1 allele nomenclature [Online]. [Accessed 26th June 2017].
- SIMONCINI, T., HAFEZI-MOGHADAM, A., BRAZIL, D. P., LEY, K., CHIN, W. W. & LIAO, J. K. 2000. Interaction of oestrogen receptor with the regulatory subunit of phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase. *Nature*, 407, 538-541.
- SIMONNEAU, G., GATZOULIS, M. A., ADATIA, I., CELERMAJER, D., DENTON, C., GHOFRANI, A., GOMEZ SANCHEZ, M. A., KRISHNA KUMAR, R., LANDZBERG, M., MACHADO, R. F., OLSCHEWSKI, H., ROBBINS, I. M. & SOUZA, R. 2013. Updated clinical classification of pulmonary hypertension. J Am Coll Cardiol, 62, D34-41.
- SIMPSON, E. & SANTEN, R. J. 2015. Celebrating 75 years of oestradiol. *J Mol Endocrinol*, 55, T1-20.
- SIMPSON, E. R. 2003. Sources of estrogen and their importance. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, 86, 225-30.
- SIMPSON, E. R. & DAVIS, S. R. 2001. Minireview: aromatase and the regulation of estrogen biosynthesis--some new perspectives. *Endocrinology*, 142, 4589-94.
- SIMPSON, E. R., MAHENDROO, M. S., MEANS, G. D., KILGORE, M. W., HINSHELWOOD, M. M., GRAHAM-LORENCE, S., AMARNEH, B., ITO, Y.,

FISHER, C. R., MICHAEL, M. D. & ET AL. 1994. Aromatase cytochrome P450, the enzyme responsible for estrogen biosynthesis. *Endocr Rev*, 15, 342-55.

- SINGH, N., MITRA, A. K., GARG, V. K., AGARWAL, A., SHARMA, M., CHATURVEDI, R. & RATH, S. K. 2007. Association of CYP1A1 polymorphisms with breast cancer in North Indian women. *Oncol Res*, 16, 587-97.
- SITBON, O., HUMBERT, M., JAIS, X., IOOS, V., HAMID, A. M., PROVENCHER, S., GARCIA, G., PARENT, F., HERVE, P. & SIMONNEAU, G. 2005. Long-term response to calcium channel blockers in idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Circulation*, 111, 3105-11.
- SKAVDAHL, M., STEENBERGEN, C., CLARK, J., MYERS, P., DEMIANENKO, T., MAO, L., ROCKMAN, H. A., KORACH, K. S. & MURPHY, E. 2005. Estrogen receptor-beta mediates male-female differences in the development of pressure overload hypertrophy. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 288, H469-76.
- SMITH, A. M., BENNETT, R. T., JONES, T. H., COWEN, M. E., CHANNER, K. S. & JONES, R. D. 2008. Characterization of the vasodilatory action of testosterone in the human pulmonary circulation. *Vascular Health and Risk Management*, 4, 1459-1466.
- SOMA, S., TAKAHASHI, H., MURAMATSU, M., OKA, M. & FUKUCHI, Y. 1999. Localization and distribution of endothelin receptor subtypes in pulmonary vasculature of normal and hypoxia-exposed rats. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 20, 620-30.
- SONG, D., LIU, G., LUU-THE, V., ZHAO, D., WANG, L., ZHANG, H., XUELING, G., LI, S., DESY, L., LABRIE, F. & PELLETIER, G. 2006. Expression of aromatase and 17beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase types 1, 7 and 12 in breast cancer. An immunocytochemical study. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, 101, 136-44.
- SONG, Y., JONES, J. E., BEPPU, H., KEANEY, J. F., JR., LOSCALZO, J. & ZHANG, Y. Y. 2005. Increased susceptibility to pulmonary hypertension in heterozygous BMPR2-mutant mice. *Circulation*, 112, 553-62.
- SPIVACK, S. D., HURTEAU, G. J., REILLY, A. A., ALDOUS, K. M., DING, X. & KAMINSKY, L. S. 2001. CYP1B1 expression in human lung. *Drug Metab Dispos*, 29, 916-22.
- SRIVASTAVA, S., WEITZMANN, M. N., CENCI, S., ROSS, F. P., ADLER, S. & PACIFICI, R. 1999. Estrogen decreases TNF gene expression by blocking JNK activity and the resulting production of c-Jun and JunD. J Clin Invest, 104, 503-13.
- STASCH, J. P. & EVGENOV, O. V. 2013. Soluble guanylate cyclase stimulators in pulmonary hypertension. *Handb Exp Pharmacol*, 218, 279-313.
- STAUFFER, B. L., WESTBY, C. M., GREINER, J. J., VAN GUILDER, G. P. & DESOUZA, C. A. 2010. Sex differences in endothelin-1-mediated vasoconstrictor tone in middle-aged and older adults. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 298, R261-5.
- STEARMAN, R. S., CORNELIUS, A. R., LU, X., CONKLIN, D. S., DEL ROSARIO, M. J., LOWE, A. M., ELOS, M. T., FETTIG, L. M., WONG, R. E., HARA, N., COGAN, J. D., PHILLIPS, J. A., 3RD, TAYLOR, M. R., GRAHAM, B. B., TUDER, R. M., LOYD, J. E. & GERACI, M. W. 2014. Functional prostacyclin synthase promoter polymorphisms. Impact in pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 189, 1110-20.
- STEARMAN, R. S., GRADY, M. C., NANA-SINKAM, P., VARELLA-GARCIA, M. & GERACI, M. W. 2007. Genetic and epigenetic regulation of the human prostacyclin synthase promoter in lung cancer cell lines. *Mol Cancer Res*, 5, 295-308.
- STEINHORN, R. H. 2010. Neonatal Pulmonary Hypertension. Pediatric Critical Care Mediceine: A Journal of the Society of Critical Care Medicine and the World Federation of Pediatric Intensive and Critical Care Societies, 11, S79–S84.

- STENMARK, K. R., DAVIE, N., FRID, M., GERASIMOVSKAYA, E. & DAS, M. 2006a. Role of the adventitia in pulmonary vascular remodeling. *Physiology (Bethesda)*, 21, 134-45.
- STENMARK, K. R., FAGAN, K. A. & FRID, M. G. 2006b. Hypoxia-induced pulmonary vascular remodeling: cellular and molecular mechanisms. *Circ Res*, 99, 675-91.
- STENMARK, K. R., GERASIMOVSKAYA, E., NEMENOFF, R. A. & DAS, M. 2002. Hypoxic activation of adventitial fibroblasts: role in vascular remodeling. *Chest*, 122, 326s-334s.
- STENMARK, K. R., MEYRICK, B., GALIE, N., MOOI, W. J. & MCMURTRY, I. F. 2009. Animal models of pulmonary arterial hypertension: the hope for etiological discovery and pharmacological cure. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 297, L1013-32.
- STENMARK, K. R. & RABINOVITCH, M. 2010. Emerging therapies for the treatment of pulmonary hypertension. *Pediatr Crit Care Med*, 11, S85-90.
- STEWART, D. J., LEVY, R. D., CERNACEK, P. & LANGLEBEN, D. 1991. Increased plasma endothelin-1 in pulmonary hypertension: marker or mediator of disease? *Ann Intern Med*, 114, 464-9.
- SUKOVICH, D. A., MUKHERJEE, R. & BENFIELD, P. A. 1994. A novel, cell-typespecific mechanism for estrogen receptor-mediated gene activation in the absence of an estrogen-responsive element. *Mol Cell Biol*, 14, 7134-43.
- SUTHERLAND, T. E., SCHULIGA, M., HARRIS, T., ECKHARDT, B. L., ANDERSON, R. L., QUAN, L. & STEWART, A. G. 2005. 2-Methoxyestradiol Is an Estrogen Receptor Agonist That Supports Tumor Growth in Murine Xenograft Models of Breast Cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 11, 1722.
- SUZUKI, K., BOSE, P., LEONG-QUONG, R. Y. Y., FUJITA, D. J. & RIABOWOL, K. 2010. REAP: A two minute cell fractionation method. *BMC Research Notes*, 3, 294-294.
- SWANECK, G. E. & FISHMAN, J. 1988. Covalent binding of the endogenous estrogen 16 alpha-hydroxyestrone to estradiol receptor in human breast cancer cells: characterization and intranuclear localization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 85, 7831-5.
- SWEENEY, L. & VOELKEL, N. F. 2009. Estrogen exposure, obesity and thyroid disease in women with severe pulmonary hypertension. *European Journal of Medical Research*, 14, 433-442.
- SWIFT, A. J., CAPENER, D., HAMMERTON, C., THOMAS, S. M., ELLIOT, C., CONDLIFFE, R., WILD, J. M. & KIELY, D. G. 2015. Right Ventricular Sex Differences in Patients with Idiopathic Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension Characterised by Magnetic Resonance Imaging: Pair-Matched Case Controlled Study. *PLOS ONE*, 10, e0127415.
- SZEGO, C. M. & DAVIS, J. S. 1967. Adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate in rat uterus: acute elevation by estrogen. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 58, 1711–1718.
- SZTRYMF, B., COULET, F., GIRERD, B., YAICI, A., JAIS, X., SITBON, O., MONTANI, D., SOUZA, R., SIMONNEAU, G., SOUBRIER, F. & HUMBERT, M. 2008. Clinical outcomes of pulmonary arterial hypertension in carriers of BMPR2 mutation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 177, 1377-83.
- TADA, Y., LAUDI, S., HARRAL, J., CARR, M., IVESTER, C., TANABE, N., TAKIGUCHI, Y., TATSUMI, K., KURIYAMA, T., NICHOLS, W. C. & WEST, J. 2008. Murine pulmonary response to chronic hypoxia is strain specific. *Exp Lung Res*, 34, 313-23.
- TAHARA, N., KAI, H., NIIYAMA, H., MORI, T., SUGI, Y., TAKAYAMA, N., YASUKAWA, H., NUMAGUCHI, Y., MATSUI, H., OKUMURA, K. &

IMAIZUMI, T. 2004. Repeated gene transfer of naked prostacyclin synthase plasmid into skeletal muscles attenuates monocrotaline-induced pulmonary hypertension and prolongs survival in rats. *Hum Gene Ther*, 15, 1270-8.

- TAJSIC, T. & MORRELL, N. W. 2011. Smooth muscle cell hypertrophy, proliferation, migration and apoptosis in pulmonary hypertension. *Compr Physiol*, 1, 295-317.
- TANDRI, H., DAYA, S. K., NASIR, K., BOMMA, C., LIMA, J. A., CALKINS, H. & BLUEMKE, D. A. 2006. Normal reference values for the adult right ventricle by magnetic resonance imaging. *Am J Cardiol*, 98, 1660-4.
- TARASEVICIENE-STEWART, L., KASAHARA, Y., ALGER, L., HIRTH, P., MC MAHON, G., WALTENBERGER, J., VOELKEL, N. F. & TUDER, R. M. 2001. Inhibition of the VEGF receptor 2 combined with chronic hypoxia causes cell deathdependent pulmonary endothelial cell proliferation and severe pulmonary hypertension. *Faseb j*, 15, 427-38.
- TATE, J. & WARD, G. 2004. Interferences in Immunoassay. *The Clinical Biochemist Reviews*, 25, 105-120.
- TATEISHI, Y., SONOO, R., SEKIYA, Y.-I., SUNAHARA, N., KAWANO, M., WAYAMA, M., HIROTA, R., KAWABE, Y.-I., MURAYAMA, A., KATO, S., KIMURA, K. & YANAGISAWA, J. 2006. Turning Off Estrogen Receptor β-Mediated Transcription Requires Estrogen-Dependent Receptor Proteolysis. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 26, 7966-7976.
- TEICHERT-KULISZEWSKA, K., KUTRYK, M. J., KULISZEWSKI, M. A., KAROUBI, G., COURTMAN, D. W., ZUCCO, L., GRANTON, J. & STEWART, D. J. 2006. Bone morphogenetic protein receptor-2 signaling promotes pulmonary arterial endothelial cell survival: implications for loss-of-function mutations in the pathogenesis of pulmonary hypertension. *Circ Res*, 98, 209-17.
- TELANG, N. T., SUTO, A., WONG, G. Y., OSBORNE, M. P. & BRADLOW, H. L. 1992. Induction by estrogen metabolite 16 alpha-hydroxyestrone of genotoxic damage and aberrant proliferation in mouse mammary epithelial cells. *J Natl Cancer Inst*, 84, 634-8.
- THACKABERRY, E. A., GABALDON, D. M., WALKER, M. K. & SMITH, S. M. 2002. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor null mice develop cardiac hypertrophy and increased hypoxia-inducible factor-1α in the absence of cardiac hypoxia. *Cardiovascular Toxicology*, 2, 263-273.
- THENAPPAN, T., SHAH, S. J., RICH, S. & GOMBERG-MAITLAND, M. 2007. A USAbased registry for pulmonary arterial hypertension: 1982-2006. *Eur Respir J*, 30, 1103-10.
- THOMSON, J. R., MACHADO, R. D., PAUCIULO, M. W., MORGAN, N. V., HUMBERT, M., ELLIOTT, G. C., WARD, K., YACOUB, M., MIKHAIL, G., ROGERS, P., NEWMAN, J., WHEELER, L., HIGENBOTTAM, T., GIBBS, J. S., EGAN, J., CROZIER, A., PEACOCK, A., ALLCOCK, R., CORRIS, P., LOYD, J. E., TREMBATH, R. C. & NICHOLS, W. C. 2000. Sporadic primary pulmonary hypertension is associated with germline mutations of the gene encoding BMPR-II, a receptor member of the TGF-beta family. J Med Genet, 37, 741-5.
- THORNE, S., NELSON-PIERCY, C., MACGREGOR, A., GIBBS, S., CROWHURST, J., PANAY, N., ROSENTHAL, E., WALKER, F., WILLIAMS, D., DE SWIET, M. & GUILLEBAUD, J. 2006. Pregnancy and contraception in heart disease and pulmonary arterial hypertension. *J Fam Plann Reprod Health Care*, 32, 75-81.
- THUM, T. & BORLAK, J. 2000. Gene expression in distinct regions of the heart. *Lancet*, 355, 979-83.
- TIAN, H., MCKNIGHT, S. L. & RUSSELL, D. W. 1997. Endothelial PAS domain protein 1 (EPAS1), a transcription factor selectively expressed in endothelial cells. *Genes Dev*, 11, 72-82.

- TIRZIU, D. & SIMONS, M. 2009. Endothelium as master regulator of organ development and growth. *Vascul Pharmacol*, 50, 1-7.
- TOFOVIC, S. P., BILAN, V. P., JACKSON, E. K. & SCHNEIDER, F. 2014. Sugene 5416 Dose-Hypoxia-Normoxia-Gender Interaction In Angioproliferative Pulmonary Hypertension In Rats. D27. PRECLINICAL MODELS OF PULMONARY HYPERTENSION: NOVEL TARGETS AND PATHWAYS.
- TOFOVIC, S. P. & RAFIKOVA, O. Preventive and Therapeutic Effects of 2-Methoxyestradiol, but Not Estradiol, in Severe Occlusive Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension in Female Rats. American Thoracic Society, 2009. A1802.
- TOFOVIC, S. P., RAFIKOVA, O., CHAMPION, H. & SCHNEIDER, F. Estrogens Exacerbate Development Of Occlusive Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension And Formation Of Plexiform Lesions. American Thoracic Society, 2012. A6803-A6803.
- TOFOVIC, S. P., ZHANG, X., JACKSON, E. K., DACIC, S. & PETRUSEVSKA, G. 2006. 2-Methoxyestradiol mediates the protective effects of estradiol in monocrotalineinduced pulmonary hypertension. *Vascul Pharmacol*, 45, 358-67.
- TOFOVIC, S. P., ZHANG, X., JACKSON, E. K., ZHU, H. & PETRUSEVSKA, G. 2009. 2-methoxyestradiol attenuates bleomycin-induced pulmonary hypertension and fibrosis in estrogen-deficient rats. *Vascul Pharmacol*, 51, 190-7.
- TOFOVIC, S. P., ZHANG, X., ZHU, H., JACKSON, E. K., RAFIKOVA, O. & PETRUSEVSKA, G. 2008a. 2-Ethoxyestradiol is antimitogenic and attenuates monocrotaline-induced pulmonary hypertension and vascular remodeling. *Vascular Pharmacology*, 48, 174-183.
- TOFOVIC, S. P., ZHU, H., JACKSON, E. K. & RAFIKOVA, O. 2008b. 2-Methoxyestrone Inhibits Vascular Remodeling and Attenuates Monocrotaline-Induced Pulmonary Hypertension. *Eur Respir J*, 32 (Suppl. 52), 164S.
- TOSHNER, M., VOSWINCKEL, R., SOUTHWOOD, M., AL-LAMKI, R., HOWARD, L.
 S., MARCHESAN, D., YANG, J., SUNTHARALINGAM, J., SOON, E., EXLEY,
 A., STEWART, S., HECKER, M., ZHU, Z., GEHLING, U., SEEGER, W., PEPKE-ZABA, J. & MORRELL, N. W. 2009. Evidence of dysfunction of endothelial progenitors in pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 180, 780-7.
- TREMBATH, R. C., THOMSON, J. R., MACHADO, R. D., MORGAN, N. V., ATKINSON, C., WINSHIP, I., SIMONNEAU, G., GALIE, N., LOYD, J. E., HUMBERT, M., NICHOLS, W. C., MORRELL, N. W., BERG, J., MANES, A., MCGAUGHRAN, J., PAUCIULO, M. & WHEELER, L. 2001. Clinical and molecular genetic features of pulmonary hypertension in patients with hereditary hemorrhagic telangiectasia. N Engl J Med, 345, 325-34.
- TSAI, M. C., CHEN, L., ZHOU, J., TANG, Z., HSU, T. F., WANG, Y., SHIH, Y. T., PENG, H. H., WANG, N., GUAN, Y., CHIEN, S. & CHIU, J. J. 2009. Shear stress induces synthetic-to-contractile phenotypic modulation in smooth muscle cells via peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha/delta activations by prostacyclin released by sheared endothelial cells. *Circ Res*, 105, 471-80.
- TSUKAMOTO, A., KANEKO, Y., YOSHIDA, T., HAN, K., ICHINOSE, M. & KIMURA, S. 1998. 2-Methoxyestradiol, an endogenous metabolite of estrogen, enhances apoptosis and beta-galactosidase expression in vascular endothelial cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 248, 9-12.
- TSUTSUMI, S., ZHANG, X., TAKATA, K., TAKAHASHI, K., KARAS, R. H., KURACHI, H. & MENDELSOHN, M. E. 2008. Differential regulation of the inducible nitric oxide synthase gene by estrogen receptors 1 and 2. *J Endocrinol*, 199, 267-73.
- TUDER, R. M., CHACON, M., ALGER, L., WANG, J., TARASEVICIENE-STEWART, L., KASAHARA, Y., COOL, C. D., BISHOP, A. E., GERACI, M., SEMENZA, G.

L., YACOUB, M., POLAK, J. M. & VOELKEL, N. F. 2001a. Expression of angiogenesis-related molecules in plexiform lesions in severe pulmonary hypertension: evidence for a process of disordered angiogenesis. *J Pathol*, 195, 367-74.

- TUDER, R. M., COOL, C. D., GERACI, M. W., WANG, J., ABMAN, S. H., WRIGHT, L., BADESCH, D. & VOELKEL, N. F. 1999. Prostacyclin synthase expression is decreased in lungs from patients with severe pulmonary hypertension. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 159, 1925-32.
- TUDER, R. M., GROVES, B., BADESCH, D. B. & VOELKEL, N. F. 1994. Exuberant endothelial cell growth and elements of inflammation are present in plexiform lesions of pulmonary hypertension. *Am J Pathol*, 144, 275-85.
- TUDER, R. M., MARECKI, J. C., RICHTER, A., FIJALKOWSKA, I. & FLORES, S. 2007. Pathology of Pulmonary Hypertension. *Clinics in Chest Medicine*, 28, 23-42.
- TUDER, R. M., YEAGER, M. E., GERACI, M., GOLPON, H. A. & VOELKEL, N. F. 2001b. Severe pulmonary hypertension after the discovery of the familial primary pulmonary hypertension gene. *Eur Respir J*, 17, 1065-9.
- TZUKERMAN, M. T., ESTY, A., SANTISO-MERE, D., DANIELIAN, P., PARKER, M. G., STEIN, R. B., PIKE, J. W. & MCDONNELL, D. P. 1994. Human estrogen receptor transactivational capacity is determined by both cellular and promoter context and mediated by two functionally distinct intramolecular regions. *Mol Endocrinol*, 8, 21-30.
- UDDIN, M. R., MUTHALIF, M. M., KARZOUN, N. A., BENTER, I. F. & MALIK, K. U. 1998. Cytochrome P-450 metabolites mediate norepinephrine-induced mitogenic signaling. *Hypertension*, 31, 242-7.
- UMAR, S., IORGA, A., MATORI, H., NADADUR, R. D., LI, J., MALTESE, F., VAN DER LAARSE, A. & EGHBALI, M. 2011. Estrogen rescues preexisting severe pulmonary hypertension in rats. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 184, 715-23.
- UMBREIT, T. H. & GALLO, M. A. 1988. Physiological implications of estrogen receptor modulation by 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin. *Toxicology Letters*, 42, 5-14.
- VAN DE VEERDONK, M. C., KIND, T., MARCUS, J. T., MAURITZ, G. J., HEYMANS, M. W., BOGAARD, H. J., BOONSTRA, A., MARQUES, K. M., WESTERHOF, N. & VONK-NOORDEGRAAF, A. 2011. Progressive right ventricular dysfunction in patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension responding to therapy. J Am Coll Cardiol, 58, 2511-9.
- VAN EICKELS, M., GROHE, C., CLEUTJENS, J. P., JANSSEN, B. J., WELLENS, H. J. & DOEVENDANS, P. A. 2001. 17beta-estradiol attenuates the development of pressure-overload hypertrophy. *Circulation*, 104, 1419-23.
- VASQUEZ, A., ATALLAH-YUNES, N., SMITH, F. C., YOU, X., CHASE, S. E., SILVERSTONE, A. E. & VIKSTROM, K. L. 2003. A role for the aryl hydrocarbon receptor in cardiac physiology and function as demonstrated by AhR knockout mice. *Cardiovasc Toxicol*, *3*, 153-63.
- VÁZQUEZ-PRADO, J., MEDINA, L. D. C. & GARCÍA-SÁINZ, J. A. 1997. Activation of Endothelin ETA Receptors Induces Phosphorylation of α1b-Adrenoreceptors in Rat-1 Fibroblasts. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272, 27330-27337.
- VEIT, F., PAK, O., EGEMNAZAROV, B., ROTH, M., KOSANOVIC, D., SEIMETZ, M., SOMMER, N., GHOFRANI, H. A., SEEGER, W., GRIMMINGER, F., BRANDES, R. P., SCHERMULY, R. T. & WEISSMANN, N. 2013. Function of NADPH oxidase 1 in pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells after monocrotaline-induced pulmonary vascular remodeling. *Antioxid Redox Signal*, 19, 2213-31.
- VENTETUOLO, C. E., BAIRD, G. L., BARR, R. G., BLUEMKE, D. A., FRITZ, J. S., HILL, N. S., KLINGER, J. R., LIMA, J. A. C., OUYANG, P., PALEVSKY, H. I., PALMISCIANO, A. J., KRISHNAN, I., PINDER, D., PRESTON, I. R., ROBERTS,

K. E. & KAWUT, S. M. 2016. Higher Estradiol and Lower Dehydroepiandrosterone-Sulfate Levels Are Associated with Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension in Men. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 193, 1168-1175.

- VENTETUOLO, C. E., OUYANG, P., BLUEMKE, D. A., TANDRI, H., BARR, R. G., BAGIELLA, E., CAPPOLA, A. R., BRISTOW, M. R., JOHNSON, C., KRONMAL, R. A., KIZER, J. R., LIMA, J. A. & KAWUT, S. M. 2011. Sex hormones are associated with right ventricular structure and function: The MESA-right ventricle study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 183, 659-67.
- VENTETUOLO, C. E., PRAESTGAARD, A., PALEVSKY, H. I., KLINGER, J. R., HALPERN, S. D. & KAWUT, S. M. 2014. Sex and haemodynamics in pulmonary arterial hypertension. *The European respiratory journal*, 43, 523-530.
- VICKERS, P. J., DUFRESNE, M. J. & COWAN, K. H. 1989. Relation between Cytochrome P450IA1 Expression and Estrogen Receptor Content of Human Breast Cancer Cells. *Molecular Endocrinology*, **3**, 157-164.
- VIJAYANATHAN, V., VENKITESWARAN, S., NAIR, S. K., VERMA, A., THOMAS, T. J., ZHU, B. T. & THOMAS, T. 2006. Physiologic levels of 2-methoxyestradiol interfere with nongenomic signaling of 17beta-estradiol in human breast cancer cells. *Clin Cancer Res*, 12, 2038-48.
- VOELKEL, N. F. 1997. Appetite suppressants and pulmonary hypertension *Thorax*, 52, S63–S67.
- VOELKEL, N. F., VANDIVIER, R. W. & TUDER, R. M. 2006. Vascular endothelial growth factor in the lung. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 290, L209-21.
- VORRINK, S. U., SEVERSON, P. L., KULAK, M. V., FUTSCHER, B. W. & DOMANN, F. E. 2014. Hypoxia perturbs aryl hydrocarbon receptor signaling and CYP1A1 expression induced by PCB 126 in human skin and liver-derived cell lines. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 274, 408-16.
- WALKER, A. M., LANGLEBEN, D., KORELITZ, J. J., RICH, S., RUBIN, L. J., STROM,
 B. L., GONIN, R., KEAST, S., BADESCH, D., BARST, R. J., BOURGE, R. C.,
 CHANNICK, R., FROST, A., GAINE, S., MCGOON, M., MCLAUGHLIN, V.,
 MURALI, S., OUDIZ, R. J., ROBBINS, I. M., TAPSON, V., ABENHAIM, L. &
 CONSTANTINE, G. 2006. Temporal trends and drug exposures in pulmonary
 hypertension: an American experience. Am Heart J, 152, 521-6.
- WANG, F., ZOU, Y. F., SUN, G. P., SU, H. & HUANG, F. 2011. Association of CYP1B1 gene polymorphisms with susceptibility to endometrial cancer: a meta-analysis. *Eur J Cancer Prev*, 20, 112-20.
- WANG, G. L., JIANG, B. H., RUE, E. A. & SEMENZA, G. L. 1995. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 is a basic-helix-loop-helix-PAS heterodimer regulated by cellular O2 tension. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 92, 5510-5514.
- WANG, X. L., GRECO, M., SIM, A. S., DUARTE, N., WANG, J. & WILCKEN, D. E. 2002. Effect of CYP1A1 MspI polymorphism on cigarette smoking related coronary artery disease and diabetes. *Atherosclerosis*, 162, 391-7.
- WANG, Y.-D., LI, Y.-D., DING, X.-Y., WU, X.-P., LI, C., GUO, D.-C., SHI, Y.-P. & LU, X.-Z. 2018. 17β-estradiol preserves right ventricular function in rats with pulmonary arterial hypertension: an echocardiographic and histochemical study. *The International Journal of Cardiovascular Imaging*.
- WANG, Y.-X. 2010. PPARs: diverse regulators in energy metabolism and metabolic diseases. *Cell Res*, 20, 124-137.
- WARNER, T. D., ALLCOCK, G. H., CORDER, R. & VANE, J. R. 1993. Use of the endothelin antagonists BQ-123 and PD 142893 to reveal three endothelin receptors mediating smooth muscle contraction and the release of EDRF. *Br J Pharmacol*, 110, 777-82.

- WATTERS, J. J., CAMPBELL, J. S., CUNNINGHAM, M. J., KREBS, E. G. & DORSA, D. M. 1997. Rapid membrane effects of steroids in neuroblastoma cells: effects of estrogen on mitogen activated protein kinase signalling cascade and c-fos immediate early gene transcription. *Endocrinology*, 138, 4030-3.
- WEBB, P., NGUYEN, P., VALENTINE, C., LOPEZ, G. N., KWOK, G. R., MCINERNEY, E., KATZENELLENBOGEN, B. S., ENMARK, E., GUSTAFSSON, J. A., NILSSON, S. & KUSHNER, P. J. 1999. The estrogen receptor enhances AP-1 activity by two distinct mechanisms with different requirements for receptor transactivation functions. *Mol Endocrinol*, 13, 1672-85.
- WEIGEL, N. L. & ZHANG, Y. 1998. Ligand-independent activation of steroid hormone receptors. J Mol Med (Berl), 76, 469-79.
- WEST, J., COGAN, J., GERACI, M., ROBINSON, L., NEWMAN, J., PHILLIPS, J., LANE, K., MEYRICK, B. & LOYD, J. 2008a. Gene expression in BMPR2 mutation carriers with and without evidence of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension suggests pathways relevant to disease penetrance. *BMC Medical Genomics*, 1, 1-11.
- WEST, J., HARRAL, J., LANE, K., DENG, Y., ICKES, B., CRONA, D., ALBU, S., STEWART, D. & FAGAN, K. 2008b. Mice expressing BMPR2R899X transgene in smooth muscle develop pulmonary vascular lesions. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 295, L744-55.
- WHARTON, J., DAVIE, N., UPTON, P. D., YACOUB, M. H., POLAK, J. M. & MORRELL, N. W. 2000. Prostacyclin Analogues Differentially Inhibit Growth of Distal and Proximal Human Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells. *Circulation*, 102, 3130-3136.
- WHITE, B. A. & PORTFIELD, S. P. 2013. The Adrenal Gland. In: WHITE, B. A. & PORTFIELD, S. P. (eds.) Endocrine and Reproductive Physiology. 4th Edition ed. Philadelphia, PA: Mosby Inc, Elsevier.
- WHITE, K., DEMPSIE, Y., NILSEN, M., WRIGHT, A. F., LOUGHLIN, L. & MACLEAN, M. R. 2011a. The serotonin transporter, gender, and 17beta oestradiol in the development of pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Cardiovasc Res*, 90, 373-82.
- WHITE, K., JOHANSEN, A. K., NILSEN, M., CIUCLAN, L., WALLACE, E., PATON, L., CAMPBELL, A., MORECROFT, I., LOUGHLIN, L., MCCLURE, J. D., THOMAS, M., MAIR, K. M. & MACLEAN, M. R. 2012. Activity of the estrogenmetabolizing enzyme cytochrome P450 1B1 influences the development of pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Circulation*, 126, 1087-98.
- WHITE, K., LOUGHLIN, L., MAQBOOL, Z., NILSEN, M., MCCLURE, J., DEMPSIE, Y., BAKER, A. H. & MACLEAN, M. R. 2011b. Serotonin transporter, sex, and hypoxia: microarray analysis in the pulmonary arteries of mice identifies genes with relevance to human PAH. *Physiol Genomics*, 43, 417-37.
- WHITE, R. J., MEOLI, D. F., SWARTHOUT, R. F., KALLOP, D. Y., GALARIA, II, HARVEY, J. L., MILLER, C. M., BLAXALL, B. C., HALL, C. M., PIERCE, R. A., COOL, C. D. & TAUBMAN, M. B. 2007. Plexiform-like lesions and increased tissue factor expression in a rat model of severe pulmonary arterial hypertension. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 293, L583-90.
- WILKINSON, H. A., DAHLLUND, J., LIU, H., YUDKOVITZ, J., CAI, S. J., NILSSON, S., SCHAEFFER, J. M. & MITRA, S. W. 2002. Identification and characterization of a functionally distinct form of human estrogen receptor beta. *Endocrinology*, 143, 1558-61.
- WILLERS, E. D., NEWMAN, J. H., LOYD, J. E., ROBBINS, I. M., WHEELER, L. A., PRINCE, M. A., STANTON, K. C., COGAN, J. A., RUNO, J. R., BYRNE, D., HUMBERT, M., SIMONNEAU, G., SZTRYMF, B., MORSE, J. A., KNOWLES, J. A., ROBERTS, K. E., MCELROY, J. J., BARST, R. J. & PHILLIPS, J. A. 2006. Serotonin Transporter Polymorphisms in Familial and Idiopathic Pulmonary Arterial

Hypertension. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 173, 798-802.

- WILLIAMS, S. M., DUNHAM, E. & BRADFIELD, C. A. 2005. Induction of Cytochrome P450 Enzymes. In: ORTIZ DE MONTELLANO, P. R. (ed.) Cytochrome P450: Structure, Mechanism, and Biochemistry 3rd Edition ed. New York, NY: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers.
- WILSON, D. W., SEGALL, H. J., PAN, L. C., LAME, M. W., ESTEP, J. E. & MORIN, D. 1992. Mechanisms and pathology of monocrotaline pulmonary toxicity. *Crit Rev Toxicol*, 22, 307-25.
- WISE, H. 2003. Multiple signalling options for prostacyclin. *Acta Pharmacol Sin*, 24, 625-30.
- WRIGHT, A. F., EWART, M. A., MAIR, K., NILSEN, M., DEMPSIE, Y., LOUGHLIN, L. & MACLEAN, M. R. 2015. Oestrogen receptor alpha in pulmonary hypertension. *Cardiovasc Res*, 106, 206-16.
- WRIGHT, C. M., LARSEN, J. E., COLOSIMO, M. L., BARR, J. J., CHEN, L., MCLACHLAN, R. E., YANG, I. A., BOWMAN, R. V. & FONG, K. M. 2010. Genetic association study of CYP1A1 polymorphisms identifies risk haplotypes in nonsmall cell lung cancer. *European Respiratory Journal*, 35, 152-159.
- WU, W., DAVE, N. B., YU, G., STROLLO, P. J., KOVKAROVA-NAUMOVSKI, E., RYTER, S. W., REEVES, S. R., DAYYAT, E., WANG, Y., CHOI, A. M., GOZAL, D. & KAMINSKI, N. 2008. Network analysis of temporal effects of intermittent and sustained hypoxia on rat lungs. *Physiol Genomics*, 36, 24-34.
- XU, D.-Q., LUO, Y., LIU, Y., WANG, J., ZHANG, B., XU, M., WANG, Y.-X., DONG, H.-Y., DONG, M.-Q., ZHAO, P.-T., NIU, W., LIU, M.-L., GAO, Y.-Q. & LI, Z.-C. 2010. Beta-estradiol attenuates hypoxic pulmonary hypertension by stabilizing the expression of p27(kip1)in rats. *Respiratory Research*, 11, 182-182.
- XU, W., ZHOU, Y., HANG, X. & SHEN, D. 2012. Current evidence on the relationship between CYP1B1 polymorphisms and lung cancer risk: a meta-analysis. *Mol Biol Rep*, 39, 2821-9.
- YAGER, J. D. & LIEHR, J. G. 1996. Molecular mechanisms of estrogen carcinogenesis. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol, 36, 203-32.
- YANASE, T., MU, Y.-M., NISHI, Y., GOTO, K., NOMURA, M., OKABE, T., TAKAYANAGI, R. & NAWATA, H. 2001. Regulation of aromatase by nuclear receptors. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 79, 187-192.
- YANG, J., LI, X., AL-LAMKI, R. S., SOUTHWOOD, M., ZHAO, J., LEVER, A. M., GRIMMINGER, F., SCHERMULY, R. T. & MORRELL, N. W. 2010. Smaddependent and smad-independent induction of id1 by prostacyclin analogues inhibits proliferation of pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells in vitro and in vivo. *Circ Res*, 107, 252-62.
- YANG, X., LONG, L., SOUTHWOOD, M., RUDARAKANCHANA, N., UPTON, P. D., JEFFERY, T. K., ATKINSON, C., CHEN, H., TREMBATH, R. C. & MORRELL, N. W. 2005. Dysfunctional Smad signaling contributes to abnormal smooth muscle cell proliferation in familial pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Circ Res*, 96, 1053-63.
- YAO, J., LI, C., GONG, L., FENG, C., LI, C., GAO, M. & REN, J. 2014. Hepatic cytochrome P450s play a major role in monocrotaline-induced renal toxicity in mice. *Acta Pharmacologica Sinica*, 35, 292–300.
- YEAGER, R. L., REISMAN, S. A., ALEKSUNES, L. M. & KLAASSEN, C. D. 2009. Introducing the "TCDD-inducible AhR-Nrf2 gene battery". *Toxicol Sci*, 111, 238-46.
- YOSHIKI, A. & MORIWAKI, K. 2006. Mouse phenome research: implications of genetic background. *Ilar j*, 47, 94-102.

- YU, H., GALLAGHER, A. M., GARFIN, P. M. & PRINTZ, M. P. 1997. Prostacyclin Release by Rat Cardiac Fibroblasts. *Inhibition of Collagen Expression*, 30, 1047-1053.
- YU, K., BAYONA, W., KALLEN, C. B., HARDING, H. P., RAVERA, C. P., MCMAHON, G., BROWN, M. & LAZAR, M. A. 1995. Differential activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors by eicosanoids. *J Biol Chem*, 270, 23975-83.
- YUAN, J. X.-J., ALDINGER, A. M., JUHASZOVA, M., WANG, J., CONTE, J. V., GAINE, S. P., ORENS, J. B. & RUBIN, L. J. 1998. Dysfunctional Voltage-Gated K⁺ Channels in Pulmonary Artery Smooth Muscle Cells of Patients With Primary Pulmonary Hypertension. *Circulation*, 98, 1400-1406.
- YUAN, P., WU, W. H., GAO, L., ZHENG, Z. Q., LIU, D., MEI, H. Y., ZHANG, Z. L. & JING, Z. C. 2013. Oestradiol ameliorates monocrotaline pulmonary hypertension via NO, prostacyclin and endothelin-1 pathways. *Eur Respir J*, 41, 1116-25.
- YUE, T. L., WANG, X., LOUDEN, C. S., GUPTA, S., PILLARISETTI, K., GU, J. L., HART, T. K., LYSKO, P. G. & FEUERSTEIN, G. Z. 1997. 2-Methoxyestradiol, an endogenous estrogen metabolite, induces apoptosis in endothelial cells and inhibits angiogenesis: possible role for stress-activated protein kinase signaling pathway and Fas expression. *Mol Pharmacol*, 51, 951-62.
- ZACHARIA, L. C., JACKSON, E. K., GILLESPIE, D. G. & DUBEY, R. K. 2001. Increased 2-Methoxyestradiol Production in Human Coronary Versus Aortic Vascular Cells. *Hypertension*, 37, 658-662.
- ZANGER, U. M. & SCHWAB, M. 2013. Cytochrome P450 enzymes in drug metabolism: Regulation of gene expression, enzyme activities, and impact of genetic variation. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 138, 103-141.
- ZHANG, S., FANTOZZI, I., TIGNO, D. D., YI, E. S., PLATOSHYN, O., THISTLETHWAITE, P. A., KRIETT, J. M., YUNG, G., RUBIN, L. J. & YUAN, J. X. 2003. Bone morphogenetic proteins induce apoptosis in human pulmonary vascular smooth muscle cells. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 285, L740-54.
- ZHANG, Y., OLTMAN, C. L., LU, T., LEE, H. C., DELLSPERGER, K. C. & VANROLLINS, M. 2001. EET homologs potently dilate coronary microvessels and activate BK(Ca) channels. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 280, H2430-40.
- ZHAO, H., ZHOU, L., SHANGGUAN, A. J. & BULUN, S. E. 2016. Aromatase expression and regulation in breast and endometrial cancer. *J Mol Endocrinol*, 57, R19-33.
- ZHAO, W., ALAN, R. P. & RAMOS, K. S. 1998a. Constitutive and Inducible Expression of Cytochrome P450IA1 and P450IB1 in Human Vascular Endothelial and Smooth Muscle Cells. *In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology. Animal*, 34, 671-673.
- ZHAO, W., PARRISH, A. R. & RAMOS, K. S. 1998b. Constitutive and inducible expression of cytochrome P450IA1 and P450IB1 in human vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells. *In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim*, 34, 671-3.
- ZHU, B. T. & CONNEY, A. H. 1998. Functional role of estrogen metabolism in target cells: review and perspectives. *Carcinogenesis*, 19, 1-27.